Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World

Divya Arora Chetan Sharma Sundeep Jaglan Eric Lichtfouse *Editors*

Pharmaceuticals from Microbes

The Bioengineering Perspective



Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World

Series Editors

Eric Lichtfouse, Aix Marseille Univ, CNRS, IRD, INRA, Coll France, CEREGE, Aix en Provence, France Jan Schwarzbauer, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany Didier Robert, CNRS, European Laboratory for Catalysis and Surface Sciences, Saint-Avold, France

Other Publications by the Editors

Books

Environmental Chemistry http://www.springer.com/978-3-540-22860-8

Organic Contaminants in Riverine and Groundwater Systems http://www.springer.com/978-3-540-31169-0

Sustainable Agriculture Volume 1: http://www.springer.com/978-90-481-2665-1 Volume 2: http://www.springer.com/978-94-007-0393-3

Book series

Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World http://www.springer.com/series/11480

Sustainable Agriculture Reviews http://www.springer.com/series/8380

Journals

Environmental Chemistry Letters http://www.springer.com/10311

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11480

Divya Arora • Chetan Sharma • Sundeep Jaglan Eric Lichtfouse Editors

Pharmaceuticals from Microbes

The Bioengineering Perspective



Editors Divya Arora Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine CSIR Jammu, India

Sundeep Jaglan Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine CSIR Jammu, India Chetan Sharma Guru Angad Dev Veterinary and Animal Science University Ludhiana, Punjab, India

Eric Lichtfouse Aix Marseille University CNRS, IRD, INRA, Coll France CEREGE, Aix en Provence, France

ISSN 2213-7114 ISSN 2213-7122 (electronic) Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World ISBN 978-3-030-01880-1 ISBN 978-3-030-01881-8 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018963747

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

The important thing in science is not so much to obtain new facts as to discover new ways of thinking about them Sir William Bragg, Nobel Prize in Physics

Microbiology has made a huge contribution to the pharmaceutical industry. Indeed, microbes have been used to produce antibiotics, enzymes, polysaccharides, proteins, vitamins and nucleotides. Further, with the advent of new approaches and modern techniques, pharmaceutical industries are looking for innovative solutions, such as bioengineering, to improve the quality of products and enhance productivity. Bioengineering is a discipline that applies engineering principles of design and analysis to biological systems and biomedical technologies. Bioengineering concepts can be applied to the pharmaceuticals as well as to microbes to generate better quality products. This book presents recent advances in microbial technology with emphasis on drug delivery strategies for healthcare products, vaccine delivery, biotransformation and processing of biopharmaceuticals.

The first chapter by Ageitos and Garcia-Fuentes reviews innovative drug delivery strategies for microbial healthcare products (Fig. 1) with improved pharmacological effects and characteristics, as compared to classical formulations. Kumar then explores live-attenuated bacterial vector applications in the delivery of vaccine antigens to the mucosal immune system, DNA vaccine and immunotherapy and the mechanism of immune responses elicited by live-attenuated bacterial vector-based vaccines in Chap. 2. In Chap. 3, Kumar et al. review the preparation methods of polylactide/polylactide-co-glycolide delivery-based particles, their properties as carriers of bioactive molecules and applications of delivery systems based on polymeric particles against microbes.

Giorgiana discusses drug delivery systems based on pullulan and derivatives and structured function of therapeutic effects of drugs in Chap. 4. Parajuli et al. analyse biotransformation approaches to produce engineered molecules using microbial platforms, with focus on microbial modification of flavonoids, in Chap. 5. Mehta reviews the upstream process and the three chronological steps – initial recovery, purification and polishing – involved in downstream processing of biopharmaceuticals, in Chap. 6. Finally, Shrestha et al. review the fermentation, engineering



Fig. 1 Nanocarriers for innovative drug delivery. Blue areas are hydrophilic; yellow areas are hydrophobic. In Chap. 1 by Ageitos and Garcia-Fuentes

regulatory genes at the molecular level, with focus on doxorubicin and daunorubicin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces peucetius*, in Chap. 7.

It was our pleasure to interact with all the authors, and we wish to express our gratitude to all the contributors for accepting our invitation. We greatly appreciate their commitment and contribution in shaping the scattered information from diverse fields into their chapters and incorporating the editorial suggestions to produce this venture.

We also extend our thanks to the Springer Nature team for their generous cooperation at every stage of the book production. We hope that the book will serve to update the knowledge and will be helpful to the students, professors, scientists and researchers who have focus on drug discovery. Lastly, we acknowledge God and our family members, who keep motivating and provided all the channels to work in cohesion and coordination right from the conception of the idea to the finalization of the book.

Jammu, India Ludhiana, Punjab, India Jammu, India Aix en Provence, CEREGE, France Divya Arora Chetan Sharma Sundeep Jaglan Eric Lichtfouse

Contents

1	Advances in Drug Delivery Strategies for MicrobialHealthcare ProductsJose Manuel Ageitos and Marcos Garcia-Fuentes
2	Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors for Delivery of Mucosal Vaccines, DNA Vaccines, and Cancer Immunotherapy
3	Poly-lactide/Poly-lactide-co-glycolide-Based DeliverySystem for Bioactive Compounds Against MicrobesRobin Kumar, Divya Jha, and Amulya K. Panda
4	Drug Delivery Systems Based on Pullulan Polysaccharides and Their Derivatives
5	Microbial Modifications of Flavonols
6	Downstream Processing for Biopharmaceuticals Recovery 163 Anu Mehta
7	Engineering Streptomyces peucetius for Doxorubicin and Daunorubicin Biosynthesis
Ind	ex

Contributors

Jose Manuel Ageitos Centre for Research in Molecular Medicine and Chronic Diseases (CiMUS) and Department of Pharmacology, Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Santiago de Compostela, Santiago de Compostela, Spain

Sumangala Darsandhari Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Marcos Garcia-Fuentes Centre for Research in Molecular Medicine and Chronic Diseases (CiMUS) and Department of Pharmacology, Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Santiago de Compostela, Santiago de Compostela, Spain

Anca Giorgiana Grigoras Laboratory of Natural Polymers, Bioactive and Biocompatible Materials, "Petru Poni" Institute of Macromolecular Chemistry, Iassy, Romania

Divya Jha Product Development Cell-II, National Institute of Immunology, New Delhi, India

Robin Kumar Product Development Cell-II, National Institute of Immunology, New Delhi, India

Sudeep Kumar Department of Immunology and Microbial Diseases, Albany Medical Center, Albany, NY, USA

Anu Mehta Department of Biochemistry, Kurukshetra University, Kurukshetra, Haryana, India

Amulya K. Panda Product Development Cell-II, National Institute of Immunology, New Delhi, India

Ramesh Prasad Pandey Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Department of Pharmaceutical Engineering and Biotechnology, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Prakash Parajuli Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Anaya Raj Pokhrel Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Biplav Shrestha Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Jae Kyung Sohng Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Department of Pharmaceutical Engineering and Biotechnology, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

About the Editors



Divva Arora is working in Microbial Biotechnology Division at CSIR-Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine, Jammu. She has obtained her Ph.D. from the Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR) at the CSIR-Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine, Jammu. She has received several international awards such as the Raman Charpak Fellowship from the Indo-French Centre for the Promotion of Advanced Research (IFCPAR), India; a travel award for attending the 4th AIST International Imaging Workshop at the National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology (AIST), Japan; and the DST-DFG Award for participation in the 68th Lindau Nobel Laureate Meeting, Lindau, Germany. Her current research interests are isolation of secondary metabolites from microbial co-culture, natural product chemistry and nanocarrier-mediated drug delivery.



Chetan Sharma is working as Research Associate at the College of Dairy Science and Technology, Guru Angad Dev Veterinary and Animal Science University, Ludhiana, India. He has completed his M.Sc. and Ph.D. in Microbiology from Kurukshetra University, Kurukshetra. He has published several research papers of international repute, serves as a reviewer for different journals and has submitted many nucleotide sequences in NCBI database. He has also edited and published one book at Nova Science Publishers. His present research interest covers the isolation of bioactive compounds from natural sources, medical microbiology, antimicrobial resistance (AMR) and probiotics.



Sundeep Jaglan is working as Scientist in the Microbial Biotechnology Division at the CSIR-Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine, Jammu, India. Dr. Jaglan graduated in Biotechnology and obtained his Ph.D. from Guru Jambheshwar University of Science and Technology, Hisar, India. He has joined CSIR-IIIM Jammu in 2008 and has research experience of more than 10 years. He has to his credit several international publications and patents. Dr. Jaglan is member of various professional bodies and reviewer for prestigious journals. His research interests include the diversification of secondary metabolites in microbes via elicitation and co-culture-based approaches. With the mandate of drug discovery, his focus is to obtain microbial natural products of bioactive potential.

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Sundeep_Jaglan https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5691-7980



Eric Lichtfouse, 58, is a Biogeochemist at the University of Aix-Marseille, France. He is the inventor of carbon-13 dating and author of the book *Scientific Writing for Impact Factor Journals*. He is Chief Editor and founder of *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, *Sustainable Agriculture Reviews* and *Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World* (Springer Nature), and *Publier La Science* (INRA). His actual research interests include soil carbon sequestration and temporal pools of individual substances in complex media. https://cv.archives-ouvertes.fr/eric-lichtfouse

Chapter 1 Advances in Drug Delivery Strategies for Microbial Healthcare Products



Jose Manuel Ageitos and Marcos Garcia-Fuentes

Contents

1.1	Introduction				
1.2	Anti-inflammatory and Immunosuppressant Drugs	5			
	1.2.1 Cyclosporine A	5			
	1.2.2 Tacrolimus	7			
1.3	Cardiovascular Protective Drugs	9			
	1.3.1 Lovastatin	9			
	1.3.2 Simvastatin	10			
1.4	Antitumoral Drugs	11			
	1.4.1 Aclarubicin	11			
	1.4.2 Bleomycin	12			
	1.4.3 Doxorubicin	13			
	1.4.4 Mithramycin	14			
	1.4.5 Mitomycin C	16			
	1.4.6 Paclitaxel	17			
	1.4.7 Prodigiosin	19			
1.5	Antibiotic Drugs	20			
	1.5.1 Amphotericin B	20			
	1.5.2 Gentamicin	21			
	1.5.3 Polymyxin B	23			
	1.5.4 Nisin	24			
	1.5.5 Vancomycin	25			
1.6	Probiotic Microorganisms.				
1.7	Conclusion				
Refe	References				

Abstract Biomacromolecules produced by microorganisms have been employed in healthcare ever since ancient times as part of fermented products or natural remedies, but from the discovery of penicillin in 1928 by Alexander Fleming, it is

J. M. Ageitos (🖂) · M. Garcia-Fuentes

Centre for Research in Molecular Medicine and Chronic Diseases (CiMUS) and Department of Pharmacology, Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Santiago de Compostela, Santiago de Compostela, Spain e-mail: josemanuel.ageitos@usc.es

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Arora et al. (eds.), *Pharmaceuticals from Microbes*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 26, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8_1

impossible to conceive medicine without microbial products. In addition to antibiotics, microorganisms produce secondary metabolites currently employed as antiinflammatory, immunosuppressant, and antitumoral drugs, among others. As with any other well-established drugs, undesirable side effects may occur with these compounds due to excessive systemic drug concentrations, and their pharmacological activity can be lost by the development of resistance in the target cells. Besides, many microbial drugs have intrinsic physicochemical properties that limit their application in healthcare such as low aqueous solubility, low bioavailability, acute toxicity, and fast systemic and pre-systemic degradation.

Here we review the critical aspects of innovative strategies for microbial products of high interest for academia and healthcare industry. In order to improve some of the current drug limitations, researchers have explored multiple advanced formulation approaches based on disruptive technologies. By means of new biomaterials and nanotechnology, it is possible to maximize the possibilities for functionalization and interfacing with the biological environment, a characteristic that leads to unique properties as drug delivery carriers. These approaches have resulted in improved pharmacological effects and pharmaceutical characteristics as compared to classical formulations, representing the dawn of a new era in microbial healthcare products.

Abbreviations

FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GRAS	generally recognized as safe
MRSA	methicillin-resistant S. aureus
PEG	poly(ethylene glycol)
PEGylated	functionalized with PEG
PLGA	poly(lactic- <i>co</i> -glycolic acid)
TAT peptide	transactivator of transcription of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV1)
VRE	vancomycin-resistant enterococci
VRSA	vancomycin-resistant S. aureus

1.1 Introduction

Microorganisms are a fundamental source of products for human purposes. On the one hand, primary metabolites, such as alcohols, vitamins, amino acids, enzymes, or organic acids, are employed as nutritional supplements and as raw material for industrial biotransformation. On the other hand, secondary metabolites are employed by pharmaceutical industry to produce active pharmaceutical ingredients widely used in healthcare. Only related to healthcare industry, the estimated market of microbes and microbial products is estimated as \$187.8 billion by 2020 (Singh et al. 2017a). As part of these active pharmaceutical ingredients, it can be included antiinflammatory, antitumoral, and antibiotic drugs, among others.

However, the applicability of these drugs can be hindered by their intrinsic physicochemical properties, such as limited solubility in aqueous environment, reduced intestinal absorption, enzymatic degradation, or interspecific metabolization, and thus can easily conduct to a lack of efficiency or acute toxicity induced by the increase of dose. The conventional approach consists of solubilization by means of surfactants for producing suspensions of these compounds; however, biocompatible surfactants are uneconomic and difficult to synthesize and often unable to eliminate the toxicity or improve the absorption. Another concern for conventional formulations, which makes well-established treatments into obsolete, is the emergence of antibiotic resistance in microorganism (Kalhapure et al. 2015). Antibiotics have been widely employed in medicine since the 1940s; however, due to their prolonged use and abuse, we have conducted the selection of resistant strains of microorganisms (de Miguel et al. 2016; Ageitos et al. 2017). Nowadays, infections with multiresistant microorganisms are becoming the main issue in nosocomial treatments (Inweregbu et al. 2005; WHO 2014). Other than searching for new drugs, researchers are focusing attention in drugs that, while having high antibiotic activity, have high toxicity. Those drugs have not been extensively employed and, therefore, less prone to resistance selection. It is required the reformulation of these drugs to find a therapeutic window where its toxicity is tolerable while maintaining their antibiotic activity. This dichotomy is usually solved with a precise controlled release or using specific carriers to bring the active pharmaceutical ingredients close to where they are needed and, in an ideal case, both solutions (Wong and Choi 2015). The controlled release of drugs was classically conducted by the design of drug delivery systems which allow the sustainable liberation of compounds based on the properties and inner structure of the materials. With the advances in material science, nowadays it is possible to design "smart" drug delivery systems with stimuliresponsive characteristics (Liu et al. 2016).

Nanotechnology is one of the best alternatives for the design of new formulations to improve existing therapies. This emerging area of medicine is based on the use of nanometric carries to significantly reduce the side effects of nonspecific treatments. Drug delivery systems can be classified regarding their properties such as size, composition, structure, and physical properties. There is some controversy regarding the size definition. Nanocarriers are defined materials in nanometric scale (10⁻⁹ m); however, in biological sciences the concept is dynamic, referring to particles smaller than 500 nm; in the case of microcarriers, the size spans between 0.1 and 100 μ m. Regarding composition, the classification is clearer; thereby, metallic devices can be composed by pure metals (usually gold or silver) or metal oxides [iron(II, III)oxide (Fe₃O₄), gadolinium(III) oxide (Gd₂O₃), or titanium dioxide (TiO₂)]. Polymeric devices are generally composed by a polydisperse synthetic polymer, such as poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), poly(lactic acid), poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), methoxy poly(ethylene glycol), poly(vinyl alcohol), and poly(vinyl acetate), among others. Dendrimers are a special case of polymeric devices where the polymer have a low dispersion, being formed of repetitively branched molecules, such

as poly(propylene imine). Natural polysaccharides, such as chitosan, alginate, hyaluronic acid, starch, or dextran, are employed in formulations, as much as core or covering of polymeric devices. Both metallic and polymeric devices are generally named particles and, depending on size, as nanoparticles or microparticles; while amphipathic polymers produce micelles, lipid-based devices can be composed by a mixture of lipids or oils with emulsifiers in order to produce different structures such as nanoemulsions, lipospheres, solid lipid particles, micelles, liposomes, nanostructured lipid carriers, and cubosomes, among others. The main difference between those devices is the organization of the hydrophobic and hydrophilic regions (Fig. 1.1).

Furthermore, nanocarriers can be functionalized with biomarkers which allow the active delivery of the drugs by targeting ligands specific for a cell surface receptor molecule (Wong and Choi 2015). This mechanism allows a tight adhesion of the nanocarrier to the targeted cell surface, which may lead either to endocytosis or the drug release induced by other factors, such as pH, temperature, redox-responsible, or the presence of enzymes (Liu et al. 2016). The design of drug nanocarriers must be done taking into account some critical parameters, such as size, shape, or surface charge, the biological response they induce, and the employed administration route (Ageitos et al. 2016).

Examples of succeeding drug nanocarriers are the liposomal formulations approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Doxil[®]/CaelyxTM, a PEGylated (functionalized with polyethylene glycol) liposomal formulation of doxorubicin developed by Janssen, initially approved by the FDA for Kaposi's sarcoma treatment in 1995, was later approved for ovarian cancer (2005) and multiple myeloma (2008). This formulation improved site-directed delivery to disease and decreased systemic toxicity of free doxorubicin. Also for Kaposi's sarcoma treatment, in 1996, was approved DaunoXome[®] (Galen), a liposomal formulation of



Fig. 1.1 Schematic representation of different nanocarriers described in this chapter. Blue areas represent hydrophilicity and yellow hydrophobicity

daunorubicin, which showed an increased delivery to tumor site and lowered the systemic toxicity arising from side effects of daunorubicin. The antifungal drug amphotericin B was also approved in two liposome formulations, Abelcet[®] (Sigmatau) and AmBisome[®] (Gilead Sciences), both showing a reduction in the toxicity in comparison to free compound. Nowadays there are several microbial drugs based on nanomedicine in clinical trials, and it is expected that those numbers increase soon (Egusquiaguirre et al. 2012; Anselmo and Mitragotri 2016; Bobo et al. 2016; Anselmo et al. 2017).

In the current chapter, we are going to present recent formulations of wellestablished microbial drugs that can serve as example of the different ongoing approaches, highlighting the critical aspects as compared to classical formulations. It must be considered that the main part of the discussed works are only proofs of concept and will take time to reach the mark, considering that, as explained by Liu and collaborators, "these nanoplatforms are lack of standardized manufacturing method, toxicity assessment experience, and clear relevance between the preclinical and clinical studies, resulting in the huge difficulties to obtain regulatory and ethics approval" (Liu et al. 2016). However, authors consider that the works exposed here are an excellent point of reference and a valuable font of knowledge for "advances in drug delivery strategies for microbial healthcare products."

1.2 Anti-inflammatory and Immunosuppressant Drugs

1.2.1 Cyclosporine A

Cyclosporine A (Fig. 1.2) is a non-ribosomally synthesized cyclic peptide isolated from *Tolypocladium inflatum* and is widely used for treating psoriasis and arthritis due its immunosuppressant effect (Thell et al. 2014). Some of the limitations of cyclosporine A are its low bioavailability (Bravo González et al. 2002) derived from poor aqueous solubility and low intestinal permeability (Italia et al. 2007). Cyclosporine A has a narrow therapeutic window where nephrotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, and neurotoxicity have been reported (De Clercq and Holý 2005; Zhang et al. 2013). For these reasons, cyclosporine A is considered a model peptide in nanomedicine, and multiple formulations have been proposed for cyclosporine A delivery through a variety of routes (Wang et al. 2014). Here we will cover the major examples, and we direct the readers seeking further details to a recent review by Guada et al. (Guada et al. 2016b).

PLGA nanoparticles and microspheres have been developed for increasing the stability during the storage of cyclosporine A (Chacón et al. 1999). Orally administered cyclosporine A-loaded poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles showed a cyclosporine A controlled release for 5 days and lower nephrotoxicity than current cyclosporine A formulations (Sandimmune Neoral[®]) (Italia et al. 2007). Similar results were obtained by Guada and collaborators with cyclosporine A lipid nanoparticles, where these nanoparticles had improved pharmacological response



Fig. 1.2 Chemical structure of cyclosporine A. PubChem CID: 5284373

and less nephrotoxicity than Sandimmune Neoral[®] (Guada et al. 2016c). Wang et al. have found that lipid-based nanoscale drug delivery systems, such as nanostructured lipid carriers and self-microemulsifying drug delivery systems, were superior to polymeric nanoparticles for enhancing cyclosporine A oral bioavailability (Wang et al. 2014). Interestingly, cyclosporine A lipid-based devices failed to treat inflammatory bowel diseases (Guada et al. 2016a), while cyclosporine A encapsulated in poly(lactic acid) and poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microspheres showed a reduction in the inflammation of dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis in animals (Fukata et al. 2011). In addition to the formulations mentioned above for the oral route, cyclosporine A poly-*E*-caprolactone nanoparticles showed the ability of penetrating human skin and to reduce inflammation in psoriasis skin models without the appearance of cytotoxicity (Frušić-Zlotkin et al. 2012). Recently, Leung et al. have described cyclosporine A-loaded mannitol porous nanoparticles for pulmonary delivery; those nanoparticles showed good aerosol performance and enhanced dissolution profile compared to spray-dried counterpart (90% in 10 min) (Leung et al. 2017).

Ocular delivery is a specialized type of topical route where other factors such as irritability and mucosal adhesion must be considered. Cationic polymers, such as chitosan, have better adhesion to negatively charged cornea and conjunctiva (Battaglia eye of the active pharmaceutical ingredient. Sandri and collaborators investigated cyclosporine A-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles associated with chitosan; these cyclosporine A/solid lipid nanoparticles were biocompatible and enhanced the penetration of cyclosporine A according to in vitro and ex vivo experiments (Sandri et al. 2010). Chitosan nanoparticles have also shown a prolonged cyclosporine A release in vivo, with drug levels being detected both in vitreous and aqueous humor samples (Basaran et al. 2014). Cyclosporine A-poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles have also been studied for ocular delivery. In vitro studies of these nanoparticles confirmed the absence of cytotoxic effects in cell model, while released cyclosporine A retained its anti-inflammatory activity (Hermans et al. 2014). In vivo studies showed that cyclosporine A-loaded PLGA:Eudragit® RL nanoparticles produce a significant increase in cyclosporine A concentrations in rabbit tears in comparison to the commercial formulation (Aksungur et al. 2011). Cyclosporine A has been also assayed in nanomicelle formulations based on polyvinyl caprolactam-polyvinyl acetate-polyethylene glycol graft copolymer. These micelles showed good biocompatibility and delivered superior levels of cyclosporine A into the cornea in vivo as compared to commercial oil-based cyclosporine A preparations (Guo et al. 2015). Nanomicelles of methoxy poly(ethylene glycol)-hexylsubstituted poly(lactide) copolymers were also instilled ocularly, and authors found higher cyclosporine A cornea levels as compared to the systemic treatment of cyclosporine A (Di Tommaso et al. 2012).

1.2.2 Tacrolimus

Tacrolimus (fujimycin, Fig. 1.3) is an immunosuppressive macrolide lactone, inhibitor of calcineurin-dependent IL2 signaling, isolated from *Streptomyces tsukubaensis*, and is widely employed in clinical practice for prophylaxis of organ rejection (the liver, heart, kidney, pancreas, lung, and bone marrow) in patients



Fig. 1.3 Chemical structure of tacrolimus. PubChem CID: 445643

receiving transplantation (Borhade et al. 2008; Thell et al. 2014). The efficacy of tacrolimus is reduced by its low aqueous solubility and its metabolization in the gastrointestinal tract before absorption. Conventional formulations of tacrolimus have been related to several side effects, including hypertension, nephrotoxicity, and diabetes (Zamorano-Leon et al. 2016).

A few tacrolimus formulations have been tested for improving its bioavailability. For instance, tacrolimus has been formulated in self-microemulsifying drug delivery systems using combinations of various oils, surfactants/cosurfactants, and buffers. Tacrolimus-self-microemulsifying drug delivery systems showed higher bioavailability and immunosuppressive effect than the pure drug and the marketed formulation upon oral administration in an animal model (Borhade et al. 2008). Double-coated tacrolimus-loaded polymethacrylate nanoparticles encapsulated within hydroxypropyl methylcellulose were administered orally to rats and pigs. The researchers detected a 4.9-fold (rats) and a 2.45-fold (pigs) enhancement in relative oral bioavailability as compared to the commercial product (Nassar et al. 2009).

Nanocarriers can also provide targeting for reducing the side effects of tacrolimus. Shin and collaborators studied poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) and PEGylated (functionalized with polyethylene glycol) PLGA nanoparticles loaded with tacrolimus for lymphatic delivery. Tacrolimus nanoparticles and a marketed formulation were intravenously administered to rats; as a result, authors found that concentrations of tacrolimus in mesenteric and axillary lymph nodes were higher for tacrolimus-poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles than for the marketed formulation (Shin et al. 2010). Yoshida et al. proposed another alternative for lymphatic delivery of this active pharmaceutical ingredient using oral oil formulations in rats. Authors found that oil formulations of tacrolimus increased the rate of lymphatic absorption 3- to 15-fold as compared with a solid dispersion formulation while keeping a lower tacrolimus concentration in blood (Yoshida et al. 2016).

Advanced formulations have also been designed to achieve sustained plasmatic levels of drug. For instance, tacrolimus has been loaded in PLGA or poly(lactic acid) microspheres and injected intramuscularly and subcutaneously; after a single injection, it achieves sustained blood levels for 2 weeks, allowing the prolongation of graft survival time in a rat model of heart transplantation (Kojima et al. 2015). Similar results were reported for tacrolimus-loaded in PEG-PLGA nanoparticles administered by gastric perfusion. Tacrolimus/PEG-PLGA nanoparticles produced longer tacrolimus retention time in plasma and increased survival time in a liver transplantation rat model, as compared to tacrolimus capsules (Xu et al. 2014).

Regarding topical applications, tacrolimus has been solubilized in methoxy poly(ethylene glycol)-hexylsubstituted poly(lactide) and loaded into a poly(acrylic acid) gel. The delivery of tacrolimus from this hydrogel formulation was found to be twice that of the commercial formulation in an induced psoriasis model (Gabriel et al. 2016). Another example is a tacrolimus/curcumin-loaded liposphere gel formulation that showed a reduction in lesion markers in an induced psoriasis model as compared to the commercial gel formulation (Jain et al. 2016).

1.3 Cardiovascular Protective Drugs

1.3.1 Lovastatin

Lovastatin (Fig. 1.4) is a highly lipophilic drug isolated from *Aspergillus terreus*, approved as a cholesterol-lowering statin drug by FDA (Chang et al. 2011). Lovastatin is an inhibitor of 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A reductase and cholesterol biosynthesis (Jun and Daxin 2016). Lovastatin has been described as an antitumoral drug since it induces cell death in myeloma plasma cells (van de Donk et al. 2002). Due to its lipidic nature, lovastatin has low oral bioavailability (lessthan5%) and short half-life (1-2 h) (Gu et al. 2011); therefore, several formulations have been designed to improve this limitation.

For instance, nanostructured lipid carriers loaded with lovastatin have shown improved pharmacokinetic and pharmacological properties than the free drug (Jun and Daxin 2016). In a similar manner, Gu and collaborators have developed lovastatin-loaded nanostructured lipid carriers functionalized with the major apoprotein of high-density lipoprotein (apoA-I) for targeting foam cells in atherosclerosis. They found that this strategy can deliver lovastatin to foam cells through the very low-density lipoprotein receptor pathway (Gu et al. 2011). Lovastatin has also shown the ability to induce expression of bone morphogenetic protein 2, which can be employed for fracture healing. However, this is only useful upon regional administration, due to oral administration of lovastatin resulted in poor peripheral delivery to the skeleton, since lovastatin-loaded poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles in the form of nanobeads and observed increased healing in bone fractures after a single injection in the fracture zone as compared to classical oral administration (Garrett et al. 2007).

Fig. 1.4 Chemical structure of lovastatin. PubChem CID: 53232



1.3.2 Simvastatin

Simvastatin (Fig. 1.5) is another cholesterol-lowering drug derived synthetically from a fermentation product of A. terreus. Simvastatin has been used for the treatment of dyslipidemia, coronary heart disease, and specially hypercholesterolemia. Like lovastatin, simvastatin also shows low oral bioavailability. Simvastatin is a white to off-white, nonhygroscopic, crystalline power that is practically insoluble in water. This profile makes simvastatin a logical candidate for its encapsulation in amphipathic carriers (Wu et al. 2015). Zhang and coworkers have developed simvastatin-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles, which were able to triplicate the oral bioavailability of the unmodified simvastatin in rat models (Zhang et al. 2010). Simvastatin-loaded nanostructured lipid carriers have shown to be more efficient for attenuating the atherogenic risk of erythrocytes in hyperlipidemic rats as compared to a simvastatin suspension. Simvastatin-loaded nanostructured lipid carriers induced enhanced drug absorption and bioavailability, a prolonged half-life of simvastatin (Harisa et al. 2017). Bertha et al. have studied simvastatin-loaded poly(ethylene oxide) electrospinning fibers for the controlled release of this drug. Simvastatin fibers showed the ability of release drug for 12 h following zero-order release rate kinetics, which indicate a release mechanism governed by a non-Fickian diffusion process. Moreover, the release profile could be changed by modifying the drug/polymer ratio (Betha et al. 2015). Simvastatin has also been employed for breast adenocarcinoma, in the form of simvastatin loaded into polymeric nanoparticles, composed by a star-shaped cholic acid core grafted with poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) (PLGA). Simvastatin-loaded cholic acid-PLGA nanoparticles showed higher cytotoxicity than pristine simvastatin or simvastatin loaded in linear PLGA nanoparticles. Simvastatin-loaded cholic acid-PLGA nanoparticles were effective in vitro and in vivo, where they effectively suppressed tumor growth in a BALB/c nude mice xenograft tumor model (Wu et al. 2015).





1.4 Antitumoral Drugs

1.4.1 Aclarubicin

Aclarubicin (aclacinomycin A, Fig. 1.6) is an anthracycline anticancer drug isolated from Streptomyces galilaeus, employed in China and Japan for cancer treatment. Aclarubicin mainly follows two pathways in its cytotoxic activity; it inhibits DNA topoisomerase activity inhibiting the synthesis of nucleic acids and reduces the oxygen consumption in mitochondria (Iihoshi et al. 2017). Several formulation strategies focused on the active targeting of tumors have been conducted. Aclarubicin has been delivered in cationic albumin-conjugated PEGylated (modified with polyethylene glycol) nanoparticles for glioma chemotherapy in rats (Lu et al. 2007). These in vivo studies showed that aclarubicin concentration in the tumor was 3.3-fold higher than the one reached with a free aclarubicin preparation. This nanomedicine also increased the retention in the glioma, being the concentration of aclarubicin in the tumor 6.6-fold higher than the one reached with free drug 24 h postinjection (Lu et al. 2007). Jia et al. assayed aclarubicin-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles for targeted liver delivery by intravenous administration. This nanomedicine showed a sustained release of aclarubicin, together with high bioavailability; in vivo studies showed that the specific ratio of active pharmaceutical ingredient released in the liver was duplicated as compared to direct aclarubicin injection, while delivery in other organs was reduced significantly. Authors proposed that solid lipid nanoparticles accumulate in the liver by passive mechanisms after intravenous injection; they are absorbed by the reticuloendothelial system, leading to greatest drug accumulation in the liver, due to its size (70 nm) (Jia et al. 2014b).



Fig. 1.6 Chemical structure of aclarubicin. PubChem CID: 451415

1.4.2 Bleomycin

Bleomycin (Fig. 1.7) is a mixture of basic glycopeptide antineoplastic antibiotics isolated from *Streptomyces verticillus* (Umezawa et al. 1966) and is commonly used in the treatment of lymphoma, squamous cell carcinomas, germ cell tumors, and malignant pleural effusion (Moeller et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2011). Bleomycin's major components are bleomycin A_2 (55–70%) and bleomycin B_2 (25–32%) (Zhang et al. 2011; Yu et al. 2015). The cytotoxic activity of bleomycin is based on the free radical degradation of DNA after binding to guanosine-cytosine-rich portions (Dorr 1992). Bleomycin has pulmonary toxicity, and it is employed for the induction of pulmonary fibrosis models in mice (Moeller et al. 2008). Bleomycins are water-soluble molecules, which, combined with their high molecular weight, leads to low cell membrane permeability.

The improvement of bleomycin's action has been extensively studied by different drug delivery strategies (Yu et al. 2015), such as metallic nanoparticles (Shatskaya et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2016), nanoliposomes (Chiani et al. 2017), or microspheres (Nguyen et al. 2011). The objective of those strategies was to improve the cellular uptake, to enhance the lymphatic accumulation (Matsuru et al. 1979), to target cancerous cell receptors through folate receptors (Chiani et al. 2017), or to achieve sustained plasmatic levels and reduced side effects by controlled release formulations (Zhang et al. 2011). For instance, Kullberg and collaborators proposed bleomycin's immunoliposomes conjugated with trastuzumab for recognition of Her-2⁺ breast cancer cells. Those immunoliposomes were functionalized with the pore-forming protein listeriolysin O to promote endosomal escape cell internalization. The authors observed that this formulation was able to specifically reduce the viability to Her-2-positive cells with an effective bleomycin concentration that was 57,000-fold lower than the one administered extracellularly (Kullberg et al. 2012).



Fig. 1.7 Chemical structure of bleomycin. PubChem CID:5360373

1.4.3 Doxorubicin

Doxorubicin (Adriamycin, Fig. 1.8a) is a 14-hydroxylated version of daunorubicin (daunomycin, Fig. 1.8b), a chemotherapeutic drug isolated from *Streptomyces peu*cetius. Daunorubicin has a broad antitumoral spectrum; however, its application became hindered by its high toxicity and side effects. In order to solve these limitations, novel "smart" stimuli-sensitive drug delivery systems that respond to pH, temperature, and magnetism have been proposed. For instance, Zang and collaborators developed daunorubicin-loaded titanium dioxide (TiO_2) nanoparticles. The fraction of daunorubicin released from daunorubicin-TiO2nanoparticles increased three- to fourfold in acidic conditions as compared to pH 7.4. As the extracellular pH of tumors is lower than in healthy cell tissues, this allows to trigger daunorubicin release specifically in the tumor. In vitro studies have indicated that daunorubicin-TiO₂ nanoparticles enhance the delivery of daunorubicin to the tumors as compared to conventional administration and that they induce tumor apoptosis in a caspasedependent manner (Zhang et al. 2012). Daunorubicin has also been investigated for antitumor therapy in combination with nanomedicines integrating also oxaliplatin. The drug combination was integrated in biodegradable amphiphilic polymeric mixed micelles that showed reduced systematic toxicity and greater synergistic effect than the combination of the same free drugs. The mixed micelles demonstrated in vivo lower toxicity and comparable or higher antitumor efficacy compared with the same drugs in small molecule formulation (Xiao et al. 2012).

Doxorubicin has been extensively studied in recent years, for instance, by their encapsulation in doxorubicin-loaded nanoparticles of poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) coated with multilayers of chitosan/alginate. Multilayered nanoparticles showed superior in vivo tumor inhibition rates and decreased toxicity compared to doxorubicin-poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles and doxorubicin in solution (Chai et al. 2017). Malinovskaya et al. have further studied doxorubicin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles in U87 human glioblastoma cells and observed that nanoparticles penetrate cells by means of clathrin-mediated endocytosis and then they accumulate in lysosomes and some ultimately might be released into the



Fig. 1.8 Chemical structure of (a) doxorubicin and (b) daunorubicin. PubChem CID:31703 and 30323

nucleus (Malinovskava et al. 2017). Another example is lithocholic acidpolyethylene glycol (PEG)-lactobionic acid nanoparticles loaded with doxorubicin. In vitro, those nanoparticles show high cellular uptake in a human liver cancer cell line triggered by the galactose-asialoglycoprotein receptor interaction; doxorubicinlithocholic acid-PEG-lactobionic acid nanoparticles were able to suppress in vivo the tumor growth in an orthotopic mouse model of liver cancer (Singh et al. 2017b). Another approach for targeted delivery has been recently reported by Han and collaborators with doxorubicin-loaded angiopep-2 and the transactivator of transcription of the human immunodeficiency virus [TAT peptide, (Ageitos et al. 2016)] peptide dual-modified liposomes. Those complexes showed high binding efficiency to glioma cells, due to specific recognition of angiopep-2 by the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1 and the cell-penetrating properties of TAT peptide (Han et al. 2017). Pearce and collaborators have employed the prostate-specific membrane antigen receptor, which is overexpressed on many prostate cancers, on lymph nodes, and on bone metastases as therapeutic targets for a doxorubicinloaded hyperbranched polymer carrier. In addition of their excellent in vitro efficacy, prostate-specific membrane antigen-doxorubicin-polymers did not show adverse toxicity and reduced volume of subcutaneous prostate tumors for in vivo studies (Pearce et al. 2017). An example of the refinement acquired in the design of targeted delivery strategies for doxorubicin is a recently proposed synergistic chemo-photothermal cancer treatment, based on doxorubicin-loaded multi-walled carbon nanotubes coated with poly(N-vinyl pyrrole), functionalized with folic acid and polyethylene glycol. This material allowed doxorubicin release in a pHdependent manner and allowed the use of combined chemotherapeutical and photothermal treatments in vitro (Wang et al. 2017).

1.4.4 Mithramycin

Mithramycin (plicamycin, Fig. 1.9) is the most representative member of the aureolic acid family of tricyclic polyketides with antitumor activity produced by *Streptomyces argillaceus*, *S. plicatus*, *S. atroolivaceus*, and other *Streptomyces* species (Lombó et al. 2006). It has been described that mithramycin binds preferentially to the minor groove of guanosine-cytosine-rich portions of DNA, inhibiting their transcription (Lee et al. 1990) and inhibiting the binding of transcription factors like Sp1 (Liu et al. 2017). Mithramycin has been employed in the clinical treatment of testicular embryonal carcinoma, glioblastoma (Lombó et al. 2006), or in hypercalcemia in patients with metastatic bone lesions and Paget's disease (Nastruzzi et al. 2012). However, mithramycin has a narrow therapeutic range since it can cause severe hemorrhagic diathesis at doses up to 30 μ g/Kg/day (Lee et al. 1990) and produce gastrointestinal, hepatic, kidney, and bone marrow toxicity



Fig. 1.9 Chemical structure of mithramycin. PubChem CID:163659

(Cohen-Sela et al. 2009). In order to increase absorption and tumor accumulation, Scott et al. designed polyethylene glycol(PEG)-poly(aspartate hydrazide) self-assembled micelles containing mithramycin derivatives that presented increased cytotoxicity to human A549 lung cancer cells. Those micelles had a pH-responsible behavior, inducing the release of mithramycin derivatives at the acidic environment typical of the tumor (Scott et al. 2011). For the treatment of pancreatic carcinoma, mithramycin-loaded methoxy poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles have been recently investigated (Liu et al. 2017). Mithramycin-nanoparticles showed excellent results in vitro and suppressed BxPC-3 tumor growth by 96% in xenograft models.

In addition to the antitumoral activity, new formulations have been assayed with other purposes. Cohen-Sela and coworkers developed a method for the encapsulation of mithramycin in PLGA nanoparticles, with high loading efficiency (80%), and applied this formulation for the treatment of restenosis (Cohen-Sela et al. 2009). Mithramycin-PLGA nanoparticles significantly inhibited RAW264 macrophages and smooth muscle cells and reduced the number of circulating monocytes in rabbits. However, the formulation failed to show a therapeutic effect in a restenosis in rat models. Mithramycin upregulates the expression of human γ -globin genes, which can be associated with a significant improvement in the clinical outcome of the patient with beta-thalassemia. Based on this premise, Nastruzzi and collaborators assayed mithramycin encapsulated in polymeric micellar nanoparticles (Nastruzzi et al. 2012). They found that this advanced formulation was able to reduce the inherent toxicity of the drug and that it induces a more pronounced effect on cell differentiation and γ -globin upregulation when compared to free mithramycin.

1.4.5 Mitomycin C

Mitomycin C (Fig. 1.10) is an antineoplastic antibiotic isolated in Japan in the 1950s from a culture of *Streptomyces caespitosus*. Mitomycin C generates oxygen radicals, alkylates DNA, and produces interstrand DNA cross-links, conducting selective inhibition of DNA synthesis and eliciting genetic recombination, sister chromatid exchange, chromosome breakage, and mutagenesis (Tomasz 1995). Mitomycin C is employed in the treatment of localized bladder cancer and as part of a cocktail chemotherapy of breast, prostate, pancreatic, and non-small cell lung cancers (Bachar et al. 2011). Mitomycin C treatments are associated with number of acute and chronic toxicities, such as severe decrease of blood cells in bone narrow (irreversible myelosuppression), hemolytic uremic syndrome, irritation, or infection (Cheung et al. 2005). Formulation strategies for mitomycin C are focused on improving its bioavailability due to its lipophilic character and on targeted delivery for reducing the side effects of the conventional treatments.

Controlled release formulations of mitomycin C have been designed by encapsulation in poly(lactic acid) nanoparticles upon mitomycin C association with soybean phosphatidylcholine. This association improves the liposolubility of mitomycin C by formation of a mitomycin C-soybean phosphatidylcholine complex (Hou et al. 2009). Besides these strategies aimed at controlling drug levels, other formulations have been developed to control the spatial distribution of the drug. For instance, mitomycin C-loaded hyaluronan-grafted particle clusters were able to produce the specific accumulation of the drug in tumors of epithelial origin (e.g., head and neck cancers) since they express the cell surface glycoprotein receptor for hyaluronan CD44. These hyaluronan clusters showed an increased therapeutic effect on head and neck cancers ex vivo as compared with free mitomycin C, while they did not affect normal cells (Bachar et al. 2011). Another example of targeted delivery is the design of folic acid-tagged (mitomycin C-soybean phosphatidylcholine complex/10hydroxycamptothecin)-loaded micelles. These micelles have pH-dependent drug release and enhanced cellular uptake mediated by folic acid receptor interaction.

Fig. 1.10 Chemical structure of mitomycin C. PubChem CID:5746



Mitomycin C/10-hydroxycamptothecin-loaded folic acid micelles induced death of tumor cells in vitro and produced the inhibition of growth of tumor tissue in vivo, with low toxicity (Lin et al. 2015). Similar results were obtained with chemical analogs of folic acid such as methotrexate (an inhibitor of dihydrofolate reductase). PEGylated chitosan nanoparticles loaded with mitomycin C/methotrexate were internalized by folic acid receptor-mediated endocytosis and were effective in vivo and in vitro due to the synergic effect of these two drugs (Jia et al. 2014a).

In addition to systemic administration, mitomycin C can be delivered topically using formulations such as the recently reported mitomycin C imprinted poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-N-methacryloyl-L-glutamic acid) cryogel membranes (Öncel et al. 2017). Cryogel membranes showed low cytotoxicity and released mitomycin C following a non-Fickian diffusion with an initial burst release phase. For intravesical topical treatment focused on bladder tumors, Sun and collaborators proposed mitomycin C loaded onto an in-situ depot of chitosan, β -glycerophosphate, and Fe₃O₄ magnetic nanoparticles (Sun et al. 2016). Fe₃O₄-mitomycin C-chitosan/ β glycerophosphate allowed a sustainable release of mitomycin C in vitro and in vivo, increasing its retention time in the bladder (up to 72 h). Fe₃O₄-mitomycin C-chitosan/ β glycerophosphate increased the survival rate and inhibited the growth of bladder tumors during the in vivo tests, where they observed an improvement in tumor cell apoptosis as compared with conventional administration of mitomycin C (Sun et al. 2016).

1.4.6 Paclitaxel

Paclitaxel (Fig. 1.11) is an anticancer drug isolated in the late 1960s from the western yew, *Taxus brevifolia*; however, the natural abundance of paclitaxel in the bark of yew is only 0.01%–0.05%. Thus, the search for alternative sources of paclitaxel has been a main issue in the past decades. The isolation of several paclitaxelproducing endophytic fungi, such as *Taxomyces andreanae* or *Pestalotiopsis guepinii*, has opened the door to a sustainable paclitaxel source (Zhou et al. 2010). In this way, although the quest is still ongoing (Li et al. 2014; Ismaiel et al. 2017), nowadays paclitaxel can be considered as a drug with microbial origin. Paclitaxel has been approved in many countries for the treatment of ovarian and breast cancers. Its mechanism of action is based on arresting the cell cycle by disrupting the dynamic equilibrium within the microtubule system, inhibiting cell replication. Even though paclitaxel should be functional in most cancer cells, the drug has important solubility problems and side effects and might lack efficacy against some resistant cancers (Steffes et al. 2017).

Traditional formulation of paclitaxel (Taxol[®]) produces several side effects such as hypersensitivity, nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, vasodilatation, labored breathing, lethargy, and hypotension. In order to improve these main issues, several new formulations have been investigated (Nehate et al. 2014). For instance, Danhier and collaborators proposed paclitaxel-loaded polyethylene glycol (PEG)-functionalized



Fig. 1.11 Chemical structure of paclitaxel. PubChem CID:36314

poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA)-based nanoparticles. Paclitaxel-loaded nanoparticles showed higher efficacy than commercial paclitaxel formulations in vitro and in vivo, including greater inhibition in the growth of a transplantable lymphoid tumor (Danhier et al. 2009). Paclitaxel-loaded mixed micelles, composed of PEG-*block*-poly(propylene glycol)-*block*-PEG(poloxamer) and poly(ethylene oxide-*co*-propylene oxide) with a diameter of 25 nm, have been studied by Wei and collaborators. Paclitaxel-loaded mixed micelles showed higher toxicity than the commercial paclitaxel formulations in human lung adenocarcinoma cell lines (Wei et al. 2009). Recently, Steffes and collaborators have studied in detail paclitaxel-loaded cationic nanoliposomes with different loading ratio. Nanoliposomes with lower paclitaxel content (1–2 mol%) were more stable and more efficacious than nanoliposomes with higher loading ratio (\geq 3 mol%), both in release profiles and toxicity against prostate (PC3) and melanoma (M21) human cancer cells lines (Steffes et al. 2017).

In addition to nanoparticle systems, submicron/nanoscale PLGA implants have been assayed for paclitaxel release. Paclitaxel-loaded PLGA nanofiber discs, paclitaxel-loaded PLGA submicron-fiber discs, and paclitaxel-loaded PLGA microspheres entrapped in hydrogel matrices have been intracranially implanted in mice glioblastoma xenograft models. Paclitaxel-loaded nanoscale implants demonstrated optimal drug pharmacokinetics in the brain/tumor and significant tumor inhibition (Ranganath et al. 2010).

1.4.7 Prodigiosin

Prodigiosin (Fig. 1.12) is a natural red pigment produced by several bacterial genera including Serratia, Streptomyces, Vibrio, Hahella, Zooshikella, and Pseudoalteromonas (Dozie-Nwachukwu et al. 2017; Mazzoli et al. 2017), with a wide range of biological activity, including antimicrobial, antimalarial, immunosuppressive, or antitumor properties (Darshan and Manonmani 2015). Prodigiosin can induce apoptosis in cancer cells by several suggested mechanisms of action, such as copper-mediated cleavage of double-stranded DNA, phosphatase inhibition, or disruption of the pH gradient (Rastegari et al. 2017). This versatile pigment has been investigated for different administration routes, for instance, the group of Prof. Soboyejo has studied the controlled release of prodigiosin as breast cancer treatment in a variety of formulations, including thermosensitive poly(Nisopropylacrylamide) hydrogels, implants of poly-di-methyl-siloxane (Danyuo et al. 2014, 2015), biodegradable poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microparticles (Obayemi et al. 2016), and the free drug (Danyuo et al. 2016). Prodigiosin has also been encapsulated in chitosan microspheres and tested on breast cancer cells with promising results (Dozie-Nwachukwu et al. 2017). Recently, a prodigiosin grafted polysaccharide (β-cyclodextrin and chitosan)-coated magnetic nanoparticles, with lysosome enzymatic-triggered release, have been proposed. These magnetic nanoparticles targeted the GLUT1 receptor, which is overexpressed in cancer cells. Accordingly, prodigiosin-loaded chitosan magnetic nanoparticles showed greater efficacy on cancer cell lines than in noncancerous controls (Rastegari et al. 2017).



Fig. 1.12 Chemical structure of prodigiosin. PubChem CID:5351169

1.5 Antibiotic Drugs

1.5.1 Amphotericin B

Amphotericin B (Fig. 1.13) is a highly hydrophobic macrolide antifungal antibiotic employed to treat systemic fungal infections and leishmaniasis produced by *Streptomyces nodosus*. This drug has been employed in clinical from more than 60 years as a form of micellar suspension with sodium deoxycholate. However, this formulation produced severe adverse effects such as nephrotoxicity, anemia, and infusion-related side effects. In the 1990s, new formulations based on liposomes were marketed. Liposome-based amphotericin B retained the same activity than micellar amphotericin B while reducing the nephrotoxicity. However, both formulations required an intravenous administration (Serrano and Lalatsa 2017). Current investigations are trying to provide formulations for transmucosal delivery of amphotericin B, and herein we will cover some of the most recent research.

In order to improve oral absorption, amphotericin B-loaded cubosomes have been studied. This formulation increased the bioavailability of amphotericin B by 285% as compared to the commercial micellar suspension, while it did not show nephrotoxicity in animal models (Yang et al. 2012). For bioadhesive mucosal formulations, amphotericin B was encapsulated in core-shell structures formed by monomethoxy polyethylene glycol)-poly(ε -caprolactone) micelles. Amphotericin B/methoxy poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(ε -caprolactone) micelles increased the solubility of amphotericin B yet reduced the overall toxicity, while when loaded in a buccal tablet system, they were able to suppress *Candida albicans* biofilm formation (Zhang et al. 2017a). The same research group also proposed amphotericin B-loaded methoxy poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(ε -caprolactone)-graftpoly(ethylenimine) micelles for local candidiasis treatment. Authors obtained



Fig. 1.13 Chemical structure of amphotericin B. PubChem CID:5280965

reduced in vitro cytotoxicity and nonsystemic in vivo toxicity while retaining the same activity against *C. albicans* than Fungizone[®] (Zhou et al. 2017).

Van De Ven and collaborators developed amphotericin B-loaded poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles and amphotericin B nanosuspensions for intraperitoneal administration, which both systems showed to be more effective in vitro and in vivo against the different Leishmania stages and axenic fungi in comparison with the free amphotericin B or marketed formulations (AmBisome® and Fungizone[®]) (Van De Ven et al. 2012). Jain and collaborators developed amphotericin B-loaded muramyl dipeptide conjugated to multimeric poly(propylene imine) dendrimers for targeting macrophages. These formulations showed a reduction in the hemolytic and cytotoxic effect in erythrocyte and macrophage cultures in comparison to commercial amphotericin B (AmBisome® and Fungizone®). The formulation also showed targeted delivery to macrophages in an in vivo leishmanial model (Jain et al. 2015). Amphotericin B loaded in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) and dimercaptosuccinic acid nanoparticles showed a preferential tropism for the lungs. This formulation did not produce in vitro hemolysis or in vivo toxicity, while it was able to treat lung fungal infection as commercial amphotericin B, but reduce the number of injections (Souza et al. 2015). Wang and collaborators proposed amphotericin B loaded into polymeric micelles of phenylboronic acid-functionalized polycarbonate/polyethylene glycol and urea-functionalized polycarbonate/PEG diblock copolymers. By means of different blend ratios, authors were able to produce the controlled release of amphotericin B while reducing hemolytic and nephrotoxic effects as compared to commercial amphotericin B colloidal suspension (Fungizone®) (Wang et al. 2016). Recently, it has been reported that amphotericin B-loaded poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)-polyethylene glycol blend nanoparticles had a superior performance to amphotericin B-loaded PLGA nanoparticles, both nanoparticles inhibited in vitro amphotericin B-induced hemolysis and in vivo liver damage (Moraes Moreira Carraro et al. 2017). Another functionalization of PLGA nanoparticles has been performed with amphotericin B-loaded O-stearoyl mannose modified PLGA nanoparticles. Mannose-PLGA nanoparticles showed an improvement of intracellular internalization in ex vivo experiments, as compared with pristine amphotericin B-loaded PLGA nanoparticles while effectively treating visceral leishmaniasis in vivo of animal models (Ghosh et al. 2017).

1.5.2 Gentamicin

Gentamicin (Fig. 1.14) is a mixture of three aminoglycoside antibiotics (C1, C1a, and C2), produced by *Micromonospora purpurea*, and is effective against Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria; however, like all aminoglycosides, gentamicin is not effective when it is orally provided (Popat et al. 2007). On account of this, gentamicin is often employed in topical applications, especially in bone cements, where it has been employed clinically in various forms for nearly five decades to prevent or treat osteomyelitis (Aviv et al. 2007). This type of infections is difficult



Fig. 1.14 Chemical structure of gentamicin. PubChem CID: 72395, 72396, 72397

to treat because antibiotics cannot readily reach the infection site in bone tissue and because the toxicity and adverse systemic effects of gentamicin, such as ototoxicity and nephrotoxicity, to increment the dosage of drug become infeasible (Swieringa et al. 2008). Besides, most of the classical bone cements were produced with non-biodegradable polymers, which often produce a strong burst release of only hours.

Aviv and collaborators investigated poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) and poly(lactic acid) films for coating of orthopedic implants and observed a sustainable gentamicin release for 12-24 weeks in concentrations, sufficient to inhibit the growth of Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus epidermidis, or Staphylococcus aureus (Aviv et al. 2007). Gentamicin-loaded collagen fleeces have been evaluated in acute periprosthetic infections; the release of gentamicin to blood was detected at inhibitory concentrations for P. aeruginosa, S. aureus, and Klebsiella spp., without reaching toxic levels (Swieringa et al. 2008). Gentamicin-PLGA coating on porous magnesium scaffold also showed a controlled release of gentamicin and inhibited adhesion and biofilm formation of S. epidermidis and S. aureus. Besides this, PLGA-Mg improved the biocompatibility with human bone marrow stromal cells, as compared to porous magnesium scaffold without coating (Li et al. 2015). Pishbin and collaborators have proposed gentamicin-loaded bioactive glass/chitosan composite coatings of metal orthopedic implants. The coating produced an improved cell adhesion and osteogenesis while kept antimicrobial effects against S. aureus (Pishbin et al. 2014). Gentamicin has also been encapsulated in d- α -tocopheryl polyethylene glycol 1000 succinate micelles and subsequently loaded into a biocomposite material, based on titania nanotubes directly fabricated on titanium surface, coated with chitosan or PLGA. Gentamicin-d- α -tocopheryl polyethylene glycol 1000 succinate-chitosan-titania nanotubes showed controlled release of gentamicin (3–4 weeks) and an enhanced osteoblast adhesion and antibacterial properties (Kumeria et al. 2015). Also for titanium coating, gentamicin has been loaded in silk fibroin nanoparticles from *Antheraea mylitta*. Gentamicin-silk fibroin nanoparticles deposited on titanium showed a sustained drug release, enhanced osteoblast adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation in comparison to bare titanium surface (Sharma et al. 2016). A case study of 100 patients with chronic osteomyelitis treated with gentamicin-loaded, calcium sulfate/hydroxyapatite biocomposite has shown that this treatment was able to eradicate the infection in the 96% of the cases with a single procedure (McNally et al. 2016).

Gentamicin-loaded materials have been employed for other purposes, for instance, polyvinyl alcohol/dextran hydrogels have been studied for gentamicin-loaded wound dressing. Gentamicin-loaded gels showed a positive effect of wound healing during in vivo studies and improved the physical properties of pure poly(vinyl alcohol) gels (Hwang et al. 2010). Gentamicin-loaded solid-reversed-micellar-solution-based solid lipid microparticles have been studied for intramuscular injection, being observed diffusion-controlled release profiles in vitro and in vivo rat model (Umeyor et al. 2012). Gentamicin-poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) nanoparticles have shown the controlled release of the drug after intraperitoneal injection and improved the antimicrobial effect of gentamicin toward *P. aeruginosa* infection in a murine model (Abdelghany et al. 2012). In a similar manner, gentamicin-loaded poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) nanoparticles showed a controlled release during 35 days and inhibited the growth of clinical isolates of *S. epidermidis* and *S. aureus* in vitro (Posadowska et al. 2015).

1.5.3 Polymyxin B

Polymyxin B (Fig. 1.15) is a positively charged cyclic antimicrobial peptide produced by *Paenibacillus polymyxa*, with activity against Gram-negative bacteria, especially for multidrug-resistant *P. aeruginosa*. Polymyxin B acts as surfactant, permeabilizing and depolarizing the cell membrane (Ageitos et al. 2017). Even



Fig. 1.15 Chemical structure of polymyxin B. PubChem CID:49800004

though polymyxin B is an effective antibiotic, its clinical use became limited due to its toxicity (mainly nephrotoxicity, ototoxicity, and neuromuscular blockade), protein binding (Brandenburg et al. 2012), and inefficient intestinal absorption (Chifiriuc et al. 2016).

In order to solve the abovementioned drawbacks, polymyxin B has been complexed with liposomes; although in general the bactericidal effect became reduced, it was possible to explore other administration routes, such as the lung. Interestingly, it was not detected in the presence of polymyxin B in the kidney or blood, while bacterial infection was reduced in comparison to conventional polymyxin B (Carmona-Ribeiro and Carrasco 2014; Alipour and Suntres 2014; Martin et al. 2015). Sodium alginate-cross-linked polymyxin B sulfate-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles have been assayed for reducing the toxicity and kept antimicrobial activity, and those solid lipid nanoparticles showed high inhibition capacity against the evaluated strains, with low cytotoxicity (Severino et al. 2015). Recently, it has been reported the vehiculation of polymyxin B in surfactants (poractant alfa); the formulation had a prophylactic in vivo effect on the lung function in neonatal pneumonia of rabbits (Stichtenoth et al. 2017). Sukhishvili and collaborators described an interesting application of polymyxin B/tannic acid films with pH-triggered release induced by bacterial growth. Polymyxin B/tannic acid films inhibited the growth of S. epidermidis or Escherichia coli while allowing the adhesion and proliferation of murine osteoblast cells (Zhuk et al. 2014). The same group has recently presented polymyxin B-loaded poly(methacrylic acid) hydrogel coatings, which released polymyxin B by the same mechanism (localized pH triggering), and authors proved that these coatings were able to inhibit the growth of E. coli even after repeated use or under flowing conditions (Albright et al. 2017). Also for coating applications, polymyxin B has been loaded into 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate hydrogels on imprinted contact lenses (Malakooti et al. 2015) and as a cationic oral nanoemulsion with dexamethasone acetate for mucosa adhesion (Li et al. 2016). Based on the positive charge of polymyxin B, it is possible to perform polyion complexes based on electrostatic interactions with negatively charged polymers, such as poly(styrene sulfonate). Recently, polymyxin B-polyion complex nanoparticle colloidal suspensions have been reported with antibacterial activity against P. aeruginosa similar to free polymyxin B, while polymyxin B-polyion complex nanoparticles showed a gradual release of polymyxin B, which could reduce the toxicity at high doses (Insua et al. 2017a, b).

1.5.4 Nisin

Nisin (Fig. 1.16) is the most prominent member of the lantibiotic family, a group of ribosomally synthetized polycyclic antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) produced by *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis*, approved as a food preservative by the FDA (Ageitos et al. 2017). Nisins have been formulated in the form of nanoemulsions, nanoliposomes, nanoparticles, and nanofibers or immobilized to produce


Fig. 1.16 Representation of the structure of nisin (PDB ID: 1WCO) depicting relevant residues. Red, cysteine. Green, uncommon amino acids. Blue, lysine

biodegradable films in order to increase its stability, allow a controlled release, or increase its activity range (Lemes et al. 2016; Khan and Oh 2016). Even if some of the formulation strategies resulted in a partial loss of activity (Carmona-Ribeiro and Carrasco 2014), nisin-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles have shown to inhibit *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Lactobacillus plantarum* grown for up to 20 and 15 days, respectively, compared to 1 and 3 days, respectively, for free nisin (Prombutara et al. 2012). Nisin incorporated with 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid in nanofibers of poly(_{Dh}-lactide) and poly(ethylene oxide) was able to inhibit the biofilm formation by 88% after incubation with a methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) strain (Ahire and Dicks 2014). Based on the synergic effect, nisin-functionalized gold nanoparticles have been studied. The nanoparticles presented low cytotoxicity and lower minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) (8- to 32-fold) than nisin for clinical isolates of *Enterococcus faecalis* and *S. aureus*, without the appearance of antibiotic resistance (Pradeepa et al. 2017).

1.5.5 Vancomycin

Vancomycin (Fig. 1.17) is a cyclic glycopeptide antibiotic, produced by *Amycolatopsis orientalis*, and is widely used for the treatment of Gram-positive bacterial infection, especially for MRSA. Vancomycin has long been considered as a "drug of last resort"; however, the appearance of vancomycin-resistant *S. aureus* (VRSA) or vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE) strains entailed the requirement of higher and more efficient dosage of vancomycin (Singh et al. 2014), which is a major concern, since vancomycin produces nephrotoxicity and hypersensitivity (Honary et al. 2014). Several strategies have been developed for enhancing the efficacy and reducing vancomycin toxicity. Improvement of intestinal viability of vancomycin has been conducted with vancomycin-Eudragit RS100-coated nanoparticles (Loveymi et al. 2012) or vancomycin-poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA)



Fig. 1.17 Chemical structure of vancomycin. PubChem CID:14969

nanoparticles (Zakeri-Milani et al. 2013); in both cases, the intestinal absorption was higher than that of vancomycin solutions at the same concentrations.

The group of Concheiro has studied vancomycin loaded in different polymeric films, such as poly(propylene)films with cross-linked poly(acrylic acid) or interpenetrated networks of poly(acrylic acid) and cross-linked poly(acrylic acid) poly(Nisopropylacrylamide). All the films showed a pH-dependent vancomycin release and were able to reduce the formation of biofilms by MRSA (Ruiz et al. 2008). Further studies showed that direct grafting of poly(propylene) with gamma radiation produced the smart polymer *net*-poly(propylene)-g-poly(acrylic acid)-internet-poly(N-isopropylacrylamide), with temperature- and pH-responsible swelling; vancomycin-loaded-net-poly(propylene)-g-poly(acrylic acid)-inter-net-poly(Nisopropylacrylamide) films released vancomycin at adequate levels for killing bacteria attempting to adhere the surface of the film; this strategy seems suitable for functionalizing the surface of medical devices based on poly(propylene) (Muñoz-Muñoz et al. 2009). The group of Hu et al. has studied derivatized chitosan, vancomycin-loaded N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles (Xu et al. 2015), and vancomycin/N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles associated with composite beads of poly(trimethylene carbonate) (Zhang et al. 2017b) for the controlled release of vancomycin. Both vancomycin/N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles and vancomycin/N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticle-poly(trimethylene carbonate) had excellent antibacterial activity, while the combination of vancomycin/N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticle-poly(trimethylene carbonate) was able to promote bone repair. Hachicha et al. studied vancomycin-loaded poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microparticles for continuous release in intraocular route (Hachicha et al. 2006). Vancomycin-loaded folic acid-tagged chitosan nanoparticles were able to reduce the minimum inhibitory concentration and minimum bactericidal concentration for VRSA strains. Authors concluded that folic acid tag was required for nanoparticle action (Chakraborty et al. 2010). Gu and collaborators described (vancomycin)-capped gold nanoparticles with an improved activity against VRE strains and Gram-negative bacteria (Gu et al. 2003). Comparable results were obtained by Mohammed Fayaz and collaborators with vancomycin-bound gold nanoparticles, which were able to reduce four times for E. coli and six times for VRSA the minimum inhibitory concentration as compared with free vancomycin (Mohammed Fayaz et al. 2011). Argenziano and collaborators have proposed an interesting approach for vancomycin delivery. Authors developed vancomycinloaded nanobubbles, a core-shell nanostructure filled with a gas (perfluoropentane), with shell of dextran sulfate, where vancomycin was loaded. Vancomycinnanobubbles allowed a controlled release of the active pharmaceutical ingredient and were generally more effective against MRSA than free vancomycin while reducing in vitro cytotoxicity on human keratinocytes (Argenziano et al. 2017).

1.6 Probiotic Microorganisms

Even though this chapter is focused on microbial compounds, it must also be taken into account that microorganism themselves can exert an important role in healthcare, as it is the case of probiotics. The Food and Agriculture Organization defines probiotic microorganisms as "live microorganisms, which when consumed in adequate amounts, confer a health effect on the host" (Morelli and Capurso 2012). Probiotics must survive to gastrointestinal tract in order to exert beneficial health effects (Calo-Mata et al. 2016); however, they lose viability due to the extreme conditions they are subjected (gastric acids, bile salts, proteases) (Arslan-Tontul and Erbas 2017). In view of the above, several formulations for the protection of probiotics have been developed. One example of coating technology is PhloralTM, a combination of an anionic polymer based on starch, which cannot be digested by mammal amylases, but does bacterial ones, and Eudragit® S, a pH-activated polymer (Ambrogi et al. 2008; Dodoo et al. 2017). Dodoo and collaborators observed that lyophilized Lactobacillus acidophilus LA-5 has poor tolerance to simulated gastric fluid, while after encapsulation with Phloral®, viabilities of 90% were observed after the same treatment (Dodoo et al. 2017). Microencapsulation can produce single- or double-layered structures using techniques such as spray drying or spray chilling. Arslan-Tontul and Erbas showed that the structure of the microcapsules will confer different survival rates to heat and gastric conditions of several probiotic microorganisms Saccharomyces boulardii, L. acidophilus, and Bifidobacterium bifidum (Arslan-Tontul and Erbas 2017). In general terms, singlelayered microcapsules produced by spray drying (gum arabic and β -cyclodextrin) showed improved survivability, for instance, encapsulated microorganism survived after incubation at 80 °C, while non-encapsulated ones only bore at 50 °C. In order to increase the viability of probiotics during storage and gastrointestinal environment, pea protein-alginate microcapsules have been recently reported (Varankovich et al. 2017). Lactobacillus rhamnosus R0011 and L. helveticus R0052 were encapsulated in pea protein-alginate microcapsules with or without a chitosan coating, being observed that both formulations were able to protect the viability of probiotic microorganisms after incubation in simulated gastrointestinal environment. Moreover, chitosan-coated pea protein-alginate microcapsules were able to keep the viability of bacteria up to 9 weeks at room temperature (Varankovich et al. 2017). Besides the intrinsic prophylactic effect of probiotics, these microorganisms have been assayed for mitigating toxic side effects of chemotherapeutic agents; thus, Sharma et al. prepared microparticles containing 5-fluorouracil (pyrimidine analog that is an antineoplastic antimetabolite) and selected probiotic strain with high free radical scavenging activity. In vivo studies showed that microparticles with L. rhamnosus protected the colonic epithelium from the cytotoxic effect of 5-fluorouracil; these results open the door to a new solution for the problems associated with traditional chemotherapy (Sharma et al. 2017).

1.7 Conclusion

In the current chapter, we have summarized several novel strategies for the formulation of clinically relevant products with a microbiological origin, paying special attention to nanocarriers for advanced drug delivery. Through review of ongoing approaches, we have explored current academic and industrial interests toward the design of safer and better formulations. Besides some new emerging compounds, the current catalog of microbial drugs can alleviate most of the diseases for which they are described, but sometimes, at an excessive cost. Therefore, significant efforts have been paid for the development of new delivery systems, being among the most promising, the ones based on nanotechnology. These systems aim to improve some of the current drug limitations. Nanodevices maximize the surface by unit of mass, thus maximizing the possibilities for functionalization and interfacing with the biological environment, a characteristic that leads to unique properties as drug delivery carriers. In this way, new strategies attempt to enhance the bioavailability, minimize toxic effects, control the release of drugs, or broaden the range of treatable diseases with conventional drugs, among others. However, it is important to notice that nanomedicine is not a panacea since the properties of the materials drastically change at nanometric scale. On the one hand, new undesirable effects may emerge, even from GRAS (generally recognized as safe) bulk materials at nanoscale, such as undesired accumulation in organs or even inside cells. On the other hand, the same formulation is not always universally applicable for different drugs; this means that every single compound requires a tremendous research effort in order to arise clinical market. It should be pointed out that there is a clear mismatch between the vast quantity of literature regarding this topic and the limited number of treatments approved so far. Notwithstanding, there is little doubt that after clinical approval, nanocarriers are safer and more efficacious than their traditional counterparts. Microbial drugs are a paradigm of variety and effectiveness, and if considered their synergic effect with a disruptive technology such as nanomedicine, each time more refined and accurate, we can boldly speculate that we are at the dawn of a new era that will utterly flourish in the next decades.

Acknowledgment This work was supported by Fundación BBVA, Proyectos de Investigación en Biomedicina (2014-PO0110), and Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad (SAF2014-58189-R, FEDER Funds).

The chemical structures were obtained from the PubChem Database (https://pubchem.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/) and represented using the MarvinSketch software (ChemAxon Ltd, Budapest, Hungary).

Protein molecular models were obtained from the Protein Data Bank (PDB; http://www.rcsb. org/pdb; 1WCO). Molecular graphics and analyses were performed with the UCSF Chimera package (Pettersen et al. 2004). Chimera is developed by the Resource for Biocomputing, Visualization, and Informatics at the University of California, San Francisco (supported by NIGMS P41-GM103311).

References

- Abdelghany SM, Quinn DJ, Ingram RJ et al (2012) Gentamicin-loaded nanoparticles show improved antimicrobial effects towards Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. Int J Nanomed 7:4053–4063. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S34341
- Ageitos JM, Chuah J-A, Numata K (2016) Chapter 1. Design considerations for properties of nanocarriers on disposition and efficiency of drug and gene delivery. In: Braddock M (ed) Nanomedicines: design, delivery and detection. Royal Society of Chemistry, pp 1–22. https:// doi.org/10.1039/9781782622536-00001
- Ageitos JM, Sánchez-Pérez A, Calo-Mata P, Villa TG (2017) Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs): ancient compounds that represent novel weapons in the fight against bacteria. Biochem Pharmacol 133:117–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2016.09.018
- Ahire JJ, Dicks LMT (2014) Nisin incorporated with 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid in nanofibers inhibits biofilm formation by a methicillin-resistant strain of Staphylococcus aureus. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins 7:52–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12602-014-9171-5
- Aksungur P, Demirbilek M, Denkbaş EB et al (2011) Development and characterization of Cyclosporine A loaded nanoparticles for ocular drug delivery: cellular toxicity, uptake, and kinetic studies. J Control Release 151:286–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.01.010
- Albright V, Zhuk I, Wang Y et al (2017) Self-defensive antibiotic-loaded layer-by-layer coatings: imaging of localized bacterial acidification and pH-triggering of antibiotic release. Acta Biomater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.08.012
- Alipour M, Suntres ZE (2014) Liposomal antibiotic formulations for targeting the lungs in the treatment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Ther Deliv 5:409–427. https://doi.org/10.4155/tde.14.13

- Ambrogi V, Perioli L, Ricci M et al (2008) Eudragit® and hydrotalcite-like anionic clay composite system for diclofenac colonic delivery. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 115:405–415. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.micromeso.2008.02.014
- Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S (2016) Nanoparticles in the clinic. Bioeng Transl Med 1:10–29. https:// doi.org/10.1002/btm2.10003
- Anselmo AC, Prabhakarpandian B, Pant K, Mitragotri S (2017) Clinical and commercial translation of advanced polymeric nanoparticle systems: opportunities and material challenges. Transl Mater Res 4:14001. https://doi.org/10.1088/2053-1613/aa5468
- Argenziano M, Banche G, Luganini A et al (2017) Vancomycin-loaded nanobubbles: a new platform for controlled antibiotic delivery against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections. Int J Pharm 523:176–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.03.033
- Arslan-Tontul S, Erbas M (2017) Single and double layered microencapsulation of probiotics by spray drying and spray chilling. LWT – Food Sci Technol 81:160–169. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.lwt.2017.03.060
- Aviv M, Berdicevsky I, Zilberman M (2007) Gentamicin-loaded bioresorbable films for prevention of bacterial infections associated with orthopedic implants. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 83A:10–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.31184
- Bachar G, Cohen K, Hod R et al (2011) Hyaluronan-grafted particle clusters loaded with Mitomycin C as selective nanovectors for primary head and neck cancers. Biomaterials 32:4840–4848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.03.040
- Başaran E, Yenilmez E, Berkman MS et al (2014) Chitosan nanoparticles for ocular delivery of cyclosporine A. J Microencapsul 31:49–57. https://doi.org/10.3109/02652048.2013.805839
- Battaglia L, D'Addino I, Peira E et al (2012) Solid lipid nanoparticles prepared by coacervation method as vehicles for ocular cyclosporine. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol 22:125–130. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1773-2247(12)50016-X
- Betha S, Pamula Reddy B, Mohan Varma M et al (2015) Development of simvastatin electrospun fibers: a novel approach for sustained drug delivery. J Pharm Investig 45:13–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40005-014-0140-5
- Bobo D, Robinson KJ, Islam J et al (2016) Nanoparticle-based medicines: a review of FDAapproved materials and clinical trials to date. Pharm Res 33:2373–2387. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11095-016-1958-5
- Borhade V, Nair H, Hegde D (2008) Design and evaluation of self-microemulsifying drug delivery system (SMEDDS) of Tacrolimus. AAPS PharmSciTech 9:13–21. https://doi.org/10.1208/ s12249-007-9014-8
- Brandenburg KS, Rubinstein I, Sadikot RT, Önyüksel H (2012) Polymyxin B self-associated with phospholipid nanomicelles. Pharm Dev Technol 17:654–660. https://doi.org/10.3109/108374 50.2011.572893
- Bravo González RC, Huwyler J, Walter I et al (2002) Improved oral bioavailability of cyclosporin A in male Wistar rats: comparison of a Solutol HS 15 containing self-dispersing formulation and a microsuspension. Int J Pharm 245:143–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(02)00339-3
- Calo-Mata P, Ageitos JM, Böhme K, Barros-Velázquez J (2016) Intestinal microbiota: first barrier against gut-affecting pathogens. In: Villa TG, Vinas M (eds) New weapons to control bacterial growth. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 281–314. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-28368-5_12
- Carmona-Ribeiro AM, Carrasco LD d M (2014) Novel formulations for antimicrobial peptides. Int J Mol Sci 15:18040–18083. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms151018040
- Chacón M, Molpeceres J, Berges L et al (1999) Stability and freeze-drying of cyclosporine loaded poly(D,L-lactide-glycolide) carriers. Eur J Pharm Sci 8:99–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0928-0987(98)00066-9
- Chai F, Sun L, He X et al (2017) Doxorubicin-loaded poly (Lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles coated with chitosan/alginate by layer by layer technology for antitumor applications. Int J Nanomed 12:1791–1802. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S130404

- Chakraborty SP, Sahu SK, Mahapatra SK et al (2010) Nanoconjugated vancomycin: new opportunities for the development of anti-VRSA agents. Nanotechnology 21:105103. https://doi. org/10.1088/0957-4484/21/10/105103
- Chang CC, Chen WC, Ho TF et al (2011) Development of natural anti-tumor drugs by microorganisms. J Biosci Bioeng 111:501–511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2010.12.026
- Cheung RY, Ying Y, Rauth AM et al (2005) Biodegradable dextran-based microspheres for delivery of anticancer drug mitomycin C. Biomaterials 26:5375–5385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2005.01.050
- Chiani M, Norouzian D, Shokrgozar MA et al (2017) Folic acid conjugated nanoliposomes as promising carriers for targeted delivery of bleomycin. Artif Cells Nanomed, Biotechnol 0:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/21691401.2017.1337029
- Chifiriuc MC, Holban AM, Curutiu C et al (2016) Antibiotic drug delivery systems for the intracellular targeting of bacterial pathogens. In: Sezer AD (ed) Smart drug delivery system. InTech, pp 305–344. https://doi.org/10.5772/61327
- Cohen-Sela E, Teitlboim S, Chorny M et al (2009) Single and double emulsion manufacturing techniques of an amphiphilic drug in PLGA nanoparticles: formulations of mithramycin and bioactivity. J Pharm Sci 98:1452–1462. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.21527
- Danhier F, Lecouturier N, Vroman B et al (2009) Paclitaxel-loaded PEGylated PLGA-based nanoparticles: *in vitro* and *in vivo* evaluation. J Control Release 133:11–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2008.09.086
- Danyuo Y, Obayemi JD, Dozie-Nwachukwu S et al (2014) Prodigiosin release from an implantable biomedical device: kinetics of localized cancer drug release. Mater Sci Eng C 42:734– 745. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2014.06.008
- Danyuo Y, Ani CJ, Obayemi JD et al (2015) Prodigiosin release from an implantable biomedical device: effect on cell viability. Adv Mater Res 1132:3–18. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scien-tific.net/AMR.1132.3
- Danyuo Y, Dozie-Nwachukwu S, Obayemi JD et al (2016) Swelling of poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) P(NIPA)-based hydrogels with bacterial-synthesized prodigiosin for localized cancer drug delivery. Mater Sci Eng C 59:19–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2015.09.090
- Darshan N, Manonmani HK (2015) Prodigiosin and its potential applications. J Food Sci Technol 52:5393–5407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-015-1740-4
- De Clercq E, Holý A (2005) Acyclic nucleoside phosphonates: a key class of antiviral drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:928–940. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1877
- de Miguel T, Rama JLR, Feijoo-Siota L et al (2016) Mechanisms of drug efflux and strategies to overcome them as a way to control microbial growth. In: Villa TG, Vinas M (eds) New weapons to control bacterial growth. Springer International Publishing AG Switzerland, Cham, pp 115–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28368-5_6
- Di Tommaso C, Bourges JL, Valamanesh F et al (2012) Novel micelle carriers for cyclosporin A topical ocular delivery: *in vivo* cornea penetration, ocular distribution and efficacy studies. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 81:257–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2012.02.014
- Dodoo CC, Wang J, Basit AW et al (2017) Targeted delivery of probiotics to enhance gastrointestinal stability and intestinal colonisation. Int J Pharm 530:224–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2017.07.068
- Dorr RT (1992) Bleomycin pharmacology: mechanism of action and resistance, and clinical pharmacokinetics. Semin Oncol 19:3–8
- Dozie-Nwachukwu SO, Danyuo Y, Obayemi JD et al (2017) Extraction and encapsulation of prodigiosin in chitosan microspheres for targeted drug delivery. Mater Sci Eng C 71:268–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.09.078
- Egusquiaguirre SP, Igartua M, Hernández RM, Pedraz JL (2012) Nanoparticle delivery systems for cancer therapy: advances in clinical and preclinical research. Clin Transl Oncol 14:83–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12094-012-0766-6

- Frušić-Zlotkin M, Soroka Y, Tivony R et al (2012) Penetration and biological effects of topically applied cyclosporin A nanoparticles in a human skin organ culture inflammatory model. Exp Dermatol 21:938–943. https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.12051
- Fukata N, Uchida K, Kusuda T et al (2011) The effective therapy of cyclosporine A with drug delivery system in experimental colitis. J Drug Target 19:458–467. https://doi.org/10.3109/10 61186X.2010.511224
- Gabriel D, Mugnier T, Courthion H et al (2016) Improved topical delivery of tacrolimus: a novel composite hydrogel formulation for the treatment of psoriasis. J Control Release 242:16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.09.007
- Garrett IR, Gutierrez GE, Rossini G et al (2007) Locally delivered lovastatin nanoparticles enhance fracture healing in rats. J Orthop Res 25:1351–1357. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.20391
- Ghosh S, Das S, De AK et al (2017) Amphotericin B-loaded mannose modified poly(D,L- lactideco-glycolide) polymeric nanoparticles for the treatment of visceral leishmaniasis: in vitro and in vivo approaches. RSC Adv 7:29575–29590. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7RA04951J
- Gu H, Ho PL, Tong E et al (2003) Presenting vancomycin on nanoparticles to enhance antimicrobial activities. Nano Lett 3:1261–1263. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl034396z
- Gu X, Zhang W, Liu J et al (2011) Preparation and characterization of a lovastatin-loaded protein-free nanostructured lipid carrier resembling high-density lipoprotein and evaluation of its targeting to foam cells. AAPS PharmSciTech 12:1200–1208. https://doi.org/10.1208/ s12249-011-9668-0
- Guada M, Beloqui A, Alhouayek M et al (2016a) Cyclosporine A-loaded lipid nanoparticles in inflammatory bowel disease. Int J Pharm 503:196–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2016.03.012
- Guada M, Beloqui A, Kumar MNVR et al (2016b) Reformulating cyclosporine A (CsA): more than just a life cycle management strategy. J Control Release 225:269–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.01.056
- Guada M, Lana H, Gil AG et al (2016c) Cyclosporine A lipid nanoparticles for oral administration: pharmacodynamics and safety evaluation. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 101:112–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.01.011
- Guo C, Zhang Y, Yang Z et al (2015) Nanomicelle formulation for topical delivery of cyclosporine A into the cornea: *in vitro* mechanism and *in vivo* permeation evaluation. Sci Rep 5:12968. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12968
- Hachicha W, Kodjikian L, Fessi H (2006) Preparation of vancomycin microparticles: importance of preparation parameters. Int J Pharm 324:176–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2006.06.005
- Han W, Yin G, Pu X et al (2017) Glioma targeted delivery strategy of doxorubicin-loaded liposomes by dual-ligand modification. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 28:1695–1712. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/09205063.2017.1348739
- Harisa GI, Alomrani AH, Badran MM (2017) Simvastatin-loaded nanostructured lipid carriers attenuate the atherogenic risk of erythrocytes in hyperlipidemic rats. Eur J Pharm Sci 96:62–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2016.09.004
- Hermans K, Van Den Plas D, Schreurs E et al (2014) Cytotoxicity and anti-inflammatory activity of cyclosporine a loaded PLGA nanoparticles for ocular use. Pharmazie 69:32–37. https://doi.org/10.1691/ph.2014.2206
- Honary S, Ebrahimi P, Hadianamrei R (2014) Optimization of particle size and encapsulation efficiency of vancomycin nanoparticles by response surface methodology. Pharm Dev Technol 19:987–998. https://doi.org/10.3109/10837450.2013.846375
- Hou Z, Wei H, Wang Q et al (2009) New method to prepare mitomycin c loaded pla-nanoparticles with high drug entrapment efficiency. Nanoscale Res Lett 4:732–737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11671-009-9312-z
- Hwang M-R, Kim JO, Lee JH et al (2010) Gentamicin-loaded wound dressing with polyvinyl alcohol/dextran hydrogel: gel characterization and *in vivo* healing evaluation. AAPS PharmSciTech 11:1092–1103. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-010-9474-0

- Iihoshi H, Ishihara T, Kuroda S et al (2017) Aclarubicin, an anthracycline anti-cancer drug, fluorescently contrasts mitochondria and reduces the oxygen consumption rate in living human cells. Toxicol Lett 277:109–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2017.06.006
- Insua I, Majok S, Peacock AFA et al (2017a) Preparation and antimicrobial evaluation of polyion complex (PIC) nanoparticles loaded with polymyxin B. Eur Polym J 87:478–486. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2016.08.023
- Insua I, Zizmare L, Peacock AFA et al (2017b) Polymyxin B containing polyion complex (PIC) nanoparticles: improving the antimicrobial activity by tailoring the degree of polymerisation of the inert component. Sci Rep 7:9396. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09667-3
- Inweregbu K, Dave J, Pittard A (2005) Nosocomial infections. Contin Educ Anaesthesia, Crit Care Pain 5:14–17. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjaceaccp/mki006
- Ismaiel AA, Ahmed AS, Hassan IA et al (2017) Production of paclitaxel with anticancer activity by two local fungal endophytes, Aspergillus fumigatus and Alternaria tenuissima. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 101:5831–5846. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8354-x
- Italia JL, Bhatt DK, Bhardwaj V et al (2007) PLGA nanoparticles for oral delivery of cyclosporine: nephrotoxicity and pharmacokinetic studies in comparison to Sandimmune Neoral. J Control Release 119:197–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2007.02.004
- Jain K, Verma AK, Mishra PR, Jain NK (2015) Characterization and evaluation of amphotericin B loaded MDP conjugated poly(propylene imine) dendrimers. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol Med 11:705–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2014.11.008
- Jain A, Doppalapudi S, Domb AJ, Khan W (2016) Tacrolimus and curcumin co-loaded liposphere gel: synergistic combination towards management of psoriasis. J Control Release 243:132– 145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.10.004
- Jia M, Li Y, Yang X et al (2014a) Development of both methotrexate and mitomycin C loaded PEGylated chitosan nanoparticles for targeted drug codelivery and synergistic anticancer effect. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 6:11413–11423. https://doi.org/10.1021/am501932s
- Jia Y, Ji J, Wang F et al (2014b) Formulation, characterization, and *in vitro*/vivo studies of aclacinomycin A-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles. Drug Deliv 7544:1–9. https://doi.org/10.3109/10 717544.2014.974001
- Jun Z, Daxin Z (2016) Improvement of oral bioavailability of lovastatin by using nanostructured lipid carriers. J Drug Des Dev Ther 2015(9):5269–5275
- Kalhapure RS, Suleman N, Mocktar C et al (2015) Nanoengineered drug delivery systems for enhancing antibiotic therapy. J Pharm Sci 104:872–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.24298
- Khan I, Oh D (2016) Integration of nisin into nanoparticles for application in foods. Innovat Food Sci Emerg Technol 34:376–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2015.12.013
- Kojima R, Yoshida T, Tasaki H et al (2015) Release mechanisms of tacrolimus-loaded PLGA and PLA microspheres and immunosuppressive effects of the microspheres in a rat heart transplantation model. Int J Pharm 492:20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.07.004
- Kullberg M, Mann K, Anchordoquy TJ (2012) Targeting Her-2+ breast cancer cells with bleomycin immunoliposomes linked to LLO. Mol Pharm 9:2000–2008. https://doi.org/10.1021/ mp300049n
- Kumeria T, Mon H, Aw MS et al (2015) Advanced biopolymer-coated drug-releasing titania nanotubes (TNTs) implants with simultaneously enhanced osteoblast adhesion and antibacterial properties. Colloids Surf B Biointerf 130:255–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. colsurfb.2015.04.021
- Lee DA, Lee TC, Corres AE, Kirada S (1990) Effects of mifhramycin, mitomycin, daunorubicin, and bleomycin on human subconjuncfival fibroblasf attachment and proliferation. Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci 31:2136–2144
- Lemes AC, Sala L, Ores J, da C et al (2016) A review of the latest advances in encrypted bioactive peptides from protein-rich <u>waste</u>. Int J Mol Sci. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17060950
- Leung SSY, Wong J, Guerra HV et al (2017) Porous mannitol carrier for pulmonary delivery of cyclosporine A nanoparticles. AAPS J 19:578–586. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-016-0039-3

- Li Y, Zhang G, Pfeifer BA (2014) Current and emerging options for taxol production. In: Advances in biochemical engineering/biotechnology. Springer, Berlin, pp 405–425
- Li Y, Liu L, Qu X et al (2015) Drug delivery property, antibacterial performance and cytocompatibility of gentamicin loaded poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) coating on porous magnesium scaffold. Mater Technol 30:B96–B103. https://doi.org/10.1179/1753555714y.0000000194
- Li X, Muller RH, Keck CM, Bou-Chacra NA (2016) Mucoadhesive dexamethasone acetatepolymyxin B sulfate cationic ocular nanoemulsion – novel combinatorial formulation concept. Pharmazie 71:327–333. https://doi.org/10.1691/ph.2016.5190
- Lin J, Li Y, Wu H et al (2015) Tumor-targeted co-delivery of mitomycin C and 10-hydroxycamptothecin via micellar nanocarriers for enhanced anticancer efficacy. RSC Adv 5:23022–23033. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA14602F
- Liu D, Yang F, Xiong F, Gu N (2016) The smart drug delivery system and its clinical potential. Theranostics 6:1306–1323. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.14858
- Liu X-J, Li L, Liu X-J et al (2017) Mithramycin-loaded mPEG-PLGA nanoparticles exert potent antitumor efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma. Int J Nanomed 12:5255–5269. https://doi. org/10.2147/IJN.S139507
- Lombó F, Menéndez N, Salas JA, Méndez C (2006) The aureolic acid family of antitumor compounds: structure, mode of action, biosynthesis, and novel derivatives. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 73:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-006-0511-6
- Loveymi BD, Jelvehgari M, Zakeri-Milani P, Valizadeh H (2012) Design of vancomycin RS-100 nanoparticles in order to increase the intestinal permeability. Adv Pharm Bull 2:43–56. https:// doi.org/10.5681/apb.2012.007
- Lu W, Wan J, Zhang Q et al (2007) Aclarubicin-loaded cationic albumin-conjugated pegylated nanoparticle for glioma chemotherapy in rats. Int J Cancer 120:420–431. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.22296
- Malakooti N, Alexander C, Alvarez-Lorenzo C (2015) Imprinted contact lenses for sustained release of polymyxin B and related antimicrobial peptides. J Pharm Sci 104:3386–3394. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.24537
- Malinovskaya Y, Melnikov P, Baklaushev V et al (2017) Delivery of doxorubicin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles into U87 human glioblastoma cells. Int J Pharm 524:77–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.03.049
- Martin C, Low WL, Gupta A et al (2015) Strategies for antimicrobial drug delivery to biofilm. Curr Pharm Des 21:43–66. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612820666140905123529
- Matsuru H, Shozo M, Hitoshi S et al (1979) Increased lymphatic delivery of bleomycin by microsphere in oil emulsion and its effect on lymph node metastasis. Int J Pharm 2:245–256. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(79)90031-0
- Mazzoli R, Riedel K, Pessione E (2017) Bioactive compounds from microbes. Front Microbiol 8:392. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00392
- McNally MA, Ferguson JY, Lau ACK et al (2016) Single-stage treatment of chronic osteomyelitis with a new absorbable, gentamicin-loaded, calcium sulphate/hydroxyapatite biocomposite: a prospective series of 100 cases. Bone Joint J 98–B:1289–1296. https://doi. org/10.1302/0301-620X.98B9.38057
- Moeller A, Ask K, Warburton D et al (2008) The bleomycin animal model: a useful tool to investigate treatment options for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis? Int J Biochem Cell Biol 40:362–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2007.08.011
- Mohammed Fayaz A, Girilal M, Mahdy SA et al (2011) Vancomycin bound biogenic gold nanoparticles: a different perspective for development of anti VRSA agents. Process Biochem 46:636–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2010.11.001
- Moraes Moreira Carraro TC, Altmeyer C, Maissar Khalil N, Mara Mainardes R (2017) Assessment of *in vitro* antifungal efficacy and *in vivo* toxicity of Amphotericin B-loaded PLGA and PLGA-PEG blend nanoparticles. J Mycol Med. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mycmed.2017.07.004
- Morelli L, Capurso L (2012) FAO/WHO guidelines on probiotics. J Clin Gastroenterol 46:S1–S2. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.0b013e318269fdd5

- Muñoz-Muñoz F, Ruiz JC, Alvarez-Lorenzo C et al (2009) Novel interpenetrating smart polymer networks grafted onto polypropylene by gamma radiation for loading and delivery of vancomycin. Eur Polym J 45:1859–1867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2009.04.023
- Nassar T, Rom A, Nyska A, Benita S (2009) Novel double coated nanocapsules for intestinal delivery and enhanced oral bioavailability of tacrolimus, a P-gp substrate drug. J Control Release 133:77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2008.08.021
- Nastruzzi C, Capretto M et al (2012) Mithramycin encapsulated in polymeric micelles by microfluidic technology as novel therapeutic protocol for beta-thalassemia. Int J Nanomed 307. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S25657
- Nehate C, Jain S, Saneja A et al (2014) Paclitaxel formulations: challenges and novel delivery options. Curr Drug Deliv 11:666–686. https://doi.org/10.2174/1567201811666140609154949
- Nguyen GKT, Zhang S, Nguyen NTK et al (2011) Discovery and characterization of novel cyclotides originated from chimeric precursors consisting of albumin-1 chain a and cyclotide domains in the fabaceae family. J Biol Chem 286:24275–24287. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M111.229922
- Obayemi JD, Danyuo Y, Dozie-Nwachukwu S et al (2016) PLGA-based microparticles loaded with bacterial-synthesized prodigiosin for anticancer drug release: effects of particle size on drug release kinetics and cell viability. Mater Sci Eng C 66:51–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msec.2016.04.071
- Öncel P, Çetin K, Topçu AA et al (2017) Molecularly imprinted cryogel membranes for mitomycin C delivery. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 28:519–531. https://doi.org/10.1080/09205063.2017.12 82772
- Pearce AK, Simpson JD, Fletcher NL et al (2017) Localised delivery of doxorubicin to prostate cancer cells through a PSMA-targeted hyperbranched polymer theranostic. Biomaterials 141:330–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2017.07.004
- Pettersen EF, Goddard TD, Huang CC et al (2004) UCSF Chimera--a visualization system for exploratory research and analysis. J Comput Chem 25(13):1605–1612. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jcc.20084
- Pishbin F, Mouriño V, Flor S et al (2014) Electrophoretic deposition of gentamicin-loaded bioactive glass/chitosan composite coatings for orthopaedic implants. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 6:8796–8806. https://doi.org/10.1021/am5014166
- Popat KC, Eltgroth M, LaTempa TJ et al (2007) Decreased Staphylococcus epidermis adhesion and increased osteoblast functionality on antibiotic-loaded titania nanotubes. Biomaterials 28:4880–4888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.07.037
- Posadowska U, Brzychczy-Włoch M, Pamuła E (2015) Gentamicin loaded PLGA nanoparticles as local drug delivery system for the osteomyelitis treatment. Acta Bioeng Biomech 17:41–47. https://doi.org/10.5277/ABB-00188-2014-02
- Pradeepa U, Bhat K, Vidya SM (2017) Nisin gold nanoparticles assemble as potent antimicrobial agent against Enterococcus faecalis and Staphylococcus aureus clinical isolates. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol 37:20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2016.11.002
- Prombutara P, Kulwatthanasal Y, Supaka N, Sramala I (2012) Production of nisin-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles for sustained antimicrobial activity. Food Control 24:184–190. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2011.09.025
- Ranganath SH, Fu Y, Arifin DY et al (2010) The use of submicron/nanoscale PLGA implants to deliver paclitaxel with enhanced pharmacokinetics and therapeutic efficacy in intracranial glioblastoma in mice. Biomaterials 31:5199–5207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2010.03.002
- Rastegari B, Karbalaei-Heidari HR, Zeinali S, Sheardown H (2017) The enzyme-sensitive release of prodigiosin grafted β-cyclodextrin and chitosan magnetic nanoparticles as an anticancer drug delivery system: synthesis, characterization and cytotoxicity studies. Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces 158:589–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.07.044

- Ruiz JC, Alvarez-Lorenzo C, Taboada P et al (2008) Polypropylene grafted with smart polymers (PNIPAAm/PAAc) for loading and controlled release of vancomycin. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 70:467–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2008.05.020
- Sandri G, Bonferoni MC, Gökçe EH et al (2010) Chitosan-associated SLN: *in vitro* and *ex vivo* characterization of cyclosporine A loaded ophthalmic systems. J Microencapsul 27:735–746. https://doi.org/10.3109/02652048.2010.517854
- Scott D, Rohr J, Bae Y (2011) Nanoparticulate formulations of mithramycin analogs for enhanced cytotoxicity. Int J Nanomed 6:2757–2767. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S25427
- Serrano DR, Lalatsa A (2017) Oral amphotericin B: the journey from bench to market. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2017.04.017
- Severino P, Chaud MV, Shimojo A et al (2015) Sodium alginate-cross-linked polymyxin B sulphate-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles: antibiotic resistance tests and HaCat and NIH/3T3 cell viability studies. Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces 129:191–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. colsurfb.2015.03.049
- Sharma S, Bano S, Ghosh AS et al (2016) Silk fibroin nanoparticles support *in vitro* sustained antibiotic release and osteogenesis on titanium surface. Nanomed Nanotechnol, Biol Med 12:1193–1204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2015.12.385
- Sharma A, Arora M, Goyal AK, Rath G (2017) Spray dried formulation of 5-fluorouracil embedded with probiotic biomass: *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins 9:310– 322. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12602-017-9258-x
- Shatskaya NV, Levina AS, Repkova MN et al (2013) Delivery of bleomycin A5 into cells using TiO2 nanoparticles to enhance the degradation of intracellular DNA. Nanotechnol Russ 8:277–282. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1995078013020134
- Shin SB, Cho HY, Kim DD et al (2010) Preparation and evaluation of tacrolimus-loaded nanoparticles for lymphatic delivery. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 74:164–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejpb.2009.08.006
- Singh R, Smitha MS, Singh SP (2014) The role of nanotechnology in combating multi-drug resistant bacteria. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 14:4745–4756. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2014.9527
- Singh R, Kumar M, Mittal A, Mehta PK (2017a) Microbial metabolites in nutrition, healthcare and agriculture. 3 Biotech 7:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-016-0586-4
- Singh B, Jang Y, Maharjan S et al (2017b) Combination therapy with doxorubicin-loaded galactosylated poly(ethyleneglycol)-lithocholic acid to suppress the tumor growth in an orthotopic mouse model of liver cancer. Biomaterials 116:130–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2016.11.040
- Souza ACO, Nascimento AL, de Vasconcelos NM et al (2015) Activity and *in vivo* tracking of Amphotericin B loaded PLGA nanoparticles. Eur J Med Chem 95:267–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2015.03.022
- Steffes VM, Murali MM, Park Y et al (2017) Distinct solubility and cytotoxicity regimes of paclitaxel-loaded cationic liposomes at low and high drug content revealed by kinetic phase behavior and cancer cell viability studies. Biomaterials 145:242–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2017.08.026
- Stichtenoth G, Haegerstrand-Björkman M, Walter G et al (2017) Comparison of polymyxin E and polymyxin B as an additive to pulmonary surfactant in Escherichia coli pneumonia of ventilated neonatal rabbits. Biomed Hub 2:4–4. https://doi.org/10.1159/000475877
- Sun X, Sun P, Li B et al (2016) A new drug delivery system for Mitomycin C to improve intravesical instillation. Mater Des 110:849–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2016.08.058
- Swieringa AJ, Goosen JHM, Jansman FGA, Tulp NJA (2008) In vivo pharmacokinetics of a gentamicin-loaded collagen sponge in acute periprosthetic infection: serum values in 19 patients. Acta Orthop 79:637–642. https://doi.org/10.1080/17453670810016650
- Thell K, Hellinger R, Schabbauer G, Gruber CW (2014) Immunosuppressive peptides and their therapeutic applications. Drug Discov Today 19:645–653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. drudis.2013.12.002

- Tomasz M (1995) Mitomycin C: small, fast and deadly (but very selective). Chem Biol 2:575–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/1074-5521(95)90120-5
- Umeyor EC, Kenechukwu FC, Ogbonna JD et al (2012) Preparation of novel solid lipid microparticles loaded with gentamicin and its evaluation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Microencapsul 29:296–307. https://doi.org/10.3109/02652048.2011.651495
- Umezawa H, Maeda K, Takeuchi T, Okami Y (1966) New antibiotics, bleomycin A and B. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 19:200–209
- van de Donk NWCJ, Kamphuis MMJ, Lokhorst HM, Bloema C (2002) The cholesterol lowering drug lovastatin induces cell death in myeloma plasma cells. Leukemia 16:1362–1371. https:// doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2402501
- Van De Ven H, Paulussen C, Feijens PB et al (2012) PLGA nanoparticles and nanosuspensions with amphotericin B: potent *in vitro* and *in vivo* alternatives to Fungizone and AmBisome. J Control Release 161:795–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.05.037
- Varankovich N, Martinez MF, Nickerson MT, Korber DR (2017) Survival of probiotics in pea protein-alginate microcapsules with or without chitosan coating during storage and in a simulated gastrointestinal environment. Food Sci Biotechnol 26:189–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10068-017-0025-2
- Wang K, Qi J, Weng T et al (2014) Enhancement of oral bioavailability of cyclosporine A: comparison of various nanoscale drug-delivery systems. Int J Nanomed 9:4991–4999. https://doi. org/10.2147/IJN.S72560
- Wang Y, Ke X, Voo ZX et al (2016) Biodegradable functional polycarbonate micelles for controlled release of amphotericin B. Acta Biomater 46:211–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. actbio.2016.09.036
- Wang D, Ren Y, Shao Y et al (2017) Facile preparation of doxorubicin-loaded and folic acid-conjugated carbon nanotubes@poly(N-vinyl pyrrole) for targeted synergistic chemo-photothermal cancer treatment. Bioconjug Chem. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. bioconjchem.7b00515
- Wei Z, Hao J, Yuan S et al (2009) Paclitaxel-loaded Pluronic P123/F127 mixed polymeric micelles: formulation, optimization and *in vitro* characterization. Int J Pharm 376:176–185. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2009.04.030
- WHO (2014) Antimicrobial resistance: gloval report of surveillance
- Wong PT, Choi SK (2015) Mechanisms of drug release in nanotherapeutic delivery systems. Chem Rev 115:3388–3432. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr5004634
- Wu Y, Wang Z, Liu G et al (2015) Novel simvastatin-loaded nanoparticles based on cholic acidcore star-shaped PLGA for breast cancer treatment. J Biomed Nanotechnol 11:1247–1260. https://doi.org/10.1166/jbn.2015.2068
- Xiao H, Li W, Qi R et al (2012) Co-delivery of daunomycin and oxaliplatin by biodegradable polymers for safer and more efficacious combination therapy. J Control Release 163:304–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.06.004
- Xu W, Ling P, Zhang T (2014) Toward immunosuppressive effects on liver transplantation in rat model: tacrolimus loaded poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(d,l-lactide) nanoparticle with longer survival time. Int J Pharm 460:173–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.10.035
- Xu J, Xu B, Shou D et al (2015) Preparation and evaluation of vancomycin-loaded N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles. Polymers (Basel) 7:1850–1870. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym7091488
- Yang Z, Tan Y, Chen M et al (2012) Development of amphotericin B-loaded cubosomes through the solEmuls technology for enhancing the oral bioavailability. AAPS PharmSciTech 13:1483– 1491. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-012-9876-2
- Yang C, Uertz J, Chithrani D (2016) Colloidal gold-mediated delivery of bleomycin for improved outcome in chemotherapy. Nanomaterials 6:48. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano6030048
- Yoshida T, Nakanishi K, Yoshioka T et al (2016) Oral tacrolimus oil formulations for enhanced lymphatic delivery and efficient inhibition of T-cell's interleukin-2 production. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 100:58–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.12.006

- Yu Z, Yan B, Gao L et al (2015) Targeted delivery of bleomycin: a comprehensive anticancer review. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 16:509–521. https://doi.org/10.2174/15680096166661511 30213910
- Zakeri-Milani P, Loveymi BD, Jelvehgari M, Valizadeh H (2013) The characteristics and improved intestinal permeability of vancomycin PLGA-nanoparticles as colloidal drug delivery system. Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces 103:174–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2012.10.021
- Zamorano-Leon JJ, Hernandez-Fisac I, Guerrero S et al (2016) New strategy of tacrolimus administration in animal model based on tacrolimus-loaded microspheres. Transpl Immunol 36:9–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trim.2016.04.004
- Zhang Z, Bu H, Gao Z et al (2010) The characteristics and mechanism of simvastatin loaded lipid nanoparticles to increase oral bioavailability in rats. Int J Pharm 394:147–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.04.039
- Zhang H, Gao Y, Lv W et al (2011) Preparation of bleomycin A2–PLGA microspheres and related in vitro and in vivo studies. J Pharm Sci 100:2790–2800. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.22514
- Zhang H, Wang C, Chen B, Wang X (2012) Daunorubicin-TiO 2 nanocomposites as a "smart" pH-responsive drug delivery system. Int J Nanomed 7:235–242. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN. S27722
- Zhang L, Zhao ZL, Wei XH, Liu JH (2013) Preparation and *in vitro* and *in vivo* characterization of cyclosporin A-loaded, PEGylated chitosan-modified, lipid-based nanoparticles. Int J Nanomed 8:601–610. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S39685
- Zhang P, Yang X, He Y et al (2017a) Preparation, characterization and toxicity evaluation of amphotericin B loaded MPEG-PCL micelles and its application for buccal tablets. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 101:7357–7370. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8463-6
- Zhang Y, Liang RJ, Xu JJ et al (2017b) Efficient induction of antimicrobial activity with vancomycin nanoparticle-loaded poly(Trimethylene carbonate) localized drug delivery system. Int J Nanomed 12:1201–1214. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S127715
- Zhou X, Zhu H, Liu L et al (2010) A review: recent advances and future prospects of taxolproducing endophytic fungi. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86:1707–1717. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00253-010-2546-y
- Zhou L, Zhang P, Chen Z et al (2017) Preparation, characterization, and evaluation of amphotericin B-loaded MPEG-PCL-g-PEI micelles for local treatment of oral Candida albicans. Int J Nanomed 12:4269–4283. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S124264
- Zhuk I, Jariwala F, Attygalle AB et al (2014) Self-defensive layer-by-layer films with bacteriatriggered antibiotic release. ACS Nano 8:7733–7745. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn500674g

Chapter 2 Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors for Delivery of Mucosal Vaccines, DNA Vaccines, and Cancer Immunotherapy



Sudeep Kumar

Contents

2.1	Introduction	40				
2.2 Desired Features of Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors						
	2.2.1 Attenuation	44				
	2.2.2 Plasmid Maintenance	46				
2.3	Immune Mechanisms of Vaccines Delivered by Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors	47				
2.4	Delivery of DNA Vaccines by Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors					
2.5	Immunotherapy Against Cancer Using Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors					
2.6	Novel Technologies for Tailored and Enhanced Immune Response	53				
	2.6.1 Control of Gene Expression: Use of Plasmid Copy Number					
	and In Vivo Promoters	53				
	2.6.2 Acid Resistance	54				
	2.6.3 Detoxification of Lipopolysaccharide	54				
	2.6.4 Optimization of Virulence: Control of Safety and Immunogenicity	55				
	2.6.5 Cytosolic Delivery of Antigen	55				
2.7	Conclusion					
Refe	rences	61				

Abstract Vaccines save millions of lives each year from various life-threatening infectious diseases, and there are more than 20 vaccines currently licensed for human use worldwide. Moreover, in recent decades immunotherapy has become the mainstream therapy, which highlights the tremendous potential of immune response mediators, including vaccines for prevention and treatment of various forms of cancer. However, despite the tremendous advances in microbiology and immunology, there are several vaccine preventable diseases which still lack effective vaccines. Classically, weakened forms (attenuated) of pathogenic microbes were used as vaccines. Although the attenuated microbes induce effective immune response, a significant risk of reversion to pathogenic forms remains. While in the twenty-first

S. Kumar (🖂)

D. Arora et al. (eds.), *Pharmaceuticals from Microbes*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 26, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8_2

Department of Immunology and Microbial Diseases, Albany Medical Center, Albany, NY, USA e-mail: kumars@mail.amc.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

century, with the advent of genetic engineering, microbes can be tailored with desired properties.

In this review, I have focused on the use of genetically modified bacteria for the delivery of vaccine antigens. More specifically, the live-attenuated bacteria, derived from pathogenic bacteria, possess many features that make them highly suitable vectors for the delivery of vaccine antigens. Bacteria can theoretically express any heterologous gene or can deliver mammalian expression vectors harboring vaccine antigens (DNA vaccines). These properties of live-attenuated microbes are being harnessed to make vaccines against several infectious and noninfectious diseases. In this regard, I have described the desired features of live-attenuated bacterial vectors and the mechanisms of immune responses manifested by live-attenuated bacterial vectors. Interestingly anaerobic bacteria are naturally attracted to tumors, which make them suitable vehicles to deliver tumor-associated antigens thus I have discussed important studies investigating the role of bacterial vectors in immunotherapy. Finally, I have provided important discussion on novel approaches for improvement and tailoring of live-attenuated bacterial vectors for the generation of desired immune responses.

2.1 Introduction

Vaccines provide protection against numerous life-threatening infectious diseases, by activating the adaptive immunity against specific pathogen-derived antigens. Since the introduction of active immunization, several vaccines have been licensed for human use. These include some subunit vaccines, which are preferred for their superior safety profile. However, their success is limited by their poor immunogenicity, as multiple booster immunizations and adjuvants are required to achieve an adequate level of protective immunity. Moreover, a subunit vaccine is only applicable for pathogens where a well-defined protective antigen has been discovered. Subunit vaccines are also limited in their ability to induce cell-mediated immunity. In contrast, the live-attenuated/live-inactivated vaccines exhibit superior immunogenicity and induce humoral as well as cell-mediated immunity. Although attenuated viruses and bacteria are both utilized as vaccine vectors, this review will focus only on attenuated bacterial vaccine vectors. Bacteria harbor natural adjuvants in the form of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (Fig. 2.1). PAMPs, which are recognized by components of the innate immune system including Tolllike receptors (TLRs), facilitate the release of pro-inflammatory mediators and recruitment of antigen-presenting cells (Fig. 2.2). Furthermore, even after attenuation, a limited degree of proliferation and dissemination capacity is retained in the attenuated pathogens. Overall, these factors contribute to the superior immunogenicity of live-attenuated bacteria, which consequently elicit a robust and durable immunity against the cognate antigens.

With the advent of molecular biology and genetics, it is feasible to effectively excise or insert desired genes into bacteria. Bacterial vectors can be engineered to



Fig. 2.1 Essential components of live-attenuated bacterial vectors: To construct live-attenuated bacterial vectors, the pathogenicity of bacteria is attenuated by creating mutations in various virulence genes (I). The *asd* mutation in the chromosome (I) is complemented with a functional copy of *asd* gene, inserted into the plasmid (2); this feature ensures antibiotic-free maintenance of plasmids. The plasmid (2) also carries genes encoding antigenic proteins. Various pathogen-associated molecular patterns including flagellin (3), lipopolysaccharide (4), lipoprotein (5), and peptidogly-can (6) facilitate the interaction with and signal the activation of antigen-presenting cells, while the additional appendages like autotransporters (7) facilitate surface display of antigens

express and deliver heterologous proteins, such as antigens or therapeutic proteins, in mammalian hosts. Moreover, by genetic manipulation, bacterial vectors can be engineered with properties including reduced virulence, high immunogenicity, properties which are desirable in a vaccine vector. Thus far, a variety of live-attenuated bacterial vectors including *Mycobacterium bovis* strain *Bacillus* Calmette-Guérin (BCG), *Salmonella* spp., *Listeria monocytogenes* (*Lm*), *Vibrio cholerae*, *Escherichia coli*, and *Shigella* spp. have been utilized for the delivery of heterologous proteins into mammalian hosts as vaccine antigens or therapeutic proteins. Such bacteria are called, live-attenuated bacterial vectors (LABVs).

Vaccines elicit distinct immune responses depending on the route of immunization. Mucosal immunization induces strong systemic as well as mucosal immune



Fig. 2.2 Activation of antigen-presenting cells by live-attenuated bacterial vectors leads to adaptive immune response: Various pathogen-associated molecular patterns present in the live-attenuated bacterial vectors interact with Toll-like receptors expressed on the surface or in endosomal membranes. The signaling initiated by this interaction leads to the activation of antigen-presenting cells. Activated antigen-presenting cells express costimulatory molecules CD80, CD86, and CD40 as well as enhance expression of MHC-II. Costimulatory molecules are required to deliver the essential second signal for T-cell activation, while the first signal is received via TCR-MHC-peptide interaction. Importantly, CCR7 expressed by activated APCs help migration to draining lymph node. Moreover, the type of cytokines directs the fate of T-cell polarization to Th1, Th2, or TH17. Cytosolic delivery of antigens gives rise to CTL response

response, whereas parenteral immunization induces potent systemic but a poor mucosal immune response. Since birth, mucosal surfaces of the human body are constantly challenged with agents of the external environment that are either completely harmless (food ingredients and nonpathogenic microbes) or pathogenic (pathogenic microbes). Thus, in order to restrict pathogenic insults at mucosal surfaces, mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT) are organized. In fact, MALT constitutes the largest immune system of the human body. The oral route is the most favored route for mucosal immunization over other mucosal routes including nasal, vaginal, and rectal. Upon oral administration, antigens travel through the gastrointestinal tract and reach the mucosal inductive sites called Peyer's patches. Peyer's patches are lined with specialized epithelial cells called M cells which serve as a point of entry into the lamina propria. In the lamina propria, dendritic cells take up the antigens and migrate to the draining lymph nodes where they present the antigens to T cells. A specialized feature of dendritic cells from Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes is that they induce gut-homing receptors $\alpha 4/\beta 7$ and CCR9 on T and B cells. This feature is not found in the dendritic cells from cervical lymph nodes and spleen. Thereby, T and B cells primed at the mucosal sites are destined to migrate to mucosal tissues (Pasetti et al. 2011) (Fig. 2.3). Live-attenuated microbes exhibit superior ability to deliver vaccine antigens to the mucosal immune system, as many of them are derived from natural mucosal pathogens, including *Salmonella* spp., *Lm, E. coli, V. cholerae*, and *Shigella* spp.

This review explores the current knowledge about the LABV application in the delivery of vaccine antigens (to the mucosal immune system), DNA vaccine, and immunotherapy. Mechanism of immune responses elicited by LABV-based vaccines, the recent advances, and future perspectives have been discussed.



Fig. 2.3 Mucosal immune response elicited by live-attenuated bacterial vectors: Mucosal inductive sites including gut-associated lymphoid tissues and nasal-associated lymphoid tissues facilitate sampling of antigens through M cells. M cells allow the passage of bacteria through the mucosal epithelium, where they are taken up by antigen-presenting cells including DCs and macrophages. APCs undergo activation upon interaction with live-attenuated bacterial vectors, and the associated antigens are presented to T cells in the lymphoid follicles or the draining lymph nodes. Activated T cells help B cells differentiate into IgA-producing plasma cells. The secreted IgA provide effective protection against mucosal pathogens. The T and B cells primed at mucosal sites migrate back to mucosal sites where they perform their effector functions

2.2 Desired Features of Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors

Nonpathogenic commensals including the lactic acid bacteria and *Bacillus subtilis* as well as the attenuated versions of the pathogenic bacteria including *Salmonella* spp., *E. coli, Shigella* spp., *Lm*, and *V. cholerae* have been utilized as LABVs. While the commensal microbes are generally regarded as safe or food grade, the virulence of the pathogenic microbes needs to be significantly attenuated before they can be considered safe to deliver vaccine antigens into humans (Fig. 2.1).

Generally, plasmids are employed for the expression of heterologous antigens in LABVs. Plasmids can be easily manipulated in *E. coli* (a universal tool for genetic engineering) and subsequently introduced into the desired bacterial strains. Shuttle vectors (plasmids) carry genetic elements for replication in *E. coli* and promoter elements for gene expression in other bacterial or mammalian cells. Thus, mammalian expression vectors can be first manipulated and propagated in *E. coli* and then delivered via LABVs to mammalian cells, where the desired antigens are expressed (Fig. 2.1).

2.2.1 Attenuation

In early days, attenuation of the pathogenic microbes was achieved by in vitro cultivation for several generations, followed by the evaluation of virulence in successive generations. The classic example is BCG, where Albert Calmette and Camille Guerin, by culturing a virulent strain of *M. bovis* for more than 230 serial passages in vitro (between 1908 and 1921), generated the attenuated strain BCG. BCG is still the only vaccine available for prevention against tuberculosis. Subsequent genetic analysis revealed that BCG lack multiple virulence factors associated with M. bovis (Zheng et al. 2015). Similarly, the search for vaccines against typhoid fever led to the generation of attenuated live vaccine strains of Salmonella. Salmonella enterica serotype Typhi (ST) strain Ty21a (ST-Ty21a) was generated by chemical mutagenesis of wild-type ST strain Ty2. The ST-Ty21a is considerably attenuated which is now licensed for humans use as an oral vaccine (Wang et al. 2001). However, the strain exhibits low immunogenicity, as 3-4 doses are required to achieve adequate levels of protection. With the advances in microbial genetics and genetic engineering techniques, it has now become routine to identify and inactivate virulence genes. Interestingly, various auxotrophic mutant *Salmonella* strains, which lack the ability to synthesize aromatic amino acids, were found to be avirulent (Hoiseth and Stocker 1981). It is known that in Salmonella, the gene products of aroA, aroC, and aroD are required for the biosynthesis of aromatic amino acids, as well as several essential vitamins. Hoiseth and Stocker note that these factors are not found in mammalian hosts in sufficient amount; thus Salmonella aroA mutants cannot proliferate in mammalian hosts (Hoiseth and Stocker 1981). Harnessing this knowledge, various Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi (ST) or Typhimurium (STm) have been created, with mutations in *aroA* (Dalla Pozza et al. 1998; Roberts et al. 2000; Arnold et al. 2004), aroC (Khan et al. 2003; Capozzo et al. 2004), aroD (Capozzo et al. 2004; Sevil Domènech et al. 2008), or *aroAD* (Strugnell et al. 1992; Roberts et al. 2000). Notably, the ST strain CVD908 which carries aroC and aroD mutations exhibits residual virulence in humans (Wang et al. 2001), while other investigators have also targeted genes in nucleotide biosynthesis pathways for creating attenuated Salmonella. Wang et al. engineered a Salmonella strain with a mutation in guaBA operon, which interferes in the guanine nucleotide biosynthesis. The resultant strain, called CVD 915, exhibits safety profile comparable to that of the typhoid vaccine strain ST-Ty21a. Importantly, ST-Ty21a, CVD-908-htrA (harboring mutations at aroC, aroD, and htrA), and CVD 915 all exhibit a high level of immunogenicity (Wang et al. 2001). Not surprisingly, ST strains with guaBA mutations have been widely utilized as LABV (Pasetti et al. 1999, 2000; Wang et al. 2001). Another approach of attenuation of Salmonella is to introduce mutations in cya (adenvlate cyclase) and crp (cyclic AMP) receptor genes. These proteins are transcriptional regulators of many important genes. Although cAMP is found in mammalian cells, their concentrations in gastrointestinal tissues are below the requirement of Salmonella. Thus cya and crp mutants show reduced virulence (Tacket et al. 1992; Chen and Schifferli 2003; Wyszyńska et al. 2004; Ferreira Oliveira et al. 2012). Mutations in the two-component regulatory system PhoP/PhoO, which controls more than 40 virulence genes involved in resistance to antimicrobial peptides, nutrient scavenging, and lipid A modifications, significantly decrease Salmonella virulence (Raupach and Kaufmann 2001). Salmonella strains with PhoP/PhoQ mutations have been used in a number of studies as LABV (Angelakopoulos and Hohmann 2000; Kotton et al. 2006; Galen et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2013). RpoS is an alternate sigma factor that regulates resistance under stress induced during gastrointestinal infection such as pH, nutrient starvation, change in osmolarity, and temperature. ST-Ty21a contains multiple mutations including *rpoS* (Wang et al. 2001). SsaV is a component of Salmonella type III secretion system, which is required for secretion of SPI-2 genes (essential for growth in macrophages). The ST strain ZH9 which contains *aroC* and *ssaV* mutations is highly attenuated and immunogenic in humans (Hindle et al. 2002). Tacket et al. generated mutations in htrA gene, which encodes a heat shock protein. The resultant strain was avirulent because of reduced ability to survive and replicate in host tissues (Tacket et al. 2000). HtrA mutant Salmonella strains have been used in multiple studies as LABVs (Galen et al. 1999; Roberts et al. 2000; Pasetti et al. 2002; Capozzo et al. 2004; Fraillery et al. 2007).

Similarly, for attenuation of *Lm*, multiple virulence factors have been targeted. *ActA* which encodes for a surface protein required for actin polymerization in host cells and helps in intracellular migration has been a prominent target for *Lm* attenuation. Together with the mutation in internalin B (*inlB*), the *actA* mutation renders *Lm* unable to infect hepatocytes; thus these strains are highly attenuated (Brockstedt et al. 2004). Phospholipase-C B (PlcB) is required for efficient escape from phagosomal vacuoles. *PlcB* mutants are thus attenuated due to defect in escape from secondary vacuoles (Peters et al. 2003; Starks et al. 2004; Stevens et al. 2004; Johnson et al. 2011; Jia et al. 2012; Liang et al. 2014). Cell wall biosynthesis genes

specifically *dal* (alanine racemase) and *dat* (D-amino acid aminotransferase) have been mutated in several attenuated Lm vaccine vectors (Friedman et al. 2000; Verch et al. 2004; Jiang et al. 2007; Im et al. 2013). The double mutant of Lm requires D-alanine for cell wall biosynthesis and is highly attenuated. Recently McLaughlin et al. demonstrated that deletion of Lm fur-regulated virulence factor A (*frvA*) results in attenuation in murine models of infection, due to the inability of iron homeostasis (McLaughlin et al. 2013).

Attenuated strains of *Shigella* are also being used as LABV. Noriega et al. (Noriega et al. 1996) generated *gua*BA mutant of *Shigella* CVD1204, which is highly attenuated in animals and is widely used as LABV. Other approaches of mutations include SC602, with deletions on *ics*A (mediate intra- and intercellular spread) and *iucA* (aerobactin); this strain is highly attenuated and immunogenic (Ranallo et al. 2005).

2.2.2 Plasmid Maintenance

Introduction of heterologous genes into bacterial vectors is facilitated by plasmids. Plasmids are extrachromosomal circular DNA, which are introduced into bacteria by a process called transformation. Generally, bacteria maintain the plasmids utilizing antibiotic resistance mechanism. During in vitro growth, antibiotic selection pressure ensures stable plasmid maintenance; however, in the in vivo conditions, the lack of antibiotic selection pressure plasmid-less bacteria outgrows plasmid-bearing bacteria. Moreover, the use of antibiotic markers are also discouraged, due to the risk of horizontal gene transfer to other microbes with pathogenic potential (Lin et al. 2015; Mignon et al. 2015). Novel antibiotic-free approaches of plasmid maintenance have been devised to mitigate these concerns. One such approach, known as the balanced lethal system, utilizes mutation in an essential gene in the bacterial chromosome, while the plasmid carries the functional copy of the same gene, thereby ensuring its maintenance by the bacteria (Fig. 2.1). Galen et al. generated a balanced lethal system for STm based on mutation in asd gene. Asd encodes aspartate semialdehyde dehydrogenase, an enzyme required in the biosynthesis pathway of DAP (diaminopimelic acid), which is an essential component of bacterial cell wall. DAP is needed for growth and maintenance of asd mutants. A copy of asd gene is inserted into the plasmid; thus asd-deficient bacteria are forced to maintain the plasmid in order to survive in DAP-deprived conditions, such as in the mammalian tissues. The resultant Salmonella typhimurium (STm)-based balanced lethal system exhibits high degree of plasmid stability. This system also exhibits stable expression of the associated heterologous genes (Galán et al. 1990). Balanced lethal system has been most widely used in various LABVs including ST (Tacket et al. 1997), STm (Kang et al. 2002), and S. flexneri (Zheng et al. 2005). Similarly, thymidine auxotrophy has also been utilized in ST (Bumann et al. 2010), STm (Mignon et al. 2015), and lactic acid bacteria (Bermúdez-Humarán et al. 2011) for balanced lethal system approach of plasmid maintenance. Glutamine auxotroph V. cholerae complemented with glnA gene is another example of the balanced lethal system utilized for antibiotic-free plasmid maintenance (Ryan et al. 2000).

2.3 Immune Mechanisms of Vaccines Delivered by Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors

Various mucosal pathogens and nonpathogenic food grade microbes have been extensively utilized for LABV development. Salmonella infect via orogastric route and enter the intestinal lamina propria by transcytosis via M cells, which are present in the mucosal inductive sites (Peyer's patches). In the lamina propria, Salmonella is taken up by various phagocytes including neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells. The infected phagocytes then carry Salmonella to various organs including the liver and spleen via blood or to the mesenteric lymph nodes via lymph. The virulence factors, clustered in Salmonella pathogenicity islands (SPI-1 and SPI-2), facilitate invasion, survival, and proliferation in the intracellular spaces of macrophages (Pham and McSorley 2015). Salmonella possess a variety of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) including lipoprotein, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), flagellin (FliC), and CpG. These PAMPs are recognized by host pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) including TLR 2(1/6) (lipoproteins), TLR4 (LPS), TLR 5 (FliC), or TLR9 (CpG). Activation of these PRRs leads to the expression and secretion of cytokines such as TNFα, IL1β, IL6, IL8, IL12, IL-18, and IL-23 (Broz et al. 2012). These pro-inflammatory factors recruit neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells. On the other hand, upon interaction with Salmonella LPS and flagellin, dendritic cells increase the expression of CCR7, CD80, CD86, and CD40. These mature dendritic cells with enhanced capability to process and present antigens can migrate to T-cell areas and initiate adaptive immune responses to cognate antigens. Studies suggest that Salmonella induces humoral as well as CD4+-, CD8+-, and Th17-dependent cellmediated immune responses (Pham and McSorley 2015). Heterologous antigens carried by Salmonella elicit serum IgG (Frey et al. 2013), mucosal IgA (Allen et al. 2000; Ferreira Oliveira et al. 2012; Pei et al. 2015; Lalsiamthara and Lee 2017), CD4⁺ (Ramirez et al. 2009; Ashraf et al. 2011), and CD8⁺ T cells (Luria-Perez et al. 2007; Sevil Domènech et al. 2008; Berchtold et al. 2009). Due to the versatile immune response elicited by Salmonella, ST- and STm-based LABVs have been utilized to develop vaccines against numerous viral, bacterial (extracellular and intracellular), and parasitic pathogens. Importantly, it is well known that neutralizing antibodies and CTL responses confer adequate protection against viral pathogens; thus ST- and STm-based LABVs are capable of eliciting adequate antiviral immune responses. Antigens from viral pathogens including H1N1, H5N1, HIV, and SARS virus, when delivered by ST or STm, elicit antigen-specific antibody response (Karpenko et al. 2004; Luo et al. 2007; Pei et al. 2015; Hajam and Lee 2017). On the other hand, CTL response is generated against dengue virus (NS3) and HIV antigens (Karpenko et al. 2004; Luria-Perez et al. 2007). LABVs based on ST and STm elicit serum IgG, mucosal IgA, CD4⁺ T-cell, and CD8⁺ T-cell responses against a variety of bacterial pathogens including B. anthracis (Galen et al. 2010), B. pertussis (Dalla Pozza et al. 1998), E. coli (Ferreira Oliveira et al. 2012), Helicobacter pylori (Angelakopoulos and Hohmann 2000), L. monocytogenes (Igwe et al. 2002), Pseudomonas aeruginosa (Bumann et al. 2010), Streptococcus pneumoniae (Shi et al. 2010), and Yersinia pestis (Branger et al. 2010). While antigen-specific Th1

responses are generated against some parasitic pathogens including *Leishmania mexicana* (González et al. 1998), *Schistosoma japonicum* (Chen et al. 2011), and *Taenia solium* (Ding et al. 2013), mucosal IgG and IgA are generated against *Giardia lamblia* (Abdul-Wahid and Faubert 2007) and *Cryptosporidium parvum* (Benitez et al. 2009) by *ST*- and *STm*-based LABVs carrying related antigens.

Besides Salmonella, Listeria is the most extensively studied bacteria as LABV. Similar to Salmonella, Listeria infection begins with orogastric infection. *Lm* moves across gastrointestinal epithelial barrier by first attaching to and invading epithelial cells. Adhesion and internalization require *Lm* protein Ami and internalin A (inlA), respectively. Once in the lamina propria *Lm* rapidly spreads systemically. *Lm* primarily targets liver with the help of fibronectin binding protein (FbpA). FbpA recognizes fibronectin on the surface of hepatocytes, and at this point another molecule, called internalin (inIB), facilitates *Lm* internalization. On the other hand, phagocytes specifically macrophages and monocytes recognize lipoteichoic acid via scavenger receptors. After the phagocytosis *Lm* escapes phagocytic vesicles by synergistic activities of listeriolysin O (LLO) and two phospholipase C (PlcA and PlcB). Another virulence factor is ActA, which has actin polymerization activity and helps Lm migrate from cell to cell (Liang et al. 2014). Lm expresses various TLR agonists including peptidoglycan, flagellin, and bacterial DNA, which induces pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNFa, IFNy, IL1B, and IL12. Lm-induced cell death results in secretion of IL6, which helps in recruitment of neutrophils. IL12 helps in induction of IFNy by NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells. *Lm* can also induce type-I IFNs (IFN α and IFN β), which is desirable as antiviral immunity. Evidences suggest that Lm induces both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell-mediated immune response (Zenewicz and Shen 2007; Liang et al. 2014). Lm-carrying viral antigens such as HIV/SIV-gag (Frankel et al. 1995; Friedman et al. 2000; Im et al. 2013), HPV-E7 (Jia et al. 2012), and LCMV-NP118-126 (Tvinnereim et al. 2002) induces CTL immune response. Lm-based LABV also induces neutralizing antibody against HIV-gp160 (Lakhashe et al. 2011). However, there are limited reports on Lm as LABV against bacterial and parasitic pathogens. In one study, Lm-carrying Coxiella burnetii antigen T4SS (epitopes) induced CD8+ T-cell immune response (Xiong et al. 2017). In another study Lm-carrying Francisella tularensis antigen IglC induced IFNy producing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell-mediated immune response.

BCG, an attenuated *M. bovis*, has also exhibited potential as LABV. Following immunization, BCG interacts with phagocytes such as macrophage, dendritic cells, and neutrophils. Various PRRs of macrophages involved in interaction with BCG include CR3, TLR2 (1/6) and TLR-4. However, dendritic cells utilize a different set of phagocytic receptors including CR3, CR4, DC-SIGN (CD209), and DEC 205. Infected dendritic cells upregulate expression of MHC-II and costimulatory markers CD80, CD86, CD40, and CD54 which are involved in activation of adaptive immune response (Moliva et al. 2017). BCG is known to induce humoral as well as T-cell-mediated immune response (Abomoelak et al. 1999). The T-cell responses induced by BCG include polyfunctional CD4⁺ T cells that secret TNF, IL-2, and IFNγ (Moliva et al. 2017). BCG expressing IL12 and two *M. tuberculosis (Mtb)* antigens (secreting antigen Ag85B and culture filtrate antigen CFP10) induce antigen-specific Th1-type immune response including IFNγ-producing cells and

IgG2a (Chen et al. 2017). Antigen-specific humoral immune response is induced by BCG expressing a hepatitis-B surface antigen (Rezende et al. 2005). BCG-induced CD8⁺ T cells also secrete IFN γ (Moliva et al. 2017). In a mouse model, BCG carrying *Mtb* antigen (Ag85B) exhibit antigen-specific Th17 immune response (Hatano et al. 2016). Pertussis toxin subunit S1 expressed by BCG induces IFN γ producing CD4⁺ T cells which completely protects against lethal *Bordetella pertussis* challenge (Nascimento et al. 2008). Furthermore, in a mouse model of an intracellular pathogen *Lm*, BCG expressing *Lm* antigen p60 induced CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell-dependent protection (Grode et al. 2002). Studies have demonstrated that BCG induces long-lived mycobacteria-specific memory B cells. Moreover, following BCG immunization, hosts secrete robust *Mtb*-specific serum antibodies including IgG isotypes IgG1, IgG2, and IgG3. However, it is not known if specific mucosal IgA is induced by BCG (Moliva et al. 2017).

S. flexneri infection occurs through orogastric route. Once in the colon, S. flexneri crosses epithelial layer through highly endocytic M cells. S. flexneri then adhere to and infect colonic epithelium through the basolateral surface. Colonic epithelial cells engulf S. flexneri by macropinocytosis, and through the activity of IpaB and IpaC, they are released from macropinocytic vacuoles to the cytosol (Mellouk and Enninga 2016). S. flexneri invasion causes activation of innate immune system and release of a variety of cytokines including IL-1, TNF- α , IL6, TGF- β , and IL-8 (Fernandez and Sansonetti 2003; Jennison and Verma 2004). Though Shigella has the capacity of cell-to-cell translocation, its infection is limited to lamina propria of the intestine, and it doesn't migrate to other organs (Maurelli and Sansonetti 1988). In the lamina propria S. flexneri is phagocytosed by macrophages and dendritic cells. Infected macrophages undergo apoptosis, which leads to the release of proinflammatory cytokine IL1, IL18, and IFNy (Fernandez and Sansonetti 2003). S flexneri induces both systemic and mucosal antibody response including IgM, IgG, and secretory IgA (Jennison and Verma 2004). S. flexneri 2a with guaBA mutation (CVD 1204) has limited invasiveness, and proliferative capacity. Attenuated S. flexneri expressing ETEC antigens CFA-I, LTB, CS2, CS3, and CS4 induce antigenspecific serum IgG and mucosal IgA (Koprowski et al. 2000; Barry et al. 2003; Strain et al. 2003; Ranallo et al. 2005; Zheng et al. 2005).

Food grade bacteria including *B. subtilis* and *Lactobacillus lactis* are considered important candidates for LABV, due to their superior safety profile. Upon oral administration, *B. subtilis* spores can safely transit through the stomach, germinate, and proliferate in the upper intestine and finally undergo re-sporulation in the colon (Cutting et al. 2009). Nevertheless, the mechanism of immune response in response to *B. subtilis* delivered antigens is not fully understood. Antigens delivered by *B. subtilis* have been shown to induce humoral as well as Th1-mediated immune response (Cutting et al. 2009). *B. subtilis* has been used as LABV for various bacterial and parasitic pathogens including pathogenic *E. coli*, *H. pylori*, *Mtb*, *Clonorchis sinensis*, and *S. japonicum*. *B. subtilis* induces systemic IgG (Amuguni and Tzipori 2012; Zhou et al. 2015), mucosal IgA (Amuguni and Tzipori 2012; Zhou et al. 2015), and Th1/Th17 (Sibley et al. 2014; Stasilojc et al. 2015) immune response against cognate antigens. The lactic acid bacteria are among the microbes, which occur physiologically in animal digestive tracts and like other natural microflora

through their metabolites and interaction with macrophages can stimulate cytokine production. Peptidoglycan of the lactic acid bacteria induces secretion of IL1, IL6, and TNF, by monocytes (Bermúdez-Humarán et al. 2011; Szatraj et al. 2017). Unlike attenuated strains of otherwise pathogenic microbes used as LABV, *B. subtilis* and *L. lactis* do not invade through the gut mucosa and serve mainly as protein (antigen) factories, which supply vaccine antigens to gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT). Protective antigens of pathogenic viruses H1N1 (HA) and H5N1 (HA) expressed by *L. lactis* induce mucosal antibodies. *L. lactis* expressing bacterial antigens *Campylobacter jejuni* (cjAD) (Kobierecka et al. 2016), *Clostridium difficile* (TcdA) (Yang et al. 2013), *Clostridium perfringens* (epsilon toxoid) (Alimolaei et al. 2016), *H. pylori* (omp22, HpaA, cag12, and UreaseB) (Kim et al. 2006; Gu et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2016b), and *V. cholerae* (WZM) (Zamri et al. 2012) also induce mucosal antibodies.

2.4 Delivery of DNA Vaccines by Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors

In preclinical models, DNA vaccines have proven to confer protective immunity against a variety of infectious agents including HIV, herpes simplex virus (HSV), Plasmodium spp., and Mtb (Schoen et al. 2004). An attractive feature of DNA vaccine is that it can induce humoral as well as cell-mediated immune response. While antibodies alone can protect against many pathogens and toxins, cell-mediated immunity is required for protection against intracellular pathogens and cancer. The DNA vaccines in the form of eukaryotic expression plasmids are delivered either by intramuscular injection of naked DNA, intradermal bombardment using DNA coated on gold particles with help of a gene gun, or electroporation following needle injection. However, most of these methods induce only moderate levels of protection in animal models and fail to show efficacy in clinical trials (Schoen et al. 2004). In recent years many bacterial vectors have been utilized to deliver plasmids into the host cells (Schoen et al. 2004). As many attenuated strains are being developed for delivery of vaccine antigens, similar strains can also be utilized to deliver plasmids as DNA vaccines. Attenuated strains of gut pathogens including ST, STm, or L. monocytogenes are of particular importance, as they colonize and infect mucosal epithelial cells.

As discussed above, *Listeria* infection begins at gastrointestinal tract, and after invasion through intestinal mucosa, *Listeria* migrate through blood vessels and lymph to other organs. *Listeria* can infect a wide array of cell types including intestinal epithelial cells, hepatocytes, dendritic cells, and macrophages. *Listeria* escape phagocytic vesicles and multiply in cytosol where they release the plasmids. Listeriolysin O helps *Listeria* lyse and escapes the phagosomal vacuoles (Liang et al. 2014). Miki et al. engineered a self-destructing *Lm*-based vaccine delivering a eukaryotic expression plasmid encoding *Mtb* antigens Ag85a/Ag85b and MPB/MPT51. The vaccine induced protective immune response against *Mtb* in a mouse model (Miki et al. 2004).

Salmonella also infects via gastrointestinal tract, and after crossing epithelial barrier through M cells, Salmonella is taken up by macrophages (Pham and McSorley 2015). Salmonella has the capability of surviving and replicating in phagocytic vacuoles (Pham and McSorley 2015). However, through unknown mechanisms, they can release plasmid DNA into the cytosol (Schoen et al. 2004). Salmonella strains expressing listeriolysin O have been shown to escape the phagosome vesicles to the cytosol, thus making gene transfer by Salmonella more efficient (Schoen et al. 2004). HIV-1 T-cell epitopes in the form of eukaryotic expression plasmid delivered by attenuated STm induced CTL as well as antibody immune response (Karpenko et al. 2004). Another study targeting an S. pneumoniae protective antigen PsaA and PspA delivered by STm induced mucosal IgA against both antigens. Thus immunized mice were protected against nasopharyngeal colonization by S. pneumoniae (Zhang et al. 2011). Pathogenic parasites Trichinella spiralis and Trypanosoma cruzi have also been targeted for STm-mediated DNA vaccination. Yang et al. constructed a DNA vaccine against T. spiralis using antigen Ts87 and STm as the delivery vehicle. Mice immunized orally with this vaccine induced antigen-specific mucosal IgA which correlated with protection against T. spiralis larval challenge. Salmonella-delivered T. spiralis DNA vaccine induced a Th1-/ Th2-type immunity and IL5, IL6, and IL10 cytokines (Yang et al. 2010). In another study, Matos et al. using STm delivered T. cruzi antigens (Tc-52) into mice via the oral route. Immunized mice elicited specific antibodies with higher IgG2a/IgG1 ratio, suggesting a Th1 bias. The vaccinated group also induced strong cell-mediated immunity and mucosal IgA (Matos et al. 2014).

Most bacteria used as DNA delivery vehicles were designed to disintegrate after infecting host cells. If the bacterial DNA vaccine vectors are destroyed in the phagolysosomes, before reaching the cell cytoplasm, it will lead to inefficient delivery of the plasmid. To circumvent this problem various approaches have been devised. One such approach takes advantage of phage lysin to disintegrate $\Delta aroA$ -Lm after reaching host cell cytosol. The inclusion of phage lysin significantly improved bactofection (bacteria-mediated delivery of plasmid DNA into mammalian cells) efficiency in phagocytic as well as non-phagocytic cells (Pilgrim et al. 2003). Recently, Kong et al. developed a universal DNA vaccine delivery platform, which includes several modalities for enhanced delivery and immune response to cognate antigens. The attenuated STm includes the capability to escape the phagosomal compartment to the cytosol of the host cells, before phagolysosomal degradation (Kong et al. 2012). SifA proteins direct Salmonella-induced filament formation when Salmonella is contained in the endosomal vacuoles, and the deletion of sifA gene results in the release of Salmonella into the cytosol. Hence, mutation of sifA gene in Salmonella plasmid carriers allowed successful transfer of plasmid DNA into the cytosol of the host cells (Kong et al. 2012). Kong et al. also incorporated elements that guide the plasmid into the nucleus. Transcription factors such as NF-KB and AP2 bind to plasmids carrying NF-kB and AP2 binding sequences and transport them to the nucleus where the desired antigens are transcribed (Kong et al. 2012). Salmonella induces apoptosis/pyroptosis in infected cells that diminishes the overall transfection efficiency. Deletion of *tlpA* and *sseL* genes significantly reduces apoptosis in host cells (Kong et al. 2012). Moreover, *Salmonella* degradation is delayed due to the regulated expression of the *Salmonella* lysis program. This allows a limited number of replication and invasiveness, thereby ensuring optimal delivery of plasmids. An influenza antigen (HA) delivered by this platform induced enhanced HA-specific IgG, which correlated with protection against influenza virus challenge (Kong et al. 2012).

2.5 Immunotherapy Against Cancer Using Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors

A nineteenth-century physician, William B. Coley, for the first time observed regression of malignant tumor in one of his patients after a bacterial infection. Coley went on to develop the first bacterial therapy against cancer using killed gram-positive bacteria streptococci and a gram-negative bacteria Serratia marcescens. This mixture called "Coley's toxins" when injected into patients suffering from various forms of cancer resulted in partial to complete regression. In cases of soft tissue sarcoma, long-term disease-free survival was achieved in approximately 50% of the patients. Nevertheless, despite the remarkable success of "Coley's toxins," with the advent of chemotherapy and radiotherapy, this line of investigation was prematurely abandoned (Bickels et al. 2002). However, in recent years this approach is regaining attention. In fact, BCG is currently being used as immunotherapy for bladder cancer and exhibits superiority over epirubicin and IFNa2b, mitomycin, and epirubicin alone (Fuge et al. 2015). Since the first report of BCG's use in cancer treatment in 1936, preclinical and clinical investigations of BCG have also been reported for other forms of cancer. Mice preimmunized with BCG exhibited slower tumor growth compared to control (Zheng et al. 2015). Morton et al. reported complete regression of tumor lesions in melanoma patients, upon intralesional injection of BCG in 684 out of 754 lesions. Similarly, survival benefits against cancer were also reported in other clinical trials. See Zheng et al. for a detailed review on application of BCG in cancer therapy (Zheng et al. 2015).

Bacteria, specifically anaerobes, exhibit natural tropism toward solid tumors. This phenomenon, although poorly understood, is theorized that certain characteristics of tumor microenvironment facilitate this phenomenon. The deeper pockets of tumors, which are devoid of new blood vessels, are poorly oxygenated and show limited accessibility to chemotherapeutic drugs (Lee 2012; Lin et al. 2015). Forbes et al. demonstrated that *STm* accumulate at a rate of 2000-fold more compared to other organs including the liver, spleen, lung, heart, and skin (Forbes et al. 2003). Using an in vitro model, Kasinkas and Forbes demonstrated that *STm* exhibits chemotaxis. Depending on the availability of specific receptors (tsr, tar, and trg), *STm* were differentially attracted to corresponding chemoattractants expressed in the tumor microenvironment (serine, aspartate, and ribose/glucose), while the wild-type strains accumulate around necrotic zones inside tumors (Kasinskas and Forbes 2007). Moreover, various immunosuppressive mechanisms manifested by the tumor microenvironment also support the proliferation of microbes (Lin et al. 2015).

Distinct tumor-homing property of microbes, including Lm and Salmonella, has been harnessed to deliver various tumor therapeutic modalities, including therapeutic vaccine antigens, DNA vaccines, and anticancer drugs. Various tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) have been targeted for therapeutic vaccines using LABV as delivery vehicles. PSA (prostate-specific antigen) is secreted by prostate epithelial cells and is overexpressed in malignant prostate cells. Attenuated Lm expressing PSA (Lm-LLO-PSA) antigen was tested as therapeutic vaccine in mouse tumor models expressing human PSA. Immunization with Lm-LLO-PSA completely regressed tumors in five out of eight mice and induced PSA-specific cellular immune response. Immunization of Lm-LLO-PSA significantly increased infiltration of PSA-specific CD8⁺ T cells in tumors and decrease in CD4/CD25/FoxP3⁺ T_{reg} cells (Wallecha et al. 2009). HER2/neu is overexpressed in about 25-30% of breast cancers and is a potential target for immunotherapy. Shahabi et al. engineered an Lm-based vaccine incorporating HER2/neu as antigen (ADXS31-1642). ADXS31-164 elicited HER2specific CD8⁺ T cells. The vaccine caused a significant delay in the formation of mammary tumors, and 50% of mice were tumor-free till 45 weeks of the experiment, whereas all sham-treated mice developed tumors and succumbed to the disease. This vaccine also resulted in significant increase in tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells and a decrease in the intratumoral FoxP3⁺T_{reg}cells (Shahabi et al. 2011). P. aeruginosa can also deliver heterologous antigens using its type III secretion system. In an experimental model of B-cell melanoma expressing ovalbumin (OVA), Chauchet et al. demonstrated antitumor efficacy of P. aeruginosa-based vaccine expressing OVA. P. aeruginosa induced a long-lasting and polyfunctional CD8+ T-cell immune response against the cognate antigen, wherein antigen-specific CD8+ T cells expressed IFN γ , TNF α , and IL2 simultaneously. These CD8⁺ T cells also showed enhanced tumor infiltration property and a greater ratio between effector versus regulatory T cells (Chauchet et al. 2016). Recently Mei et al. utilized a composite approach of DNA vaccine and bacterial surface expression to achieve CD8+ and CD4+ T-cell-mediated immunity targeted to a tumor-associated antigen. The Salmonella-based vaccine included AIDA-I autotransporter-Melan A (a murine melanoma antigen) fusion protein and a DNA vaccine element encoding two murine melanoma epitopes (Mei et al. 2017).

2.6 Novel Technologies for Tailored and Enhanced Immune Response

2.6.1 Control of Gene Expression: Use of Plasmid Copy Number and In Vivo Promoters

High levels of antigen synthesis by multicopy plasmids exert metabolic burden to LABV, which results in hyperattenuation, low colonization, loss of viability, and most importantly poor immunogenicity. Various strategies have been adapted to circumvent this problem including the use of low-copy plasmid, use of in vivo

inducible promoters (IVIP), and use of arabinose-inducible promoters (Loessner et al. 2007). Among the first promoters introduced in LABV is $P_{nir}B$, which is activated under anaerobic conditions. PnagC and PssaG are macrophage-inducible promoters from Salmonella. Dunstan directly compared the immunogenicity of antigens upon expression of antigens regulated by PnirB and PnarC and found significantly higher antibody response with $P_{pag}C$ compared to $P_{nir}B$ (Dunstan et al. 1999). Arnold et al. achieved differential antigen expression in vivo using in vivo inducible promoters P_{nac}C, comprising variable ribosomal binding site (RBS). By this approach, strains with a high level of expression of heterologous protein exhibited low level of colonization, while a moderate amount of expression resulted in a significantly improved infection rate in mesenteric lymph nodes. A very low level of in vivo inducible antigen expression resulted in unhampered infectivity compared to the parent strain. Immunogenicity was dependent on the rate of infection, as well as the level of antigen expression. Notably, the best immune response was achieved with moderate level of antigen expression and infectivity, while high antigenexpressing strain resulted in little to no immune response. On the other hand, a moderate level of immune response was generated with high infectivity and low antigen expression (Arnold et al. 2004). Wang et al. developed a regulated delayed antigen synthesis system, consisting of LacI repressor to repress transcription from P_{trc} during in vitro cultivation. The arabinose-regulated promoter P_{BAD} drives LacI expression in vitro in medium supplemented with arabinose. Upon immunization and lack of external arabinose supplementation, P_{trc} is derepressed, leading to the synthesis of antigens. The regulated delayed antigen synthesis system induced equivalent levels of antibody and protection to that of PpagC-controlled antigen synthesis and better than that of P_{ssa}G-controlled antigen synthesis (Wang et al. 2011).

2.6.2 Acid Resistance

Upon oral immunization, LABV must withstand acidic environment of the stomach for successful colonization. Enteric pathogens including *E. coli, L. monocytogenes, Shigella* spp., and *L. lactis* can tolerate extreme acidic pH (below pH 2.5) because they possess the most potent acid resistance (AR) system known as GDAR (glutamate-dependent acid resistance) pathway. Attenuated strains of *ST* and *STm* have limited acid tolerance and exhibit moderate immunogenicity (Dharmasena et al. 2016a). By engineering AR components from *Shigella* spp., Dharmasena et al. significantly (10⁵-fold) enhanced acid tolerance of attenuated *ST*-Ty21a (Dharmasena et al. 2016a).

2.6.3 Detoxification of Lipopolysaccharide

LPS plays important role in survival and infectivity of bacteria. However, it is also involved in toxicity to the host. Various attempts at the use of LPS O- antigen mutants of *STm* resulted in poor attachment and intestinal invasion and survival

following oral immunization. By regulated expression of LPS O- antigen components such that they are expressed in vitro and at the time of immunization, but soon after colonization their synthesis is stopped, it is expected to achieve maximal infectivity and minimal toxicity (Wang et al. 2013). Kong et al. engineered a *Salmonella* strain where LPS O- antigen synthesis genes *rfc* and *rfaH* are kept under the control of the promoter *araC*-P_{BAD}, which is tightly regulated by arabinose. This strain is highly attenuated nevertheless exhibits superior immunogenicity (Kong et al. 2009, 2010). Another approach of detoxification of *Salmonella* LPS included removal of 1-phosphate group from lipid A of LPS. Kong et al. introduced an inner membrane phosphatase LpxE from *F. tularensis*, which can selectively remove the 1-phosphate group from *Salmonella* lipid A. The resultant LPS had reduced toxicity while preserved adjuvant activity(Kong et al. 2011). See Wang et al. for a detailed review on LPS modifications in *Salmonella*-based LABV (Wang et al. 2013).

2.6.4 Optimization of Virulence: Control of Safety and Immunogenicity

Many methods employed for attenuation, although make the LABV strains less pathogenic and safe to administer at high doses, it often renders them poorly immunogenic due to their inability to circumvent physicochemical defense of the host. Moreover, inability of penetration through mucosal barrier also makes them poorly immunogenic. To circumvent this problem, Curtiss et al. generated a regulated delayed attenuation system (RDAS), which retains full virulence till the passage through gastrointestinal tract and infection of epithelial cells. In the modified RDAS strains, *Salmonella* virulence genes *fur*, PhoP/Q, *rpoS*, and *crp* are expressed under the control of *araC*-P_{BAD} promoter. Arabinose concentration in human tissues is very less. Thus, in vitro these strains express all the virulence genes in medium supplemented with arabinose, whereas in vivo under the arabinose deprivation, many virulence genes are suppressed, resulting in attenuation of *Salmonella*. This approach results in high immunogenicity combined with tolerance at high doses (Curtiss 3rd et al. 2009).

2.6.5 Cytosolic Delivery of Antigen

In order to evoke CD8⁺ T-cell (CTL) response, antigens need to be delivered into the cytoplasm of host cell. Various approaches are in use to accomplish the cytosolic delivery of antigens including the use of a type III secretion system that can directly deliver vaccine antigens into the host cell cytoplasm and use of a-hemolysin (HlyA) secretion system of *E. coli* which is fully active in *Salmonella* (Gentschev et al. 1996). On the other hand, escape from endocytic vacuoles is also a feasible approach. Unlike *Lm*, *ST* and *STm* do not reach cytoplasm of infected cells and elicit CD4⁺ T-cell response more effectively compared to CD8⁺ T-cell response to cognate

antigens. Chen et al. used secretion signal of a type III secretion system *Salmonella* outer protein E (SopE) and HlyA (secretion signal) to deliver *S. japonicum* antigen Sj23-LHD-GST. The *Salmonella* vaccine constructs carrying Sj23 LHD-GST fused to HlyA (secretion signal) or SopE effectively expressed and delivered antigens into cytoplasm of murine macrophages in vitro. This vaccine construct induced Sj23-LHD-GST-specific Th1 type response and protected against *S. japonicum* infection (Chen et al. 2011). Gentschev et al. reported that two Listerial antigens delivered by *STm* using HlyA (secretion signal) generated protection against *Listeria* infection (Gentschev et al. 1996). Simultaneous delivery of two Listerial antigens (LLO and p60) by *STm* using *Yersinia* outer protein E (YopE) as a carrier molecule for *Salmonella* type III secretion system developed LLO- and p60-specific T cells and protection against murine listeriosis (Igwe et al. 2002). SopE-mediated delivery of Listerial antigen p60 generated CD8⁺ T-cell-mediated protection against *Listeria* infection (Berchtold et al. 2009).

2.7 Conclusion

What makes bacteria an excellent vaccine delivery vehicle is their natural ability to induce potent and long-lasting immune response. LABVs possess the capacity to induce humoral as well as cell-mediated immune response. While the humoral immune response includes serum IgG and mucosal IgG and IgA, the cell-mediated immunity is characterized by Th1-, Th2-, and Th17-type CD4+ T cells and CD8+ CTLs. IgA and IL17 have been specifically implicated in mucosal protection against various mucosal pathogens. The cell-mediated immunity is required for intracellular pathogens. It should be noted that subunit vaccines have a poor capacity to evoke mucosal as well as cell-mediated immunity. LABVs have also shown the capacity to overcome immunosuppressive nature of various forms of tumors. These characteristic of LABVs, together with their tumor-tropic capacity, makes them a highly suitable vector for cancer immunotherapeutic vaccines. In the past two decades, tremendous progress has been made regarding LABV-mediated delivery of vaccine antigens for prevention of a variety of viral, bacterial, and parasitic diseases. Recent advances have further improved the safety and immunogenicity profile of several LABV platforms. The new-generation LABVs can withstand harsh physicochemical conditions of gastrointestinal tract, exhibit regulated attenuation, regulated antigen expression, and targeted antigen delivery. LABVs have exhibited effectiveness in various preclinical and preliminary clinical trials (Table 2.1). However, a limited number of clinical trials have been conducted to date using LABVs, due to potential safety concerns. Further optimization would result in a versatile, safe, and highly immunogenic vaccine delivery platforms.

Vaccine vector	Attenuation	Target pathogen	Target antigen	Immune response	References	
Viral pathogens						
BCG		Hepatitis B	Surface antigens	Antibodies	Rezende et al. (2005)	
BCG		HIV	SIV-Gag and CD8+ T-cell epitopes	CD 8+ T cell	Venkataswamy et al. (2014) and Mahant et al. (2017)	
BCG		HIV and SIV	gp120, Gag	T cells	Hart et al. (2015)	
L. lactis		HPV-16-E7	LL-E7	Th1 immune response	Almeida et al. (2016)	
L. lactis		H1N1	HA	IgA, Antibodies	Joan et al. (2016)	
L. lactis		H5N1	HA	IgA	Bobek et al. (2010)	
Lm	$\Delta actA/$	H1N1	NP	Th1	Johnson et al. (2011)	
	$\Delta plcBand \Delta actA/$					
	$\Delta inl B$					
Lm	$\Delta dal, \Delta dat$	HIV	Gag, gp160	CD8+, CTL, nAb	Frankel et al. (1995), Friedman et al. (2000), Rayevskaya and Frankel (2001), Rayevskaya et al. (2002), Jiang et al. (2007) and Lakhashe et al. (2011)	
Lm	$\Delta actA, \Delta plcB$	HPV17	E7	CTL	Jia et al. (2012)	
Lm	$\Delta actA$	LCMV	NP118-126	CD8+ T cells	Tvinnereim et al. (2002)	
Lm	$\Delta dal, \Delta dat$	SIV	Gag	CD8+, Cellular immune response	Sciaranghella et al. (2011) and Im et al. (2013)	
STm	ΔaroA	Dengue virus	NS3-MisL	CTL	Luria-Perez et al. (2007)	
STm	$\Delta cpx \mathbf{R},$ $\Delta lon, \Delta asd$ and $\Delta wba \mathbf{P}$	H1N1	HA and M2e	IgG1 and IgG2a and Th1 cell response	Hajam and Lee (2017)	
STm	ΔαrοΑ	H5N1	HA, NA, NP	IgG and mucosal IgA and gamma- producing T cells	Ashraf et al. (2011) and Pei et al. (2015)	

 Table 2.1 Examples of vaccines delivered by live-attenuated bacterial vectors

Vaccine vector	Attenuation	Target pathogen	Target antigen	Immune response	References
STm	ΔaroC	HIV-1	10- E8, Gag	Antibody, CTL	Karpenko et al. (2004), Chin'ombe and Ruhanya (2013), Li et al. (2016)
STm	ΔaroA	Measles virus	B-cell and T-cell epitopes	IgG	Spreng et al. (2000)
ST	$\Delta pilS$	SARS	Nucleocapsid protein	IgG2a and IgA	Luo et al. (2007)
STm	$\Delta aro A$	TGEV	N gene, C and A epitopes	IgG	Chen and Schifferli (2003, 2007) and Zhang et al. (2016a)
Bacterial	pathogens				
BCG		B. pertussis	Pertussis toxin Subunit S1	Th1	Nascimento et al. (2008, 2009)
BCG		Lm	p60 Ag	CD4 and CD8 T cell	Grode et al. (2002)
BCG		Mtb	Ag 85B	IL 17A T cells	Hatano et al. (2016)
BCG		B. pertussis, tetanus, Mtb	Pertussis- tetanus toxin fusion	Humoral and cellular	Abomoelak et al. (1999)
BCG		S. pneumoniae	PspA	IL-17A and IFNg	Goulart et al. (2017)
B. subtilis		ETEC	CfaB	Sera and mucosal Ab	Amuguni and Tzipori (2012)
B. subtilis		H. pylori	Urease B	IgG, IgA, Th1/Th17	Stasilojc et al. (2015) and Zhou et al. (2015)
B. subtilis		Mtb	MPT64	Th1	Sibley et al. (2014)
B. subtilis		Tetanus	TT C fragment	IgG, IgA	Amuguni et al. (2011)
E. coli	Δ <i>intimin</i> , Δ <i>stx</i> 1 and Δ <i>stx</i> 2	ETEC	CFA-I, LThK63	IgG and IgA	Byrd and Boedeker (2013)
E. coli	Δler	EHEC	Stx1B	Antibody	Zhu et al. (2006)
L. casei		C. perfringens	Epsilon	IgG, IgA	Alimolaei et al. (2016)
L. lactis		C. jejuni	cjAD	Antibody	Kobierecka et al. (2016)
L. lactis		C. difficile	TETC-TcdA	Antibodies	Yang et al. (2013)
L. lactis		H. pylori	Omp22 or HpaA, cag12, urease B	Antibody	Gu et al. (2009), Kim et al. (2009), Li et al. (2014), and Zhang et al. (2016b)

Table 2.1 (continued)

Vaccine	Attenuation	Target	Target antigen	Immune	References
L. lactis		L. monocytogenes	Listeriolysin O	CD8+ T cells	Bahey-El-Din et al.
L. lactis		S. pyogenes	M protein (CRR)	Mucosal IgA	Mannam et al. (2004) and Mannam et al. (2004)
L. lactis		V. cholera	Wzm	IgG and IgA	Zamri et al. (2012)
Lm	$\Delta actA, \Delta inlB$	C. burnetii	T4SS (Epitopes)	CD8+ T cells	Xiong et al. (2017)
ST	$\Delta aro C,$ $\Delta aro D, and$ $\Delta htr A$	B. anthracis	PA83, PAd4	IgG, Ifng	Galen et al. (2004, 2010)
STm	ΔαrοΑ	B. pertussis	Pertussis toxins S1, S2, S3, S4, and S5	IgG	Dalla Pozza et al. (1998)
STm	$\Delta lon, \Delta cpx \mathbf{R}$	B. abortus	BCSP31, Omp3b, and SOD	IgG and sIgA	Kim et al. (2016) and Lalsiamthara and Lee (2017)
STm	$\Delta aro C,$ $\Delta aro D$ and $\Delta htr A$	EHEC 0157:H7	Intimin, CFA-I, CS3, STx2	Mucosal IgG and IgA	Girón et al. (1995), Rojas et al. (2010) and Ferreira Oliveira et al. (2012)
STm	ΔPhoP/Q	H. pylori	Urease B, hpaA, adhesin AB, babA2/ ureI, CagA, and VacA	Antibodies	Angelakopoulos and Hohmann (2000), Bai et al. (2004), Xu et al. (2005) and Liu et al. (2011)
STm	$\Delta aro A/$ $\Delta spt P$	L. monocytogenes	Listeriolysin and p60	CD8+ T cell, IFNg	Igwe et al. (2002), Sevil Domènech et al. (2008) and Berchtold et al. (2009)
STm	ΔaroA	Mtb	ESAT6-Ag85B	T cell, IFNg	Wang et al. (2009)
STm	$\Delta \text{aroC},$ $\Delta aroD,$ and $\Delta htrA$	P. aeruginosa	OprF/OprI, LPS	Antibodies and TH1, mucosal IgG, and IgA	Arnold et al. (2004), Digiandomenico et al. (2004) and Bumann et al. (2010)
STm	Δcya and Δcrp	P. gingivalis	HagB	IgG and IgA and mucosal IgA	Isoda et al. (2007) and Pathangey et al. (2009)
STm	$\Delta gal E$	S. dysenteriae	LPS	Serum antibody	Dharmasena et al. (2016b)
STm	$\Delta gal E$	S. sonnei	LPS	Serum antibody	Dharmasena et al. (2013)

 Table 2.1 (continued)

Vaccine		Target		Immune		
vector	Attenuation	pathogen	Target antigen	response	References	
STm	Δcrp and $\Delta asdA$	S. pneumoniae	PspA, PspC	Th1/Th2, IgG, and IgA	Kang et al. (2002), Xin et al. (2009), Shi et al. (2010), Wang et al. (2010, 2011), Kong et al. (2011) and Frey et al. (2013)	
ST	$\Delta aro C$, $\Delta aro D$, and $\Delta htr A$	Tetanus	TetC	IgG, IgA	Dunstan et al. (1999), Allen et al. (2000), Orr et al. (2001) and Capozzo et al. (2004)	
STm	ΔaroA	Y. enterocolitica	HSP-60	T cell, IFNg	Kramer et al. (2003)	
STm	ΔPhoP/Q	Y. pestis	F1, V, YadC, YadBC, PsaA, LcrV, Psn, and HmuR	IgG, CD4, and CD8+ T cells	Ramirez et al. (2009), Branger et al. (2010), Torres-Escobar et al. (2010), Sizemore et al. (2012), Sun et al. (2012), Sun et al. (2014) and Galen et al. (2015)	
S. flexneri	ΔguaBA	ETEC	CFA-I and LTB, CS2, CS3, CS4, and CFA/A	Serum IgG and mucosal IgA	Koprowski et al. (2000), Barry et al. (2003), Ranallo et al. (2005) and Zheng et al. (2005)	
V. cholerae	Δctx	C. difficile	TcdA	IgG	Ryan et al. (1997)	
V. cholerae	$\Delta att RS1$	E. coli	LT	Serum IgG and mucosal IgA	Ryan et al. (1999)	
V. cholerae	ΔCTA	H. pylori	НраА	IgG	Tobias et al. (2017)	
V. cholerae	Naturally attenuated	Tetanus toxin, <i>B. pertussis</i>	TetC, BP-TCF	IgG	Chen et al. (1998)	
Parasitic pathogens						
B. subtilis		C. sinensis	Enolase	Mucosal IgG and IgA	Yu et al. (2015)	
B. subtilis		S. japonicum	GST protein	Mucosal IgG and IgA	Li et al. (2009)	
E. coli	Δler	Malaria	NANP	Antibody	Zhu et al. (2006)	
Lm	ΔactA	L. major	LJM11, p36, and LACK	Th1	Soussi et al. (2002), Saklani-Jusforgues et al. (2003) and Abi Abdallah et al. (2014)	

Table 2.1 (continued)
Vaccine		Target		Immune	
vector	Attenuation	pathogen	Target antigen	response	References
STm	Δpmi , Δfur and Δcrp	G. lamblia	α1-Giardin, CWP2	Th1/Th2, mucosal IgG, and IgA	Abdul-Wahid and Faubert (2007) and Jenikova et al. (2011)
STm	$\Delta aro C,$ $\Delta aro D,$ and $\Delta htr A$	C. parvum	Cp23, CP15, and Cp40	Antibody	Benitez et al. (2009) and Roche et al. (2013)
STm	ΔaroA	E. histolytica	Gal/Gal-NAC lectin	Antibody	Mann et al. (1997)
ST	$\Delta aro C$ and $\Delta aro D$	L. mexicana	gp63	Th1 type immunity	González et al. (1998)
STm	$\Delta purl$ and $\Delta msbB$	S. japonicum	Sj23LHD-GST	Th1 type immunity	Chen et al. (2011)
STm	Δcrp and Δcya	T. solium	TSOL18	CD4 and CD8 T cells	Ding et al. (2013)

Table 2.1 (continued)

References

- Abdul-Wahid A, Faubert G (2007) Mucosal delivery of a transmission-blocking DNA vaccine encoding Giardia lamblia CWP2 by Salmonella typhimurium bactofection vehicle. Vaccine 25(50):8372–8383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.10.012
- Abi Abdallah DS, Bitar AP, Oliveira F, Meneses C, Park JJ, Mendez S et al (2014) A *Listeria* monocytogenes-based vaccine that secretes sand fly salivary protein LJM11 confers longterm protection against vector-transmitted Leishmania major. Infect Immun 82(7):2736–2745. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.01633-14
- Abomoelak B, Huygen K, Kremer L, Turneer M, Locht C (1999) Humoral and cellular immune responses in mice immunized with recombinant Mycobacterium bovis Bacillus Calmette-Guérin producing a pertussis toxin-tetanus toxin hybrid protein. Infect Immun 67(10):5100–5105
- Alimolaei M, Golchin M, Daneshvar H (2016) Oral immunization of mice against Clostridium perfringens epsilon toxin with a Lactobacillus casei vector vaccine expressing epsilon toxoid. Infect Genet Evol 40:282–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2016.03.020
- Allen JS, Dougan G, Strugnell RA (2000) Kinetics of the mucosal antibody secreting cell response and evidence of specific lymphocyte migration to the lung after oral immunisation with attenuated S. enterica var. typhimurium. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 27(4):275–281. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0928-8244(99)00204-7
- Almeida JF, Breyner NM, Mahi M, Ahmed B, Benbouziane B, Boas PCBV et al (2016) Expression of fibronectin binding protein A (FnBPA) from Staphylococcus aureus at the cell surface of Lactococcus lactis improves its immunomodulatory properties when used as protein delivery vector. Vaccine 34(10):1312–1318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.01.022
- Amuguni H, Tzipori S (2012) Bacillus subtilis: a temperature resistant and needle free delivery system of immunogens. Hum Vaccin Immunother 8(7):979–986. https://doi.org/10.4161/hv.20694
- Amuguni JH, Lee S, Kerstein KO, Brown DW, Belitsky BR, Herrmann JE et al (2011) Sublingually administered Bacillus subtilis cells expressing tetanus toxin C fragment induce protective systemic and mucosal antibodies against tetanus toxin in mice. Vaccine 29(29-30):4778–4784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.04.083

- Angelakopoulos H, Hohmann EL (2000) Pilot study of phoP/phoQ-deleted Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium expressing Helicobacter pylori urease in adult volunteers. Infect Immun 68(4):2135–2141. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.68.4.2135-2141.2000.Updated
- Arnold H, Bumann D, Felies M, Gewecke B, Sörensen M, Gessner JE et al (2004) Enhanced immunogenicity in the murine airway mucosa with an attenuated Salmonella live vaccine expressing OprF-OprI from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Infect Immun 72(11):6546–6553. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.72.11.6546-6553.2004
- Ashraf S, Kong W, Wang S, Yang J, Curtiss R (2011) Protective cellular responses elicited by vaccination with influenza nucleoprotein delivered by a live recombinant attenuated Salmonella vaccine. Vaccine 29(23):3990–4002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.03.066
- Bahey-El-Din M, Casey PG, Griffin BT, Gahan CGM (2008) Lactococcus lactis-expressing listeriolysin O (LLO) provides protection and specific CD8(+) T cells against *Listeria* monocytogenes in the murine infection model. Vaccine 26(41):5304–5314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2008.07.047
- Bai Y, Zhang YL, Wang JD, Zhang ZS, Zhou DY (2004) Construction of attenuated Salmonella typhimurium strain expressing Helicobacter pylori conservative region of adhesin antigen and its immunogenicity. World J Gastroenterol 10(17):2498–2502
- Barry EM, Altboum Z, Losonsky G, Levine MM (2003) Immune responses elicited against multiple enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli fimbriae and mutant LT expressed in attenuated Shigella vaccine strains. Vaccine 21(5-6):333–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0264-410x(02)00611-4
- Benitez AJ, McNair N, Mead JR (2009) Oral immunization with attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium encoding Cryptosporidium parvum Cp23 and Cp40 antigens induces a specific immune response in mice. Clin Vaccine Immunol 16(9):1272–1278. https://doi.org/10.1128/cvi.00089-09
- Berchtold C, Panthel K, Jellbauer S, Köhn B, Roider E, Partilla M et al (2009) Superior protective immunity against murine listeriosis by combined vaccination with CpG DNA and recombinant Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium. Infect Immun 77(12):5501–5508. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.00700-09
- Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Kharrat P, Chatel J-M, Langella P (2011) Lactococci and lactobacilli as mucosal delivery vectors for therapeutic proteins and DNA vaccines. Microb Cell Factories 10(Suppl 1):S4–S4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2859-10-s1-s4
- Bickels J, Kollender Y, Merinsky O, Meller I (2002) Coley's toxin: historical perspective. Isr Med Assoc J 4(6):471–472
- Bobek V, Kolostova K, Pinterova D, Kacprzak G, Adamiak J, Kolodziej J et al (2010) A clinically relevant, syngeneic model of spontaneous, highly metastatic B16 mouse melanoma. J Med Virol 30(12):4799–4804. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv
- Branger CG, Sun W, Torres-Escobar A, Perry R, Roland KL, Fetherston J et al (2010) Evaluation of Psn, HmuR and a modified LcrV protein delivered to mice by live attenuated Salmonella as a vaccine against bubonic and pneumonic Yersinia pestis challenge. Vaccine 29(2):274–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.10.033
- Brockstedt DG, Giedlin MA, Leong ML, Bahjat KS, Gao Y, Luckett W et al (2004) *Listeria*based cancer vaccines that segregate immunogenicity from toxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101(38):13832–13837. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0406035101
- Broz P, Ohlson MB, Monack DM (2012) Innate immune response to Salmonella typhimurium, a model enteric pathogen. Gut Microbes 3(2):62–70. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19141
- Bumann D, Behre C, Behre K, Herz S, Gewecke B, Gessner JE et al (2010) Systemic, nasal and oral live vaccines against Pseudomonas aeruginosa: a clinical trial of immunogenicity in lower airways of human volunteers. Vaccine 28(3):707–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2009.10.080
- Byrd W, Boedeker EC (2013) Attenuated Escherichia coli strains expressing the colonization factor antigen I (CFA/I) and a detoxified heat-labile enterotoxin (LThK63) enhance clearance of ETEC from the lungs of mice and protect mice from intestinal ETEC colonization

and LT-induced f. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 152(1-2):57-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetimm.2012.10.001

- Capozzo AVE, Cuberos L, Levine MM, Pasetti MF (2004) Mucosally delivered Salmonella live vector vaccines elicit potent immune responses against a foreign antigen in neonatal mice born to naive and immune mothers.pdf. Infect Immun 72(8):4637–4646. https://doi.org/10.1128/ iai.72.8.4637
- Chauchet X, Hannani D, Djebali S, Laurin D, Polack B, Marvel J et al (2016) Poly-functional and long-lasting anticancer immune response elicited by a safe attenuated Pseudomonas aeruginosa vector for antigens delivery. Mol Ther Oncolytics 3(August):16033–16033. https://doi. org/10.1038/mto.2016.33
- Chen H, Schifferli DM (2003) Construction, characterization, and immunogenicity of an attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium pgtE vaccine expressing fimbriae with integrated viral epitopes from the spiC promoter. Infect Immun 71(8):4664–4673. https://doi. org/10.1128/iai.71.8.4664-4673.2003
- Chen H, Schifferli DM (2007) Comparison of a fimbrial versus an autotransporter display system for viral epitopes on an attenuated Salmonella vaccine vector. Vaccine 25(9):1626–1633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.11.006
- Chen I, Finn TM, Yanqing L, Guoming Q, Rappuoli R, Pizza M (1998) A recombinant live attenuated strain of Vibrio cholerae induces immunity against tetanus toxin and Bordetella pertussis tracheal colonization factor. Infect Immun 66(4):1648–1653
- Chen G, Dai Y, Chen J, Wang X, Tang B, Zhu Y et al (2011) Oral delivery of the Sj23LHD-GST antigen by Salmonella typhimurium type III secretion system protects against Schistosoma japonicum infection in mice. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 5(9):1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pntd.0001313
- Chen YY, Lin CW, Huang WF, Chang JR, Su IJ, Hsu CH et al (2017) Recombinant bacille Calmette???Guerin coexpressing Ag85b, CFP10, and interleukin-12 elicits effective protection against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 50(1):90–96. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jmii.2014.11.019
- Chin'ombe N, Ruhanya V (2013) Recombinant Salmonella bacteria vectoring HIV/AIDS vaccines. Open Virol J 7:121–126. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874357901307010121
- Curtiss R 3rd, Wanda SY, Gunn BM, Zhang X, Tinge SA, Ananthnarayan V et al (2009) Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium strains with regulated delayed attenuation in vivo. Infect Immun 77(3):1071–1082. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00693-08
- Cutting SM, Hong HA, Baccigalupi L, Ricca E (2009) Oral vaccine delivery by recombinant spore probiotics. Int Rev Immunol 28:487–505. https://doi.org/10.3109/08830180903215605
- Dalla Pozza T, Yan H, Meek D, Guzmán CA, Walker MJ (1998) Construction and characterisation of Salmonella typhimurium aroA simultaneously expressing the five pertussis toxin subunits. Vaccine 16(5):522–529. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0264-410x(97)80006-0
- Dharmasena MN, Hanisch BW, Wai TT, Kopecko DJ (2013) Stable expression of Shigella sonnei form I O-polysaccharide genes recombineered into the chromosome of live Salmonella oral vaccine vector Ty21a. Int J Med Microb 303(3):105–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijmm.2013.01.001
- Dharmasena MN, Feuille CM, Starke CEC, Bhagwat AA, Stibitz S, Kopecko DJ (2016a) Development of an acid-resistant Salmonella Typhi Ty21a attenuated vector for improved oral vaccine delivery. PLoS ONE 11(9):1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163511
- Dharmasena MN, Osorio M, Filipova S, Marsh C, Stibitz S, Kopecko DJ (2016b) Stable expression of Shigella dysenteriae serotype 1 O-antigen genes integrated into the chromosome of live Salmonella oral vaccine vector Ty21a. Pathog Dis 74(8):ftw098–ftw098. https://doi.org/10.1093/femspd/ftw098
- Digiandomenico A, Rao J, Joanna B, Goldberg JB (2004) Oral vaccination of BALB/c mice with Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium expressing Pseudomonas aeruginosa O antigen promotes increased survival in an acute fatal pneumonia model. Infect Immun 72(12):7012–7021. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.72.12.7012

- Ding J, Zheng Y, Wang Y, Dou Y, Chen X, Zhu X et al (2013) Immune responses to a recombinant attenuated Salmonella typhimurium strain expressing a Taenia solium oncosphere antigen TSOL18. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 36(1):17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cimid.2012.09.006
- Dunstan SJ, Simmons CP, Strugnell RA (1999) Use of in vivo-regulated promoters to deliver antigens from attenuated Salmonella enterica var. typhimurium. Infect Immun 67(10):5133–5141
- Fernandez MI, Sansonetti PJ (2003) Shigella interaction with intestinal epithelial cells determines the innate immune response in shigellosis. Int J Med Microbiol 293(1):55–67. https://doi. org/10.1078/1438-4221-00244
- Ferreira Oliveira A, Almeida Cardoso S, Bruno dos Reis Almeida F, Licursi de Oliveira L, Pitondo-Silva A, Gomes Soares S et al (2012) Oral immunization with attenuated Salmonella vaccine expressing Escherichia coli O157: H7 intimin gamma triggers both systemic and mucosal humoral immunity in mice. Microbiol Immunol 56(8):513–522. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.2012.00477.x
- Forbes NS, Munn LL, Fukumura D, Jain RK (2003) Sparse initial entrapment of systemically injected Salmonella typhimurium leads to heterogeneous accumulation within tumors 1. Cancer Res 63:5188–5193
- Fraillery D, Baud D, Pang SYY, Schiller J, Bobst M, Zosso N et al (2007) Salmonella enterica serovar Tphi Ty21a expressing human papillomavirus type 16 L1 as a potential live vaccine against cervical cancer and typhoid fever. Clin Vaccine Immunol 14(10):1285–1295. https:// doi.org/10.1128/cvi.00164-07
- Frankel FR, Hegde S, Lieberman J, Paterson Y (1995) Induction of cell-mediated immune responses to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag protein by using *Listeria* monocytogenes as a live vaccine vector. *J Immunol* 155(10):4775–4782
- Frey SE, Lottenbach KR, Hill H, Blevins TP, Yu Y, Zhang Y et al (2013) A Phase I, dose-escalation trial in adults of three recombinant attenuated Salmonella Typhi vaccine vectors producing Streptococcus pneumoniae surface protein antigen PspA. Vaccine 31(42):4874–4880. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.07.049
- Friedman RS, Frankel FR, Xu Z, Lieberman J (2000) Induction of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific CD8 T-cell responses by *Listeria* monocytogenes and a hyperattenuated *Listeria* strain engineered to express HIV antigens. J Virol 74(21):9987–9993. https://doi.org/10.1128/ jvi.74.21.9987-9993.2000
- Fuge O, Vasdev N, Allchorne P, Green JS (2015) Immunotherapy for bladder cancer. Res Rep Urol 7:65–79. https://doi.org/10.2147/rru.s63447
- Galán JE, Nakayama K, Curtiss R (1990) Cloning and characterization of the asd gene of Salmonella typhimurium: use in stable maintenance of recombinant plasmids in Salmonella vaccine strains. Gene 94(1):29–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(90)90464-3
- Galen JE, Nair J, Wang JY, Steven S, Tanner MK, Sztein MB et al (1999) Optimization of plasmid maintenance in the attenuated live vector vaccine strain Salmonella typhi CVD 908htrA. Infect Immun 67(12):6424–6433
- Galen JE, Zhao L, Chinchilla M, Wang JY, Pasetti MF, Green J et al (2004) Adaptation of the endogenous Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi clyA-encoded hemolysin for antigen export enhances the immunogenicity of anthrax protective antigen domain 4 expressed by the attenuated live-vector vaccine strain CVD 908-htrA. Infect Immun 72(12):7096–7106. https://doi. org/10.1128/iai.72.12.7096
- Galen JE, Pasetti MF, Tennant S, Ruiz-Olvera P, Sztein MB, Levine MM (2009) Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi live vector vaccines finally come of age. Immunol Cell Biol 87(5):400– 412. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2009.31
- Galen JE, Wang JY, Chinchilla M, Vindurampulle C, Vogel JE, Levy H et al (2010) A new generation of stable, nonantibiotic, low-copy-number plasmids improves immune responses to foreign antigens Salmonella enterica serovar typhi live vectors. Infect Immun 78(1):337–347. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.00916-09

- Galen JE, Wang JY, Carrasco JA, Lloyd SA, Mellado-Sanchez G, Diaz-McNair J et al (2015) A bivalent typhoid live vector vaccine expressing both chromosome- and plasmid-encoded Yersinia pestis antigens fully protects against murine lethal pulmonary plague infection. Infect Immun 83(1):161–172. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.02443-14
- Gentschev I, Mollenkopf H, Sokolovic Z, Hess J, Kaufmann SH, Goebel W (1996) Development of antigen-delivery systems, based on the Escherichia coli hemolysin secretion pathway. Gene 179(1):133–140
- Girón JA, Xu JG, González CR, Hone D, Kaper JB, Levine MM (1995) Simultaneous expression of CFA/I and CS3 colonization factor antigens of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli by ΔaroC, ΔaroD Salmonella typhi vaccine strain CVD 908. Vaccine 13(10):939–946. https://doi.org/10.1016/0264-410x(95)00003-j
- González CR, Noriega FR, Huerta S, Santiago A, Vega M, Paniagua J et al (1998) Immunogenicity of a Salmonella typhi CVD 908 candidate vaccine strain expressing the major surface protein gp63 of Leishmania mexicana mexicana. Vaccine 16(9–10):1043–1052. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0264-410x(97)00267-3
- Goulart C, Rodriguez D, Kanno AI, Converso TR, Lu YJ, Malley R, et al (2017) A combination of recombinant BCG expressing pneumococcal proteins induces cellular and humoral immune responses and protects against pneumococcal colonization and sepsis. Clin Vaccine Immunol CVI.00133-00117. https://doi.org/10.1128/cvi.00133-17.
- Grode L, Kursar M, Fensterle J, Kaufmann SHE, Hess J (2002) Cell-mediated immunity induced by recombinant Mycobacterium bovis Bacille Calmette-Guérin strains against an intracellular bacterial pathogen: importance of antigen secretion or membrane-targeted antigen display as lipoprotein for vaccine efficacy. J Immunol 168(4):1869–1876. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.168.4.1869
- Gu Q, Song D, Zhu M (2009) Oral vaccination of mice against Helicobacter pylori with recombinant Lactococcus lactis expressing urease subunit B. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 56(3):197–203. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2009.00566.x
- Hajam IA, Lee JH (2017) An influenza HA and M2e based vaccine delivered by a novel attenuated Salmonella mutant protects mice against homologous H1N1 infection. Front Microbiol 8:1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00872
- Hart BE, Asrican R, Lim SY, Sixsmith JD, Lukose R, Souther SJR et al (2015) Stable expression of lentiviral antigens by quality-controlled recombinant mycobacterium bovis BCG vectors. Clin Vaccine Immunol 22(7):726–741. https://doi.org/10.1128/cvi.00075-15
- Hatano S, Tamura T, Umemura M, Matsuzaki G, Ohara N, Yoshikai Y (2016) Recombinant Mycobacterium bovis bacillus Calmette-Guérin expressing Ag85B-IL-7 fusion protein enhances IL-17A-producing innate γδ T cells. Vaccine 34(22):2490–2495. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.03.096
- Hindle Z, Chatfield SN, Phillimore J, Bentley M, Johnson J, Cosgrove CA et al (2002) Characterization of Salmonella enterica derivatives harboring defined aroC and Salmonella pathogenicity island 2 type III secretion system (ssaV) mutations by immunization of healthy volunteers. Infect Immun 70(7):3457–3467. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.70.7.3457-3467.2002
- Hoiseth SK, Stocker BAD (1981) Aromatic-dependent Salmonella typhimurium are non-virulent and effective as live vaccines. Nature 291(5812):238–239. https://doi.org/10.1038/291238a0
- Igwe EI, Geginat G, Rüssmann H (2002) Concomitant cytosolic delivery of two immunodominant *Listerial* antigens by Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium confers superior protection against murine listeriosis. Infect Immun 70(12):7114–7119. https://doi.org/10.1128/ iai.70.12.7114-7119.2002
- Im E-J, Borducchi EN, Provine NM, McNally AG, Li S, Frankel FR et al (2013) An attenuated *Listeria* monocytogenes vector primes more potent simian immunodeficiency virusspecific mucosal immunity than DNA vaccines in mice. J Virol 87(8):4751–4755. https://doi. org/10.1128/jvi.03085-12

- Isoda R, Simanski SP, Pathangey L, Stone AES, Brown TA (2007) Expression of a Porphyromonas gingivalis hemagglutinin on the surface of a Salmonella vaccine vector. Vaccine 25(1):117– 126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.06.085
- Jenikova G, Hruz P, Andersson MK, Tejman-Yarden N, Ferreira PCD, Andersen YS et al (2011) ??1-giardin based live heterologous vaccine protects against Giardia lamblia infection in a murine model. Vaccine 29(51):9529–9537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.09.126
- Jennison AV, Verma NK (2004) Shigella flexneri infection: pathogenesis and vaccine development. FEMS Microbiol Rev 28(1):43–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsre.2003.07.002
- Jia Y, Yin Y, Duan F, Fu H, Hu M, Gao Y et al (2012) Prophylactic and therapeutic efficacy of an attenuated *Listeria* monocytogenes-based vaccine delivering HPV16 E7 in a mouse model. Int J Mol Med 30(6):1335–1342. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2012.1136
- Jiang S, Rasmussen RA, Nolan KM, Frankel FR, Lieberman J, McClure HM et al (2007) Live attenuated *Listeria* monocytogenes expressing HIV Gag: immunogenicity in rhesus monkeys. Vaccine 25(42):7470–7479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.08.013
- Joan SSX, Pui-Fong J, Song AAL, Chang LY, Yusoff K, AbuBakar S et al (2016) Oral vaccine of Lactococcus lactis harbouring pandemic H1N1 2009 haemagglutinin1 and nisP anchor fusion protein elevates anti-HA1 sIgA levels in mice. Biotechnol Lett 38(5):793–799. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10529-016-2034-2
- Johnson PV, Blair BM, Zeller S, Kotton CN, Hohmann EL (2011) Attenuated *Listeria* monocytogenes vaccine vectors expressing influenza A nucleoprotein: preclinical evaluation and oral inoculation of volunteers. Microbiol Immunol 55(5):304–317. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.2011.00322.x
- Kang HY, Srinivasan J, Curtiss R (2002) Immune responses to recombinant pneumococcal PspA antigen delivered by live attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium vaccine. Infect Immun 70(4):1739–1749. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.70.4.1739
- Karpenko LI, Nekrasova NA, Ilyichev AA, Lebedev LR, Ignatyev GM, Agafonov AP et al (2004) Comparative analysis using a mouse model of the immunogenicity of artificial VLP and attenuated Salmonella strain carrying a DNA-vaccine encoding HIV-1 polyepitope CTL-immunogen. Vaccine 22(13–14):1692–1699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2003.09.050
- Kasinskas RW, Forbes NS (2007) Salmonella typhimurium lacking ribose chemoreceptors localize in tumor quiescence and induce apoptosis. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. can-06-2618.
- Khan SA, Stratford R, Wu T, McKelvie N, Bellaby T, Hindle Z et al (2003) Salmonella typhi and S. typhimurium derivatives harbouring deletions in aromatic biosynthesis and Salmonella Pathogenicity Island-2 (SPI-2) genes as vaccines and vectors. Vaccine 21(5–6):538–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0264-410x(02)00410-3
- Kim SJ, Jun DY, Yang CH, Kim YH (2006) Expression of Helicobacter pylori cag12 gene in Lactococcus lactis MG1363 and its oral administration to induce systemic anti-Cag12 immune response in mice. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 72(3):462–470. https://doi. org/10.1007/11679363_58
- Kim SJ, Lee JY, Jun DY, Song JY, Lee WK, Cho MJ et al (2009) Oral administration of Lactococcus lactis expressing Helicobacter pylori Cag7-ct383 protein induces systemic anti-Cag7 immune response in mice. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 57(3):257–268. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2009.00605.x
- Kim WK, Moon JY, Kim S, Hur J (2016) Comparison between immunization routes of live attenuated Salmonella typhimurium strains expressing BCSP31, Omp3b, and SOD of Brucella abortus in murine model. Front Microbiol 7:1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00550
- Kobierecka PA, Olech B, Ksiazek M, Derlatka K, Adamska I, Majewski PM et al (2016) Cell wall anchoring of the Campylobacter antigens to Lactococcus lactis. Front Microbiol 7:1–18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00165
- Kong Q, Liu Q, Roland KL, Curtiss R (2009) Regulated delayed expression of rfaH in an attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium a vaccine enhances immunogenicity of outer

2 Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors for Delivery of Mucosal Vaccines, DNA Vaccines... 67

membrane proteins and a heterologous antigen. Infect Immun 77(12):5572–5582. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.00831-09

- Kong Q, Liu Q, Jansen AM, Curtiss R (2010) Regulated delayed expression of rfc enhances the immunogenicity and protective efficacy of a heterologous antigen delivered by live attenuated Salmonella enterica vaccines. Vaccine 28(37):6094–6103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2010.06.074
- Kong Q, Six DA, Roland KL, Liu Q, Gu L, Reynolds CM et al (2011) Salmonella synthesizing 1-monophosphorylated Lipopolysaccharide exhibits low endotoxic activity while retaining its immunogenicity. J Immunol 187(1):412–423. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100339
- Kong W, Brovold M, Koeneman BA, Clark-Curtiss J, Curtiss R (2012) Turning self-destructing Salmonella into a universal DNA vaccine delivery platform. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(47):19414–19419. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1217554109
- Koprowski H, Levine MM, Anderson RJ, Losonsky G, Pizza M, Barry EM (2000) Attenuated shigella flexneri 2a vaccine strain CVD 1204 expressing colonization factor antigen I and mutant heat-labile enterotoxin of enterotoxigenic escherichia coli. Infect Immun 68(9):4884–4892. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.68.9.4884-4892.2000
- Kotton CN, Lankowski AJ, Scott N, Sisul D, Chen LM, Raschke K et al (2006) Safety and immunogenicity of attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium delivering an HIV-1 Gag antigen via the Salmonella Type III secretion system. Vaccine 24(37–39):6216–6224. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.05.094
- Kramer U, Rizos K, Apfel H, Ingo B, Lattemann CT, Autenrieth IB (2003) Autodisplay: development of an efficacious system for surface display of antigenic determinants in Salmonella vaccine strains. Infect Immun 71(4):1944–1952. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.71.4.1944
- Lakhashe SK, Velu V, Sciaranghella G, Siddappa NB, Dipasquale JM, Hemashettar G et al (2011) Prime-boost vaccination with heterologous live vectors encoding SIV gag and multimeric HIV-1 gp160 protein: efficacy against repeated mucosal R5 clade C SHIV challenges. Vaccine 29(34):5611–5622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.06.017
- Lalsiamthara J, Lee JH (2017) Brucella lipopolysaccharide reinforced Salmonella delivering Brucella immunogens protects mice against virulent challenge. Vet Microbiol 205:84–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.05.012
- Lee C-H (2012) Engineering bacteria toward tumor targeting for cancer treatment: current state and perspectives. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93(2):517–523. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00253-011-3695-3
- Li L, Hu X, Wu Z, Xiong S, Zhou Z, Wang X et al (2009) Immunogenicity of self-adjuvanticity oral vaccine candidate based on use of Bacillus subtilis spore displaying Schistosoma japonicum 26 KDa GST protein. Parasitol Res 105(6):1643–1651. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00436-009-1606-7
- Li X, Xing Y, Guo L, Lv X, Song H, Xi T (2014) Oral immunization with recombinant Lactococcus lactis delivering a multi-epitope antigen CTB-UE attenuates Helicobacter pylori infection in mice. Pathog Dis 72(1):78–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/2049-632x.12173
- Li Q-H, Jin G, Wang J-Y, Li H-N, Liu H, Chang X-Y et al (2016) Live attenuated Salmonella displaying HIV-1 10E8 epitope on fimbriae: systemic and mucosal immune responses in BALB/c mice by mucosal administration. Sci Rep 6(July):29556–29556. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep29556
- Liang ZZ, Sherrid AM, Wallecha A, Kollmann TR (2014) *Listeria* monocytogenes: a promising vehicle for neonatal vaccination. Hum Vaccin Immunother 10(4):1036–1046. https://doi. org/10.4161/hv.27999
- Lin IYC, Van TTH, Smooker PM (2015) Live-attenuated bacterial vectors: tools for vaccine and therapeutic agent delivery. Vaccine 3(4):940–972
- Liu D-s, Hu S-j, Zhou N-j, Xie Y, Cao J (2011) Construction and characterization of recombinant attenuated Salmonella typhimurium expressing the babA2/ureI fusion gene of Helicobacter pylori. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 35(10):655–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clinre.2011.06.007

- Loessner H, Endmann A, Leschner S, Westphal K, Rohde M, Miloud T et al (2007) Remote control of tumour-targeted Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium by the use of l-arabinose as inducer of bacterial gene expression in vivo. Cell Microbiol 9(6):1529–1537. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00890.x
- Luo F, Feng Y, Liu M, Li P, Pan Q, Jeza VT et al (2007) Type IVB pilus operon promoter controlling expression of the severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus nucleocapsid gene in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi elicits full immune response by intranasal vaccination. Clin Vaccine Immunol 14(8):990–997. https://doi.org/10.1128/cvi.00076-07
- Luria-Perez R, Cedillo-Barron L, Santos-Argumedo L, Ortiz-Navarrete VF, Ocaña-Mondragon A, Gonzalez-Bonilla CR (2007) A fusogenic peptide expressed on the surface of Salmonella enterica elicits CTL responses to a dengue virus epitope. Vaccine 25(27):5071–5085. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.03.047
- Mahant A, Saubi N, Eto Y, Guitart N, Gatell JM, Hanke T et al (2017) Preclinical development of BCG.HIVA2auxo.int, harboring an integrative expression vector, for a HIV-TB Pediatric vaccine. Enhancement of stability and specific HIV-1 T-cell immunity. Hum Vaccin Immunother 5515:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2017.1316911
- Mann BJ, Burkholder BV, Lockhart LA (1997) Protection in a gerbil model of amebiasis by oral immunization with Salmonella expressing the galactose/N-acetyl D-galactosamine inhibitable lectin of Entamoeba histolytica. Vaccine 15(6-7):659–663. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0264-410x(96)00236-8
- Mannam P, Jones KF, Geller BL (2004) Mucosal vaccine made from live, recombinant Lactococcus lactis protects mice against pharyngeal infection with Streptococcus pyogenes. Infect Immun 72(6):3444–3450. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.72.6.3444-3450.2004
- Matos MN, Cazorla SI, Bivona AE, Morales C, Guzman CA, Malchiodi EL (2014) Tc52 aminoterminal-domain DNA carried by attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium induces protection against a trypanosoma cruzi lethal challenge. Infect Immun 82(10):4265–4275. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.02190-14
- Maurelli AT, Sansonetti PJ (1988) Genetic determinants of Shigella pathogenicity. Annu Rev Microbiol 42:127–150. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.mi.42.100188.001015
- McLaughlin HP, Bahey-El-Din M, Casey PG, Hill C, Gahan CGM (2013) A mutant in the *Listeria* monocytogenes furregulated virulence locus (frvA) induces cellular immunity and confers protection against listeriosis in mice. J Med Microbiol 62(PART 2):185–190. https://doi. org/10.1099/jmm.0.049114-0
- Mei Y, Zhao L, Liu Y, Gong H, Song Y, Lei L et al (2017) Combining DNA vaccine and AIDA-1 in attenuated Salmonella activates tumor-specific CD4 + and CD8 + T-cell responses. Cancer Immunol Res 5(6):503–514. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.cir-16-0240-t
- Mellouk N, Enninga J (2016) Cytosolic access of intracellular bacterial pathogens: the Shigella paradigm. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 6:35. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2016.00035
- Mignon C, Sodoyer R, Werle B (2015) Antibiotic-free selection in biotherapeutics: now and forever. Pathogens 4(2):157–181. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens4020157
- Miki K, Nagata T, Tanaka T, Kim YH, Uchijima M, Ohara N et al (2004) Induction of protective cellular immunity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis by recombinant attenuated selfdestructing *Listeria* monocytogenes strains harboring eukaryotic expression plasmids for antigen 85 complex and MPB/MPT51. Infect Immun 72(4):2014–2021
- Moliva JI, Turner J, Torrelles JB (2017) Immune responses to Bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccination: why do they fail to protect against mycobacterium tuberculosis? Front Immunol 8:407. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00407
- Nascimento IP, Dias WO, Quintilio W, Christ AP, Moraes JF, Vancetto MDC et al (2008) Neonatal immunization with a single dose of recombinant BCG expressing subunit S1 from pertussis toxin induces complete protection against Bordetella pertussis intracerebral challenge. Microbes Infect 10(2):198–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2007.10.010
- Nascimento IP, Dias WO, Quintilio W, Hsu T, Jacobs WR, Leite LCC (2009) Construction of an unmarked recombinant BCG expressing a pertussis antigen by auxotrophic complementa-

2 Live-Attenuated Bacterial Vectors for Delivery of Mucosal Vaccines, DNA Vaccines... 69

tion: protection against Bordetella pertussis challenge in neonates. Vaccine 27(52):7346–7351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.09.043

- Noriega FR, Losonsky G, Lauderbaugh C, Liao FM, Wang JY, Levine MM (1996) Engineered deltaguaB-A deltavirG Shigella flexneri 2a strain CVD 1205: construction, safety, immunogenicity, and potential efficacy as a mucosal vaccine. Infect Immun 64(8):3055–3061
- Orr N, Galen JE, Levine MM (2001) Novel use of anaerobically induced promoter, dmsA, for controlled expression of fragment C of tetanus toxin in live attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi strain CVD 908-htrA. Vaccine 19(13–14):1694–1700. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0264-410x(00)00400-x
- Pasetti MF, Anderson RJ, Noriega FR, Levine MM, Sztein MB (1999) Attenuated deltaguaBA Salmonella typhi vaccine strain CVD 915 as a live vector utilizing prokaryotic or eukaryotic expression systems to deliver foreign antigens and elicit immune responses. Clin Immunol (Orlando, Fla) 92(1):76–89. https://doi.org/10.1006/clim.1999.4733
- Pasetti MF, Pickett TE, Levine MM, Sztein MB (2000) A comparison of immunogenicity and in vivo distribution of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi and Typhimurium live vector vaccines delivered by mucosal routes in the murine model. Vaccine 18(28):3208–3213. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0264-410x(00)00142-0
- Pasetti MF, Salerno-Gonçalves R, Sztein MB (2002) Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi live vector vaccines delivered intranasally elicit regional and systemic specific CD8+ major histocompatibility class I-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Infect Immun 70(8):4009–4018. https://doi. org/10.1128/iai.70.8.4009-4018.2002
- Pasetti MF, Simon JK, Sztein MB, Levine MM (2011) Immunology of gut mucosal vaccines. Immunol Rev 239(1):125–148. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00970.x
- Pathangey L, Kohler JJ, Isoda R, Brown TA (2009) Effect of expression level on immune responses to recombinant oral Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium vaccines. Vaccine 27(20):2707– 2711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.02.072
- Pei Z, Jiang X, Yang Z, Ren X, Gong H, Reeves M et al (2015) Oral delivery of a novel attenuated salmonella vaccine expressing influenza a virus proteins protects mice against H5N1 and H1N1 viral infection. PLoS ONE 10(6):1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129276
- Peters C, Domann E, Darbouche A, Chakraborty T, Mielke MEA (2003) Tailoring host immune responses to *Listeria* by manipulation of virulence genes – the interface between innate and acquired immunity. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 35(3):243–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0928-8244(02)00469-8
- Pham OH, McSorley SJ (2015) Protective host immune responses to Salmonella infection. Future Microbiol 10(1):101–110. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.14.98
- Pilgrim S, Stritzker J, Schoen C, Kolb-Mäurer A, Geginat G, Loessner MJ et al (2003) Bactofection of mammalian cells by *Listeria* monocytogenes: improvement and mechanism of DNA delivery. Gene Ther 10(24):2036–2045. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302105
- Ramirez K, Capozzo AVE, Lloyd SA, Sztein MB, Nataro JP, Pasetti MF (2009) Mucosally delivered Salmonella typhi expressing the Yersinia pestis F1 antigen elicits mucosal and systemic immunity early in life and primes the neonatal immune system for a vigorous anamnestic response to parenteral F1 boost. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950) 182(2):1211–1222 182/2/1211 [pii]
- Ranallo RT, Fonseka CP, Cassels F, Srinivasan J, Venkatesan MM (2005) Construction and characterization of bivalent Shigella flexneri 2a vaccine strains SC608(pCFAI) and SC608(pCFAI/ LTB) that express antigens from enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. Infect Immun 73(1):258– 267. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.73.1.258-267.2005
- Raupach B, Kaufmann SHE (2001) Bacterial virulence, proinflammatory cytokines and host immunity: how to choose the appropriate Salmonella vaccine strain? Microbes Infect 3(14– 15):1261–1269. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1286-4579(01)01486-1
- Rayevskaya MV, Frankel FR (2001) Systemic immunity and mucosal immunity are induced against human immunodeficiency virus Gag protein in mice by a new hyperattenuated strain of *Listeria* monocytogenes. J Virol 75(6):2786–2791. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.75.6.2786-2791.2001

- Rayevskaya M, Kushnir N, Frankel FR (2002) Safety and immunogenicity in neonatal mice of a hyperattenuated *Listeria* vaccine directed against human immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 76(2):918–922. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.76.2.918-922.2002
- Rezende CAF, De Moraes MTB, Matos DCDS, McIntoch D, Armoa GRG (2005) Humoral response and genetic stability of recombinant BCG expressing hepatitis B surface antigens. J Virol Methods 125(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2004.11.026
- Roberts M, Chatfield S, Pickard D, Li J, Bacon A (2000) Comparison of abilities of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium aroA aroD and aroA htrA mutants to act as live vectors. Infect Immun 68(10):6041–6043. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.68.10.6041-6043.2000
- Roche JK, Rojo AL, Costa LB, Smeltz R, Manque P, Woehlbier U et al (2013) Intranasal vaccination in mice with an attenuated Salmonella enterica Serovar 908htr A expressing Cp15 of Cryptosporidium: impact of malnutrition with preservation of cytokine secretion. Vaccine 31(6):912–918. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.12.007
- Rojas RLG, Gomes PADP, Bentancor LV, Sbrogio-Almeida ME, Costa SOP, Massis LM et al (2010) Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium vaccine strains expressing a nontoxic shigalike toxin 2 derivative induce partial protective immunity to the toxin expressed by enterohemorrhagic escherichia coli. Clin Vaccine Immunol 17(4):529–536. https://doi.org/10.1128/ cvi.00495-09
- Ryan ET, Butterton JR, Smith RN, Carroll PA, Crean TI, Calderwood SB (1997) Protective immunity against Clostridium difficile toxin A induced by oral immunization with a live, attenuated Vibrio cholerae vector strain. Infect Immun 65(7):2941–2949
- Ryan ET, Cream TI, John M, Butterton JR, Clements JD, Calderwood SB (1999) In vivo expression and immunoadjuvancy of a mutant of heat-labile enterotoxin of Escherichia coli in vaccine and vector strains of Vibrio cholerae. Infect Immun 67(4):1694–1701
- Ryan ET, Crean TI, Kochi SK, John M, Luciano AA, Killeen KP et al (2000) Development of a ??glnA balanced lethal plasmid system for expression of heterologous antigens by attenuated vaccine vector strains of Vibrio cholerae. Infect Immun 68(1):221–226. https://doi.org/10.1128/ IAI.68.1.221-226.2000.Updated
- Saklani-Jusforgues H, Fontan E, Soussi N, Milon G, Goossens PL (2003) Enteral immunization with attenuated recombinant *Listeria* monocytogenes as a live vaccine vector: organ-dependent dynamics of CD4 T lymphocytes reactive to a Leishmania major tracer epitope. Infect Immun 71(3):1083–1090. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.71.3.1083-1090.2003
- Schoen C, Stritzker J, Goebel W, Pilgrim S (2004) Bacteria as DNA vaccine carriers for genetic immunization. Int J Med Microbiol 294(5):319–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijmm.2004.03.001
- Sciaranghella G, Lakhashe SK, Ayash-Rashkovsky M, Mirshahidi S, Siddappa NB, Novembre FJ et al (2011) A live attenuated *Listeria* monocytogenes vaccine vector expressing SIV Gag is safe and immunogenic in macaques and can be administered repeatedly. Vaccine 29(3):476– 486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.10.072
- Sevil Domènech VE, Panthel K, Winter SE, Rüssmann H (2008) Heterologous prime-boost immunizations with different Salmonella serovars for enhanced antigen-specific CD8 T-cell induction. Vaccine 26(15):1879–1886. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.01.044
- Shahabi V, Seavey MM, Maciag PC, Rivera S, Wallecha A (2011) Development of a live and highly attenuated *Listeria* monocytogenes-based vaccine for the treatment of Her2/neuoverexpressing cancers in human. Cancer Gene Ther 18(1):53–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cgt.2010.48
- Shi H, Santander J, Brenneman KE, Wanda SY, Wang S, Senechal P et al (2010) Live recombinant Salmonella typhi vaccines constructed to investigate the role of rpoS in eliciting immunity to a heterologous antigen. PLoS ONE 5(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011142
- Sibley L, Reljic R, Radford DS, Huang JM, Hong HA, Cranenburgh RM et al (2014) Recombinant Bacillus subtilis spores expressing MPT64 evaluated as a vaccine against tuberculosis in the murine model. FEMS Microbiol Lett 358(2):170–179. https://doi. org/10.1111/1574-6968.12525

- Sizemore DR, Warner EA, Lawrence JA, Thomas LJ, Roland KL, Killeen KP (2012) Construction and screening of attenuated ??phoP/Q Salmonella typhimurium vectored plague vaccine candidates. Hum Vaccin Immunother 8(3):371–383. https://doi.org/10.4161/hv.8.3.18670
- Soussi N, Saklani-Jusforgues H, Colle JH, Milon G, Glaichenhaus N, Goossens PL (2002) Effect of intragastric and intraperitoneal immunisation with attenuated and wild-type LACKexpressing *Listeria* monocytogenes on control of murine Leishmania major infection. Vaccine 20(21–22):2702–2712. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0264-410x(02)00198-6
- Spreng S, Gentschev I, Goebel W, Weidinger G, Ter Meulen V, Niewiesk S (2000) Salmonella vaccines secreting measles virus epitopes induce protective immune responses against measles virus encephalitis. Microbes Infect 2(14):1687–1692. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s1286-4579(00)01325-3
- Starks H, Bruhn KW, Shen H, Barry RA, Dubensky TW, Brockstedt D et al (2004) Listeria monocytogenes as a vaccine vector: virulence attenuation or existing antivector immunity does not diminish therapeutic efficacy. J Immunol 173(1):420–427. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.173.1.420
- Stasilojc M, Hinc K, Peszynska-Sularz G, Obuchowski M, Iwanicki A (2015) Recombinant Bacillus subtilis spores elicit Th1/Th17-polarized immune response in a Murine model of Helicobacter pylori vaccination. Mol Biotechnol 57(8):685–691. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12033-015-9859-0
- Stevens R, Howard KE, Nordone S, Burkhard M, Dean GA (2004) Oral immunization with recombinant *Listeria* monocytogenes controls virus load after vaginal challenge with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 78(15):8210–8218. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.78.15.8210-8218.2004
- Strain SL-v, Altboum Z, Levine MM, Galen JE, Barry EM (2003) Genetic characterization and immunogenicity of coli surface antigen 4 from enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli when it is expressed in a Shigella live-vector strain. Infect Immun 71(3):1352–1360. https://doi. org/10.1128/iai.71.3.1352
- Strugnell R, Dougan G, Chatfield S, Charles I, Fairweather N, Tite J et al (1992) Characterization of a Salmonella typhimurium aro vaccine strain expressing the P.69 antigen of Bordetella pertussis. Infect Immun 60(10):3994–4002
- Sun W, Olinzock J, Wang S, Sanapala S, Curtiss R (2014) Evaluation of YadC protein delivered by live attenuated Salmonella as a vaccine against plague. Pathog Dis 70(2):119–131. https://doi. org/10.1111/2049-632x.12076
- Szatraj K, Szczepankowska AK, Chmielewska-Jeznach M (2017) Lactic acid bacteria promising vaccine vectors: possibilities, limitations, doubts. J Appl Microbiol 123(2):325–339. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jam.13446
- Tacket C, Hone DM, Curtiss ROY, Kelly SM, Losonsky G, Guers L et al (1992) Comparison of the safety and immunogenicity of DaroC DaroD and & cya Acrp Salmonella typhi strains in adult volunteers. Infect Immun 3:536–541
- Tacket CO, Kelly SM, Schödel F, Losonsky G, Nataro JP, Edelman R et al (1997) Safety and immunogenicity in humans of an attenuated Salmonella typhi vaccine vector strain expressing plasmid-encoded hepatitis B antigens stabilized by the Asd-balanced lethal vector system. Infect Immun 65(8):3381–3385
- Tacket CO, Sztein MB, Wasserman SS, Losonsky G, Kotloff KL, Wyant TL et al (2000) Phase 2 clinical trial of attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi oral live vector vaccine CVD 908-htrAin U.S. volunteers. Infect Immun 68(3):1196–1201. https://doi.org/10.1128/ iai.68.3.1196-1201.2000
- Tobias J, Lebens M, Wai SN, Holmgren J, Svennerholm AM (2017) Surface expression of Helicobacter pylori HpaA adhesion antigen on Vibrio cholerae, enhanced by co-expressed enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli fimbrial antigens. Microb Pathog 105:177–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.02.021
- Torres-Escobar A, Juárez-Rodríguez MD, Gunn BM, Branger CG, Tinge SA, Curtiss R (2010) Fine-tuning synthesis of yersinia pestis lcrv from runaway-like replication balanced-lethal plasmid in a salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium vaccine induces protection against a

lethal y. pestis challenge in mice. Infect Immun 78(6):2529–2543. https://doi.org/10.1128/ iai.00005-10

- Tvinnereim AR, Hamilton SE, Harty JT (2002) CD8 + -T-cell response to secreted and nonsecreted antigens delivered by recombinant *Listeria* monocytogenes during secondary infection. Infect Immun 70(1):153–162. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.70.1.153
- Venkataswamy MM, Ng TW, Kharkwal SS, Carreño LJ, Johnson AJ, Kunnath-Velayudhan S et al (2014) Improving Mycobacterium bovis bacillus calmette-Guèrin as a vaccine delivery vector for viral antigens by incorporation of glycolipid activators of NKT cells. *PLoS ONE* 9(9):e108383. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108383
- Verch T, Pan Z-k, Paterson Y (2004) Listeria monocytogenes-based antibiotic resistance gene-free antigen delivery system applicable to other bacterial vectors and DNA vaccines. Infect Immun 72(11):6418–6425. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.72.11.6418
- Wallecha A, Maciag P, Rivera S, Paterson Y, Shahabi V (2009) Construction and characterization of an attenuated *Listeria* monocytogenes strain for clinical use in cancer immunotherapy. Clin Vaccine Immunol 16(1):96–103. https://doi.org/10.1128/cvi.00274-08
- Wang JY, Pasetti MF, Noriega FR, Anderson RJ, Wasserman SS, James E et al (2001) Construction, genotypic and phenotypic characterization, and immunogenicity of attenuated Δ guaBA Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhi S. Infect Immun 69(8):4734–4741. https://doi.org/10.1128/ iai.69.8.4734
- Wang Ql, Pan Q, Ma Y, Wang K, Sun P, Liu S et al (2009) An attenuated Salmonella-vectored vaccine elicits protective immunity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Vaccine 27(48):6712– 6722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.08.096
- Wang S, Li Y, Scarpellini G, Kong W, Shi HY, Baek CH et al (2010) Salmonella vaccine vectors displaying delayed antigen synthesis in vivo to enhance immunogenicity. Infect Immun 78(9):3969–3980. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.00444-10
- Wang S, Li Y, Shi H, Sun W, Roland KL, Curtiss R (2011) Comparison of a regulated delayed antigen synthesis system with in vivo-inducible promoters for antigen delivery by live attenuated Salmonella vaccines. Infect Immun 79(2):937–949. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.00445-10
- Wang S, Kong Q, Curtiss R (2013) New technologies in developing recombinant attenuated Salmonella vaccine vectors. Microb Pathog 58:17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. micpath.2012.10.006
- Wyszyńska A, Raczko A, Lis M, Jagusztyn-Krynicka EK (2004) Oral immunization of chickens with avirulent Salmonella vaccine strain carrying C. jejuni 72Dz/92 cjaA gene elicits specific humoral immune response associated with protection against challenge with wild-type Campylobacter. Vaccine 22(11–12):1379–1389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2003.11.001
- Xin W, Li Y, Mo H, Roland KL, Curtiss R (2009) PspA family fusion proteins delivered by attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium extend and enhance protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 77(10):4518–4528. https://doi.org/10.1128/ iai.00486-09
- Xiong X, Jiao J, Gregory AE, Wang P, Bi Y, Wang X et al (2017) Identification of Coxiella burnetii CD8 + T-cell epitopes and delivery by attenuated *Listeria* monocytogenes as a vaccine vector in a C57BL/6 mouse model. J Infect Dis 215(10):1580–1589. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/ jiw470
- Xu C, Li ZS, Du YD, Tu ZX, Gong YF, Jin J et al (2005) Construction of a recombinant attenuated Salmonella typhimurium DNA vaccine carrying Helicobacter pylori hpaA. World J Gastroenterol 11(1):114–117
- Yang Y, Zhang Z, Yang J, Chen X, Cui S, Zhu X (2010) Oral vaccination with Ts87 DNA vaccine delivered by attenuated Salmonella typhimurium elicits a protective immune response against Trichinella spiralis larval challenge. Vaccine 28(15):2735–2742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2010.01.026
- Yang X-q, Zhao Y-g, Chen X-q, Jiang B, Sun D-y (2013) The protective effect of recombinant Lactococcus lactis oral vaccine on a Clostridium difficile-infected animal model. BMC Gastroenterol 13(1):117–117. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-230x-13-117

- Yu J, Chen T, Xie Z, Liang P, Qu H, Shang M et al (2015) Oral delivery of Bacillus subtilis spore expressing enolase of Clonorchis sinensis in rat model: induce systemic and local mucosal immune responses and has no side effect on liver function. Parasitol Res 114(7):2499–2505. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-015-4449-4
- Zamri HF, Shamsudin MN, Rahim RA, Neela V (2012) Oral vaccination with Lactococcus lactis expressing the Vibrio cholerae Wzm protein to enhance mucosal and systemic immunity. Vaccine 30(21):3231–3238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.02.012
- Zenewicz LA, Shen H (2007) Innate and adaptive immune responses to *Listeria* monocytogenes: a short overview. Microbes Infect 9(10):1208–1215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. micinf.2007.05.008
- Zhang Q, Ma Q, Li Q, Yao W, Wang C (2011) Enhanced protection against nasopharyngeal carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae elicited by oral multiantigen DNA vaccines delivered in attenuated Salmonella typhimurium. Mol Biol Rep 38(2):1209–1217. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11033-010-0219-7
- Zhang D, Huang X, Zhang X, Cao S, Wen X, Wen Y et al (2016a) Construction of an oral vaccine for transmissible gastroenteritis virus based on the TGEV N gene expressed in an attenuated Salmonella typhimurium vector. J Virol Methods 227:6–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jviromet.2015.08.011
- Zhang R, Duan G, Shi Q, Chen S, Fan Q, Sun N et al (2016b) Construction of a recombinant Lactococcus lactis strain expressing a fusion protein of Omp22 and HpaA from Helicobacter pylori for oral vaccine development. Biotechnol Lett 38(11):1911–1916. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10529-016-2173-5
- Zheng JP, Zhang ZS, Li SQ, Liu XX, Yuan SL, Wang P et al (2005) Construction of a novel Shigella live-vector strain co-expressing CS3 and LTB/STm of enterotoxigenic E.coli. World J Gastroenterol 11(22):3411–3418
- Zheng Y-q, Naguib YW, Dong Y, Shi Y-c, Bou S, Cui Z (2015) Applications of bacillus Calmette-Guerin and recombinant bacillus Calmette-Guerin in vaccine development and tumor immunotherapy. Expert Rev Vaccines 14(9):1255–1275. https://doi.org/10.1586/14760584.2015.10 68124
- Zhou Z, Gong S, Yang Y, Guan R, Zhou S, Yao S et al (2015) Expression of Helicobacter pylori urease B on the surface of Bacillus subtilis spores. J Med Microbiol 64(1):104–110. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.076430-0
- Zhu C, Ruiz-Perez F, Yang Z, Mao Y, Hackethal VL, Greco KM et al (2006) Delivery of heterologous protein antigens via hemolysin or autotransporter systems by an attenuated ler mutant of rabbit enteropathogenic Escherichia coli. Vaccine 24(18):3821–3831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2005.07.024

Chapter 3 Poly-lactide/Poly-lactide-co-glycolide-Based Delivery System for Bioactive Compounds Against Microbes



Robin Kumar, Divya Jha, and Amulya K. Panda

Contents

3.1	Introduction	76			
3.2	Preparation of Poly-lactide/Poly-lactide-co-glycolide Particles				
3.3	Different Facets of an Interaction of the Polymeric Particles with the Cells				
3.4	Poly-lactide/Poly-lactide-co-glycolide Particulate Delivery System				
	of Bioactive Therapeutics				
	3.4.1 Nanoparticle-Based Delivery System	86			
	3.4.2 Microparticle Delivery System.	90			
	3.4.3 Nanoparticle/Microparticle Delivery System	91			
	3.4.4 Biodegradable Polymeric Scaffold	92			
3.5	Conclusion.	92			
Refe	erences	93			

Abstract Infectious diseases caused by pathogenic microorganisms are one of the leading causes of mortality worldwide. For many of these diseases, prophylactic and therapeutic treatments are available in the form of vaccines and drugs. Novel discoveries in the pathophysiology and immunology of these diseases have led to the identification of contributing factors to the progress of these diseases. Our immune system puts forth a strong defense against these infections, but the microbes develop strategies to evade the immune system and survive inside the host. There is an ongoing hunt to look for potent therapeutic agents against these harmful bugs. These therapeutic drugs also need to be delivered effectively for long-lasting protection. This has led to the enhanced emphasis on the type of a suitable delivery system that can carry these agents inside the human body in its bioactive form. Hence, to achieve newer ways to deal with infection, we need better delivery systems as powerful tools for infection control and treatment.

D. Arora et al. (eds.), *Pharmaceuticals from Microbes*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 26, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8_3

Authors Robin Kumar and Divya Jha have equally contributed to this chapter.

R. Kumar · D. Jha · A. K. Panda (🖂)

Product Development Cell-II, National Institute of Immunology, New Delhi, India e-mail: amulya@nii.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Biodegradable and biocompatible polymeric particles such as poly(lactic acid) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) have emerged as one of the efficient delivery systems for many life-saving drugs. These polymers offer several advantages such as targeted delivery, sustained release, and maintenance of bioactivity; it also leads to dose sparing by reducing the exposure of bioactive molecules in the circulation. The polymeric particles are being extensively studied in several applications as delivery systems due to their ability to exhibit a broad range of desirable properties. The present review focuses on the polymer-based particulate delivery system as a plausible solution to circumvent the shortcomings of conventional therapeutic and prophylactic systems, and it discusses some of the methods for their preparation as well as mechanisms of action against infection. Here we also review the cellular interaction of nanoparticles because this interaction influences the effectiveness of the particles. The present review aims at different preparation methods of poly-lactide/ poly-lactide-co-glycolide-based particles, their properties as carriers of bioactive molecules, and applications of polymeric particle-based bioactive delivery systems against microbes with an emphasis on recent findings. This review sheds light on the latest applications of particle-based delivery systems attempting to provide an updated study about the field.

3.1 Introduction

Poly(lactic acid) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) are Food and Drug Administrationapproved biodegradable and biocompatible polymers used for various applications in human healthcare (Peres et al. 2017). The development of poly-lactide/polylactide-co-glycolide formulations as potential antigen/drug carriers emerges from the fact that these polymeric particles can be tuned in multiple ways to deliver the cargo selectively to specific sites and at controlled rates (Fig. 3.1). The mechanical properties of these polymers can be modified to develop efficient delivery system for different biomedical applications (Anderson and Shive 2012; Danhier et al. 2012), and enormous amounts of literature support that the poly-lactide/polylactide-co-glycolide polymers have extensive applications for entrapping bioactive molecules such as antigens, drugs, antibiotics, etc. (Mitragotri et al. 2014). Polymers of different molecular weights can be used to fabricate nano- or microparticles, and these particles show good stability upon storage and when administered in vivo. Since the release profiles of particles can be easily modulated, long-circulating polymeric particles are synthesized which are capable of releasing the drug at the site of action and possess desirable release kinetics. Particle properties can also be tailored accordingly by controlling the degradation rates or size, porosity, etc. (James et al. 2016).

Particle properties play a very important role in governing their interaction with the cells. Bulk and surface properties of these particles can also be changed to achieve desirable characteristics. Bulk properties are primarily changed by using



Polylactic-co-glycolic acid

Fig. 3.1 Chemical structure of polylactic acid and polylactic-co-glycolic acid along with an indication of polymeric particle formulation to deliver a different kind of bioactive molecules. The chemical structure of these particles allows the flexibility of tailoring the functional groups on the surface, which subsequently brings about changes in the particle property. This can facilitate modulation of the particle properties for specific end application of these particles

poly-lactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide with other polymers. Surface properties can be modulated by changing the surface coating of polymer particles. This approach can be used to attain targeted delivery of these particles at specific sites. Entrapment efficiency, drug/antigen load, and release profiles of these particles can be easily modified as per the requirements. Modifications such as pegylation of these polymeric particles can add to the stability of the entrapped bioactive molecule. Properties such as size and shape of particles can be altered to attain optimum pharmacokinetic and biodegradable profiles. The large surface to volume ratio of these particles provides more reaction sites to interact with the surrounding environment (Coelho et al. 2010). Owing to their safety profiles, biocompatibility, biodegradability, and the ease with which the particle properties can be changed for a particular application, these polymers are gaining attention for a plethora of applications (Murariu and Dubois 2016).

The huge burden of infectious agents on human population and the high demand of therapeutic molecules against these diseases need an effective solution. Biocompatible polymeric particle entrapping bioactive molecules such as proteins, peptides, and antibiotics are capable of releasing these molecules over a desired period of time, thereby decreasing the frequency of their administration (Pagels and Prud'homme 2015). Protection of bioactive molecules from degradation and enhancing the bioavailability of these molecules for a long time are additional advantages for considering it as a delivery system. Having these properties, polylactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide particles also provide a great platform to be explored as adjuvants for development of new vaccines that can enhance the immune response of specific antigens against various diseases without compromising their safety (Gutjahr et al. 2016). This review reports different techniques to make polymer-based particle formulation, the cellular interaction of these formulations, and recent advancement in their application for delivering bioactive molecules against microbes.

3.2 Preparation of Poly-lactide/Poly-lactide-co-glycolide Particles

Different methods are employed to synthesize nanoparticles and microparticles from polymers such as poly(lactic acid) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid). Double emulsion solvent evaporation is a commonly used method to encapsulate bioactive molecules into particles. The aqueous phase containing the water-soluble compound is added to the polymer-containing organic phase to create primary w/o emulsion. This emulsion is then added to the aqueous phase containing stabilizers to create a w/o/w double emulsion. Solvent evaporation then yields particles. Antibiotics like ciprofloxacin and other novel antimicrobial peptides have been entrapped into poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles using this method to check biofilm development (Cruz et al. 2017; Thomas et al. 2016). It was reported that entrapping the bioactive molecules into polymeric particles allowed local and sustained concentrations of these molecules, thus enhancing their activity at the site. Other bioactive molecules such as lysozyme have been successfully entrapped into poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles using this method (Dinarvand et al. 2011). Double emulsion solvent evaporation method allows tailoring the particle properties in endless ways, exploiting the different variables influencing the process.

Nanoprecipitation (also known as solvent displacement method) is a simple onestep process for the preparation of poly-lactide-based nanoparticles and requires two miscible solvents. An important prerequisite is that both the polymer and the bioactive molecule must be soluble in one (same) solvent but should not be soluble in the second one. When the polymer-drug containing solvent diffuses into the second solvent which is present in an excess amount, sudden desolvation of the polymer allows entrapment of bioactive molecule inside the polymeric particles. If the process parameters are kept constant, consistent batches of particles can be produced using nanoprecipitation (Sahin et al. 2017). Using this method, anticancer drugs have been successfully entrapped using nanoprecipitation with high drug load (El-Hammadi et al. 2017; Pandey et al. 2016). Tamoxifen was entrapped into polylactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles using nanoprecipitation, and an entrapment efficiency as high as 71% was observed.

Other methods like spray drying, microfluidic technique, and template-/moldbased method are now being used for more uniform particles and large-scale production. Spray drying is a single-step process of transforming a liquid feed into a dry form by passing the liquid through a medium (inert gas such as nitrogen) (Wan and Yang 2016). It is a useful, scalable particle formulation method, where an organic phase containing drug dissolved or dispersed in a polymer is sprayed as ultrafine droplets in dry air flow. Microspheres entrapping antimicrobial drugs such as cefquinome sulfate can be synthesized using spray drying and has been shown to be targeted to the lungs where they showed a sustained release of the drug in vivo (Qu et al. 2017). The drug against tuberculosis such as rifapentine has been successfully entrapped into poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles and used for inhaled therapy (Parumasivam et al. 2016). Microfluidics-based devices are used to produce uniform particles with precisely controlled release profiles. Polymers are dissolved in organic solvents and single/double emulsions are made in microfluidic devices, by droplet solidification through solvent evaporation (Ekanem et al. 2017b). Microfluidic devices can entrap multiple components in a one-step emulsification process and can also generate core-shell structures. Bipolymer microparticles have also been synthesized using microfluidic emulsification and solvent evaporation using poly(lactic acid) and polycaprolactone (Ekanem et al. 2017a). Surface properties of poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticles can be changed in a desired way using the flow-focusing microfluidic method. These surface properties have been shown to influence the entrapment efficiency and release kinetics from these particles (Hussain et al. 2017). Microparticles using poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) and amphiphilic poly(styrene-alt-maleic anhydride) were made by the capillary-focused microfluidic technique that entrapped anticancer drug doxorubicin. The particles were found to be pH sensitive releasing the drug in a sustained manner. Using template-based methods, gels can be made that can change their sol-gel phase upon receiving their specific cue such as temperature. The warm gel solution is put in the hard cast. Once the mold solidifies, it is extracted from the mold and the solvent is evaporated (Basu et al. 2016; M Saffer et al. 2011). The advantages associated are reproducibility in the batches, monodispersed particle formation with high drug load. Another variant of the template-based method is molecular imprinting which imparts a "memory" to the polymer. This is an emerging technology and has to be exploited to yield maximal use of the approach (Gagliardi et al. 2017).

Several parameters can influence these processes of particle making such as the amount of compound to be entrapped, initial polymer concentration, type of solvent, surfactant concentration, the ratio of aqueous phase to organic phase, stirring rate, and other variables. The parameters that affect the particle formation also include the injection rate of the organic phase into the anti-solvent, the compound/ polymer ratio, solvent evaporation rate, and the solubility of the compound. The choices of a combination of the drug/polymer and solvent/non-solvent system are yet other important parameters.

3.3 Different Facets of an Interaction of the Polymeric Particles with the Cells

The cells can internalize polymeric particles of subcellular size range and the interaction between particles and cells are influenced by particle properties. The cells can take up these particles by endocytosis, which is a broad term that encompasses several energy-dependent mechanisms such as phagocytosis, pinocytosis, macropinocytosis, and receptor-mediated endocytosis (Zhao et al. 2011) (Fig. 3.2). Exocytosis extrudes a major proportion of the internalized particles out. A very small fraction of the remaining internalized fraction escapes the endosomal compartment and provides the therapeutic benefits owing to particle retention in the



Fig. 3.2 Different mode of cellular uptake of polymeric nano- and microparticles. The cells, in multiple ways, can take up polymeric nanoparticles such as phagocytosis, pinocytosis, micopinocytosis, and receptor-mediated endocytosis. Particle properties play a major role in governing the mode of uptake of these particles into the cells. Physical properties such as size and shape and chemical modifications on the surface affecting the surface charge or hydrophobicity of these particles have a huge impact in mediating the interaction of these particles with the cells

cytosol (Panyam and Labhasetwar 2003; Panyam et al. 2002). Hence, for the maximal efficacy of a drug delivery particulate system, the mode of uptake of these particles becomes an important concern (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009).

To enhance the internalization of poly-lactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles inside the cells, different factors are taken into account such as size, shape, charge, and ligands (Saraiva et al. 2016) (Fig. 3.3). Particle properties such as size and shape influence their cellular uptake (Roointan et al. 2018; Zhao et al. 2011). The particle size of around 500 nm is found to be optimal for efficient phagocytosis of these particles (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009). It is also reported that charged particles either positive or negative have better internalization into the cells than the neutrally charged polymeric particles (Fröhlich 2012; Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009). It is also observed that the mode of entry of poly-lactide particles inside the cells may vary depending on their surface being cationic or anionic (Fröhlich 2012).



Fig. 3.3 Factors influencing the polymeric particle-mediated bioactive delivery: Different-sized particle can be formulated for efficient delivery of bioactive molecules. Shape (spherical, cubic, and rodlike) and charge (negative, zwitterionic, and positive) can be varied to enhance entrapment and cellular interaction; poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) and poly(lactic acid) particles are negatively charged. Surface functionalization of a particle is another important parameter that can influence the bioactive delivery; ligands such as poly(ethylene glycol) improve particle presence in circulation, amphiphilic peptide increases hydrophobicity, and receptors/antibodies help in targeted delivery. (Adapted from Saraiva et al. 2016)

Poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles also find their use in treating inner ear drug delivery. Modulating the sizes of these particles and their surface modification using polyethylene glycol/chitosan have shown to enhance drug delivery to the inner ear (Cai et al. 2017). Drugs against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections such as vancomycin generally possess low bioavailability. To enhance the availability, the drug is entrapped into pegylated poly-lactide-co-glycolide particles, which have better results when compared to the soluble drug only (Pei et al. 2017).

Surface modification of the particles has also a great impact in affecting biodistribution, cellular uptake, and endosomal escape of these particles (Vasir and Labhasetwar 2007). Surface functionalization of particles can be used to target dual cellular populations (Roointan et al. 2018). The surface charge of the pegylated poly-lactide nanoparticles is seen to also affect the oral bioavailability of particles after their administration (Du et al. 2018). Pegylation of the nanoparticles is a commonly used approach to confer hydrophobicity on the particles and hence enhance

the interaction with the cells (Aldrian et al. 2017; Suk et al. 2016). Surface decoration of the ligands to specific markers or receptors on the surface of the cells can improve the particle uptake by the cells. One of the approaches to enhance the internalization involves the surface modification of these particles by cell-penetrating peptides which are hydrophobic and cationic (Steinbach et al. 2016). Peptides being smaller in size, having lower immunogenicity, and with ease of synthesis serve as good targeting molecules for improving the bioavailability of poorly adsorbed drugs (Gourdon et al. 2017). Sun et al. 2017 reported designing of abalone peptide functionalized poly-lactide nanoparticles entrapping doxorubicin and showed that both tumor cells and vascular endothelial cells took up these particles more efficiently. This may be a very promising approach for the development of anticancer drug delivery systems. Koutsiouki et al. 2017 reported the use of cysteine-modified TAT peptide (HCys-Tyr-Gly-Arg-Lys-Lys-Arg-Arg-Gln-Arg-Arg-Arg-NH2) when conjugated on the surface of poly(lactide)-poly(ethylene glycol) nanocapsules as anticancer drug delivery system for paclitaxel. This surface modification led to an increased cellular uptake and subsequent better anticancer response by these particles into the cells. Polymeric nanoparticles are being currently exploited as regimen against neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's. Bhatt et al. 2017 encapsulated enzyme nattokinase into poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles and conjugated these particles with Tet-1 peptide of 12 amino acids (HLNILSTLWKYR) to increase its affinity toward the neurons. Huang et al. 2017 showed that poly-lactide-coglycolide particles, when conjugated to a brain-targeting peptide such as a cyclic CRTIGPSVC peptide (CRT), penetrated blood-brain barrier easily in Alzheimer's disease mice models.

Stabilizers used during the particle synthesis may be used to target ligand coupling on the particle surface, which ultimately influences the internalization of these particles into the cells. Raudszus et al. 2018 reported the use of a stabilizer vinyl sulfone-modified poly(vinyl alcohol) derivative to prepare poly-lactide nanoparticles which showed different uptake behavior in cerebral endothelial cells owing to different functional groups present on the surface of these particles. Thus specific stabilizers may be used for specific targeting applications.

In case of many diseases, direct antigen delivery is not practically useful because of the limitations such as low immunogenicity, low stability, as well as the lesser half-life of these antigens in vivo. Polymeric particles offer solutions to these limitations and are emerging as promising delivery systems in immunotherapy (Tran et al. 2018). Using polymeric particles not only allow slow and sustained release of antigens after their administration but also allow targeted delivery of these particles, incorporation of multiple components in a single assembly, enhancing uptake, as well as modulating the immune response (Silva et al. 2016). It is observed that antigen entrapped into poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles, when immunized into the animals, could elicit the higher antigen-specific immune response than the particles that had antigens adsorbed upon the particles (Liu et al. 2016b). Surface charge is an important parameter that governs the interaction of these particles with the cells. Poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles that contained antigen and were coated with polyethyleneimine were readily taken up by the antigen-presenting cells primarily through phagocytosis and macropinocytosis. These particles could facilitate cross-presentation of the antigen through endosomal escape. This approach could be adopted for designing immunotherapeutic vaccines (Song et al. 2016). Similarly, another study reported that hyaluronic acid-modified cationic lipid dioleoyltrimethylammoniumpropane poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles were able to process exogenous antigens via both major histocompatibility complex (MHC-I and MHC-II) antigen presentation pathways (Liu et al. 2016a). Polylactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles can encapsulate multiple leishmanial antigenic peptides that can undergo cross-presentation by MHC-I molecules via endosomal escape (Athanasiou et al. 2017). Several strategies are developed against the pathogens which invade through the mucosal lining of the host requiring surface modification such as the coating of poly-lactide-co-glycolide particles with appropriate agents for targeted delivery to M-cells (Allahyari and Mohit 2016). Meng et al. (2018) developed Huperzine A-entrapped poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles and coated it with lactoferrin (Lf)-conjugated N-trimethylated chitosan to make it a targeted nasal drug delivery system against Alzheimer's disease. The modified drug delivery carrier showed lower toxicity and higher uptake behavior when compared to unmodified particles.

Poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles are also being used to deliver antifungal compounds against mycosis. Amphotericin B that is commonly used to treat paracoccidioidomycosis has serious side effects. Entrapment of single-chain variable fragments into nanoparticles was shown to confer protection against experimental paracoccidioidomycosis (Jannuzzi et al. 2017). Opportunistic pathogens such as Pseudomonas aeruginosa are responsible for commonly occurring secondary infections by forming biofilms. Poly-lactide-co-glycolide-entrapped amikacin have shown effective clearance of the biofilms (Sabaeifard et al. 2017). Pegylated and mannosylated poly-lactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles were synthesized using nanoprecipitation, entrapping an anti-infective surfactant protein, SP-A. The study reported a potential drug delivery system to enhance the availability of the drug in the lungs (Ruge et al. 2016). Poly-lactide-co-glycolide particles that could withstand acid hydrolysis were synthesized encapsulating CCF, which was a construct comprising a dual-antigen epitope and dual-adjuvant vaccine, to confer protection against Helicobacter pylori infections (Tan et al. 2017). Using polymeric particles offer the ease of tailoring the particle properties to meet specific end-use application.

3.4 Poly-lactide/Poly-lactide-co-glycolide Particulate Delivery System of Bioactive Therapeutics

Among the polymeric delivery system, biodegradable and biocompatible polylactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide-based particulate system has been extensively investigated for therapeutic bioactive molecules. Biodegradable polymeric particulate system can be used as a delivery system and has an ability to entrap and present different bioactive molecules of interest on their surface. However polymeric particles have many challenges to overcome such as low entrapment efficiency, low loading capacity, and product sterility for animal use. The recent development of a novel or improved method for bioactive molecule-loaded polymeric particle formulation will lead to the successful application of polymeric particle-based delivery system. The size of polymeric particles can modulate the immune response against antigen delivered through particles (Oyewumi et al. 2010; Shah et al. 2014). Depending on required immune response or effective drug treatment against the specific infectious agent, different-sized particles can be formulated to deliver therapeutic molecules (Fig. 3.3). Several new poly-lactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide-based delivery systems have now been developed (Fig. 3.4) and showed great promise for various kinds of bioactive molecules alone and in combination to overcome the global problem of infectious diseases (Table 3.1).



Fig. 3.4 Schematic illustration of various approaches for poly-lactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide particle-based delivery system: (a) nanoparticle-based delivery system; (b) microparticle-based delivery system; (c) nanoparticle and microparticle-based delivery system; and (d) particle-based scaffold delivery system. Nanoparticle and microparticle-based methods are used for years but have seen recent advancements in their applications owing to our greater understanding of these methods. Also, newer methods have come up that take care of the limitations associated with the older methods, allowing a larger range of use of these particles. PLA/PLGA, poly-lactide/ poly-lactide-co-glycolide

Bioactive				
delivery Key		Dissective malesules	Related microorganism/	Deferences
System	Components	GIDIN DECON	disease	References
Nanoparticle	PLA and PLGA	peptide	Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli O157:H7, and methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus	(2017)
	PLGA	Ciprofloxacin	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Türeli et al. (2017)
	PLGA	Vancomycin	Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus	Pei et al. (2017)
	PEG-PLGA			
	Eudragit E100			
	ZWC			
	HP55/PLGA	CCF	Helicobacter pylori	Tan et al. (2017)
	PLGA/PEI	H1N1 DNA vaccine	H1N1 virus	Seok et al. (2017)
	PLGA-PLL/ γPGA	Ebola DNA vaccine	Ebola virus	Yang et al. (2017)
	PLGA	CNA19	Staphylococcus aureus	Genta et al. (2016)
	PLGA	HA, NP, PA, and M2e-PP peptide	H1N1 virus	Hiremath et al. (2016)
	PLGA	KAg	Swine influenza virus	Dhakal et al. (2017)
	PLGA	LCP-1	Group A streptococcus	Marasini et al. (2016)
	PLGA	rROP18	Toxoplasma gondii	Nabi et al. (2017)
	PLGA	Dengue virus E-protein	Dengue virus	Metz et al. (2016)
	PLGA	TLR7 agonist and DTaP vaccine	Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis	Bruno et al. (2016)
	PLGA	sLiAg, MPLA, TNFα mimicking peptide	Leishmaniasis	Margaroni et al. (2016)
	PLGA	CPA160–189, MPLA	Leishmania infantum	Agallou et al. (2017)
	PLGA	Envelope gp140, Gag p55 protein, and TLR4 and TLR7/8 agonists	Simian immunodeficiency virus	Kasturi et al. (2017)
	PLA	FNIII9/10 protein and p24	Human immunodeficiency virus	Dalzon et al. (2016)

 Table 3.1
 Poly-lactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide-based delivery system against various infectious agents

(continued)

Bioactive				
delivery	Key		Related microorganism/	
system components		Bioactive molecules	disease	References
Microparticle	PLGA	Outer membrane proteins (porins)	Salmonella Typhi	Carreño et al. (2016)
	PLGA	HCV-E2	Hepatitis C virus	Roopngam et al. (2016)
	PLGA	rSAG1 and rGRA2	Toxoplasma gondii	Allahyari et al. (2016)
	PLGA	rCDPK6 and rROP18	Toxoplasma gondii	Zhang et al. (2016)
	PLGA	Inactivated polio vaccine	Polio virus	Tzeng et al. (2016)
	PLGA	rOMVs	Influenza A virus	Watkins et al. (2017)
	PLGA	NH36 and 3M-052	Leishmania donovani	Wang et al. (2017)
Nanoparticle/ microparticle	PLGA	Pertussis toxoid	Pertussis	Li et al. (2016)
Scaffold	PLA and PLGA	Gentamicin, neomycin	Staphylococcus aureus	Admane et al. (2017)

 Table 3.1 (continued)

Table abbreviations: PLA, poly(lactic acid); PLGA, poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid); PEG, polyethylene glycol; ZWC, zwitterionic chitosan; HP55, hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose phthalate; CCF, a construct comprising a dual-antigen epitope and dual-adjuvant vaccine; PEI, polyethylenimine; H1N1, an influenza A virus; DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; PLL/ γ PGA, poly-l-lysine/poly- γ glutamic acid; CNA19, a purified recombinant collagen-binding bacterial adhesion fragment; HA, NP, PA, and M2e-PP peptide, conserved peptides of influenza A virus; KAg, inactivated swine influenza virus H1N1 antigens; LCP-1, lipid core peptide; rROP18, recombinant rhoptry protein 18; DTaP, diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis; sLiAg, soluble leishmania antigens; TNF α , tumor necrosis factor alpha; CPA160–189, cysteine protease A; MPLA, monophosphoryl lipid A; FNIII9/10, human fibronectin recombinant proteins; p24, an HIV antigen; HCV-E2, E2 envelope glycoprotein of hepatitis C virus; rSAG1 and rGRA2, recombinant surface antigen 1 and recombinant dense granular protein; rCDPK6, recombinant calcium-dependent protein kinase 6; rOMVs, recombinant outer membrane vesicles; NH36, *Leishmania donovani* nucleoside hydrolase antigen; 3M-052, a toll-like receptor 7/8 agonist

3.4.1 Nanoparticle-Based Delivery System

In recent times, biocompatible polymeric nanocarriers have been widely explored as a delivery system for bioactive molecules such as an antigen, nucleic acid, and antibiotics. These nanocarriers help them to sustain for longer duration in the host system and avoid getting degraded rapidly. Considering this, poly-lactide and poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles entrapping GIBIM-P5S9K peptide were formulated using double emulsion method (Cruz et al. 2017). GIBIM-P5S9K peptide, a new antimicrobial molecule, inhibited the growth of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Escherichia coli O157:H7*, and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* at very low peptide concentration when it was delivered using nanoparticle. It enhanced the

antimicrobial activity by 20-fold compared to the soluble peptide. In vivo study also suggested that these particles are hemocompatible. In another study, Türeli et al. (2017) showed that cystic fibrosis lung infected with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* can also be treated using antibiotic-loaded poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles. Ciprofloxacin-loaded nanoparticles were able to penetrate the barrier of biofilm/ mucus and showed enhanced antimicrobial activity compared to ciprofloxacin complex. These nanocarriers were nontoxic to human epithelial cell lines at a minimum inhibitory concentration of antibiotic required against bacteria. It could be a new strategy to treat *P. aeruginosa* infections in cystic fibrosis lung.

For making an effective delivery vehicle, Pei et al. (2017) formulated a nanoparticle delivery system using a blend of polymers with distinct features for vancomycin against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection. Vancomycin is ineffective against this intracellular pathogen due to poor cellular uptake. Considering this limitation, four polymers were used for nanoformulation: polylactide-co-glycolide as a main delivery system, polyethylene glycol-poly-lactideco-glycolide conjugate for maintaining vancomycin polarity, Eudragit E100 for enhancing entrapment, and a chitosan derivative for pH-sensitive drug release. Result showed that this nanoparticle was effective against intracellular pathogens than free vancomycin and could be more promising for treatment. Tan et al. (2017) have shown the role of hypromellose phthalate HP55/poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticle as an oral delivery system for H. pylori recombinant antigen CCF, a combination of a multi-epitope vaccine CTB-UE and a chimeric flagellum that protects antigen from the gastrointestinal environment. Also immunized mice with these nanoparticles induced urease-specific antibody and T cell-mediated response. Moreover immunized mice were protected after H. pylori challenge. These results indicated that use of these nanoparticles as antigen delivery system for gastrointestinal infection could be a promising strategy. In the recent study, Seok et al. (2017) designed an influenza A (H1N1) vaccine delivery system using polyplexes of polylactide-co-glycolide/polyethyleneimine nanoparticles coated on microneedle. This system was optimized for high transfection efficiency in mammalian cells. Intradermally immunized mice induced enhanced humoral immune response than an intramuscular delivery of polyplex containing H1N1 deoxyribonucleic acid using microneedles. However, immunogenicity against H1N1 protein was still weak; therefore such systems need to be improved for a desired immune response against influenza virus. A deoxyribonucleic acid vaccine coated on the surface of polylactic-co-glycolic acid-poly-L-lysine/poly-y-glutamic acid nanoparticles was formulated for Ebola vaccination using microneedle patch (Yang et al. 2017). Nanoparticles were administered in mice through intramuscular or with microneedle patch to the skin. Although antibody titer value was not significantly different for both routes, neutralizing activity of antibody against Ebola virus was higher after microneedle immunization. That concluded the use of polylactic-co-glycolic acid-poly-L-lysine/poly-y-glutamic acid nanoparticles may be needed for development of a robust and immunogenic microneedle patch for Ebola vaccine.

Food and Drug Administration-approved biodegradable and biocompatible poly-lactide and poly-lactide-co-glycolide polymers have gained huge attention for

vaccine development due to its ability to modulate immune response specific to the antigen. Genta et al. (2016) have shown the adjuvant property of poly-lactide-coglycolide-based nanoparticle for a purified collagen-binding fragment (CNA19 peptide) from *Staphylococcus aureus*. In vivo study in mice showed that polymeric nanoparticle has more potential as an adjuvant with respect to alum for subcutaneous route of CNA19 immunization. Furthermore study proved that compared to intranasal route, subcutaneous immunization will be the preferential route for developing CNA19-loaded nanoparticle vaccine. In another study, Hiremath et al. (2016) have developed poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticle delivery system for influenza virus-conserved peptides. Influenza virus-conserved peptides are potentially able to elicit the cross-protective immune response but are poorly immunogenic. Pigs immunized with nanoparticle-entrapped peptides induced T cell-specific response, not enhanced antibody response. Challenge with virulent influenza virus showed no fever and flu symptoms in nanoparticle-loaded peptides-immunized pig. In summary, polymeric nanocarrier could be effective to develop a vaccine with high T immune response. In a similar way, Dhakal et al. (2017) formulated a polylactide-co-glycolide nanoparticle-entrapped inactivated swine influenza virus H1N1 antigens formulation against influenza flu. Pigs immunized with antigenloaded nanoparticle induced strong antigen-specific T cell response and had no flu symptoms after challenge with heterologous swine influenza virus. In summary, inactivated influenza virus-loaded nanoparticle can be a solution for making influenza virus vaccine. Recently, Marasini et al. (2016) also designed a poly-lactide-coglycolide nanoparticle-loaded lipopeptide vaccine to prevent group A streptococcus infections. Study showed that lipopeptide-entrapped nanoparticle improved uptake of antigen in antigen-presenting cells and enhanced immunoglobulin (Ig) level; mucosal IgA, and systemic IgG response against lipopeptide. That helps in bacterial growth inhibition and clearance.

Nabi et al. (2017) have shown a noninvasive approach for developing polylactide-co-glycolide-based vaccine against Toxoplasma gondii. The nanocarriers were formulated to encapsulate recombinant rhoptry protein (rROP18) and administered in mice through intranasal immunization. Immunized mice elicited enhanced IgG2a and IgA response compared to control. However immunological study still needs to be explored to translate these findings into a potential vaccine. New method like particle replication in non-wetting template (PRINT) technology was also explored to make effective subunit vaccine against infectious agents. Development of dengue vaccine is tricky because the vaccine should protect against all four infectious dengue virus serotypes. Several vaccine formulations including live attenuated tetravalent virus vaccine showed only partial efficacy. Considering this limitation, Metz et al. (2016) used the PRINT technology to form dengue virus E-proteinadsorbed nanoparticles. Immunization study showed that nanovaccine induced higher IgG that was more effective compared to soluble antigen protein. These results indicate that poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles using PRINT technology seem a promising platform for subunit vaccine delivery.

Further enhancement in its adjuvant property needs incorporation of immune potentiator molecules like toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists. More advanced

polymeric delivery systems have been developed to incorporate both antigen and immune potentiator. This system can deliver both antigen and immunepotentiator together at the particular site. Bruno et al. (2016) have combined the adjuvant role of poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticle with a synthetic immune potentiator molecule that targets TLR7. Double emulsion method was used to formulate nanoparticle-entrapped TLR7 agonist and then diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis (DTaP) vaccine was adsorbed onto the nanoparticles. To see the adjuvanticity of this nanoformulation, mice model was used and evaluated for the improvement in the efficacy of DTaP vaccine. Co-delivery of TLR7 agonist through nanoparticle and antigens resulted in high IgG and IgG2a antibody titers compared to non-entrapped form. That concluded that poly-lactide-co-glycolide can be used along with other immunomodulators to get the desired immune response against antigens. In another study, soluble leishmania antigens and monophosphoryl lipid A adjuvant-entrapped poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles were formulated with tumor necrosis factor alpha mimicking peptide on their surface (Margaroni et al. 2016). Efficient uptake of nanoparticles by dendritic cells helped in inducing its maturation and differentiation. That resulted in high level of the co-stimulatory molecules and stimulated the production of interleukins: IL-12 and IL-10 cytokines. Nanoparticlesprimed dendritic cells promoted T cell activation and differentiation which was characterized by T cell-specific transcriptional factors and cytokine expression. These results indicated that this new nanoformulation could be considered as a potential vaccine candidate against leishmaniasis. Similarly, a peptide-based polylactide-co-glycolide nanovaccine was also reported to enhance the immunogenicity against leishmaniasis (Agallou et al. 2017). Cysteine protease A (CPA160-189), a synthetic peptide containing overlapping epitopes of a highly immunogenic leishmania protein, was entrapped along with monophosphoryl lipid A adjuvant in polylactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles. In vivo study in the visceral leishmaniasis-susceptible BALB/c mice model showed a significant reduction in parasite burden compared to control group, suggesting that well-designed peptideloaded nanocarriers could be a promising vaccine candidate against leishmaniasis. Recently, Kasturi et al. (2017) investigated the adjuvant role of poly-lactide-coglycolide nanoparticles containing TLR4 and TLR7/8 agonists for envelope gp140 and Gag p55 protein against simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV): SIVmac239. This formulation was immunized with virus-like particles containing gp140 and Gag p55 in rhesus macaques. Nanoparticles-adjuvanted formulation induced robust immune response and showed high protection against intravaginal challenges with heterologous strain of SIV in animals. Such formulation can also be designed for other viral infection.

Targeted delivery of antigens is one of the major concerns to make an effective vaccine. In order to develop an efficient vaccine delivery system for an HIV antigen (p24), Dalzon et al. (2016) developed a human fibronectin protein (FNIII9/10)-coated poly-lactide nanoparticle system to target an integrin α 5 β 1-positive cells. Human fibronectin FNIII9/10 proteins have an integrin α 5 β 1-binding site, the RGDS sequence (Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser) that enhanced cellular uptake of nanoparticles by α 5 β 1-positive cells. Subcutaneously immunized mice with nanoparticles co-

coated with p24 and FNIII9/10 proteins showed no significant improvement in humoral response compared to nanoparticles coated with p24. However, the presence of FNIII9/10 proteins helped in increasing avidity index of p24 antibody.

3.4.2 Microparticle Delivery System

Poly-lactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle can be very useful for entrapping high concentration of bioactive molecule. Moreover, it can be used for the long and sustained delivery of therapeutic molecules in blood circulation. These microparticles provide thermostability and maintain the nature of loaded bioactive molecules such as antigenicity of a vaccine and bioactivity of antibiotic. Currently, there are two vaccines available for *Salmonella Typhi* infection, but both are thermolabile. Carreño et al. (2016) formulated the *S. Typhi* outer membrane protein (porin)-entrapped poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle for making a thermostable oral vaccine. An orally administered vaccine was protected from an acidic environment and showed strong B cell immune response in mesenteric lymph nodes and Peyer's patches. In general, microparticle encapsulation improved the efficacy of *S. Typhi* oral vaccine.

Microparticles not only protect antigen degradation in circulation but also help in the modulation of an immune response against antigens. Recently, Roopngam et al. (2016) have reported E2 envelope glycoprotein of hepatitis C virus type (HCV-E2)-loaded poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle as a potential vaccine against hepatitis C virus. This virus causes hepatitis and liver carcinoma and there is a need to develop a vaccine. HCV-E2 helps the virus to bind with host cells, and antibody against it is very effective in neutralizing the virus. Results suggested that vaccinated animals had the high number of CD8+ T cells and interferon gamma (IFNy)-secreting immune cells. Moreover, the antigen-specific antibody titer was also high for HCV-E2 microparticles. Thus antigen delivery using microparticle can be a good strategy for a vaccine development. Poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle was also used to design protein-based subunit vaccine against T. gondii using a recombinant surface antigen 1 (rSAG1) and recombinant dense granular protein (rGRA2) (Allahyari et al. 2016). rSAG1- and rGRA2-adsorbed microparticles were used to enhance the immune response in BALB/c mice. All immunized mice were able to induce strong humoral and cellular response compared to control. rSAG1 and rGRA2 microparticles-vaccinated mice were also able to survive for longer times and partially protected against acute toxoplasmosis compared to a single antigen. Similarly, Zhang et al. (2016) developed the recombinant calciumdependent protein kinase 6 (rCDPK6)- and rhoptry protein 18 (rROP18)-entrapped poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle for generating long-lasting immune response against T. gondii. Mice immunized with this formulation showed T helper cell type 1(Th1) response with enhanced IFNy and IL-2 cytokines and specific antibody response. Also vaccinated mice conferred high protective immunity after T. gondii challenge compared to control. These studies hold the great promise of polymeric microparticle as a delivery system in the development of a vaccine against *T. gondii*.

Microparticle delivery system has also been investigated for a single-shot vaccine development. In order to resolve the requirement of multiple doses of inactivated polio vaccine (IPV) to obtain full protection, Tzeng et al. (2016) developed IPV-entrapped poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle. Rat immunized with IPVentrapped microparticle showed robust and long-lasting antibody response compared to multidose soluble IPV. This technique can be used to eradicate infectious diseases such as polio using single-dose vaccine. For influenza A virus, Watkins et al. (2017) described a single-dose poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle entrapping recombinant outer membrane vesicles (rOMVs) which has the heterospecies tandem sequence of the M2 protein. Immunized BALB/c mice elicited high IgG titers and produced the high level of IFN γ for rOMV microparticle. After challenge with lethal dose of influenza virus, vaccinated mice were also protected against influenza. These data support the role of poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle for making a single-shot vaccine against influenza.

The role of additional adjuvant has also been evaluated along with polymeric particle to improve the efficacy of potential vaccines. In a recent study, Wang et al. (2017) formulated poly-lactide-co-glycolide microparticle co-entrapping a 36-kDa nucleoside hydrolase recombinant protein antigen (NH36) from *Leishmania donovani* along with the TLR7/8 agonist 3M-052 to generate Th1 immune response against leishmaniasis. NH36 and 3M-052 loaded particles elicited enhanced Th1 response associated with IgG2a and IgG2b antibodies and have more IFN γ -producing splenocytes compared to other groups in BALB/c mice. These results indicate that polymeric particles along with 3M-052 could be used as an adjuvant for leishmaniasis vaccines.

3.4.3 Nanoparticle/Microparticle Delivery System

Both nanoparticle- and microparticle-based vaccine delivery systems have been demonstrated for different immune modulation against antigen (Gregory et al. 2013; Johansen et al. 2000; Peyre et al. 2004). Nanoparticles are reported to promote cellular immune response, whereas microparticle enhanced humoral response (Chong et al. 2005; Gutierro et al. 2002). Recently, Li et al. (2016) investigated poly-lactide-co-glycolide-based nanoparticle/microparticle as a vaccine delivery system for pertussis antigen. In vitro study showed higher uptake of antigen in macrophage cells for polymeric nano–/microparticles and immunized mice significantly enhanced INF- γ and IL-17 cytokine level in splenocytes after priming with heat-killed *Bordetella pertussis*, indicating a Th1/Th17 response. Also, vaccinated mice were protected against subsequent pertussis infection. This finding suggests that polylactide-co-glycolide nanoparticle/microparticle may serve as an alternative to acellular pertussis vaccine for balanced Th1/Th2 immune response.

3.4.4 Biodegradable Polymeric Scaffold

Biodegradable and biocompatible polymers have now been explored for making particle-based fabrication of bioactive molecule-loaded self-assembled scaffold. It offers many advantages such as safety, desirable loading, and sustained release of loaded molecules in comparison to other implanted delivery systems. This polymeric scaffold-based system is now serving as a platform for many applications such as localized delivery of antibiotics, wound healing, and tissue engineering. Admane et al. (2017) have described a new method to design gentamicin and neomycin loaded scaffold using poly-lactide particles. Firstly antibiotics were loaded in poly-lactide during microparticle formulation, and then these particles were fused using methanol to form scaffold at room temperature. The bioactivity of antibiotic from scaffold was tested and confirmed against *Staphylococcus aureus*. The scaffold was nontoxic to mammalian cells and supported the attachment and proliferation of cells. Subcutaneous implantation of scaffold in mice demonstrated the cellular infiltration and vascularization in scaffolds. Thus, this study provides an easy method to design a poly-lactide-based scaffold for various applications.

3.5 Conclusion

Biopolymers are making their progress in a wide range of biomedical applications. It is expected that the suitability of these polymers are going to rocket up owing to endless ways of tailoring the particle properties to suit the desired application. Newer methods are coming up to design these poly-lactide/poly-lactide-co-glycolide nano- and microparticles for specific end-use properties. Blends are made using these polymers in combination with other polymers to overcome the limitations such as low glass transition temperature or fast degradation rate. Other natural and synthetic fibers are also used with these polymers. Thus these polymers are seen as promising materials to suit a diverse range of possibilities in biomedical applications. Poly-lactide and poly-lactide-co-glycolide polymer slowly degrade and form lactic acid and glycolic acid as degradation products which are components of various metabolic pathways in animal model (Brady et al. 1973). It makes these polymers more suitable for various biomedical applications including drug, antigen, and antibiotic delivery system. Requirement of safe and reproducible vehicle, targeted delivery system, personalized medicine, and delivery of specific bioactive molecule have led to the exploitation of biodegradable and biocompatible poly-lactide and poly-lactide-co-glycolide polymers.

Acknowledgment The authors are grateful to the National Institute of Immunology for financial support.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Admane P, Gupta J, Ancy I, Kumar R, Panda AK (2017) Design and evaluation of antibiotic releasing self-assembled scaffolds at room temperature using biodegradable polymer particles. Int J Pharm 520(1):284–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.01.071
- Agallou M, Margaroni M, Athanasiou E, Toubanaki DK, Kontonikola K, Karidi K, Kammona O, Kiparissides C, Karagouni E (2017) Identification of BALB/c immune markers correlated with a partial protection to Leishmania infantum after vaccination with a rationally designed multiepitope cysteine protease a peptide-based nanovaccine. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 11(1):e0005311. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005311
- Aldrian G, Vaissière A, Konate K, Seisel Q, Vivès E, Fernandez F, Viguier V, Genevois C, Couillaud F, Démèné H (2017) PEGylation rate influences peptide-based nanoparticles mediated siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo. J Control Release 256:79–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2017.04.012
- Allahyari M, Mohit E (2016) Peptide/protein vaccine delivery system based on PLGA particles. Hum Vaccin Immunother 12(3):806–828. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2015.1102804
- Allahyari M, Mohabati R, Amiri S, Rastaghi ARE, Babaie J, Mahdavi M, Vatanara A, Golkar M (2016) Synergistic effect of rSAG1 and rGRA2 antigens formulated in PLGA microspheres in eliciting immune protection against Toxoplasama gondii. Exp Parasitol 170:236–246. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2016.09.008
- Anderson JM, Shive MS (2012) Biodegradation and biocompatibility of PLA and PLGA microspheres. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:72–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(97)00048-3
- Athanasiou E, Agallou M, Tastsoglou S, Kammona O, Hatzigeorgiou A, Kiparissides C, Karagouni E (2017) A poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid nanovaccine based on chimeric peptides from different Leishmania infantum proteins induces dendritic cells maturation and promotes peptide-specific IFNγ-producing CD8+T cells essential for the protection against experimental visceral Leishmaniasis. Front Immunol 8:684. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00684
- Basu A, Kunduru KR, Doppalapudi S, Domb AJ, Khan W (2016) Poly (lactic acid) based hydrogels. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 107:192–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.07.004
- Bhatt PC, Verma A, Al-Abbasi FA, Anwar F, Kumar V, Panda BP (2017) Development of surfaceengineered PLGA nanoparticulate-delivery system of Tet1-conjugated nattokinase enzyme for inhibition of Aβ40 plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Nanomedicine 12:8749–8768. https:// doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S144545
- Brady JM, Cutright DE, Miller RA, Battistone GC, Hunsuck EE (1973) Resorption rate, route of elimination, and ultrastructure of the implant site of polylactic acid in the abdominal wall of the rat. J Biomed Mater Res A 7(2):155–166. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.820070204
- Bruno C, Agnolon V, Berti F, Bufali S, O'Hagan DT, Baudner BC (2016) The preparation and characterization of PLG nanoparticles with an entrapped synthetic TLR7 agonist and their preclinical evaluation as adjuvant for an adsorbed DTaP vaccine. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 105:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.05.013
- Cai H, Liang Z, Huang W, Wen L, Chen G (2017) Engineering PLGA nano-based systems through understanding the influence of nanoparticle properties and cell-penetrating peptides for cochlear drug delivery. Int J Pharm 532(1):55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.08.084
- Carreño JM, Perez-Shibayama C, Gil-Cruz C, Printz A, Pastelin R, Isibasi A, Chariatte D, Tanoue Y, Lopez-Macias C, Gander B (2016) PLGA-microencapsulation protects Salmonella typhi outer membrane proteins from acidic degradation and increases their mucosal immunogenicity. Vaccine 34(35):4263–4269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.05.036
- Chong CS, Cao M, Wong WW, Fischer KP, Addison WR, Kwon GS, Tyrrell DL, Samuel J (2005) Enhancement of T helper type 1 immune responses against hepatitis B virus core antigen by PLGA nanoparticle vaccine delivery. J Control Release 102(1):85–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2004.09.014

- Coelho JF, Ferreira PC, Alves P, Cordeiro R, Fonseca AC, Góis JR, Gil MH (2010) Drug delivery systems: advanced technologies potentially applicable in personalized treatments. EPMA J 1(1):164–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13167-010-0001-x
- Cruz J, Flórez J, Torres R, Urquiza M, Gutiérrez J, Guzmán F, Ortiz C (2017) Antimicrobial activity of a new synthetic peptide loaded in polylactic acid or poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid nanoparticles against Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli O157: H7 and methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). Nanotechnology 28(13):135102. https://doi. org/10.1088/1361-6528/aa5f63
- Dalzon B, Lebas C, Jimenez G, Gutjahr A, Terrat C, Exposito J-Y, Verrier B, Lethias C (2016) Poly (lactic acid) nanoparticles targeting $\alpha 5\beta 1$ integrin as vaccine delivery vehicle, a prospective study. PLoS One 11(12):e0167663. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167663
- Danhier F, Ansorena E, Silva JM, Coco R, Le Breton A, Préat V (2012) PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications. J Control Release 161(2):505–522. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.01.043
- Dhakal S, Hiremath J, Bondra K, Lakshmanappa YS, Shyu D-L, Ouyang K, Kang K-i, Binjawadagi B, Goodman J, Tabynov K (2017) Biodegradable nanoparticle delivery of inactivated swine influenza virus vaccine provides heterologous cell-mediated immune response in pigs. J Control Release 247:194–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.12.039
- Dinarvand R, Sepehri N, Manoochehri S, Rouhani H, Atyabi F (2011) Polylactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles for controlled delivery of anticancer agents. Int J Nanomedicine 6:877. https:// doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S18905
- Du X, Wang J-L, Iqbal S, Li H, Cao Z, Wang Y-C, Du J, Wang J (2018) The effect of surface charge on oral absorption of polymeric nanoparticles. Biomater Sci 6:642. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C7BM01096F
- Ekanem EE, Zhang Z, Vladisavljevic GT (2017a) Facile production of biodegradable bipolymer patchy and patchy Janus particles with controlled morphology by microfluidic routes. Langmuir 33(34):8476–8482. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.langmuir.7b02506
- Ekanem EE, Zhang Z, Vladisavljević GT (2017b) Facile microfluidic production of composite polymer core-shell microcapsules and crescent-shaped microparticles. J Colloid Interface Sci 498:387–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2017.03.067
- El-Hammadi MM, Delgado ÁV, Melguizo C, Prados JC, Arias JL (2017) Folic acid-decorated and PEGylated PLGA nanoparticles for improving the antitumour activity of 5-fluorouracil. Int J Pharm 516(1):61–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.11.012
- Fröhlich E (2012) The role of surface charge in cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of medical nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine 7:5577. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S36111
- Gagliardi M, Bertero A, Bifone A (2017) Molecularly imprinted biodegradable nanoparticles. Sci Rep 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40046
- Genta I, Colonna C, Conti B, Caliceti P, Salmaso S, Speziale P, Pietrocola G, Chiesa E, Modena T, Dorati R (2016) CNA-loaded PLGA nanoparticles improve humoral response against S. aureus-mediated infections in a mouse model: subcutaneous vs. nasal administration strategy. J Microencapsul 33(8):750–762. https://doi.org/10.1080/02652048.2016.1260661
- Gourdon B, Chemin C, Moreau A, Arnauld T, Baumy P, Cisternino S, Péan J-M, Declèves X (2017) Functionalized PLA-PEG nanoparticles targeting intestinal transporter PepT1 for oral delivery of acyclovir. Int J Pharm 529(1–2):357–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.07.024
- Gregory AE, Titball R, Williamson D (2013) Vaccine delivery using nanoparticles. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 3:13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2013.00013
- Gutierro I, Hernandez R, Igartua M, Gascon A, Pedraz J (2002) Size dependent immune response after subcutaneous, oral and intranasal administration of BSA loaded nanospheres. Vaccine 21(1):67–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(02)00435-8
- Gutjahr A, Phelip C, Coolen A-L, Monge C, Boisgard A-S, Paul S, Verrier B (2016) Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles-based vaccine adjuvants for lymph nodes targeting. Vaccine 4(4):34. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines4040034

- Hillaireau H, Couvreur P (2009) Nanocarriers' entry into the cell: relevance to drug delivery. Cell Mol Life Sci 66(17):2873–2896. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-009-0053-z
- Hiremath J, Kang K-i, Xia M, Elaish M, Binjawadagi B, Ouyang K, Dhakal S, Arcos J, Torrelles JB, Jiang X (2016) Entrapment of H1N1 influenza virus derived conserved peptides in PLGA nanoparticles enhances T cell response and vaccine efficacy in pigs. PLoS One 11(4):e0151922. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151922
- Huang N, Lu S, Liu X-G, Zhu J, Wang Y-J, Liu R-T (2017) PLGA nanoparticles modified with a BBB-penetrating peptide co-delivering Aβ generation inhibitor and curcumin attenuate memory deficits and neuropathology in Alzheimer's disease mice. Oncotarget 8(46):81001. https:// doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.20944
- Hussain M, Xie J, Hou Z, Shezad K, Xu J, Wang K, Gao Y, Shen L, Zhu J (2017) Regulation of drug release by tuning surface textures of biodegradable polymer microparticles. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9(24):14391–14400. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b02002
- James R, Manoukian OS, Kumbar SG (2016) Poly (lactic acid) for delivery of bioactive macromolecules. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 107:277–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.06.009
- Jannuzzi GP, de Araújo Souza N, Françoso KS, Pereira RH, Santos RP, Kaihami GH, de Almeida JRF, Batista WL, Amaral AC, Maranhão AQ (2017) Therapeutic treatment with scFv–PLGA nanoparticles decreases pulmonary fungal load in a murine model of paracoccidioidomycosis. Microbes Infect 20:48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2017.09.003
- Johansen P, Men Y, Merkle HP, Gander B (2000) Revisiting PLA/PLGA microspheres: an analysis of their potential in parenteral vaccination. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 50(1):129–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0939-6411(00)00079-5
- Kasturi SP, Kozlowski PA, Nakaya HI, Burger MC, Russo P, Pham M, Kovalenkov Y, Silveira EL, Havenar-Daughton C, Burton SL (2017) Adjuvanting a simian immunodeficiency virus vaccine with toll-like receptor ligands encapsulated in nanoparticles induces persistent antibody responses and enhanced protection in TRIM5α restrictive macaques. J Virol 91(4):e01844– e01816. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01844-16
- Koutsiouki K, Angelopoulou A, Ioannou E, Voulgari E, Sergides A, Magoulas GE, Bakandritsos A, Avgoustakis K (2017) TAT peptide-conjugated magnetic PLA-PEG nanocapsules for the targeted delivery of paclitaxel: in vitro and cell studies. AAPS PharmSciTech 18(3):769–781. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-016-0560-9
- Li P, Asokanathan C, Liu F, Khaing KK, Kmiec D, Wei X, Song B, Xing D, Kong D (2016) PLGA nano/micro particles encapsulated with pertussis toxoid (PTd) enhances Th1/Th17 immune response in a murine model. Int J Pharm 513(1):183–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2016.08.059
- Liu L, Cao F, Liu X, Wang H, Zhang C, Sun H, Wang C, Leng X, Song C, Kong D (2016a) Hyaluronic acid-modified cationic lipid–PLGA hybrid nanoparticles as a nanovaccine induce robust humoral and cellular immune responses. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8(19):11969– 11979. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.6b01135
- Liu L, Ma P, Wang H, Zhang C, Sun H, Wang C, Song C, Leng X, Kong D, Ma G (2016b) Immune responses to vaccines delivered by encapsulation into and/or adsorption onto cationic lipid-PLGA hybrid nanoparticles. J Control Release 225:230–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2016.01.050
- Marasini N, Khalil ZG, Giddam AK, Ghaffar KA, Hussein WM, Capon RJ, Batzloff MR, Good MF, Skwarczynski M, Toth I (2016) Lipid core peptide/poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) as a highly potent intranasal vaccine delivery system against group A streptococcus. Int J Pharm 513(1):410–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.09.057
- Margaroni M, Agallou M, Kontonikola K, Karidi K, Kammona O, Kiparissides C, Gaitanaki C, Karagouni E (2016) PLGA nanoparticles modified with a TNFα mimicking peptide, soluble Leishmania antigens and MPLA induce T cell priming in vitro via dendritic cell functional differentiation. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 105:18–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.05.018
- Meng Q, Wang A, Hua H, Jiang Y, Wang Y, Mu H, Wu Z, Sun K (2018) Intranasal delivery of Huperzine A to the brain using lactoferrin-conjugated N-trimethylated chitosan surface-

modified PLGA nanoparticles for treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Int J Nanomedicine 13:705. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S151474

- Metz SW, Tian S, Hoekstra G, Yi X, Stone M, Horvath K, Miley MJ, DeSimone J, Luft CJ, de Silva AM (2016) Precisely molded nanoparticle displaying DENV-E proteins induces robust serotype-specific neutralizing antibody responses. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 10(10):e0005071. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005071
- Mitragotri S, Burke PA, Langer R (2014) Overcoming the challenges in administering biopharmaceuticals: formulation and delivery strategies. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13(9):655. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrd4363
- Murariu M, Dubois P (2016) PLA composites: from production to properties. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 107:17–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.04.003
- Nabi H, Rashid I, Ahmad N, Durrani A, Akbar H, Islam S, Bajwa AA, Shehzad W, Ashraf K, Imran N (2017) Induction of specific humoral immune response in mice immunized with ROP18 nanospheres from Toxoplasma gondii. Parasitol Res 116(1):359–370. https://doi.org/10.1007/s0043
- Oyewumi MO, Kumar A, Cui Z (2010) Nano-microparticles as immune adjuvants: correlating particle sizes and the resultant immune responses. Expert Rev Vaccines 9(9):1095–1107. https:// doi.org/10.1586/erv.10.89
- Pagels RF, Prud'homme RK (2015) Polymeric nanoparticles and microparticles for the delivery of peptides, biologics, and soluble therapeutics. J Control Release 219:519–535. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.09.001
- Pandey SK, Patel DK, Maurya AK, Thakur R, Mishra DP, Vinayak M, Haldar C, Maiti P (2016) Controlled release of drug and better bioavailability using poly (lactic acid-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles. Int J Biol Macromol 89:99–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.04.065
- Panyam J, Labhasetwar V (2003) Dynamics of endocytosis and exocytosis of poly (D, L-lactideco-glycolide) nanoparticles in vascular smooth muscle cells. Pharm Res 20(2):212–220. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022219003551
- Panyam J, Zhou W-Z, Prabha S, Sahoo SK, Labhasetwar V (2002) Rapid endo-lysosomal escape of poly (DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles: implications for drug and gene delivery. FASEB J 16(10):1217–1226. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.02-0088com
- Parumasivam T, Leung SSY, Quan DH, Triccas JA, Britton WJ, Chan H-K (2016) Rifapentineloaded PLGA microparticles for tuberculosis inhaled therapy: preparation and in vitro aerosol characterization. Eur J Pharm Sci 88(Supplement C):1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejps.2016.03.024
- Pei Y, Mohamed MF, Seleem MN, Yeo Y (2017) Particle engineering for intracellular delivery of vancomycin to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)-infected macrophages. J Control Release 267:133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.08.007
- Peres C, Matos AI, Conniot J, Sainz V, Zupančič E, Silva JM, Graça L, Gaspar RS, Préat V, Florindo HF (2017) Poly (lactic acid)-based particulate systems are promising tools for immune modulation. Acta Biomater 48:41–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.11.012
- Peyre M, Audran R, Estevez F, Corradin G, Gander B, Sesardic D, Johansen P (2004) Childhood and malaria vaccines combined in biodegradable microspheres produce immunity with synergistic interactions. J Control Release 99(3):345–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.07.014
- Qu S, Zhao L, Zhu J, Wang C, Dai C, Guo H, Hao Z (2017) Preparation and testing of cerquinomeloaded poly lactic-co-glycolic acid microspheres for lung targeting. Drug Deliv 24(1):745–751. https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544.2017.1321058
- Raudszus B, Mulac D, Langer K (2018) A new preparation strategy for surface modified PLA nanoparticles to enhance uptake by endothelial cells. Int J Pharm 536(1):211–221. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.11.047
- Roointan A, Kianpour S, Memari F, Gandomani M, Gheibi Hayat SM, Mohammadi-Samani S (2018) Poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid): the most ardent and flexible candidate in biomedicine! Int J Polym Mater Polym Biomater 67:1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/00914037.2017.1405350

- Roopngam P, Liu K, Mei L, Zheng Y, Zhu X, Tsai H-I, Huang L (2016) Hepatitis C virus E2 protein encapsulation into poly d, l-lactic-co-glycolide microspheres could induce mice cytotoxic T-cell response. Int J Nanomedicine 11:5361. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S109081
- Ruge CA, Hillaireau H, Grabowski N, Beck-Broichsitter M, Cañadas O, Tsapis N, Casals C, Nicolas J, Fattal E (2016) Pulmonary surfactant protein A-mediated enrichment of surfacedecorated polymeric nanoparticles in alveolar macrophages. Mol Pharm 13(12):4168–4178. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.6b00773
- Sabaeifard P, Abdi-Ali A, Gamazo C, Irache JM, Soudi MR (2017) Improved effect of amikacinloaded poly (D, L-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles against planktonic and biofilm cells of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J Med Microbiol 66(2):137–148. https://doi.org/10.1099/ jmm.0.000430
- Saffer EM, Tew GN, Bhatia SR (2011) Poly (lactic acid)-poly (ethylene oxide) block copolymers: new directions in self-assembly and biomedical applications. Curr Med Chem 18(36):5676– 5686. https://doi.org/10.2174/092986711798347324
- Sahin A, Esendagli G, Yerlikaya F, Caban-Toktas S, Yoyen-Ermis D, Horzum U, Aktas Y, Khan M, Couvreur P, Capan Y (2017) A small variation in average particle size of PLGA nanoparticles prepared by nanoprecipitation leads to considerable change in nanoparticles' characteristics and efficacy of intracellular delivery. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 45:1–11. https://doi.org /10.1080/21691401.2016.1276924
- Saraiva C, Praça C, Ferreira R, Santos T, Ferreira L, Bernardino L (2016) Nanoparticle-mediated brain drug delivery: overcoming blood–brain barrier to treat neurodegenerative diseases. J Control Release 235:34–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.044
- Seok H, Noh JY, Lee DY, Kim SJ, Song CS, Kim YC (2017) Effective humoral immune response from a H1N1 DNA vaccine delivered to the skin by microneedles coated with PLGA-based cationic nanoparticles. J Control Release 265:66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.04.027
- Shah RR, O'Hagan DT, Amiji MM, Brito LA (2014) The impact of size on particulate vaccine adjuvants. Nanomedicine 9(17):2671–2681. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.14.193
- Silva A, Soema P, Slütter B, Ossendorp F, Jiskoot W (2016) PLGA particulate delivery systems for subunit vaccines: linking particle properties to immunogenicity. Hum Vaccin Immunother 12(4):1056–1069. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2015.1117714
- Song C, Noh Y-W, Lim YT (2016) Polymer nanoparticles for cross-presentation of exogenous antigens and enhanced cytotoxic T-lymphocyte immune response. Int J Nanomedicine 11:3753. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S110796
- Steinbach JM, Seo Y-E, Saltzman WM (2016) Cell penetrating peptide-modified poly (lacticco-glycolic acid) nanoparticles with enhanced cell internalization. Acta Biomater 30:49–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2015.11.029
- Suk JS, Xu Q, Kim N, Hanes J, Ensign LM (2016) PEGylation as a strategy for improving nanoparticle-based drug and gene delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 99:28–51. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.09.012
- Sun Z, Yan X, Liu Y, Huang L, Kong C, Qu X, Wang M, Gao R, Qin H (2017) Application of dual targeting drug delivery system for the improvement of anti-glioma efficacy of doxorubicin. Oncotarget 8(35):58823. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19221
- Tan Z, Liu W, Liu H, Li C, Zhang Y, Meng X, Tang T, Xi T, Xing Y (2017) Oral Helicobacter pylori vaccine-encapsulated acid-resistant HP55/PLGA nanoparticles promote immune protection. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 111:33–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.11.007
- Thomas N, Thorn C, Richter K, Thierry B, Prestidge C (2016) Efficacy of poly-lactic-coglycolic acid micro-and nanoparticles of ciprofloxacin against bacterial biofilms. J Pharm Sci 105(10):3115–3122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2016.06.022
- Tran TH, Tran TTP, Nguyen HT, Dai Phung C, Jeong J-H, Stenzel MH, Jin SG, Yong CS, Truong DH, Kim JO (2018) Nanoparticles for dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. Int J Pharm 542:253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.03.029
- Türeli NG, Torge A, Juntke J, Schwarz BC, Schneider-Daum N, Türeli AE, Lehr C-M, Schneider M (2017) Ciprofloxacin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles against cystic fibrosis P. aeruginosa lung infections. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 117:363–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.04.032
- Tzeng SY, Guarecuco R, McHugh KJ, Rose S, Rosenberg EM, Zeng Y, Langer R, Jaklenec A (2016) Thermostabilization of inactivated polio vaccine in PLGA-based microspheres for pulsatile release. J Control Release 233:101–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.012
- Vasir JK, Labhasetwar V (2007) Biodegradable nanoparticles for cytosolic delivery of therapeutics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 59(8):718–728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2007.06.003
- Wan F, Yang M (2016) Design of PLGA-based depot delivery systems for biopharmaceuticals prepared by spray drying. Int J Pharm 498(1):82–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.12.025
- Wang Q, Barry MA, Seid CA, Hudspeth EM, McAtee CP, Heffernan MJ (2017) 3M-052 as an adjuvant for a PLGA microparticle-based Leishmania donovani recombinant protein vaccine. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 106:1587. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.33965
- Watkins HC, Pagan CL, Childs HR, Posada S, Chau A, Rios J, Guarino C, DeLisa MP, Whittaker GR, Putnam D (2017) A single dose and long lasting vaccine against pandemic influenza through the controlled release of a heterospecies tandem M2 sequence embedded within detoxified bacterial outer membrane vesicles. Vaccine 35:5373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2017.08.013
- Yang HW, Ye L, Guo XD, Yang C, Compans RW, Prausnitz MR (2017) Ebola vaccination using a DNA vaccine coated on PLGA-PLL/γPGA nanoparticles administered using a microneedle patch. Adv Healthc Mater 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201600750
- Zhang N-Z, Xu Y, Wang M, Chen J, Huang S-Y, Gao Q, Zhu X-Q (2016) Vaccination with Toxoplasma gondii calcium-dependent protein kinase 6 and rhoptry protein 18 encapsulated in poly (lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres induces long-term protective immunity in mice. BMC Infect Dis 16(1):168. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-016-1496-0
- Zhao F, Zhao Y, Liu Y, Chang X, Chen C, Zhao Y (2011) Cellular uptake, intracellular trafficking, and cytotoxicity of nanomaterials. Small 7(10):1322–1337. https://doi.org/10.1002/ smll.201100001

Chapter 4 Drug Delivery Systems Based on Pullulan Polysaccharides and Their Derivatives



Anca Giorgiana Grigoras

Contents

4.1	Introduction	100
4.2	Pullulan-Based Systems with Antibacterial or Antifungal Activity	100
4.3	Pullulan-Based Systems with Antitumor Properties	103
4.4	Pullulan-Based Systems with Antioxidant Activity	
	and Free Radical Scavenging Properties	124
4.5	Pullulan-Based Systems with Anti-inflammatory and Immunomodulatory	
	Properties	126
4.6	Pullulan-Based Systems with Antilipidemic and Antiglycemic Properties	130
4.7	Pullulan-Based Systems for Heart Diseases	132
4.8	Pullulan-Based Systems for Bone Diseases	134
4.9	Conclusions and Future Remarks	136
Refe	References	

Abstract The remarkable physical and chemical properties of pullulan, especially the biodegradability, biocompatibility, and nontoxicity, have been exploited in the past few decades and adapted in order to design more efficient drug delivery systems. This polysaccharide itself and its derivatives, which possess more reactive functional groups generated by functionalization of pullulan, were able to form conjugates or complexes with a variety of drugs, especially with hydrophobic drugs. By modulating the hydrophilic-hydrophobic balance in the support macromolecule structure and favoring various types of physical interactions between drug and carrier, the researchers attempted to optimize the charging and subsequent transport of drugs to target cells such as liver cell receptors or cancer cells.

In this chapter, beside the pullulan-based systems with antibacterial, antifungal, antitumor, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory, antilipidemic, or antiglycemic properties, other pharmaceutical formulations potentially useful to

A. G. Grigoras (🖂)

Laboratory of Natural Polymers, Bioactive and Biocompatible Materials, "Petru Poni" Institute of Macromolecular Chemistry, Iassy, Romania e-mail: angrig@icmpp.ro

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Arora et al. (eds.), *Pharmaceuticals from Microbes*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 26, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8_4

treat heart or bone diseases were reviewed. All studies highlighted the versatility of pullulan derivatives to form micelles, films, hydrogels, microparticles, and nanoparticles. Also, the results from in vivo and in vitro tests of cytotoxicity and the profiles of drug release from these carriers were encouraging such that the usage of pullulan polysaccharides for the future medical applications remains an open field.

4.1 Introduction

Resulted as an amorphous slime matter from the aerobically fermentation broth of *Aureobasidium pullulans* polymorphic fungus, pullulan is a neutral linear homopolysaccharide consisting almost of regularly repeating α -(1 \rightarrow 4)–maltotriosyl units (3-D-glucopyranosyl) joined through α -(1 \rightarrow 6) linkages (Singh et al. 2008; Cheng et al. 2011). The molecular weight of this exopolysaccharide varies from 4.5 × 10⁴ to 6×10^5 Da, function of the yeast cultivation parameters. Due to the chain flexibility and hydroxyl functional groups of pullulan, susceptible for chemical modifications, a series of derivatives could be synthesized: cholesterol-bearing pullulan, pullulan acetate, carboxymethyl pullulan, pullulan succinylate, and pullulan amine (Singh et al. 2015). In this way, some of chemical and physical properties of pullulan like nonreducing agent, water solubility, formation of oxygen-impermeable films, hygroscopicity, biodegradability, and viscosity were improved due to the increased solubility in organic solvents or enrichment with new reactive functional groups.

Since its introduction in Japanese food industry as food additive, pullulan and its derivatives recorded numerous applications in food, pharmaceutical, and medical industries. The conceiving of drug delivery systems based on natural polymers has registered increasingly in pharmaceutical industry. Polysaccharides, in particular pullulan, were chosen as part of drug delivery systems because most of them are moldable, spinnable, edible, biodegradable, nontoxic, and biocompatible.

The present work brings updated data regarding drug delivery systems based on pullulan and its derivatives, structured function of therapeutic effects of drugs, and complete information from other reviews (Singh et al. 2008, 2015, 2017; Cheng et al. 2011; Prajapati et al. 2013).

4.2 Pullulan-Based Systems with Antibacterial or Antifungal Activity

The interaction between the pathogens from surrounding world such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, or algae and different substances depends on factors like surface chemistry of cell, surface charge presence, temperature, pH of medium, age of culture, and concentration of substances, such that there is a distinction between antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, or antialgae substances and bactericidal, virucidal, fungicidal, or algaecidal agents. Regarding the heterogeneous bacterial cell outer layer,

complex biological molecules like peptidoglycan, lipopolysaccharides, phospholipids, and lipoteichoic and teichoic acids possess carboxyl, phosphoryl, or amine functional groups placed in several discrete binding sites that ensure the interactions with antibacterials via dipole interactions, covalent or ionic bonding, steric interactions, and hydrophobic associations. Excepting the presence of different types of proteins in the bacterial cell wall, the morphological differences between Grampositive and Gram-negative cells are significant: (a) *murein* layer from periplasmic space between outer and inner membranes of Gram-negative bacteria is thin unlike the murein layer in the Gram-positive cell wall which is thick, cross-linked, reinforced with teichoic and lipoteichoic acids, and exposed to the external part of cell wall; (b) predominant phospholipids in bacterial membrane consist from *cardiolipin* in the case of Gram-negative bacteria or *phosphatidylethanolamine* and *phosphatidylglycerol* in the case of Gram-negative cells; and (c) outer membrane is covered with a layer of *lipopolysaccharides* only in the case of Gram-negative microorganisms (Grigoras et al. 2016).

Based on studies in a number of fungi, the cell wall has been shown to be primarily composed of chitin, glucans, mannans, and glycoproteins. It was demonstrated that the chitin, glucans, and glycoproteins are covalently cross-linked together (Bowman and Free 2006).

Ciprofloxacin, an antibiotic for localized treatments applicable to a wide range of human bacterial infections, is prescribed in its hydrophilic or hydrophobic form to treat keratitis caused by Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. It seems that the antibacterial activity of ciprofloxacin hydrochloride is lower compared with that of native drug. On the other hand, the amphiphilic polymers like poly(DL-lactideco-glycolide)-graft pullulan (Jeong et al. 2006) or N-octyl-O-glycol chitosan (Huo et al. 2010) improved water solubility of hydrophobic drugs. In order to prepare therapeutic contact lens from poly(hydroxyethylmethacrylate) pHEMA, using poly(ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate PEGDM as UV-cross-linker, Garhwal et al. (2012) encapsulated the hydrophobic free base form of ciprofloxacin in core-shell nanospheres based on pullulan-poly(caprolactone) (PULL-PCL) block copolymer. Ciprofloxacin-containing nanospheres were uniform in size with diameters of 142 nm. The antimicrobial activity of hydrogel lenses incorporating ciprofloxacincontaining nanospheres was tested concluding that the proliferation of cultures inoculated with 107 or 108 bacteria/mL of Staphylococcus aureus and Pseudomonas aeruginosa, respectively, was effectively inhibited by less than 2 µg/mL of nanosphere-ciprofloxacin conjugate solution.

Di Meo et al. (2015) designed a new nanohydrogel platform in order to test the loading and release of *Levofloxacin* with a role of model hydrophilic molecule. The amphiphilic hydrogel was prepared based on the activation of neutral pullulan chains with 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine (DMAP), followed by the reaction with bromohexyl derivative of riboflavin tetrabutyrate in the presence of dimethyl sulf-oxide (DMSO) (Scheme 4.1).

It was observed that, by esterification reaction involving pullulan-DMAP system, only 20% of the used Br-tetrabutyrilriboflavin reacted and 1 pullulan-repeating unit out of 20 was derivatized. Then, using a combined procedure for nanohydrogel



Scheme 4.1 Synthesis of nanohydrogel platform for levofloxacin based on pullulan and riboflavin derivate, in the presence of 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine (DMAP) and dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). (Reprinted from Di Meo et al. 2015 with permission of Elsevier)

formation, namely, autoclaving process for spontaneously self-assembling of the polymer chains, followed by bath sonication, polymeric suspensions with the size of 210 nm, polydispersity index of 0.2, and zeta potential in water of -18 mV were obtained. The cytocompatibility of pullulan-riboflavin derivative, tested on mammal fibroblasts ATCC BalbC 3T3, revealed that the nanohydrogels in the form of undiluted or diluted suspensions were completely safe for cells.

To treat the vulvovaginal candidiasis, a novel hydrogel containing *Clotrimazole*loaded nanocapsules of Eudragit[®] RS100 was developed by association with pullulan, a mucoadhesive polymer with high molecular weight, and an anionic emulsifier derivative of poly(acrylic acid) named Pemulen[®] TR1. Different semisolid formulations were tested, and one of them showed in vitro slow release of drug-loaded nanocapsules from the hydrogel formulations (20.14 µg/cm² in 8 h). In addition, the ex vivo cow vaginal mucosa permeation/penetration study showed that hydrogels containing nanoencapsulated drug had a low penetration of only 14.00 µg/ cm², suggesting that the nanoencapsulation helped to retain clotrimazole on the mucosa surface and minimized the drug systemic absorption (de Lima et al. 2017).

A pullulan nanobased nail formulation for onychomycosis treatment was developed by mixing pullulan solution with suspension of *Tioconazole*-loaded lipid nanocapsules coated with a cationic chitosan. The nanoencapsulated drug was released from a lipid core composed from medium-chain triglycerides in a controlled and sustained manner in the nail plate, while the bioadhesive pullulan promoted a good hydration of the nail and increased the drug permeability. The new pullulan nanobased nail formulation was less irritant than other commercial formulations used for the treatment of onychomycosis because nanoencapsulated systems permitted the incorporation of a smaller quantity of drug but with comparable therapeutic effects (Flores et al. 2017).

Another antibiotic used over 20 years to treat onychomycosis is *Terbinafine*. To overcome the side effects induced by topical administration, this drug was included in liposome-loaded pullulan films. The optimum film formulation for antifungal activity was chosen on the basis of drug release profile (\sim 72%); also, the accumulated drug in the nail plates recorded a maximum of 31% (Tuncay Tanriverdi et al. 2016).

To dissolve and enhance the bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drug *Griseofulvin*, an oral drug used to treat fungal infections, Krull et al. (2016) prepared pullulan-based strip films via casting-drying of the wet-milled drug suspensions. For this purpose, the following substances were implied: pullulan as steric stabilizer in suspension, xanthan gum as thickening agent, glycerin as plasticizer, and sodium dodecyl sulfate as surfactant. A film-forming pullulan-glycerin-xanthan gum solution represented the dispersant medium for griseofulvin. The drug suspension prepared via mixing was subsequently milled. The milling time was varied to obtain different drug particle sizes. The authors observed that the film properties can be modulated by controlling the thickness, xanthan gum, and drug loadings. In addition, sodium dodecyl sulfate content of films (~0.2%) was considered minimum toxic for formulations, and most of films exhibited fast or immediate release of drug (higher than 80% for films dissolved in 30 min).

4.3 Pullulan-Based Systems with Antitumor Properties

According to the Ringsdorf model, a polymeric drug delivery system consists of a definite number of *drug* molecules, bonded to a *macromolecule* or polymeric backbone through a *spacer*. The spacer molecule incorporates a predetermined breaking point which ensures the drug release after cellular uptake of the conjugate. The system can also contain *targeting moieties*, e.g., antibody fragments, tumor-specific antibody, or saccharides (Kratz et al. 2002). Pullulan-based delivery systems for anticancer drugs like doxorubicin, paclitaxel, camptothecin, methotrexate, alendronate, cisplatin, and combretastatin A4 include pH-sensitive pullulan nanoparticles, bioconjugates supposed using of an acid-sensitive hydrazone bond, stable at physiological pH but hydrolysable under acidic conditions, in order to conjugate the drug to the pullulan backbone (Scomparin et al. 2015). Also, much effort has been invested to find the best ligand for selective targeting of drug delivery systems to a tumor tissue.

Doxorubicin (DOX), the most popular anthracycline produced and extracted from the *Streptomyces peucetius* bacteria, represents a chemotherapy medication approved for various medical uses that include Kaposi's sarcoma, lymphoma, acute

lymphocytic leukemia, breast cancer, bladder cancer, and hepatocellular carcinoma. The effectiveness of this drug could be improved when it is prepared in nanoparticulated or liposomal forms and it is used together with other chemotherapy agents, respectively.

A chemotherapeutic drug is expected to have reduced side effects, to have enhanced therapeutic efficacy, and to be specifically transported to the tumor region. In order to treat the hepatocellular carcinoma, Li et al. (2015a) prepared pullulandoxorubicin nanoparticles with a diameter of 50–170 nm by conjugating the drug onto polysaccharide molecule via pH-responsive hydrazone bond and using spacers with different alkane chain lengths. It was observed that, in aqueous solution, the conjugates were self-assembled so those spontaneously resulted in core-shell structures with doxorubicin as core and pullulan as shell. In acidic medium (pH = 5), these doxorubicin-pullulan nanoparticles released the drug in 2 h, but in neutral conditions, they have been kept relatively stable. In vitro cell coculture experiments revealed that doxorubicin was specifically internalized by hepatic carcinoma cells through receptor-mediated endocytosis via asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR) from the surface of these cells and then rapidly diffused into the nuclei of cells.

When the chemoresistance restricts the curative effect of a drug, it is necessary to use *combination chemotherapy*. In this regard, new approaches supposed the adding to doxorubicin in pharmaceutical formulation of an inhibitor drug like pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate (PDTC) for nuclear factor kappa B (Li et al. 2015b) or sorafenib for tyrosine protein kinases (Sui et al. 2017). In this way, pullulanadipodihydrazide-doxorubicin conjugate became a carrier to co-load pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate or co-load sorafenib such that the synergistic combinatorial delivery systems could be used against hepatocellular and murine breast carcinoma, respectively. Pullulan-doxorubicin-pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate nanoparticles, synthesized according to the route presented in Fig. 4.1, had fairly stable sizes during 4 h of drug releasing study in pH 7.4 (Fig. 4.2). Adipohydrazine was employed instead of hydrazine hydrate because it has higher loading capacity and better biocompatibility. Within 2 h in pH 5.0 buffer, the particle size increased from 160 to 240 nm since the detachment of some hydrophobic doxorubicin decreased the hydrophobic interaction in the nanoparticle core. After another 30 min, nanoparticles collapsed due to complete fractions of hydrazone bonds.

Asialoglycoprotein receptor, a hepatic lectin, internalizes sugars like galactose or lactose and glycoproteins with terminal galactose or *N*-acetylgalactosamine by endocytosis, and it is overexpressed on the surface of hepatocytes in the case of patients with hepatocarcinoma, being thus a target for chemotherapy. In the case of PES-Gantrez AN 119-doxorubicin-pullulan nanoparticle design, pullulan plays the role of hydrophilic ligand between doxorubicin and asialoglycoprotein receptor, the biodegradable poly(ethylene sebacate) (PES) ensures the hydrolytic stability of formulations, and anhydride side chain of Gantrez, as synthetic alternating copolymer of methyl vinyl ether and maleic anhydride, hydrolyzes to produce free diacid solutions which are directly useable in oral care products (Guhagarkar et al. 2010). There are also improved formulas based on ligand combination of pullulan with arabinogalactan which promotes doxorubicin anchoring by adsorption



Fig. 4.1 Schematic illustration of the synthesis route for pullulan-doxorubicin-pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate nanoparticles (Pu-DOX-PDTC NPs) based on functionalization of pullulan and subsequently self-assembly of pullulan-adipodihydrazide-doxorubicin (Pu-ADH-DOX) conjugate. (Reprinted from Li et al. 2015b with permission of Royal Society of Chemistry)

(Pranatharthiharan et al. 2017). In this case, nanoparticles prepared by modified nanoprecipitation recorded an average size of 220 nm with polydispersity index lower than 0.62 and about 20% doxorubicin loading. Although higher concentration of doxorubicin was recorded in the kidneys, the entrapment of drug in poly(ethylene sebacate)-Gantrez-doxorubicin-pullulan nanoparticles reduced the cardiotoxicity compared to doxorubicin solution.

The bioconjugates represent a current approach to design anticancer drug delivery. Balasso et al. (2017) performed in vitro cell uptake investigations in order to test a novel bioconjugate for hepatocellular carcinoma, obtained by conjugation of PreS1, a peptide of hepatitis B surface antigen, and rhodamine as label. Using poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) spacers, the conjugation of PreS1 and rhodamine to the aldehyde groups present along the oxidized pullulan backbone was realized through reductive animation. Afterward, a hydrazone pH-sensitive bond was exploited to conjugate doxorubicin to the polymer backbone. It was found that PreS1-pullulan-doxorubicin



Fig. 4.2 Characterization of pullulan-doxorubicin-pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate (PULL-DOX-PDTC) nanoparticles; (**a**) representative dynamic light scattering (DLS) and (**b**) transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of PULL-DOX-PDTC nanoparticles (DOX/PDTC: 21.26%/4.63%); (**c**) in vitro drug release profiles and (**d**) size change of PULL-DOX-PDTC nanoparticles (DOX/PDTC, 21.26%/16.26%) at different pH values (n = 3). (Reprinted with permission of Royal Society of Chemistry, Li et al. 2015b)

conjugate showed a twofold increase of anticancer activity with respect to the control pullulan-doxorubicin toward HepG2/SERPINB3 cells.

Folic acid (FA), a small non-immunogenic molecule, represented an attractive targeting agent to a large number of cancer cell types that overexpress the folate receptor (FR). By introducing folate functions in the supramolecular structure of anticancer bioconjugate, the internalization of the carriers was promoted, the therapeutic activity of drug carriers increased, and cardiotoxicity was reduced.

Scomparin et al. (2011) synthesized some antitumor bioconjugates: a folic acidfree derivative tagged as (NH₂-PEG)-PULL-(Cyst-DOX) containing 6.3% (w/w) doxorubicin, while folic acid-doxorubicin-coupled derivative labeled (FA-PEG)-PULL-(Cyst-DOX) was contained 6% (w/w) doxorubicin and 4.3% (w/w) folic acid. First, oxidized pullulan was functionalized with cysteamine (step I) and poly(ethylene glycol) bis(amine) PEG(NH₂)₂ (step II) and then conjugated with folic acid (step III) and doxorubicin (step IV) (Scheme 4.2). In continuation to this, Scomparin et al. (2015) compared the performance of supramolecular doxorubicin carriers depending on the nature of the nanocarriers: bioconjugates like (NH₂-PEG)-PULL-(Cyst-DOX) and (FA-PEG)-PULL-(Cyst-DOX), liposomes like PLD



Scheme 4.2 Synthesis of poly(ethylene glycol) bis(amine)-pullulan-cysteamine (NH₂-PEG)-PULL-(Cyst) and folic acid-poly(ethylene glycol)-pullulan-cysteamine-doxorubicin (FA-PEG)-PULL-(Cyst-DOX) bioconjugates. (Reprinted with permission of Elsevier, Scomparin et al. 2011)

named Doxil[®] and containing doxorubicin-loaded PEGylated liposomes, and Doxil[®]-folic acid conjugates. They concluded that folate receptor-targeted version of each nanocarrier specifically interacted in vitro with tumor cells via the folate ligand and reduced cardiotoxicity of drug delivery system.

Other pullulan derivatives were decorated with folic acid to develop doxorubicin carriers, too. Thus, maleilated pullulan (MP) was chosen as a polysaccharide support because it contained vinyl carboxylic acid groups susceptible for doxorubicin conjugation via primary amine bonds and pendant hydroxyl groups able to conjugate with folic acid (Zhang et al. 2011). The cellular uptake of folic acid-maleilated pullulan-doxorubicin conjugate was presented in Fig. 4.3. Also, in vitro cytotoxicity of bioconjugate was tested on an ovarian cancer cell line A2780. The resulted folic acid-maleilated pullulan-doxorubicin conjugate enhanced the therapeutic potential and reduced the systemic side effects of the drug.

The spherical self-assembled nanoparticles based on folate-decorated maleilated pullulan and having the average diameter of ~150 nm represented a co-delivery system for doxorubicin and pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate, successfully used in combination with chemotherapy due to an increased amount of doxorubicin transported within cells (Li et al. 2013).

Because pullulan itself, a linear, hydrophilic polymer, cannot load drugs, several attempts have been made for the introduction of the hydrophobic segments like poly(lactide) (PLLA) or poly(DL-lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLGA) into its backbone,



Fig. 4.3 Receptor-mediated endocytosis of folic acid-maleilated pullulan-doxorubicin (FA-MP-DOX) conjugate. (Reprinted with permission of Royal Society of Chemistry, Zhang et al. 2011)

resulting in amphiphilic polymers able to self-assemble in aqueous solution into micelle-type structures with poly(lactide) hydrophobic inner core and pullulan hydrophilic outer shell. Thermoresponsive nanogels from poly(L-lactide)-*g*-pullulan copolymers with different lactide contents can be used as a long-term doxorubicin delivery system in cancer treatments (Seo et al. 2012). As stimuli-responsive biomaterials, these grafted copolymers have the ability to change its molecular structure in accordance with the environmental conditions. Triggered by higher temperatures (e.g., 43 °C), these nanogels with hydrodynamic diameter between 121 and 163 nm at 25 °C and drug content of about 4% w/w may have increased rates of doxorubicin release, being thus a more efficient and effective system for killing cancer cells. In this way, higher temperatures facilitated the internalization of doxorubicin-loaded copolymer nanogels in the cells (Fig. 4.4).

Since the folate receptor is universally overexpressed on the tumor cell membrane, it represents a target for folic acid conjugated on different drug delivery systems. Lee et al. (2015) fabricated nanoparticles based on folic acid-conjugated pullulan and poly(DL-lactide-*co*-glycolide) graft copolymer for folate receptormediated drug delivery. Thus, model drug doxorubicin was incorporated in these nanoparticles, which self-assembled in water and have a diameter lower than 200 nm and drug content of about 7% w/w, in order to treat the folate receptoroverexpressing KB human carcinoma cells.

Beside folic acid, there are other hydrophobic molecules like biotin, retinoic acid, lipoic acid, stearic acid, and cholesterol which were introduced into the com-



Fig. 4.4 Molecular structure of poly(L-lactide)-*g*-pullulan (PLP) copolymer and schematic diagram for doxorubicin (DOX) release from thermosensitive PLP nanogels by triggering temperature. (Reprinted with permission of Elsevier, Seo et al. 2012)

position of pullulan-based antitumor drug delivery systems in order to induce them an amphiphilic character. Biotin, the water-soluble vitamin B7, a necessary element for cell growth and fatty acid production, involved in metabolism of the amino acids and lipids, represents a cofactor responsible for CO₂ transfer in some carboxylases. By a facile one-pot synthesis, Wang et al. (2016) prepared folate-biotin-pullulan (FBP) nanoparticles for encapsulation of doxorubicin. By conjugation with pullulan, the water solubility of biotin dramatically decreases because of the loss of hydrophilic carboxyl group and acts as a hydrophobic moiety, being responsible for the self-assembling of nanoparticles. Then, the conjugated folate was introduced into pharmaceutical formula, by conjugation of folate with hydroxyl groups of pullulan, as a targeting ligand for specific interaction with folate receptors which are overexpressed in various tumors of the breast, ovary, endometrium, kidney, lung, head, neck, brain, and bone marrow. Doxorubicin was encapsulated in selfassembled nanoparticles by membrane dialysis method and thus recorded a diameter of about 170 nm and zeta potential of -4.9 mV. The release behavior of drug, studied by dialysis against phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) solution, revealed a drug-loading content of 1.72% and 69% loading efficiency.

To avoid the general toxicity of anticancer drugs appeared by the distribution of these drugs in non-cancerous organs and cells, Hassanzadeh et al. (2016) adopted a better approach, with fewer side effects, namely, polymeric micelle design. For

biotin-targeted delivery of doxorubicin in breast cancer chemotherapy, they synthesized pullulan-retinoic acid-biotin conjugate using carbodiimide activation ester bond formation strategy. These amphiphilic structures possessing a hydrophilic and a hydrophobic moiety represented by pullulan and retinoic acid, respectively, had become suitable candidates to develop doxorubicin delivery systems due to their high colloidal stability in water, biodegradability, small particle size, and high loading capacity; zeta potential of -9.45 mV, particle diameter of about 192 nm, and entrapment efficiency of 92% were recorded. The negative zeta potential was related with the presence of numerous unreacted hydroxyl groups on the final conjugates. The micellar size originated from the hydrophobic forces which formed the hydrophobic chain into the core and the volume repulsion between the chains. It seems that the hydrophobic core of micelles acted as a vehicle for hydrophobic doxorubicin, but it had a limited entrapping capacity because the week noncovalent bonds formed into core were broken and the drug was fast released.

Retinoic acid, an active metabolite of retinol in the biological metabolic pathway, is used in chemotherapy because it controls the proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis of the cells. On the other hand, the anticancer activity of retinoic acid is controlled by retinoic acid receptor on the nuclear membrane. The antineoplastic or cytotoxic effect of all-trans-retinoic acid (ATRA), also named Tretinoin, was exploited by Lee et al. (2013). They designed and synthesized biodegradable nanogels PURA based on all-trans-retinoic acid-pullulan conjugate for doxorubicin delivery. The long carbon chain and the carboxylate group of retinoic acid make it compatible for conjugation with pullulan. For different degrees of substitution, e.g., 1.59, 2.78, or 4.00, different doxorubicin-loaded PURA nanogels were resulted with 230–260 nm hydrodynamic diameters, 38–47% drug-loading efficiency, and 1.1–1.4% drug contents. Although the biopolymer has low drug-loading capacity, high cellular uptake efficiency was shown. When the nanogels were internalized to cancer cells, pullulan was enzymatically degraded such that retinoic acid bounded to nuclear membrane receptor and doxorubicin was released in cytosol.

Amphiphilic self-assembled polymeric micelles represent suitable nanocarriers for anticancer drugs because they enhance their solubility in water, prolong the blood circulation in time, and favor the permeation and retention in tumor cells. Also, it is desirable to improve the therapeutic efficacy by a rapid drug release after micelle endocytosis in tumor cell. In this regard, the researchers studied smart stimuli-responsive systems able to trigger the drug release only at targeting site (Fig. 4.5). Usually, these sensitive micelles contain characteristic disulfide S-S bonds, which are stable in the mildly oxidizing extracellular medium but susceptible to be prone to rapid cleavage through thiol-disulfide exchange reactions with intracellular reducing molecules, especially with glutathione (GSH). The significant difference in glutathione level between extracellular and intracellular environments is the premise of design redox-sensitive micelles (Li et al. 2012). Thus, Wang X. and co-workers developed a novel intracellular reduction-sensitive delivery system of doxorubicin, based on pullulan-stearic acid conjugates with reduction-sensitive disulfide bonds P-ss-SA (Wang X. et al. 2014b). Pullulan succinate was linked to stearic acid by cystamine in the case of pullulan-disulfide-stearic acid (P-ss-SA)



Fig. 4.5 Self-assembly, accumulation at tumor tissue, and intracellular trafficking pathway of redox-sensitive micelles; receptor-meditated cellular internalization, endo- or lysosomal escape, reduction-triggered micelle disassembly, and drug release (I.V. (intravenous) administration of drug; EPR (enhanced permeability and retention) effect; GSH (glutathione) level). (Reprinted with permission of Elsevier, Li et al. 2012)

conjugate or by adipic dihydrazide in the case of its structural analog P-SA synthesized as control (Scheme 4.3). Pullulan-disulfide-stearic acid conjugates could selfassemble into micelles in aqueous media and encapsulate doxorubicin, but as a response to dithiothreitol, a similar medium with the reduction condition in human body, the disulfide bonds broke the micelles and triggered the fast release of doxorubicin.

The blank and doxorubicin-loaded micelles recorded dimensions around 190 nm, while the drug-loading content and encapsulation efficiency of pullulan-disulfidestearic acid micelles were around 6.19% and 65.53%, respectively. In vitro tests revealed negligible cytotoxicity of blank micelles against HepG2 and MCF-7 cells, but an excellent hemocompatibility. Both types of doxorubicin-loaded micelles could be effectively internalized in MCF-7 cells after 4 h. These results recommended the biocompatible reduction-sensitive pullulan-disulfide-stearic acid micelles as potential carrier systems for the intracellular delivery of doxorubicin.

In order to combine the chemotherapy with the gene therapy, researchers have to conceive biocompatible carriers capable for simultaneous loading of therapeutic drug and gene. Chen et al. (2015) prepared amphiphilic bifunctional pullulan derivative which contained stearic acid and low molecular weight branched



Scheme 4.3 Synthesis of pullulan-disulfide-stearic acid (P-ss-SA) conjugate and its structural analog pullulan-stearic acid (P-SA) in the presence of 1-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)-3-ethyl-carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC), 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP), and *N*-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS). (Reprinted with permission of Royal Society of Chemistry, Wang et al. 2014b)

poly(ethylenimine) for the co-delivery of doxorubicin and p53 protein. This new system was able to self-assemble in water into core-shell-type micelles having an average size of 189 nm, a positive zeta potential of 18 mV, doxorubicin-loading content of about 5.10%, and encapsulation efficiency for doxorubicin of 56.07%, respectively. The co-delivery of doxorubicin and therapy gene p53 using these amphiphilic micelles, successfully internalized by MCF-7 cells, displayed higher cytotoxicity and induced a higher apoptosis rate of tumor cells in vitro compared with single doxorubicin or p53 delivery. Later, a similar carrier based on amphiphilic bifunctional pullulan derivative was design to use in cancer co-delivery of doxorubicin and p53 gene (Chen et al. 2017). In this case, stearic acid was replaced with lipophilic desoxycholic acid and grafted on pullulan backbone, along with the same low molecular weight branched poly(ethylenimine) of 1 kDa. It has been found that the resulted nanomicelles have a great potential in delivering hydrophobic anticancer drugs and therapeutic genes simultaneously for improved cancer therapy, too.

By coupling cholesterol to pullulan via disulfide bond, Li et al. (2014) prepared a series of doxorubicin-encapsulated multifunctional nanoparticles, specifically targeted to hepatic carcinoma cells and able of triggered drug release. Cholesterol, as small endogenous molecule of the body's metabolic process, was chosen to hydrophobize and stabilize the self-assembled nanoparticles. The cholesterolmodified pullulan (CHP) conjugates were developed following a two-step synthesis: (a) synthesis of cholesterol-dithiodipropionic acid monoester (CDE) by reaction of cholesterol with 3,3'-dithiodipropionic acid (DTDPA) and (b) conjugation of cholesterol-dithiodipropionic acid monoester with pullulan (Scheme 4.4).



Scheme 4.4 Synthesis route of reducible cholesterol-modified pullulan (2); (**a**) synthesis of cholesterol-dithiodipropionic acid monoester (CDE) (1) by reaction of cholesterol with 3,3'-dithiodipropionic acid (DTDPA) in the presence of *N*,*N*-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC), 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP), and tetrahydrofuran (THF); (**b**) conjugation of CDE with pullulan in the presence of 1-ethyl-3-[3-(dimethylamino)propyl]carbodiimide (EDC), 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP), and dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). (Reprinted with permission of Royal Society of Chemistry, Li et al. 2014)

The new method of synthesis has proposed to replace the insensitive exogenous 1, 6-hexyl diisocyanate with 3,3'-dithiodipropionic acid. The reducible cholesterolmodified pullulan (rCHP) self-assembled in water to form stable nanoparticles with diameter ranging from 57 to 89 nm and narrow size distributions with polydispersity index less than 0.2 depending on the substitution degree (3.6–8.3). Doxorubicinloaded rCHP nanoparticles resulted by dialyzing the dimethyl sulfoxide solution of rCHP and doxorubicin against water were spherical in shape, mono-distributed in size, and homogeneous. The authors suggested that the hydrophobic interactions and π - π stacking interactions between doxorubicin molecules were responsible for drug-loaded nanoparticle formation. The small dimensions of drug-loaded nanoparticles having diameter ranging between 80 and 160 nm contributed to extravasation into hepatic tumors through enhanced permeability and retention effect but also to avoid its capture by macrophages. In vitro and in vivo investigations of antitumor effects confirmed that doxorubicin was not only concentrated in tumor but also internalized by hepatoma carcinoma cell by receptor-mediated endocytosis and fast released in HepG2 cells.

A novel series of amphiphilic and pH-sensitive nanoparticulated carriers based on pullulan labeled as UCPA were prepared by conjugation of cholesterol succinate, a hydrophobically modified moiety, and urocanic acid, a pH-sensitive grafted moiety, to the polysaccharide backbone (Wang Y. et al. 2014c). UCPA nanoparticles prepared by the precipitation method were roughly spherical with sizes in a range of 150–300 nm and represented a good candidate for physically loading of doxorubicin. It was observed that these nanoparticles with a degree of substitution of urocanyl and cholesterol moieties of 6.8% and 3.5%, respectively, recorded relatively high doxorubicin-loading capability strong in vitro pH-induced drug release; their responding pH value was around 6.5. Also, they realized the intracellular delivery of doxorubicin after internalization and enhanced cytotoxicity of doxorubicin against MCF-7 cells.

In the last decade, the self-assembly capacity of another biocompatible pullulan derivatives, like carboxymethylated, thiolated, or lactosylated pullulan, was exploited to design multifunctional compounds able to load or co-load different anticancer molecules, doxorubicin or doxorubicin, together with gene. For some of them, the complex supramolecular structure was tailored to increase the drug-loading capacity of such systems.

In order to prevent undesired interaction between cationic carboxymethylated pullulan (CMP) with serum proteins and blood components, the electrostatic interaction with anionic poly(allylamine) (PAA) was permitted, resulting in self-assembled nanocomplexes (Vora et al. 2014). Initially, the pH-sensitive doxorubicin-carboxy-methylated pullulan conjugate was synthesized using the hydrazone bonds, and then complexation with polyanion was performed in aqueous solution. Resulted nano-complexes self-assembled into spherical shape with dimensions lower than 250 nm. These nanocomplexes were the subject of a cancer combination therapy which in addition involved the conjugation of a nucleotide like plasmid DNA to the drug delivery system. Thus, it was contemplated a single nanodelivery system and the synergistic effects of different therapeutic agents that make it up. The cytotoxic effects of doxorubicin-carboxymethylated pullulan-poly(allylamine) nanocomplexes have been monitored on a human embryonic kidney cell line HEK293 using MTT cell viability assay. Also, it was pointed out the beneficial effects.

Because the polysaccharides bear a large number of reactive groups like –OH, –COOH, or –NH₂, they are susceptible for chemical modification in order to obtain

various amphiphilic derivatives involving hydrophobic moieties. Mohamed Wali et al. (2017) developed a targeted drug delivery systems based on arginine thirdgeneration dendrons grafted on lactosylated pullulan labeled as LP-g-G3P according to Scheme 4.5. Supramolecular structure of LP-g-G3P spontaneously self-assembled into core-shell nanoarchitectures in the aqueous media, resulting in medium dimensions of 54 nm and polydispersity index of 0.13, and was tested as a carrier for doxorubicin delivery. Doxorubicin was selectively and stably encapsulated in the hydrophobic core of dendrons through multiple hydrophobic, hydrogen bonding and π - π interactions. From applicative point of view, it was observed the internalization of doxorubicin-loaded LP-g-G3P nanoparticles into the hepatoma carcinoma cells and inhibition of HepG2 and NIH3T3 cell proliferation.

Different thiolated conjugates of pullulan with poly(ethyleneimine) (PEI) were synthesized by conjugation with varying amounts of mercaptosuccinic acid (MSA). The formed conjugate was oxidized to obtain reversible disulfide linked cationic pullulan labeled as PPMSS. Nanoplexes between PPMSS and calf thymus DNA, labeled as ctDNA, were prepared in different weight ratios. PPMSS condensed with DNA and formed nanostructured entities with dimensions lower than 150 nm and



Scheme 4.5 Reaction of synthesis for amphiphilic lactosylated pullulan-*graft*-propargylamine third-generation dendrons LP-*g*-G3P. (Reprinted with permission of Elsevier, Mohamed Wali et al. 2017)

zeta potential between +10 and +19 mV. The viability of C6 rat glioma cells pretreated with PPMSS-ctDNA nanoplexes and later treated with doxorubicin has been monitored. Mercaptosuccinic acid acted as a ligand to target cancer cells effectively via EPR effect. Also, the synergetic effect of p53 plasmid in augmenting doxorubicin sensitivity in C6 glioma cells treated with PPMSS-p53-doxorubicin dual delivery system was analyzed. All observations have been summed up to the conclusion that the polymer PPMSS represented a promising vector for gene and drug delivery applications (Priya et al. 2017).

Another anthracycline drug able to inhibit DNA and RNA synthesis is *Epirubicin*, a molecule primarily used against gastric cancer, breast and ovarian cancer, lung cancer, and lymphomas, with a reduced toxicity and a faster elimination compared with its isomer doxorubicin. This chemotherapeutic drug is favored over doxorubicin because it appears to cause fewer side effects like vomiting, rush, mouth inflammation, hair loss, bone marrow suppression, anaphylaxis, and heart damage.

Pullulan acetate (PA) nanoparticles with nearly spherical shape, dimensions of 200–450 nm, and low zeta potentials both in distilled water and in 10% FBS were prepared by hydrophobization of pullulan in order to obtain self-assembled carriers able to encapsulate the hydrophobic epirubicin in their core (Tang et al. 2010). The safety tests of pullulan acetate nanoparticles realized on mice showed that these model animals tolerated a dose of 200 mg/kg. In addition, the imperceptible pathological modifications and nonexistent inflammatory reactions in heart, liver, spleen, lung, and kidney sections stained with hematoxylin and eosin suggested no apparent toxicity of pullulan acetate nanoparticles. Epirubicin-loaded pullulan acetate nanoparticles recorded a much longer circulation time and a half-time of about 17 h, 2.12 times that of free epirubicin.

In order to improve the cancer-targeting activity of epirubicin, Zhang et al. (2010) additionally conjugated folic acid molecules on pullulan acetate chains. Consequently, the epirubicin-loaded and folate-modified pullulan acetate nanoparticles exhibited a faster drug release than epirubicin-pullulan acetate nanoparticles in vitro. The total amount of drug released at 37 °C (PBS, pH 7.4) from epirubicin-pullulan acetate nanoparticles and epirubicin-folic acid-pullulan acetate nanoparticles over 72 h was 52% and 92%, respectively. Folate moieties enhanced hydrophilicity of epirubicin-loaded nanoparticles in such a manner phosphate-buffered saline medium easily accessed the core of nanoparticles and increased the drug release rate. Also, folate moieties increased the intracellular uptake of nanoparticles as a consequence of specific binding of folic acid-epirubicin-pullulan acetate nanoparticles with folate receptors on KB cells.

To deliver epirubicin to Hela and MCF-7 cell lines, other researchers tried to optimize some micellar structures based on pullulan, tocopherol succinate, and folic acid. Because these micelles showed the particle size of 149.5 nm, zeta potential of -6.49 mV, a polydispersity index of 0.26, loading efficiency of 88%, and release efficiency of 63%, they could be recommended as a promising candidate for epirubicin treatment of cancers (Hassanzadeh et al. 2018).

The amphiphilic pullulan derivatives represent a class of substances intensively used in pharmaceuticals. Thus, cholesterol-modified pullulan (CHSP) was synthesized

using succinic acid as a linker, a safely compound involved in the body's metabolic process (Shen et al. 2014). Cholesterol-modified pullulan served as carrier for epirubicin. The size of cholesterol-modified pullulan nanoparticles with a mean diameter of 52 nm increased to about 160 nm when they were loaded with epirubicin. Often the pharmacokinetic profiles of the parent drug are different compared with those of the drug encapsulated in nanoparticles. Also, the physicochemical properties of nanoparticles influence their behavior in vivo. In the case of the abovementioned study, the more than twice higher half-time of epirubicin-cholesterol-modified pullulan nanoparticles in the blood plasma, namely, about 19 h compared with parent drug, suggested that the bioavailability of epirubicin was improved when it was loaded into cholesterol-modified pullulan nanoparticles.

Paclitaxel (PTX), also known as Taxol, a lipophilic substance extracted for the first time from *Taxus brevifolia* in 1971 and approved for medical use in 1993, is a chemotherapy molecule intensively used by specialists to treat cancers. Few years later it was discovered that paclitaxel was actually synthesized by endophytic fungi in the shrub bark.

Lee et al. (2012) succeeded to encapsulate paclitaxel in a pullulan derivative by the nanoprecipitation method. Previously, they hydrophobically modified the polysaccharide using acetic anhydride and resulting pullulan acetate. The viability of RAW264.7 macrophage cell line (more than 93%) in the presence of pullulan acetate nanoparticles having dimensions lower than 100 nm, tested in different concentrations, indicated the safety of particle usage in human subjects, too. The sustained paclitaxel release profile of nanoparticles tested in vitro against HCT116 human colon carcinoma cells, together with reduction in tumor growth observed in vivo experiments on the same type of carcinoma cells, indicated paclitaxel-incorporated pullulan acetate nanoparticles as a hopeful candidate for antitumor drug delivery.

Keeping in mind that the tumors secrete hyaluronidase, some researchers designed, in the first step, biodegradable nanoparticles consisted of acetylated pullulan (Yim et al. 2013). Then, the surface of particles was coated with hyaluronic acid (HA) and was loaded with paclitaxel in such a manner that nanoparticles recorded size of 200–250 nm and surface charge of 0 mV, respectively. After enzymatic degradation of hyaluronic acid, resulted cationic nanoparticles easily penetrated into tumor tissues by electrostatic interactions, and paclitaxel-loaded pullulan acetate nanoparticles were located only at the tumor site by the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect (Scheme 4.6). It was found that, after intravenous injections with control and test samples to laboratory mice bearing heterogeneous cancer cells, the antitumor efficiency of drug-loading hyaluronic acid-treated nanoparticles was increased compared with the paclitaxel-pullulan acetate nanoparticles. This was due to the fact that degradable cationic nanogel has exerted a synergistic action on paclitaxel.

To replace sorafenib, an antiangiogenic molecule with unsatisfactory results for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma, the researchers have proposed an alternative treatment based on a combination of paclitaxel and combretastatin A4 labeled as CA4, two microtubule-associated inhibitors which displayed synergistic effects on tumor cells and tumor vasculature (Zhang et al. 2016). In this regard, they explored



Scheme 4.6 A schematic illustration showing the composition of the degradable deep penetrating cationic nanoparticle (DpNG) and how it can be used to penetrate into tissue. DpNG was able to penetrate deep into the tissue via paracellular transport. Acetylated pullulan-paclitaxel nanoparticles (PA-PTX NPs) were located only at the tumor site by the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect. (With permission of Elsevier, Yim et al. 2013)

in vivo and in vitro potentials of some complex nanoparticles with a role of carriers for each one therapeutic molecule, which could improve the drug solubility and delivery to the target tumors. These nanoparticulated systems contained chargereversible pullulan CAPL-based shells and poly(β -amino ester)-poly(lactic-*co*glycolic acid) PBAE-PLGA cores. The synthesis and the action mechanism of them in tumor cells were presented in Scheme 4.7. β -Carboxylic amide groups from the structure of charge-reversible pullulan were able to spontaneously break in acidic extracellular tumor microenvironment and subsequently detached from the nanoparticle surfaces due to the electrical repulsion between charge-reversible pullulan and positively charged poly(β -amino ester)-poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) nanocores. Beside the cleavage of β -carboxylic amide bond in charge-reversible pullulan, the "proton sponge" effect of poly(β -amino ester) realized the efficient and orderly releases of combretastatin A4 and paclitaxel, too.

Hong et al. (2011) aimed to evaluate in vitro the antitumor effect of combinatorial targeted therapy against CT 26 colon carcinoma cell lines. They used paclitaxel-incorporated pullulan acetate nanoparticles, prepared by the nanoprecipitation-solvent evaporation method and having a medium size of 160 nm, and all-trans-retinoic acids-incorporated nanoparticles, with a diameter of 60 nm resulted from dialysis, using a methoxy poly(ethylene glycol)-grafted chitosan (ChitoPEG) copolymer. By incorporation in nanoparticles, both anticancer agents, possessing hydrophobic character in their original non-encapsulated state, have exercised their synergistic anticancer effects, being an inhibitor of tumor cell invasion mediated by all-trans-retinoic acids and an antiproliferative agent represented by paclitaxel, respectively.

Huang et al. (2017) developed novel reversibly stabilized core-cross-linked pullulan nanoparticles as a "natural" and intelligent platform for active asialoglycoprotein receptor-targeted delivery of paclitaxel, a highly hydrophobic diterpenoid.



Scheme 4.7 Composition and structure of charge-reversible pullulan-poly(β -amino ester)poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (CAPL-PBAE-PLGA) nanoparticles and their mechanisms for in vivo delivery of antitumor drugs; (**a**) synthesis route of amine pullulan (AMPL) and CAPL; (**b**) pH-responsive charge-reversal mechanism of β -carboxyl amide bond in CAPL; (**c**) chemical structure of PBAE; (**d**) in vivo hepatoma-targeting and stepwise pH-responsive mechanisms of CAPL/ PBAE/PLGA nanoparticles (enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect; vascular endothelial cell (VEC)). (Reprinted with permission of Elsevier, Zhang et al. 2016)

These core-cross-linked nanoparticles were prepared from pullulan-lipoic acid derivatives and then cross-linked in the presence of a catalytic amount of 1.4-dithio-DL-threitol. Lipoic acid, a natural product of human metabolic pathway, was chosen to be a part of pharmaceutical formulation because it only contains carboxyl chains, so the formation of by-products during esterification is negligible. But in alkaline environment with 1.4-dithio-DL-threitol, the disulfide-containing lipoic ring is prone to ring-opening polymerization, thereby forming inter-disulfide-bond linkage. The conjugation with lipoic acid transformed the hydrophilic pullulan into hydrophobic polysaccharide, facilitating nanoparticle formation and core-crosslinking. The resulted disulfide-cross-linked nanoparticles were reversibly stable under the extracellular environment but also can rapidly de-cross-link in intracellular reductive matrix and release the drug cargo. Thus, 1,4-dithio-DL-threitol was the trigger for paclitaxel release from cross-linked nanoparticles. The authors concluded that, in general, the combination of self-targeting and reversible cross-linking can serve as a promising strategy for polymer-based delivery of targeted hydrophobic or lipophilic drugs.

Mitoxantrone, also known as mitozantrone, is an anthracenedione antineoplastic agent able to block the topoisomerase 2 such that the cancer cell's DNA gets tangled up, finally stopping them to grow and reproduce. It was used in monotherapy to treat certain types of cancer, such as acute myeloid or lymphoblastic leukemia, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, and metastatic breast cancer, or in combination with prednisone for metastatic hormone-refractory prostate cancer.

The entrapment or entanglement in drug mono- or co-delivery systems based on pullulan represents a viable approach even for mitoxantrone. To overcome the multidrug resistance of mitoxantrone, Mitha and Rekha (2014) conceived a nanoplatform labeled as PPEICD by coupling β -cyclodextrin and cationic poly(ethyleneimine) to hydrophilic pullulan for co-delivery of mitoxantrone and gene encoding tumorsuppressor protein p53. In this complex system, β -cyclodextrin was the nanocontainer for the drug, while the cationic moiety had the role to condense pDNA. The tests revealed that the conjugate was nontoxic and hemocompatible. The authors observed that combined drug and gene-loaded nanoplexes recorded a more apoptotic effect than either the drug or gene individually. Cell viability studies on HepG2 and C6 cell lines demonstrated that the PPEICD nanoplatform can efficiently and selectively deliver both p53 and mitoxantrone to cancer cells inducing high cell death.

Tao et al. (2012) were concerned about how biological systems respond to administration of drug-loaded nanoparticles. They suggested to take into consideration the effect of human serum albumin (HSA) binding on drug release. For this purpose, they prepared a pullulan-based nanocarrier for mitoxantrone and then studied the complexation with human serum albumin. Firstly, carboxyethyl pullulan (CEP) was synthesized with additive reaction using acrylic acid and pullulan. Then, cholesterol was introduced into carboxyethyl pullulan by esterification reaction, resulting in cholesterol-modified carboxyethyl pullulan (CHCP) conjugates. For comparison, cholesterol-modified pullulan conjugate was also synthesized. In this way, carboxyl groups conjugated to amphiphilic polysaccharide which generated a negative surface charge to cholesterol-modified pullulan nanoparticles, cholesterol-modified pullulan and cholesterol-modified carboxyethyl pullulan, consisted of a hydrophobic core able to encapsulate hydrophobic drugs and hydrophilic shell responsible for solubility and stability of nanoparticles in aqueous solutions. Nanoparticles were loaded with mitoxantrone, recording thus an encapsulation efficiency of 58% and 50%, dimensions of 168 and 192 nm, and loading capacity of 7.12% and 6.14% in the case of cholesterol-modified pullulan and cholesterol-modified carboxyethyl pullulan, respectively. Also, cholesterol-modified carboxyethyl pullulan formed self-aggregated nanoparticles in aqueous solution with a spherical structure and zeta potential of -20 mV, in contrast to -1.2 mV of cholesterol-modified pullulan nanoparticles. The complexation of human serum albumin with mitoxantrone-loaded nanoparticles has been highlighted by structural changes in protein, meaning reduction of α -helical content after human serum albumin addition to the release media.

Yang et al. (2010) designed novel cholesterol-modified pullulan (CHSP) conjugates with succinvl linkages with different degrees of substitution of cholesterol, from 3.87 to 5.70 cholesterol groups per hundred glucose units. These almost spherical in shape nanoparticles with sizes in a range of 51-73 nm, depending on the degree of substitution, represented the carriers for the model anticancer drug mitoxantrone. Mitoxantrone-loaded cholesterol-modified pullulan self-aggregated nanoparticles recorded increased dimensions, from 153 to 174 nm, and mitoxantroneloading capacity from 4.35% to 14.29%. Generally, it was observed a sustained release of mitoxantrone from cholesterol-modified pullulan nanoparticles and a decreased mitoxantrone release rate with increasing the pH value of media. Starting from cholesterol-modified pullulan, Yang et al. (2014) synthesized a series of biotinconjugated compounds and explored their self-aggregation behavior in aqueous media and drug-loading capacity. The biotin-modified cholesteryl pullulan (Bio-CHSP) nanoparticles had the ability to load mitoxantrone with of an efficiency of 80%, 85%, or 53% and recorded dimensions of 205 nm, 170 nm, or 146 nm, in accordance with the degrees of substitution of biotin moiety, 20, 29, or 39. In vivo toxicity tests, realized on mice, revealed no representative histopathological changes in selected tissues derived from slaughtered animals and previously treated with biotin-modified cholesteryl pullulan nanoparticles.

Recent studies presented less explored pullulan-based systems involved in targeted administration of other antitumor drugs like 5-fluorouracil, gemcitabine, methotrexate, cassiarin A, or hydroxycamptothecin.

Beside plasmid DNA-expressing green fluorescent protein (pEGFP), a model gene, *Methotrexate* (MTX), as a model chemotherapy agent, was part of a complex nanoparticulated system with core-shell structure based on pullulan and poly(β -amino) ester (PBAE) proposed for hepatocarcinoma treatment (Liu et al. 2014). The gene was fully condensed with cationic poly(β -amino) ester polymer and formed the inner core of poly(β -amino) ester-pEGFP polycomplex. The prodrug methotrexate-pullulan, synthesized by conjugation of a drug to pullulan by ester bond, was then adsorbed on the surface of poly(β -amino) ester-pEGFP polycomplex and formed methotrexate-pullulan-poly(β -amino) ester-pEGFP nanoparticles. These nanoparticles realized the efficient transfection of pEGFP in HepG2 cells and exhibited significant inhibitory effect on the cell proliferation.

To maximize the therapeutic efficiency of **10-Hydroxycamptothecin**, a poor watersoluble derivative of camptothecin, with low bioavailability and nonselective cytotoxicity to healthy cells or tissues, that inhibits DNA topoisomerase by enacting strand breaks in chromosomal DNA, Wang J. et al. (2014a) developed a convenient and safe delivery system based on self-assembled core-shell nanomicelles. These amphiphilic nanomicelles consisting of α -tocopheryl succinate-modified pullulan were used for the encapsulation of the hydrophobic anticancer drug 10-hydroxycamptothecin. The size of micelles varied from about 160 nm in empty or blank state to 170-250 nm in the case of nanomicelles loaded with 10-hydroxycamptothecin, but polydispersity index was maintained relatively constant (about 0.2). All drug-loaded polymeric micelles showed a sustained and pH-sensitive drug release pattern; a low pH accelerated the drug release rate. Depending on the molar ratio tocopheryl/pullulan and the weight ratio between a drug and copolymer, the loading capacity and entrapment efficiency of nanomicelles varied between 1.65-16.42% and 56-95%, respectively. MTT assay indicated that the blank polymeric nanomicelles were nontoxic to normal HEK293 and T lymphocyte cells. In vitro antitumor activity studies using MCF-7 cells showed that 10-hydroxycamptothecin-loaded nanomicelles having molar ratio tocopheryl/pullulan of 0.3 and weight ratio between drug and copolymer of 0.1 were more cytotoxic than free drug due to the higher uptake of drug-loaded nanomicelles compared with free 10-hydroxycamptothecin. The cellular uptake of micelles was an energy-dependent and actin polymerization-associated endocytic process which favored the rapid transport of drug from micelles into the cell nuclei.

Gemcitabine, known as 2',2'-difluorodeoxycytidine, is a nucleoside analog used as chemotherapy which inhibits thymidylate synthetase, leading to inhibition of DNA synthesis and cell death. More exactly, as with fluorouracil and other analogs of pyrimidines, gemcitabine replaces one of the building blocks of nucleic acids, in this case cytidine, during DNA replication. The process arrests tumor growth, as new nucleosides cannot be attached to the "faulty" nucleoside, resulting in apoptosis or cellular "suicide" (https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs). This chemotherapy medication is effective in the treatment of solid tumors in non-small cell lung, pancreatic, bladder, ovarian, breast, or esophageal cancer and lymphomas.

Preparation of pharmaceutical formulations in the case of this drug with excellent antitumor proprieties is a challenge taking into account that the achievement of both drug solubility and stability in a solution state is required. Even that liposomal or particulated systems were tested in the past for delivery of gemcitabine, very few proved be effective for local or systemic controlled delivery of gemcitabine. A non-invasive alternative to surgery for the treatment of benign and malignant esophageal, gastrointestinal, and bile duct strictures or unresectable malignant obstructions supposes using nonvascular drug-eluting stents. Starting from these considerations, Moon et al. (2011) designed self-expandable metallic stents covered by a double-layered polymeric membrane composed from poly(tetrafluoroethylene) (PTFE) as a primary membrane and pullulan acetate. Polysaccharidic compound represented the drug-loading controlled-release matrix. While the thickness of the pullulan acetate-

poly(tetrafluoroethylene) membrane increased from 37.7 to 52.3 mm with the degree of acetylation ranging from 1.18 to 2.10, the gemcitabine loading in the membrane was also increased from 186 to 216 mg/cm². Pullulan acetate with a higher degree of acetylation had greater drug-loading capacity with more extended release of gemcitabine over 30 days. Pullulan acetate increased the hydrophilicity and smoothness of the membrane and possibly increased the tissue compatibility. In vivo tests revealed that subcutaneous CT-26 colon tumors totally regressed following the treatment with gemcitabine-pullulan acetate-poly(tetrafluoroethylene) film without systemic exposure of gemcitabine or its related toxicities (Fig. 4.6).

It seems that all experimental results recommended this type of stent for the treatment of malignant gastrointestinal cancer as well as cancer-related stenosis.



Fig. 4.6 In vivo inhibition of tumor growth. Stent membranes based on gemcitabine-pullulan acetate-poly(tetrafluoroethylene) (Gem-PA-PTFE) (d) or PA-PTFE (b) and Gem solution (c) were inserted or injected at subtumoral sites and were compared with non-treated specimens (a) Gemeluting stent membranes (Gem-PA-PTFE) have exerted total regression of subcutaneous tumors induced by a murine colorectal carcinoma cell line CT-26 (d) (Reprinted with permission of Elsevier, Moon et al. 2011)

4.4 Pullulan-Based Systems with Antioxidant Activity and Free Radical Scavenging Properties

Under oxidative stress conditions, the excessive levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), constantly generated and eliminated in the biological system under normal physiological conditions by regulatory pathways, can damage the cellular proteins, lipids, and DNA, leading to fatal lesions in cell that contribute to carcinogenesis (Dickinson and Chang 2011).

To overcome the aging and carcinogenesis of cells, it is important to maintain a balanced diet with compounds having antioxidant activity and free radical scavenging properties like rutin or curcumin. These types of substances need to be protected by pH variations until they get into blood circulation. Curcumin and rutin are polyphenolic compounds known to have antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities. A combination therapy that included the two substances was tested to improve inflammatory bowel diseases.

Rutin, also called rutoside, quercetin-3-O-rutinoside, or sophorin, is a glycoside of flavonoid quercetin, endowed with hydroxyl functional groups; founded in a wide variety of plants, e.g., capers, citrus fruits, and apple; and used as an antioxidant, anticoagulant, or anti-inflammatory agent. This bioflavonoid was the subject of the fabrication of some electrospun antioxidant pullulan nanofibers containing 4% w/v Pluronic F127 solid dispersions and rutin (Lee et al. 2017). Compared with raw rutin, it seems that the version of the drug loaded on smooth and porous nanofibers presented an enhanced solubility and UV stability but at the same time retained its antioxidant capacity, recording a fast drug release profile.

Curcumin, the active ingredient of turmeric, is a substance that has been attributed in recent years to anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antimicrobial, anticancer, and cholesterol-lowering properties, which could be efficiently adsorb in organism in the presence of Bioperine, the active ingredient extracted from the *Piper nigrum* plant. To improve its therapeutic index, the researchers developed new pullulanbased delivery systems such as micelles, nanogels, or nanoparticles in order to prolong the protection of curcumin during circulation or to improve its toxicity toward cancer cells.

Pullulan acetate nanoparticles loaded with curcumin had been proposed to treat liver diseases (Ganeshkumar et al. 2016). These curcumin-loaded pullulan acetate nanoparticles improved the encapsulation efficiency, stability, and therapeutic efficiency of curcumin with sustained release, under physiological conditions, and thus countered its poor bioavailability rendered by its physiochemical properties like low solubility and stability in aqueous medium. These new nanoparticles have been proposed as an effective hepatoprotective agent against diethyl nitrosamine, a compound founded in tobacco smoke which induced liver damage.

Sarika et al. (2015) developed pullulan-curcumin conjugates with and without targeting ligand in order to analyze and compare their cytotoxicity difference in HepG2 cells. The entire study was realized in few steps: (1) oxidation of pullulan-to-pullulan aldehyde (Pu Ald), (2) modification of lactobionic acid (LbA) with ethylene-

diamine to introduce amino groups required for Schiff's base reaction with pullulan aldehyde resulting in LbANH₂, (3) preparation of LbANH₂-pullulan aldehyde conjugate, (4) modification of curcumin by the addition of succinic anhydride SA, and (5) preparation of LbANH₂-pullulan aldehyde-curcumin succinic anhydride and pullulan-curcumin succinic anhydride conjugates. In this work, galactose-containing lactobionic acid is selected as the targeting ligand. Galactose-terminal molecules or conjugates are selectively recognized by asialoglycoprotein receptor present on the sinusoidal surface of the hepatocytes and transport them to lysosomes inside the liver cells.

The self-assembled amphiphilic micelles of LbANH₂-pullulan aldehydecurcumin succinic anhydride conjugate and pullulan-curcumin succinic anhydride conjugate exhibited unimodal distribution with hydrodynamic diameter in the range of 355 nm and 363 nm, respectively. These values were recorded by dynamic light scattering (DLS) measurements and were slightly different from these from scanning electron microscopy (SEM): 290 nm and 320 nm, respectively. The negative zeta potential of pullulan-curcumin succinic anhydride of -15 mV and -10 mV in LbANH₂-pullulan aldehyde-curcumin succinic anhydride conjugate was derived from the presence of unreacted succinic acid groups on the conjugated curcumin molecules and indicated the absence of cross-linking reaction between pullulan and curcumin succinic anhydride.

In vitro drug release studies performed for 48 h at two different pH revealed a fast release of curcumin at acidic pH and relatively slower at pH 7.4. LbANH₂-pullulan aldehyde-curcumin succinic anhydride conjugate showed better and selective toxicity toward HepG2 cells compared to pullulan-curcumin succinic anhydride conjugate and manifested the targeting efficacy of galactose moiety. The cellular uptake studies of LbANH₂-pullulan aldehyde-curcumin succinic anhydride conjugates demonstrated amelio-rated accumulation of the galactosylated conjugate in HepG2 via asialoglycoprotein receptor-mediated pathway. All these results showed that both conjugate micelles are suitable candidates for delivery of curcumin toward hepatocarcinoma cells.

The polymeric micelles, liposomes, polymeric nanoparticles, lipid-based nanoparticles, and hydrogels represented solutions for loading of low molecular weight and hydrophobic polyphenols like curcumin. This chemopreventive and therapeutic agent is widely used in liver pathologies due to its potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties. To prevent its extremely low aqueous solubility, rapid systemic elimination, inadequate tissue absorption, and degradation at alka-line pH, Yuan et al. (2014) synthesized a novel carrier for curcumin based on glyc-yrrhetinic acid-pullulan (GAP) with different degrees of substitutions (6.2, 4.5, 1.2) of glycyrrhetinic acid, an important bioactive compound in traditional Chinese medicine liquorice with anti-inflammatory, antiviral, antimicrobial, antioxidative, and anticancer activities and immunomodulatory, hepatoprotective, and cardioprotective properties. The self-assembled spherical nanoparticles were prepared by the dialysis method and were tested for their capacity to load curcumin in a simulated physiological environment; thus, liquid chromatography recorded values of 10%, 7%, and 4% for the same w/w ratio of 10 for drug/carrier, depending on the

degree of substitution of each nanoparticle. The curcumin release was sustained and pH-dependent. A MTT study showed curcumin-glycyrrhetinic acid-pullulan nanoparticles with higher cytotoxicity in HepG2 cells than free curcumin, while glycyrrhetinic acid-pullulan nanoparticles had no significant cytotoxicity. Furthermore, the curcumin-GAP nanoparticles could significantly improve the water solubility, stability, and cytotoxicity of curcumin in HepG2 cells in vitro, which may due to the liver target of glycyrrhetinic acid and the inherent affinity of pullulan biomolecules for the liver cells.

D'Souza et al. (2013) have proposed to compare in silico to in vivo the asialoglycoprotein receptor ligand binding for hepatic targeting of curcumin-loaded Gantrez (GZ) nanoparticles. For this purpose, carbohydrate-based hepatocyte asialoglycoprotein receptor ligands were selected: kappa carrageenan KC, arabinogalactan AG, and pullulan P. Arabinogalactan and kappa carrageenan are galactose based, pullulan is a glucose-based polymer, and Gantrez is the free acid form of the copolymer of methyl vinyl ether and maleic anhydride (PVM/MA) with excellent film-forming capacity and mucosal bioadhesivity. Curcumin-Gantrez nanoparticles with dimensions between 530 and 550 nm and polydispersity index of 0.31–0.38 were prepared by nanoprecipitation and anchored with the ligands by nonspecific adsorption onto preformed nanoparticles; the change in zeta potential values from -12 to 30 mV confirmed adsorption of the ligands. After 1 h from intravenous administration of nanoparticles to rats, the in vivo hepatic accumulation lowered in the order: curcumin-Gantrez-arabinogalactan, curcumin-Gantrez-kappa carrageenan, and curcumin-Gantrez-pullulan. At the end of 6 h, pullulan exhibited maximum hepatic accumulation and arabinogalactan minimum accumulation. In turn, in silico study revealed maximum hepatic accumulation for arabinogalactan and pullulan. The authors concluded that arabinogalactan ligand could enable to a rapid and high uptake of curcumin nanoparticles, while pullulan ligand facilitated prolonged hepatic retention of nanoparticles.

4.5 Pullulan-Based Systems with Anti-inflammatory and Immunomodulatory Properties

Anti-inflammatory drugs like indomethacin, diclofenac, naproxen, piroxicam, and etanercept and immunomodulatory drugs such as silymarin and cucurbitacin B were the subject of entrapment or encapsulation in pullulan-based systems.

Beside analgesic and antipyretic effects, *Indometacin* is a nonsteroidal antiinflammatory agent with anti-inflammatory activity that inhibited the activity of cyclooxygenase and consequently the synthesis of prostaglandins involved in pain, fever, and inflammation. Indomethacin was used as hydrophobic model drug to be incorporated by different methods like nanoprecipitation and dialysis at room temperature, using N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF) or dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) as organic solvents, into thermoresponsive pullulan-grafted-poly(*N*isopropylacrylamide) (P-g-pNIPAM) copolymers. The higher loading and entrapment efficiency were obtained by dropping in water of a *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide solution containing both the copolymer and the drug. For 1/1 weight ratio of indomethacin/polymer and 10 g/L polymer concentration, the drug entrapment efficiency was up to 80%. The formation of indomethacin-loaded pullulan*g*-poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) nanoparticles was attributed to hydrogen bondings between indomethacin-poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) and pullulan. In vitro release of indomethacin from the indomethacin-loaded pullulan-*g*-poly(*N*isopropylacrylamide) nanoparticles in phosphate-buffered saline solution at pH = 7.4 and acetate buffer at pH = 5 depended on the molecular weight of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) units in the copolymer, indomethacin content, and temperature (Constantin et al. 2017).

Diclofenac or [2-(2,6-dichloroanilino)phenyl]acetic acid), an acetic acid nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug primarily available as the sodium salt, has a similar mechanism of action and effects as indomethacin. It is usually used to treat various symptoms of arthritis and spondylitis.

When they wanted to delay the delivery of diclofenac up to 30 min in rat organism, some researchers (Cristescu et al. 2012) coated the drug pellets with triacetatepullulan thin films by matrix-assisted pulsed laser evaporation method. In this experiment, the radiation generated by a pulsed excimer KrF*laser source ($\lambda = 248$ nm, $\tau = 20$ ns) operating at 2 Hz repetition rate was used for ice targets evaporation.

Other authors (El-Malah and Nazzal 2013) prepared some films from a tertiary mixture of pullulan, poly(vinylpyrrolidone), and hypromellose as a matrix for sodium diclofenac loading. They were interested to apply the real-time spectroscopy in conjunction with statistical design for the optimization and development of nonconventional intraoral delivery system such as fast-dissolving films. In this regard, they compared the mechanical properties of blank film having 2–49 MPa for tensile strength and 1–21 MPa% for Young's modulus, over time interval of 21–105 s, with those of diclofenac-loaded films which recorded tensile strength and Young's modulus of the film of 11.21 MPa and 6–78 MPa%, respectively. In addition, the dissolution of the optimized film was found to commence almost immediately with 50% of the drug released within 1 min.

Mocanu et al. (2014) succeeded to prepare anionic pullulan nanoparticles for diclofenac delivery. The thermoassociative nanoparticles were obtained through the cross-linking reaction of periodate oxidized carboxymethyl pullulan with two difunctional Jeffamines: ED-600 and ED-2003. Nanoparticles had spherical shape, amphiphilic character, and dimensions of about 200 nm, suitable properties for diclofenac entrapment. Diclofenac release occurred gradually; the less cross-linked nanoparticles released the drug faster than more cross-linked ones. In the first 30 minutes, the release was fast of about 18–32% diclofenac due to the "burst effect," and then a slower sustained and controlled release occurred throughout the incubation period, the release amount being of 72–99.5%. At 40 °C, diclofenac was released much faster, with about 70% being released in 1 h.

Naproxen or (2S)-2-(6-methoxynaphthalen-2-yl) propanoic acid, an antiinflammatory agent with analgesic and antipyretic properties, is a drug used in both its acid and sodium salt forms to treat pain and inflammation in primary dysmenorrhea, rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, tendinitis, bursitis, and acute gout. Bishwambhar and Vuppu (2012) synthesized pH-sensitive pullulan acetate microparticles as biocompatible support for naproxen. In vitro drug release study showed that naproxen was released from naproxen-loaded microspheres with a drug content of 50 (wt %) much faster at pH 7.4 (PBS) than at pH 1.2 (HCI in PBS). If at acidic pH, the protonated carboxylic groups of pullulan acetate not permitted the swelling of pullulan acetate microspheres; at neutral pH the microsphere swelling effectively enhanced due to the ionization of –COOH groups. In this way, even the drug release was influenced by pH changes. In the first 4 h, at initial pH 1.2, no naproxen release was observed. When the pH of the aqueous environment was changed to 7.4, the drug was released from microspheres quickly, because at pH 1.2, there is not any disintegration of microsphere, while at pH 7.4, the disintegration of the microspheres facilitated the rapid sustainable release of naproxen.

To suppress the disadvantages derived from the poor aqueous solubility and the gastrointestinal side effects associated with oral naproxen administration, Choi et al. (2017) used the host-guest chemistry to tailor hydroxypropyl cyclosophoraose-pullulan (HPCys-pull) microspheres as a novel hybrid system for controlled naproxen delivery. Cyclosophoraoses are macrocyclic carbohydrate host molecules isolated from *Rhizobium* strains of soil bacteria. In this study, hydroxypropyl cyclosophoraose-conjugated pullulan microspheres were prepared using the emulsion cross-linking method. Due to pendant hydroxypropyl cyclosophoraose moieties on the matrix of pullulan, the naproxen complexation ability of microspheres increased 4.2-fold time compared with pullulan microspheres. In addition, in vivo naproxen release from microsphere was observed in Sprague-Dawley rat; the naproxen levels in the plasma after oral administration of naproxen-loaded microsphere were maintained for 72 h.

Piroxicam or 4-hydroxy-2-methyl-1,1-dioxo-*N*-(pyridin-2-yl)-2H-1 λ^6 ,2benzothiazine-3-carboxamide, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug that blocks the enzymatic activity of cyclooxygenase-1 and suspends the production of prostaglandins and inhibits the migration of leukocytes into sites of inflammation, has a long half-life which enables it to be administered once daily in the case of postoperative pain, rheumatoid arthritis, and osteoarthritis. The anti-inflammatory piroxicam was loaded by the solvent casting technique followed by autoclave treatment in nanohydrogel platform composed from pullulan modified with the hydrophobic and fluorescent molecule riboflavin tetrabutyrate (Di Meo et al. 2015). The nanohydrogels were shown to be able to load hydrophobic piroxicam, acting as solubility enhancers for a drug. The purification of the system from unloaded drug was obtained by mild centrifugation, and the free piroxicam was spectrophotometrically quantified, resulting in thus an entrapping efficiency of 11% w/w.

Etanercept, a drug commercialized as Enbrel and used as an emerging therapeutic protein for rheumatoid arthritis and plaque psoriasis, binds specifically to tumor necrosis factor (TNF), a natural cytokine involved in normal inflammatory and immune responses, and thereby modulates biological processes which are induced or regulated by tumor necrosis factor. The clinical applications of etanercept are limited by its instability and low bioavailability. To stabilize etanercept and prolong its therapeutic effect against rheumatoid arthritis, Jung et al. (2013) applied a sophisticated approach by using temperature-induced noncovalent interaction controllable complex without covalent cross-linking. They developed complexes based on succinylated pullulan-*g*-oligo(L-lactide) labeled as SPL, a temperature-sensitive amphiphilic polyelectrolyte, and the positively charged etanercept. The complexation was realized via electrostatic interactions at 4 °C below the clouding temperature of polymer such that the resulting complex significantly improved salt and serum stability of drug with increased hydrophobic interactions at temperatures (physiological condition, 37.5 °C) above the clouding temperature. Because of the exposure of the functional active site and the molecular chaperone-like effect of the hydrophobic copolymer, the long-term stability of etanercept in an aqueous environment was improved by temperature-induced noncovalent interaction controllable complex.

Cucurbitacin B, a triterpenoid constituent of Cucurbitaceae plant species, has a broad range of biological activity and effects: anti-inflammatory, antitumor, hepatoprotective, and hepatocurative. Because the phospholipid-bile salt-mixed micelles (PL-BS-MMs) are potent carriers for oral adsorption of poorly soluble in water drugs, Lv et al. (2015) prepared fast-dissolving oral films (FDOFs) containing phospholipid-bile salt-mixed micelles (Fig. 4.7). First, the phospholipid-sodium deoxycholate (PL-SDC)-mixed micelles incorporated cucurbitacin B and then were mixed with a film former (50 mg/mL pullulan PI-20 grade, $M_w = 2,000,000$), a plasticizer (40 mg/mL poly(ethylene glycol) PEG 400), and a sweetener (aspartame). By solvent casting method, FDOF containing nanoparticles resulted. In these structures, cucurbitacin B was embedded into the hydrophobic core of nanomicelles, making it released as a nanoparticle. The concentration of cucurbitacin B was determined to be 5 mg/mL. Results showed that narrow size distributed nanomicelles with a mean particle size of 86 nm and zeta potential of -31 mV w obtained in the optimized cucurbitacin B-phospholipid-sodium deoxycholate-mixed micelle formulation. The FDOFs containing phospholipid-sodium deoxycholate-mixed micelles not only kept the absorption properties as same as phospholipid-sodium deoxycholate-mixed micelles but also significantly increased the oral bioavailability of cucurbitacin B compared to the cucurbitacin B suspension. An uncertainty about how much of the cucurbitacin B is absorbed buccally and how much from the intestine after unintentional swallowing of cucurbitacin B containing saliva remained in work.

Silymarin, a hepatoprotective drug extracted from *Silybum marianum* fruits, has antioxidant and membrane-stabilizing properties and acts as a defensive material in different toxic forms of liver diseases like liver cirrhosis and alcoholic liver disease. It is broadly used as a food additive and is considered to be safe for human use. This hydrophobic drug was encapsulated in pullulan acetate with an efficiency of about 90% resulting in silymarin-loaded pullulan acetate nanoparticles with a medium size of 720 nm. The in vitro release of silymarin was carried out in phosphate-buffered saline solution with pH 7.4: in the first hour these released only 19.05% of



Fig. 4.7 Process schematic for preparation of fast-dissolving oral films (FDOFs) containing drug nanoparticles. CuB = Cucurbitacin B; PL-BS-MMs = phospholipid-bile salt-mixed micelles; SDC = sodium deoxycholate (detergent); PL = pullulan PI-20 grade (M_w 2,000,000) film former; poly(ethylene glycol) 400 (PEG 400) = plasticizer; aspartame = sweetener. (Reprinted with permission of Springer Nature, Lv et al. 2015)

a drug; after the seventh hour, the drug release was 61.14%. The release of a drug at the 24th hour was in therapeutic level to inhibit hepatic cancer cells (Santhosh Kumar et al. 2012).

Guhagarkar et al. (2015) evaluated the role of pullulan as hepatic targeting agent. In this regard, they designed poly(ethylene sebacate)-silymarin (PES-SIL) nanoparticles and then modified their surface with pullulan by nanoprecipitation. Resulted poly(ethylene sebacate)-silymarin-pullulan nanoparticles were evaluated for hepatoprotective activity in a model of carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄)-induced hepatotoxicity in rats. In the case of rats pretreated with poly(ethylene sebacate)-silymarin-pullulan nanoparticles, the levels of serum transaminases and alkaline phosphatase were reduced compared with the group treated with CCl_4 confirming in this way the role of pullulan as hepatic targeting agent.

4.6 Pullulan-Based Systems with Antilipidemic and Antiglycemic Properties

The anomalies of lipid and carbohydrate metabolisms influence the normal functioning of some organs and systems. The correction of them with the least adverse effects and as targeted as possible was the premise of designing revolutionary drug delivery systems.

Apolipoproteins B, namely, Apo B-48 produced by the small intestine and Apo B-100 secreted by the liver, are amphipathic glycoproteins implied in the metabolism

of plasma lipoproteins, mainly very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL). Elevated levels of Apo B and LDL increase the risk of atherosclerotic diseases such as coronary artery disease and heart disease. The inhibition of Apo B synthesis by short-interfering RNA targeting of the Apo B gene labeled as Apo B siRNA efficiently has reduced the serum LDL. Kang et al. (2012) combined the chemically modified Apo B siRNA, possessing increased enzymatic stability, with a liver-targeted gene delivery system to reduce both serum LDL and Apo B mRNA in the liver. More precisely, they developed a poly(etyleneimine)pullulan (PEI-PUL) conjugate for efficient delivery of chemically modified Apo B siRNA into the liver. The sizes of poly(etyleneimine)-pullulan-Apo B-siBNA complexes were lower than 260 nm, and their zeta potentials were almost neutral. The poly(etyleneimine)-pullulan carrier prepared with high molecular weight pullulan ($M_w = 107,000$) was more stable in the bloodstream and more efficiently reduced the serum LDL and Apo BmRNA than the carrier prepared with low molecular weight pullulan ($M_w = 5900$).

Fenofibrate or propan-2-yl2-[4-(4-chlorobenzoyl)phenoxy]-2-methylpropanoate is an antilipidemic agent which reduces elevated LDL cholesterol, total cholesterol, triglycerides, and Apo B and increases HDL cholesterol in adult patients with primary hypercholesterolemia or mixed dyslipidemia, both being risk factors of cardiovascular disease. In the treatment of hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemia, this fibrate drug is also indicated to diet as adjunctive mono- or co-therapy, alone or along with statins.

The pharmaceutical industry tries to produce micro- and nanocrystals of drugs in order to increase their solubility and in vivo bioavailability. In this regard, the addition of additives which greatly improve the stability of a drug suspension system is just an empiric or heuristic step with unpredictable results. The combination of a biocompatible polymers and surfactants has been widely used in controlling the crystal growth of drugs, but understanding of the cooperative behavior between them remains unexplained most of the time. Zhu et al. (2011) used atomistic molecular dynamic simulations to investigate and predict the additive interactions and, thus, to evaluate the stabilization potential of individual and multiple surface-active additives on the surface of the model drug fenofibrate. It has poor intrinsic water solubility (lower than 0.29 mg/L at 37 °C), so the additions of nonionic surfactant Tween 80, anionic surfactant sodium dodecyl sulfate, neutral pullulan, and thermogelling hydroxypropyl methylcellulose were examined. The examination of three distinct starting configurations of the dual-additive systems like side-by-side, surfactant on polymer, and polymer on surfactant revealed that a synergism between additives which interacted with the crystal surface, in some cases, is significantly stronger than individual additives alone. The predictions of mixed additives indicated a decrease of effectiveness as follows: hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-sodium dodecylsulfate, hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-Tween 80, pullulan-Tween 80, and pullulan-sodium dodecylsulfate. The predicted computationally results were validated using a series of anti-solvent crystallization measurements. For example, the snapshots of the simulations, shown in Fig. 4.8, visually exhibit the stronger binding of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose on the surface of fenofibrate when compared to pullulan.



Fig. 4.8 Snapshots of binding configurations of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC) and pullulan on the fenofibrate crystal surface. (Reprinted with permission of Elsevier, Zhu et al. 2011)

Pramlintide, traded as Symlin, is a synthetic analog of amylin, a hormone that is released into the bloodstream, in a similar pattern as insulin, after a meal. Chemical structure of pramlintide differs from human amylin by the replacement of alanine, serine, and serine at positions 25, 28, and 29, respectively, with proline. Used as a relatively new adjunct treatment for diabetes type 1 and type 2, pramlintide acts to improve the glycemic control through modulation of the rate of gastric emptying, through prevention of postprandial rise in glucagon levels, and by increasing sensations of satiety, thereby reducing caloric intake and potentiating weight loss (https:// www.drugbank.ca/drugs). Patel and Patel (2012) investigated the feasibility of prolonged delivery of this synthetic peptide from biodegradable polymer microsphere depot formulation. They prepared pramlintide microspheres by water-in-oil-inwater double emulsion method. The encapsulation with biodegradable polymers has been considered as an alternative to injectable multi-dose liquid formulation of drug. The aqueous phase consisted from pramlintide in water was added to oil phase composed from pullulan acetate in dichloromethane and sonicated. The obtained emulsion was emulsified in continuous phase of poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) in water and after removing of dichloromethane and hardening the polymer; the resultant microspheres with a size of 70-98 µm and entrapment efficiency of ~80% were collected by centrifugation, washed three times with water for injection, and freezedried. It seems that, during the drying process, the pramlintide molecules migrated from the inner phase to the surface of the microspheres. In addition, with the degradation of pullulan acetate, the microsphere morphology changed from an original smooth surface to a porous surface after 7 days, and, finally, microsphere disruption was observed after 14 days. Thus in vitro drug release profile of pramlintide-loaded microspheres exhibited a low "burst effect" and a slow drug release rate for over 14 days, too.

4.7 Pullulan-Based Systems for Heart Diseases

The heart and blood circulation systems are the sources of nutrients and oxygen to all cells in the body. When the lipid and carbohydrate metabolisms or hormones work badly, even the heart and blood vessels are affected. Thus, the most visible and encountered effect is high blood pressure. Over time, the researchers have developed various molecules for the treatment of hypertension.

Atenolol or 1-p-carbamovlmethylphenoxy-3-isopropylamino-2-propanol is a cardioselective β -adrenergic blocker with properties and potency similar to propranolol, but without a negative inotropic effect, used in the management of hypertension and edema. It can also help to prevent heart attack or heart damage after a heart attack. Like metoprolol, atenolol competes with sympathomimetic neurotransmitters such as catecholamines for binding at βI -adrenergic receptors in the heart and vascular smooth muscle, inhibiting sympathetic stimulation. This results in a reduction in resting heart rate, cardiac output, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and reflex orthostatic hypotension. Higher doses of atenolol also competitively block β 2-adrenergic responses in the bronchial and vascular smooth muscles (https:// www.drugbank.ca/drugs). Sushmitha et al. (2014) developed by solvent casting method mucoadhesive fast melt-away wafers based on hydroxypropyl methylcellulose and pullulan as oral drug delivery system for atenolol. The formulation with hydroxypropyl methylcellulose E6 400 mg has shown better in vitro dissolution profile compared with other formulations. The in vitro drug release study showed a drug release of 98.83% in 150 seconds from the wafer.

Nebivolol or 1,1'-[bis(6-fluoro-3,4-dihydro-2H-1-benzopyran-2-yl)]-2,2'iminodiethanol, a new third-generation β 1-adrenergic blocker, mainly used in the treatment of hypertension, induces endothelium-dependent arterial relaxation in a dose-dependent manner, by stimulation of the release of endothelial nitric oxide. Consequently, nitric oxide acts to relax the vascular smooth muscle cells and inhibits the platelet aggregation and adhesion (https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs). Using the solvent casting technique and an optimized formulation, Parejiya et al. (2013) designed a quick-dissolving film of nebivolol hydrochloride composed from hydroxypropyl methylcellulose, pullulan, and poly(vinylpyrrolidone), alone or in combination, glycerol as plasticizer, aspartame as sweetener, and *passion fruit* flavor. The high procent of drug release from the film in simulated saliva and simulated gastric fluid indicated that the simplex lattice design of optimized film can be successfully used in drug delivery systems for drugs with high first-pass metabolism.

Metoprolol or 1-[4-(2-methoxyethyl)phenoxy]-3-[(propan-2-yl)amino]propan-2-ol is a cardioselective βl -adrenergic blocking agent used for the management of acute myocardial infarction, heart failure, angina pectoris, and mild to moderate hypertension. It may also be used for supraventricular tachyarrhythmias and prophylaxis for migraine headaches. Metoprolol is structurally similar to bisoprolol, acebutolol, and atenolol in that it has two large βl -selective substituents in the *para* position of the benzene ring. Metoprolol possesses a single chiral center and is administered as a racemic mixture. At low doses, metoprolol selectively blocks cardiac βl -adrenergic receptors with little activity against $\beta 2$ -adrenergic receptors of the lungs and vascular smooth muscle. Receptor selectivity decreases with higher doses. Unlike propranolol, metoprolol does not exhibit membrane-stabilizing or intrinsic sympathomimetic activity. The membrane-stabilizing effects are only observed at doses much higher than those needed for β -adrenergic blocking activity (https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs). Metoprolol succinate was loaded in different mixed polymeric films like pullulan-poly(acrylamide) (Vishwanath et al. 2012a) or
chitosan-pullulan (Vishwanath et al. 2012b). In the case of both types of films, the fast drug release kinetic was fitted to the Higuchi and Korsmeyer-Peppas model indicating a Fickian-controlled diffusion mechanism.

Captopril or (2S)-1-[(2S)-2-methyl-3-sulfanylpropanoyl]pyrrolidine-2carboxylic acid is a competitive inhibitor of angiotensin-converting enzyme responsible for the conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II, used for the treatment of hypertension and some types of congestive heart failure and nephropathy (https:// www.drugbank.ca/drugs). Considering the short half-life of this drug, the researchers explored an alternative to prepare gastroretentive matrix tablets of captopril. They prepared floating matrix tablets by direct compression technique using different polymers and natural gums: karaya gum, gellan gum, pullulan gum, and hydroxypropyl methylcellulose. The drug release tests showed that the formulations containing pullulan gum and gum karaya in a ratio of 3:1 as polymer matrix exhibited the better release of drug (Reddy et al. 2011).

4.8 Pullulan-Based Systems for Bone Diseases

Pamidronate, named pamidronic acid or (3-amino-1-hydroxy-1-phosphonopropyl) phosphonic acid, belongs to the class of drugs called bisphosphonates which are adsorbed in bone to hydroxyapatite or calcium phosphate crystals and may directly block dissolution of this mineral component of bone. In vitro studies also suggest that the inhibition of osteoclast activity contributes to inhibition of bone resorption. In postmenopausal women, it reduces the elevated rate of bone turnover, leading to, on average, a net gain in bone mass. Because pamidronate reduces the breakdown of bones, it is used in the treatment of Paget's disease of bone, to prevent osteoporosis, to reduce high levels of calcium in the blood associated with malignancy, and to reduce the breakdown of bone due to metastases of breast cancer or multiple myeloma (https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs).

The bone, cartilage, skin, and nerve tissues could be regenerated and repaired using cells and biomaterials for the drug delivery system of growth factors and cell scaffolds. The healing and repairing of bones are generally monitorized by computer tomography (CT), X-ray, and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). A new trend tries to visualize the bone tissue regeneration by bone-specific multimodal imaging. Considering the high affinity of pamidronate for the hydroxyapatite of bone tissue, Liu et al. (2012) prepared pamidronate-pullulan conjugates containing two imaging probes: Cy5.5 monofunctional *N*-hydroxysuccinimidyl ester Cy5.5/DTPA as fluorescent moiety and gadopentetate dimeglumine (Gd³⁺-DTPA) as MRI agent (Fig. 4.9). The solutions of resulted conjugates, namely, pamidronate-pullulan-F/M labeled as Gd³⁺-chelated pamidronate-pullulan-Cy5.5/DTPA, were intravenously injected at different time intervals for 4 weeks into the mouse model of ectopic bone formation, prepared by subcutaneous implant with a gelatin hydrogel incorporating bone morphogenetic protein BMP-2. As expected, the histology examination confirmed the pamidronate functioned well to enhance the



Fig. 4.9 Chemical structure of pamidronate-pullulan conjugate PA-pullulan-F/M bearing Cy5.5 monofunctional *N*-hydroxysuccinimidyl ester (Cy5.5/DTPA) as fluorescent (F) moiety and Gd³⁺-DTPA (gadopentetate dimeglumine) as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) agent. (Reprinted with permission of Elsevier, Liu et al. 2012)

hydroxyapatite affinity of pullulan and the in vivo accumulation at the site of bone tissue newly formed. Thus, this drug delivery system proved to be noninvasive multimodal imaging system for monitorization of bone regeneration, too.

Risedronate or [1-hydroxy-1-phosphono-2-(pyridin-3-yl)ethyl]phosphonic acid, traded as Actonel, is a pyridinyl bisphosphonate which inhibits osteoclast-mediated bone resorption and modulates bone metabolism, and it is indicated for the treatment and prevention of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women and treatment of Paget's disease of bone (https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs).

Usually, the patients treated with oral tablets of risedronate should swallow the drug with a full glass of water and avoid lying down for at least 30 min. To facilitate esophageal passage and decrease the mucosal adherence generating of gastrointestinal injuries, some researchers developed polymeric microparticles based on pullulan and Eudragit[®] S100 by spray-drying technique (de Arce Velasquez et al. 2014). Only microparticles prepared with high amounts of Eudragit[®] S100 resulted in a satisfactory gastroresistance profile. Then, tablet formulations were prepared by direct compression of risedronate-loaded microparticles using direct tableting excipients like poly(vinylpyrrolidone), colloidal silicon dioxide, stearate magnesium, and microcrystalline cellulose. It was expected that risedronate-based tablets are prepared in this way to reduce the possibility of high local concentration of a drug near the gastrointestinal mucosa.

4.9 Conclusions and Future Remarks

Pullulan is a versatile molecule for chemical modifications made to functionalization and to increase the chance of electrostatic, hydrogen bonding type or hydrophobic interactions with a variety of other low molecular weight compounds. In some cases, pullulan itself had the role of a cellular target, e.g., liver cell receptors or cancer cells.

Most of drugs are hydrophobic molecules and poorly soluble in water. To enhance the therapeutic effects of drugs, in design of drug delivery systems, even the hydrophilic-hydrophobic balance should be considered. There are many types of carriers, micelles, nanoparticles, microparticles, conjugates, films, and hydrogels, each one with more or less favorable properties for loading and delivery of drugs.

The new trend takes into consideration a simulation stage of interactions between polymeric carrier, drug, and the rest of components from pharmaceutical formulations such as surfactants, additives, and taste modifiers.

An ideal drug delivery system should transfer a proper amount of drug to a target site in human or animal body, to keep constant the drug concentration for a desirable time, but with minimal or no side effects. Thus, in vivo and in vitro cytotoxicity tests for new systems and knowing of drug release profile are necessary conditions for optimization of pharmaceutical formulations.

References

- Balasso A, Salmaso S, Pontisso P, Rosato A, Quarta S, Malfranti A, Mastrotto F, Caliceti P (2017) Re-programming pullulan for targeting and controlled release of doxorubicin to the hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Eur J Pharm Sci 103:104–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2017.02.016
- Bishwambhar M, Vuppu S (2012) Release study of naproxen, a modern drug from pH sensitive pullulan acetate microsphere. Int J Drug Dev Res 4:184–191
- Bowman SM, Free SJ (2006) The structure and synthesis of the fungal cell wall. Bioassay 28:799–808. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.20441
- Chen L, Wang X, Ji F, Bao Y, Wang J, Wang X, Guo L, Li Y (2015) New bifunctional-pullulanbased micelles with good biocompatibility for efficient co-delivery of cancer-suppressing p53 gene and doxorubicin to cancer cells. RSC Adv 5:94719–94731. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c5ra17139c
- Chen L, Ji F, Bao Y, Xia J, Guo L, Wang J, Li Y (2017) Biocompatible cationic pullulan-gdesoxycholic acid-g-PEI micelles used to co-deliver drug and gene for cancer therapy. Mater Sci Eng C 70:418–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.09.019
- Cheng K-C, Demirci A, Catchmark JM (2011) Pullulan: biosynthesis, production, and applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 92:29–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.09.019
- Choi JM, Lee B, Jeong D, Park KH, Choi E-J, Jeon Y-J, Dindulkar SD, Cho E, Do SH, Lee K, Lee I-S, Park S, Jun B-H, Yu J-H, Jung S (2017) Characterization and regulated naproxen release of hydroxypropyl cyclosophoraose-pullulan microspheres. J Ind Eng Chem 48:108–118. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2016.12.026
- Constantin M, Bucatariu S, Stoica I, Fundueanu G (2017) Smart nanoparticles based on pullulang-poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) for controlled delivery of indomethacin. Int J Biol Macromol 94:698–708. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.10.064

- Cristescu R, Popescu C, Popescu AC, Socol G, Mihailescu I, Caraene G, Albulescu R, Buruiana T, Chrisey D (2012) Pulsed laser processing of functionalized polysaccharides for controlled release drug delivery systems: Functionalized polysaccharides processed for drug delivery. In: Vaseashta A et al (eds) Technological innovations in sensing and detection of chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear threats and ecological terrorism, NATO science for peace and security series A: chemistry and biology. Springer Science Business Media B.V., Heidelberg, pp 231–236
- de Arce VA, Ferreira LM, Stangarlin MFL, da Silva CB, Rolim CMB, Cruz L (2014) Novel Pullulan-Eudragit S100 blend microparticles for oral delivery of risedronate: formulation, in vitro evaluation and tableting of blend microparticles. Mater Sci Eng C 38:212–217. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2014.02.003
- de Lima JA, Paines TC, Motta MH, Weber WB, Dos Santos SS, Cruz L, da Silva CDB (2017) Novel Pemulen/pullulan blended hydrogel containing clotrimazole-loaded cationic nanocapsules: Evaluation of mucoadhesion and vaginal permeation. Mater Sci Eng C 79:886–893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2017.05.030
- Di Meo C, Montanari E, Manzi L, Villani C, Coviello T, Matricardi P (2015) Highly versatile nanohydrogel platform based on riboflavin-polysaccharide derivatives useful in the development of intrinsically fluorescent and cytocompatible drug carriers. Carbohydr Polym 115:502– 509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2014.08.107
- Dickinson BC, Chang CJ (2011) Chemistry and biology of reactive oxygen species in signaling or stress responses. Nat Chem Biol 7:504–511. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.607
- D'Souza AA, Jain P, Galdhar CN, Samad A, Degani MS, Devarajan PV (2013) Comparative in silico-in vivo evaluation of ASGP-R ligands for hepatic targeting of curcumin Gantrez nanoparticles. AAPS J 15:696–706. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-013-9474-6
- El-Malah Y, Nazzal S (2013) Real-time disintegration analysis and D-optimal experimental design for the optimization of diclofenac sodium fast-dissolving films. Pharm Dev Technol 18:1355– 1360. https://doi.org/10.3109/10837450.2012.700936
- Flores FC, Rosso RS, Cruz L, Beck RCR, Silva CB (2017) An innovative polysaccharide nanobased nail formulation for improvement of onychomycosis treatment. Eur J Pharm Sci 100:56– 63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2016.12.043
- Ganeshkumar M, Ponrasu T, Subamekala MK, Janani M, Suguna L (2016) Curcumin loaded on pullulan acetate nanoparticles protects the liver from damage induced by DEN. RSC Adv 6:5599–5610. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA18989F
- Garhwal R, Shady SF, Ellis EJ, Leahy CD, McCarthy SP, Crawford KS, Gaines P (2012) Sustained ocular delivery of ciprofloxacin using nanospheres and conventional contact lens materials. Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53:1341–1352. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.11-8215
- Grigoras AG (2016) A review on medical applications of poly(*N*-vinylcarbazole) and its derivatives. Int J Polym Mater Polym Biomater 65:888–900. https://doi.org/10.1080/00914037.201 6.1180613
- Guhagarkar SA, Gaikwad RV, Samad A, Malshe VC, Devarajan PV (2010) Polyethylene sebacatedoxorubicin nanoparticles for hepatic targeting. Int J Pharm 401:113–122. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.09.012
- Guhagarkar SA, Shah D, Patel MD, Sathaye SS, Devarajan PV (2015) Polyethylene sebacate-Silymarin nanoparticles with enhanced hepatoprotective activity. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 15:4090–4093. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2015.9518
- Hassanzadeh F, Varshosaz J, Khodarahmi GA, Rostami M, Hassanzadeh F (2016) Biotin-encoded pullulan-retinoic acid engineered nanomicelles: preparation, optimization and in vitro cytotoxicity assessment in MCF-7 cells. Indian J Pharm Sci 78:557–565. https://doi.org/10.4172/ pharmaceutical-sciences.1000153
- Hassanzadeh F, Mehdifar M, Varshosaz J, Khodarahmi GA, Rostami M (2018) Folic acid targeted polymeric micelles based on tocopherol succinate- pullulan as an effective carrier for epirubicin: preparation, characterization and in-vitro cytotoxicity assessment. Curr Drug Deliv 15:235–246. https://doi.org/10.2174/1567201814666170602074149

- Hong G-Y, Jeong Y-I, Lee SJ, Lee E, Oh JS, Lee HC (2011) Combination of paclitaxel- and retinoic acid-incorporated nanoparticles for the treatment of CT-26 colon carcinoma. Arch Pharm Sci Res 34:407–411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12272-011-0308-8 https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs
- Huang L, Wang Y, Ling X, Chaurasiya B, Yang C, Du Y, Tu J, Xiong Y, Sun C (2017) Efficient delivery of paclitaxel into ASGPR over-expressed cancer cells using reversibly stabilized multifunctional pullulan nanoparticles. Carbohydr Polym 159:178–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2016.11.094
- Huo M, Zhang Y, Zhou J, Zou A, Yu D, Wu Y, Li J, Li H (2010) Synthesis and characterization of low-toxic amphiphilic chitosan derivatives and their application as micelle carrier for antitumor drug. Int J Pharm 394:162–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.05.001
- Jeong YI, Na HS, Oh JS, Choi KC, Song CE, Lee HC (2006) Adriamycin release from selfassembling nanospheres of poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide)-grafted pullulan. Int J Pharm 322:154–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2006.05.020
- Jung Y-S, Park W, Na K (2013) Temperature-modulated noncovalent interaction controllable complex for the long-term delivery of etanercept to treat rheumatoid arthritis. J Control Release 171:143–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.07.012
- Kang J-H, Tachibana Y, Obika S, Harada-Shiba M, Yamaoka T (2012) Efficient reduction of serum cholesterol by combining a liver-targeted gene delivery system with chemically modified apolipoprotein B siRNA. J Control Release 163:119–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2012.08.030
- Kratz F, Warneckje K, Riebessel K, Rodrigues PCA (2002) Anticancer drug conjugates with macromolecular carriers. In: Dumitriu S (ed) Polymeric biomaterials. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York/Basel, pp 851–895
- Krull SM, Ma Z, Li M, Dave RN, Bilgili E (2016) Preparation and characterization of fast dissolving pullulan films containing BCS class II drug nanoparticles for bioavailability enhancement. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 42:1073–1085. https://doi.org/10.3109/03639045.2015.1107094
- Lee SJ, Hong G-Y, Jeong Y-I, Kang MS, Oh JS, Song C-E, Lee HC (2012) Paclitaxel-incorporated nanoparticles of hydrophobized polysaccharide and their antitumor activity. Int J Pharm 433:121–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.04.048
- Lee J, Jeong D, Seo S, Na K (2013) Biodegradable nanogel based on all-trans retinoic acid/pullulan conjugate for anti-cancer drug delivery. J Pharm Investig 43:63–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40005-013-0055-6
- Lee SJ, Shim Y-H, Oh J-S, Jeong Y-I, Park I-K, Lee HC (2015) Folic-acid-conjugated pullulan/ poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) graft copolymer nanoparticles for folate-receptor-mediated drug delivery. Nanoscale Res Lett 10:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11671-014-0706-1
- Lee IW, Li J, Chen X, Park HJ (2017) Fabrication of electrospun antioxidant nanofibers by rutinpluronic solid dispersions for enhanced solubility. J Appl Polym Sci 134:44859. https://doi. org/10.1002/app.44859
- Li J, Huo M, Wang J, Zhou J, Mohammad JM, Zhang Y, Zhu Q, Waddad AY, Zhang Q (2012) Redox-sensitive micelles self-assembled from amphiphilic hyaluronic acid-deoxycholic acid conjugates for targeted intracellular delivery of paclitaxel. Biomaterials 33:2310–2320. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.11.022
- Li F, Zhang H, Gu C, Fan L, Qiao Y, Tao Y, Cheng C, Wu H, Yi J (2013) Self-assembled nanoparticles from folate-decorated maleilated pullulan-doxorubicin conjugate for improved drug delivery to cancer cells. Polym Int 62:165–171. https://doi.org/10.1002/pi.4272
- Li H, Cui Y, Liu J, Bian S, Liang J, Fan Y, Zhang X (2014) Reduction breakable cholesteryl pullulan nanoparticles for targeted hepatocellular carcinoma chemotherapy. J Mater Chem B 2:3500–3510. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB00321G
- Li H, Cui Y, Sui J, Liang J, Fan Y, Zhang X (2015a) Efficient delivery of DOX to nuclei of hepatic carcinoma cells in the subcutaneous tumor model using pH-sensitive pullulan-DOX conjugates. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 7:15855–15865. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b03150
- Li H, Sun Y, Liang J, Fan Y, Zhang X (2015b) pH-sensitive pullulan–DOX conjugate nanoparticles for co-loading PDTC to suppress growth and chemoresistance of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Mater Chem B 41:8070–8078. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5TB01210D

- Liu J, Jo J-I, Kawai Y, Aoki I, Tanaka C, Yamamoto M, Tabata Y (2012) Preparation of polymerbased multimodal imaging agent to visualize the process of bone regeneration. J Control Release 157(3):398–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.09.090
- Liu Y, Wang Y, Zhang C, Zhou P, Liu Y, An T, Sun D, Zhang N, Wang Y (2014) Core-shell nanoparticles based on pullulan and poly(β-amino)ester for hepatoma-targeted codelivery of gene and chemotherapy agent. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 6:18712–18720. https://doi.org/10.1021/ am504203x
- Lv Q-Y, Li X-Y, Shen B-D, Dai L, Xu H, Chen C-Y, Yuan H-L, Han J (2015) A solid phospholipidbile salts-mixed micelles based on the fast dissolving oral films to improve the oral bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drugs. J Nanopart Res 16:2455. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11051-014-2455-6
- Mitha AT, Rekha MR (2014) Multifunctional polymeric nanoplexes for anticancer co-delivery of p53 and mitoxantrone. J Mater Chem B 2:8005–8016. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TB01298D
- Mocanu G, Nichifor M, Picton L, About-Jaudet E, Le Cerf D (2014) Preparation and characterization of anionic pullulan thermoassociative nanoparticles for drug delivery. Carbohydr Polym 111:892–900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2014.05.037
- Mohamed Wali AR, Zhou J, Ma S, He Y, Yue D, Tang JZ, Gu Z (2017) Tailoring the supramolecular structure of amphiphilic glycopolypeptide analogue toward liver targeted drug delivery systems. Int J Pharm 525(1):191–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.04.009
- Moon S, Yang S-G, Na K (2011) An acetylated polysaccharide-PTFE membrane-covered stent for the delivery of gemcitabine for treatment of gastrointestinal cancer and related stenosis. Biomaterials 32:3603–3610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.01.070
- Parejiya PB, Patel RC, Mehta DM, Shelat PK, Barot BS (2013) Quick dissolving films of nebivolol hydrochloride: Formulation and optimization by a simplex lattice design. J Pharm Investig 43:343–351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40005-013-0080-5
- Patel V, Patel J (2012) Pullulan acetate controlled-release biodegradable microsphere containing a biologically active agent: Preparation, characterization and in vitro experiments. Asian J Pharm Clin Res 5:143–147
- Prajapati VD, Jani GK, Khanda SM (2013) Pullulan: an exopolysaccharide and its various applications. Carbohydr Polym 95:540–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2013.02.082
- Pranatharthiharan S, Patel MD, Malshe VC, Pujari V, Gorakshakar A, Madkaikar M, Ghosh K, Devarajan PV (2017) Asialoglycoprotein receptor targeted delivery of doxorubicin nanoparticles for hepatocellular carcinoma. Drug Deliv 24:20–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544 .2016.1225856
- Priya SS, Rekha MR (2017) Redox sensitive cationic pullulan for efficient gene transfection and drug retention in C6 glioma cells. Int J Pharm 530:401–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2017.08.004
- Reddy NS, Kumar CBM, Ramesh A, Chandrashekhar MS (2011) Development and in vitro evaluation of gastro retentive matrix tablets: an approach using natural gums and polymers. Res J Pharm, Biol Chem Sci 2:90–107
- Santhosh Kumar B, Ganesh Kumar M, Suguna L, Sastry TP, Mandal AB (2012) Pullulan acetate nanoparticles based delivery system for hydrophobic drug. Int J Pharm Bio Sci 3:24–32
- Sarika PR, James NR, Nishna N, Anil Kumar PR, Raj DK (2015) Galactosylated pullulan-curcumin conjugate micelles for site specific anticancer activity to hepatocarcinoma cells. Colloids Surf B: Biointerfaces 133:347–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2015.06.020
- Scomparin A, Salmaso S, Bersani S, Satchi-Fainaro R, Caliceti P (2011) Novel folated and nonfolated pullulan bioconjugates for anticancer drug delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci 42:547–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2011.02.012
- Scomparin A, Salmaso S, Eldar-Boock A, Ben-Shushan D, Ferber S, Tiram G, Shmeeda H, Landa-Rouben N, Leor J, Caliceti P, Gabizon A, Satchi-Fainaro R (2015) A comparative study of folate receptor-targeted doxorubicin delivery systems: dosing regimens and therapeutic index. J Control Release 208:106–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.04.009

- Seo S, Lee C-S, Jung Y-S, Na K (2012) Thermo-sensitivity and triggered drug release of polysaccharide nanogels derived from pullulan-g-poly(*L*-lactide) copolymers. Carbohydr Polym 87:1105–1111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2011.08.061
- Shen S, Li H, Yang W (2014) The preliminary evaluation on cholesterol-modified pullulan as a drug nanocarrier. Drug Deliv 21:501–508. https://doi.org/10.3109/10717544.2014.895068
- Singh RS, Saini GK, Kennedy JF (2008) Pullulan: microbial sources, production and applications. Carbohydr Polym 73:515–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2008.01.003
- Singh RS, Kaura N, Kennedy JF (2015) Pullulan and pullulan derivatives as promising biomolecules for drug and gene targeting. Carbohydr Polym 123:190–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2015.01.032
- Singh RS, Kaura N, Ranab V, Kennedy JF (2017) Pullulan: a novel molecule for biomedical applications. Carbohydr Polym 171:102–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2017.04.089
- Sui J, Cui Y, Cai H, Bian S, Xu Z, Zhou L, Sun Y, Liang J, Fan Y, Zhang X (2017) Synergistic chemotherapeutic effect of sorafenib-loaded pullulan-Dox conjugate nanoparticles against murine breast carcinoma. Nanoscale 9:2755–2767. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6nr09639e
- Sushmitha S, Priyanka SR, Mohan Krishna L, Srinavasa Murthy M (2014) Formulation and evaluation of mucoadhesive fast melt-away wafers using selected polymers. Res. J. Pharm. Technol. 7:176–180
- Tang HB, Li L, Chen H, Zhou ZM, Chen HL, Li XM, Liu LR, Wang YS, Zhang QQ (2010) Stability and in vivo evaluation of pullulan acetate as a drug nanocarrier. Drug Deliv 17:552– 558. https://doi.org/10.3109/10717544.2010.490250
- Tao X, Zhang Q, Ling K, Chen Y, Yang W, Gao F, Shi G (2012) Effect of pullulan nanoparticle surface charges on HSA complexation and drug release behavior of HSA-bound nanoparticles. PLoS One 7:e49304. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049304
- Tuncay Tanriverdi S, Hilmiolu Polat S, Yeşim Metin D, Kandilolu G, Ozer O (2016) Terbinafine hydrochloride loaded liposome film formulation for treatment of onychomycosis: in vitro and in vivo evaluation. J Liposome Res 26:163–173. https://doi.org/10.3109/08982104.2015.106 7892
- Vishwanath B, Shivakumar HR, Sheshappa RK, Ganesh S, Prasad P, Guru GS, Bhavya BB (2012a) In-vitro release study of metoprolol succinate from the bioadhesive films of pullulanpolyacrylamide blends. Int J Polym Mater Polym Biomater 61:300–307. https://doi.org/10.10 80/00914037.2011.584227
- Vishwanath B, Shivakumar HR, Sheshappa RK, Ganesh S, Bhavya BB (2012b) Influence of blending of chitosan and pullulan on their drug release behavior: an in-vitro study. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci 4:313–317
- Vora L, Tyagi M, Patel K, Gupta S, Vavia P (2014) Self-assembled nanocomplexes of anionic pullulan and polyallylamine for DNA and pH-sensitive intracellular drug delivery. J Nanopart Res 16:2781. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-014-2781-8
- Wang J, Cui S, Bao Y, Xing J, Hao W (2014a) Tocopheryl pullulan-based self-assembling nanomicelles for anti-cancer drug delivery. Mater Sci Eng C 43:614–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msec.2014.07.066
- Wang X, Wang J, Bao Y, Wang B, Wang X, Chen L (2014b) Novel reduction-sensitive pullulanbased micelles with good hemocompatibility for efficient intracellular doxorubicin delivery. RSC Adv 4:60064–60074. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA12276C
- Wang Y, Liu Y, Liu Y, Wang Y, Wu J, Li R, Yang J, Zhang N (2014c) pH-sensitive pullulan-based nanoparticles for intracellular drug delivery. Polym Chem 5:423–432. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C3PY00817G
- Wang M, Huang M, Wang J, Ye M, Deng Y, Li H, Qian W, Zhu B, Zhang Y, Gong R (2016) Facile one-pot synthesis of self-assembled folate-biotin-pullulan nanoparticles for targeted intracellular anticancer drug delivery J Nanomater Article ID 5752921, 10 pages. https://doi. org/10.1155/2016/5752921
- Yang W-Z, Chen H-L, Gao F-P, Chen M-M, Li X-M, Zhang M-M, Zhang Q-Q, Liu L-R, Jiang Q, Wang Y-S (2010) Self-aggregated nanoparticles of cholesterol-modified pullulan conjugate as a novel carrier of mitoxantrone. Current Nanoscience 6:298–306. https://doi. org/10.2174/157341310791171153

- Yang W, Wang M, Ma L, Li H, Huang L (2014) Synthesis and characterization of biotin modified cholesteryl pullulan as a novel anticancer drug carrier. Carbohydr Polym 99:720–727. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2013.09.013
- Yim H, Park S-J, Bae YH, Na K (2013) Biodegradable cationic nanoparticles loaded with an anticancer drug for deep penetration of heterogeneous tumors. Biomaterials 34:7674–7682. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.06.058
- Yuan R, Zheng F, Zhong S, Tao X, Zhang Y, Gao F, Yao F, Chen J, Chen Y, Shi G (2014) Selfassembled nanoparticles of glycyrrhetic acid-modified pullulan as a novel carrier of curcumin. Molecules 19:13305–13318. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules190913305
- Zhang H-Z, Li X-M, Gao F-P, Liu LR, Zhou Z-M, Zhang Q-Q (2010) Preparation of folatemodified pullulan acetate nanoparticles for tumor-targeted drug delivery. Drug Deliv 17:48–57. https://doi.org/10.3109/10717540903508979
- Zhang H, Li F, Yi J, Gu C, Fan L, Qiao Y, Tao Y, Cheng C, Wu H (2011) Folate-decorated maleilated pullulan-doxorubicin conjugate for active tumor-targeted drug delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci 42:517–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2011.02.006
- Zhang C, An T, Wang D, Wan G, Zhang M, Wang H, Zhang S, Li R, Yang X, Wang Y (2016) Stepwise pH-responsive nanoparticles containing charge-reversible pullulan-based shells and $poly(\beta$ -amino ester)/poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) cores as carriers of anticancer drugs for combination therapy on hepatocellular carcinoma. J Control Release 226:193–204. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.02.030
- Zhu W, Romanski FS, Meng X, Mitra S, Tomassone MS (2011) Atomistic simulation study of surfactant and polymer interactions on the surface of a fenofibrate crystal. Eur J Pharm Sci 42:452–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2011.01.009

Chapter 5 Microbial Modifications of Flavonols



Prakash Parajuli, Biplav Shrestha, Jae Kyung Sohng, and Ramesh Prasad Pandey

Contents

5.1	Introduction			
5.2	Significance of Flavonol and Their Microbial Modified Derivatives			
5.3	Current Approaches for Microbial Flavonol Modifications			
	5.3.1 Glycosylation	149		
	5.3.2 Methylation	152		
	5.3.3 Hydroxylation	153		
	5.3.4 Prenylation	154		
5.4	Conclusion	154		
Refe	rences	156		

Abstract Development of microbial cell factories via application of synthetic biology, protein engineering for metabolic engineering has revolutionized the maximum use of microbial consortium for biosynthesis and structural alteration of valuable flavonoids. From a single enzyme expression to complex metabolic pathway, it has been possible to manipulate strains of *Escherichia coli*, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Streptomyces*, and *Bacillus* for target-based modification of compounds to industrial level in laboratory. Biotransformation, a biotechnological approach, can be applied to structurally modify and generate library of natural products such as flavonoid derivatives.

J. K. Sohng \cdot R. P. Pandey (\boxtimes)

P. Parajuli · B. Shrestha

Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Department of Pharmaceutical Engineering and Biotechnology, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea e-mail: pandey@sunmoon.ac.kr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Arora et al. (eds.), *Pharmaceuticals from Microbes*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 26, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8_5

This chapter highlights the significance of engineered new molecules and biotransformation approaches used to generate flavonoids by the use of microbial platforms. Basically, *E. coli* has been engineered by expressing secondary metabolites post modifying enzymes, glycosyltransferases, *O*-methyl transferases, and prenyltransferases, in particular to generate the natural and nonnatural flavonol derivatives. Indigenously present cytoplasmic cofactors, coenzymes, and donor substrates are utilized by such enzymes for target-based chemical modifications. Engineering the central carbon flux pathway to enhance the flow of carbon toward target donor substrates and cofactors such as nucleotide diphosphate (NDP)-sugars, S-adenosyl methionine, dimethylallyl pyrophosphate, and other cofactors which enhanced the cytoplasmic pool while maximizing the biotransformation efficiency for level up production are discussed. Moreover, heterologous expression of different pathway genes from different organisms and engineering of glycosyltransferases and *O*-methyl transferases into bacterial host does help to generate nonnatural flavonol glycosides.

5.1 Introduction

Flavonols are a group of phytochemicals that are widely available in plant-based foods and vegetables such as onions, broccoli, kale, apples, and tea. Structurally they are 3-phenolic ringed compounds of a flavonoid class having 3-hydroxyflavone backbone in C₆-C₃-C₆ carbon framework. Quercetin, kaempferol, myricetin, fisetin, and morin are the most ubiquitous flavonols studied for various biological activities (Fig. 5.1a). They are derived from the phenylpropanoid pathway through a common unit of naringenin chalcone converted into naringenin and further modified to flavonol backbones by the action of flavanone 3-hydroxylase (Fig. 5.1b) (Zhang and Liu 2015). Arabidopsis thaliana is a model plant for flavonoid biosynthesis where 35 molecules of flavonols are found among 54 flavonoid molecules (Saito et al. 2013). The structural diversity to the flavonoid core occurs after post biosynthesis modifications such as glycosylation, hydrogenation, hydroxylation, methylation, prenylation, etc. during biosynthesis which also alters their biological significances. Recent biotechnological techniques and tools have harnessed these natural modification steps of plant secondary metabolites into microbial platforms generating various natural and nonnatural scaffolds (Pandey et al. 2016a).

5.2 Significance of Flavonol and Their Microbial Modified Derivatives

Astragalin (kaempferol 3-*O*-glucoside), afzelin (kaempferol 3-*O*-rhamnoside), kaempferol 7-*O*-rhamnoside, kaempferitrin (kaempferol 3, 7-*O*-dirhamnoside), and kaempferide (kaempferol 4'-*O*-methoxide) are the commonly known kaempferol derivatives synthesized expressing various regiospecific glycosyltransferases and *O*-methyltransferases in microbial hosts (Simkhada et al. 2010; Pei et al. 5 Microbial Modifications of Flavonols



a. Basic Structures of ubiquitous flavonol

b. Flavonol biosynthesis via phenylpropanoid pathway



Fig. 5.1 (a) Figure showing the basic flavonoid backbone and flavonol representation including structures of major flavonols. (b) Biosynthesis pathway of flavonols via phenylpropanoid route involves series of enzyme with respective functions

2016). Various biological significances have been reported of each compound. Astragalin possesses cardioprotective (Qu et al. 2016), antiproliferative (Li et al. 2017), and anti-inflammatory (Ma et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2017) effects. Afzelin has antibacterial effect against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Lee et al. 2014) and has DNA-protective, anti-inflammatory, and UV-absorbing antioxidant activity (Shin et al. 2013). Kaempferitrin prevents bone loss (Ma et al. 2015) while exhibiting

antidepressant (Cassani et al. 2014) and antidiabetic effects (Da Silva et al. 2014; Jorge et al. 2004). Kaempferide is also a naturally occurring flavonol derivative which also has anticancer potential (Nath et al. 2015; Marnon et al. 2015). Myricetin is a flavonol having various therapeutic values (Phillips et al. 2011; Xue et al. 2015; Mondal et al. 2016; Buchter et al. 2015) including anti-HIV (Pasetto et al. 2014), mitochondrial activating agent (Jung et al. 2017), and attenuates gastric acid secretion, thereby inhibiting H⁺, K⁺-ATPase that functions as a proton pump in gastric parental cells (Miyazaki et al. 2018).

Ouercetin (3, 3', 4', 5, 7-pentahydroxyflavone) has been extensively studied for its various biological significances. Due to the fact of bioavailability, poor aqueous solubility, and the rapid body clearance, several derivatives of quercetin have been proposed and used to intense research for potentially improved properties in clinical applications. Recently, some of the flavonols and their derivatives caught the research attentions due to highly promising biological activities. Quercetin 3-O- β -D-glucoside was studied against Ebola viral infection (Qiu et al. 2016); isoquercitrin was reported as a strong antiviral agent against African historical and Asian epidemic strains of Zika virus tested over human hepatoma, epithelial, and neuroblastoma cell lines (Gaudry et al. 2018). Polyhydroxy flavonols (quercetin and myricetin) were used as promising inhibitor of CatB (cathepsin B, a cysteine protease involved in tumor progression that represents a potential therapeutic target in cancer) (Ramalho et al. 2015), other flavonols are studied to have antiparasitic activity against Trypanosoma brucei (Borsari et al. 2016), while tamarixetin was studied as strong antioxidant (Lemmens et al. 2014; Moalin et al. 2012) and tamarixetin 3-O- β -D-glucoside as a potential anti-ulcer (Yadav et al. 2017) molecule. Other post-modified flavonols such as rhamnetin (7-O-methyl guercetin) and isorhamnetin (3'-O-methyl quercetin) are known to have better bioavailability and antiinflammatory effect than its aglycon (Lee et al. 2011; Jnawali et al. 2014). Hyperoside (quercetin 3-O-galactoside) inhibits the proliferation and stimulation of osteogenic differentiation of human osteosarcoma cells (Zhang et al. 2014). It protects against hypoxia/reoxygenation during cardiomyocytes injury (Xiao et al. 2017). Isorhamnetin 3-O-galactoside was found to have greater anticoagulant and profibrinolytic effect compared to hyperoside (Ku et al. 2013). Quercetin (quercetin 3-O-rhamnoside) and guajavarin (quercetin 3-O-arabinoside) have shown better cytotoxic and antiviral activity compared to ribavirin (dos Santos et al. 2014). Ouercetin 7-O-rhamnoside has shown considerable antiviral activity during early stage of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus (Choi et al. 2009; Song et al. 2011). Quercetin 3-O- α -L-rhamnoside was found to protect against snake venom isolated from a plant Euphorbia hirta (Gopi et al. 2016). Quercetin 3-O-xyloside was recently presented as a new immunostimulator agent (Lee et al. 2016). Rhamnazin (3', 7-O-dimethyl quercetin) has been introduced as a novel angiogenesis inhibitor with potential antitumor efficacy (Yu et al. 2015; Philchenkov and Zavelevych 2015). Beside anticancer and antioxidant activities, a glycoside derivative isorhamnetin 3-O-glucuronide has been extensively studied which is suggested as a valuable therapeutic agent for inflammation-related pathological illnesses (Park et al. 2016). Morin was found to be a novel inhibitor of glycogen synthase kinase 3ß (GSK3ß) by reducing tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease condition (Gong et al. 2011). Fisetin is another flavonol (5-deoxy quercetin) with potential biological activities including memory enhancer (Maher et al. 2006), neuroprotective effect (Ahmad et al. 2017), and anti-Alzheimer's (Currais et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2016). Fisetin and myricetin were studied for antimalarial activities and were found to have dual inhibition function against falcipain-2 and plasmepsin II, thereby proving chance to development as antimalarial drug (Jin et al. 2014). The significance of flavonol derivatives discussed here is tabulated in Table 5.1. Although numerous derivatives of myricetin have been reported, microbial post-modified derivatives, myricetin 3-*O*-glucoside (Parajuli et al. 2015) and myricetin 3-*O*-rhamnoside (Thuan et al. 2013; Parajuli et al. 2015), are limited. So far microbial modified flavonol derivatives are presented in Figs. 5.2 and 5.3.

5.3 Current Approaches for Microbial Flavonol Modifications

Biotransformation is an alternative and cost-effective strategy to produce various natural and nonnatural flavonoid derivatives based on the simple enzymatic modification. The most promising biotechnological technique applied nowadays is in vivo whole-cell biotransformation. The major microbial post modification platforms for glycosylation, methylation, hydroxylation, and prenylation are generated in microbial hosts (Escherichia coli, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Streptomyces strains, fungal mycelia) by overexpressing various secondary metabolites post-modifying enzymes including glycosyltransferases, O-methyl transferases, cytochrome P450s, and prenyltransferases. Application of these enzymes to modify the structures of natural flavonoids to improve their physicochemical and biological properties has been of a great scientific and industrial interest due to their large availability, low cost, and wide substrate spectra. Besides the single genetic manipulations and one step reaction, total biosynthetic pathways of flavonoids are copied and heterologously expressed into desired host bacteria for the biosynthesis and modification from simple and low-cost precursor using various biotechnological tools (Kaneko et al. 2003; Malla et al. 2012; Stahlhut et al. 2015).

Biotransformation is considered to be the most explored techniques in flavonol modifications used by current scientists to achieve target products even in industrial scale. Since the microbial indigenous primary metabolites such as cofactors (ATP, S-adenosyl L-methionine, NDP-sugars), amino acid and coenzyme (pyridoxal-5'-phosphate), nucleotide diphosphate sugars as sugar donor substrate are utilized by post-modifying enzymes like methyltransferase and glycosyltransferases for chemical modifications in exogenously supplied flavonols as acceptor substrates (Fig. 5.3).

Flavonol derivatives	Significance of flavonols	References
Quercetin $3-O-\beta$ -D-glucoside	Ebola viral infection	Qiu et al. (2016)
Isoquercitrin	Zika virus infection	Gaudry et al. (2018)
Quercetin	Anticancer/inhibitor of cathepsin B (CatB)	Ramalho et al. (2015)
Tamarixetin	Antioxidant	Lemmens et al. (2014) and Moalin et al. (2012)
Tamarixetin $3-O-\beta$ -D-glucoside	Anti-ulcer	Yadav et al. (2017)
Rhamnetin	Anti-inflammatory	Lee et al. (2011) and Jnawali et al. (2014)
Isorhamnetin	Anti-inflammatory	Lee et al. (2011) and Jnawali et al. (2014)
Hyperoside	Against hypoxia/reoxygenation	Xiao et al. (2017)
Isorhamnetin 3- <i>O</i> -galactoside	Anticoagulant and profibrinolytic effect	Ku et al. (2013)
Quercetin and guajavarin	Better cytotoxic and antiviral activity	dos Santos et al. (2014)
Quercetin 7- <i>O</i> -rhamnoside	Antiviral for porcine epidemic diarrhea virus	Choi et al. (2009) and Song et al. (2011)
Quercetin $3-O-\alpha$ -L-rhamnoside	Antivenom	Gopi et al. (2016)
Quercetin 3- <i>O</i> -xyloside	Immunostimulator agent	Lee et al. (2016)
Rhamnazin	Angiogenesis inhibitor	Yu et al. (2015) and Philchenkov and Zavelevych (2015)
Isorhamnetin 3- <i>O</i> -glucuronide	Therapeutic agent for pathological illness	Park et al. (2016)
Astragalin	Cardioprotective, antiproliferative; anti-inflammatory	Qu et al. (2016), Li et al. (2017), Ma et al. (2015), and Zhang et al. (2017)
Afzelin	Antibacterial, DNA-protective, anti-inflammatory and UV-absorbing antioxidant	Lee et al. (2014) and Shin et al. (2013)
Kaempferitrin	Prevents bone loss, antidepressant, antidiabetic effects	Ma et al. (2015), Cassani et al. (2014), Da Silva et al. (2014), and Jorge et al. (2004)
Kaempferide	Anticancer	Nath et al. (2015)
Myricetin	Anticancer/inhibitor of cathepsin B (CatB), antimalarial; anti-HIV-1, mitochondrial activating agent	Ramalho et al. (2015), Jin et al. (2014), Pasetto et al. (2014), Jose et al. (2016), and Jung et al. (2017)
Fisetin	Memory enhancer, neuroprotective effect, anti-Alzheimer's; antimalarial	Maher et al. (2006), Ahmad et al. (2017), Currais et al. (2014), Kim et al. (2016), and Jin et al. (2014)
Morin	Inhibitor of glycogen synthase kinase 3β	Gong et al. (2011)

 Table 5.1
 Lists of flavonol derivatives studied for their specific significance are tabulated with references



Fig. 5.2 Flavonol glycoside structures synthesized from microbial modification using various glycosyltransferases

5.3.1 Glycosylation

Glycosylation is a common post-modification step involved at the later stage during biosynthesis of natural products in plants. Glycosyltransferase mediates the biochemical reaction to form glycoside bonds via transfer of an activated nucleotide diphosphate sugar to an acceptor molecule. Flavonoids are usually present in their



Fig. 5.3 Flavonol *O*-methoxide structures synthesized from microbial modification using various *O*-methyltransferases

O- or C-glycosides in plants. Various biological activities are associated with the types of sugar moieties attached to flavonoids including their physical nature like solubility and stability (Plaza et al. 2014). Most common glycosylation modification in flavonols takes place in 3-hydroxyl and 7-hydroxy position. Either simply overexpression of glycosyltransferases or nucleotide diphosphate sugar (NDP-sugar) biosynthetic pathways (Fig. 5.4) including glycosyltransferases are engineered in E. coli for regiospecific biotransformation of flavonols. Novel quercetin glycoside quercetin 3-O-(6-deoxytalose) including quercetin 3-O-glucoside and quercetin 3-O-rhamnoside was reported by engineering E. coli glycolysis pathway and expression of *tll* (encoding dTDP-6-deoxy-L-lyxo-hexulose reductase, i.e., dTDP-talose synthase) and AtUGT78D1 from Arabidopsis thaliana (Yoon et al. 2012). UDPxylose pathway enzymes phosphoglucomutase (nfa44530) from Nocardia farcinica, glucose-1-phosphate uridylyltransferase (galU) from E. coli K-12, and UDP-glucose dehydrogenase (calS8) and UDP-glucuronic acid decarboxylase (calS9) from Micromonospora echinospora spp. calichensis were overexpressed in multiple vector along with Arabidopsis thaliana glycosyltransferase (ArGt-3) to biotransform quercetin into quercetin 3-O-xyloside in E. coli host (Pandey et al. 2013). In the same year, improved production of myricetin 3-O-rhamnoside was reported in E. coli mutant expressing ArGt-3 (Thuan et al. 2013). The E. coli mutant strain was generated disrupting glucose-6-phosphate utilizing pathway genes: glucose phosphate isomerase (*pgi*), glucose-6-phosphate 1-dehydrogenase (*zwf*), and UDP- α -Dglucose hydrolase (ushA) (Pandey et al. 2013). An improved production of quercetin 3-O-xyloside was reported by Han et al. (2014) by overexpressing UDP-xylose synthase (uxs), UDP-glucose 6-dehydrogenase (ugd), and AtUGT78D3 from A. thaliana in a UDP-4-amino-4-deoxy-L-arabinose (L-Ara4N) formyltransferase/



Microbial Biotransformation

Fig. 5.4 Representation of a simple microbial biotransformation of flavonols to modified bioactive molecules in engineered *E. coli*. The modified products are glycosides and *O*-methoxides in common

UDP-glucuronic acid C-4"-decarboxylase (*arnA*) deleted *E. coli* mutant. Similarly, *ArGt-3* was also used along with TDP-glucose synthase (*Tgs*) from *Thermus caldophilus* GK24, TDP-glucose 4,6-dehydratase (*DH*) from *Salmonella typhimurium* LT2, TDP-4-keto-6-deoxyglucose 3,5-epimrase (*epi*), and TDP-glucose 4-ketoreductase (*Kr*) from *Streptomyces antibioticius*Tu99 to synthesize quercetin 3-*O*-rhamnoside and kaempferol 3-*O*-rhamnoside whereas enzymes Tgs and DH along with TDP-hexose 3-epimerase (*GerF*) and TDP-4-keto-6-deoxyglucose reductase (*GerK*) from *Streptomyces* sp. KCTC 0041BP to synthesize quercetin 3-*O*-alloside (Simkhada et al. 2010).

In our recent report, different flavonols were modified into their natural and nonnatural glycosides (Parajuli et al. 2015; Pandey et al. 2015). We constructed sugar cassettes assembling UDP-glucose and TDP-rhamnose pathway-specific enzymes and inserted into *E. coli* strain to biotransform different flavonols (fisetin, quercetin, kaempferol, and myricetin) into respective glycosides efficiently (Parajuli et al. 2015). In the same year, an expanded in vivo glycosylation platform was generated in *E. coli* W for efficient galactosylation catalyzed by galactosyltransferase (F3GT) from *Petunia hybrid* and rhamnosylation catalyzed by rhamnosyltransferase (*RhaGT*) from *A. thaliana* using a cheap source of sugar as sucrose to increase the pool of UDP-galactose and UDP-rhamnose for biosynthesis of 3-*O*-galactoside and 3-*O*-rhamnoside of various flavonols: quercetin, kaempferol, fisetin, morin, and myricetin (De Bruyn et al. 2015).

Similarly, E. coli BL21 (DE3)/ $\Delta pgi\Delta zwf\Delta galU$ mutant was engineered expressing enzymes (tgs, dh, epi, and kr) to distract the flow of carbon flux toward thymidine diphosphate 4-keto-4,6-dideoxy-D-glucose (dTKDG) along with sugar amino-transferases: 4-aminotransferase (gerB) from Streptomyces sp. GERI-155 to generate dTDP-D-viosamine pool, 4-aminotransferase (wecE) from E. coli K-12 to generate pool of dTDP-4-amino 4.6-dideoxy-D-galactose, and two genes for dTDP-3-amino 3.6-dideoxy-D-galactose (fdtA and fdtB) from Aneurinibacillus thermoaerophilus L420-91 (DSM 10154). Here also an Arabidopsis glycosyltransferase, ArGt-3, catalyzed to transfer these unnatural sugars to generate nonnatural quercetin and kaempferol derivatives through microbial biotransformation. In the meantime, novel fisetin glycosides were also produced in engineered E. coli host conjugating various amino sugars at 3-hydroxyl position of fisetin (Pandey et al. 2016b). Microbial modifications of quercetin into other glycosides as quercetin 3-O-4-deoxy-4-formamido-L-arabnose, quercetin 3-O-N-acetylglucosamine, quercetin 3-O-arabinoside, quercetin 3-O-6-deoxytaloside, and quercetin 3-O-glucuronide are covered in recent review in detail (Pandey et al. 2016a). We recently testified the microbial synthesis of tamarixetin glucoside at significant yield in E. coli for the first time (Parajuli et al. 2018). In previous years, without engineering sugar pathways and microbes, glycosyltransferases were simply overexpressed to modify flavonols into glycosides. Ouercetin 3-O-glucoside, quercetin 7-O-glucoside, quercetin 3'-O-glucoside, quercetin 4'-O-glucoside, kaempferol 3-O-glucoside, and isorhamnetin 3-O-glucoside have been reported (Lim et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2006a, 2010).

5.3.2 Methylation

Methylation is another common post-modification after the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites. Hydroxyl, carbon, or nitrogen atoms present in terminal positions are decorated by methyl groups to signify the chemical structures of secondary metabolites. Especially S-adenosyl-L-methionine (SAM)-dependent *O*-methyltransferases catalyze methylation to plant flavonols. Very few of the SAMdependent microbial origin *O*-methyltransferases are characterized to methylate plant flavonols. Microbial C-methyl derivatives of flavonols have not yet been reported. However, plant-originated *O*-methyltransferase has been functionally expressed in microbial hosts for the modification of different flavonols in respective hydroxyl positons. SOMT-2 originated from *Glycine max* overexpressed in *E. coli* biotransformed quercetin into 4'-*O*-methoxy quercetin (Kim et al. 2005a). The same group considered co-expression of two regiospecific *O*-methyltransferases ROMT-9 and SOMT-2 from rice in *E. coli* and produced 3'-*O*-methylated and the 3',4'-*O*-dimethylated quercetin derivatives (Kim et al. 2005b). In the following year, 7-*O*-methylated derivatives of quercetin, kaempferol, and isorhamnetin were produced using *Poplar*-originated *O*-methyltransferase: POMT-7 (Kim et al. 2006b). Similar co-expression method was applied to biotransform quercetin into quercetin 3'-*O*-methylquercetin, 3',4'-*O*-dimethylquercetin, 7,3'-*O*-dimethyl quercetin, and 7,3',4'-*O*-trimethylquercetin, respectively, using ROMT-9 and POMT-7 by Kim et al. (2008). A putative *O*-methyltransferase, SIOMT3, from tomato was isolated and overexpressed into *E. coli* and the transgenic *E. coli* efficiently modified quercetin, myricetin, and laricitrin into methoxide derivatives (Lee et al. 2017). Fusion of two regiospecific3'-*O*-methyltransferases (*SIOMT3*) from tomato and 7-*O*-methyltransferase (*OsNOMT*) from rice was reported recently to biotransform quercetin into rhamnazin efficiently (Lee et al. 2017).

Plant *O*-methyltransferases are regiospecific. However, there are few reports of using *Streptomyces*-derived *O*-methyl transferases for biotransformation of selective flavonols. SaOMT-2 from *S. avermitilis* MA-4680 and SpOMT2284 from *S. peucetius* ATCC27952 were explored for flavonoids methylation where SaOMT-2 biotransformed kaempferol, quercetin, and isorhamnetin into their methoxides regiospecifically and SpOMT2284 catalyzed *O*-methylation over quercetin and rutin non-regiospecifically (Kim et al. 2006c; Koirala et al. 2014). We have recently characterized *O*-methyltransferase (*GerMIII*) from *Streptomyces* sp. KCTC 0041BP to regioselectively produce 4'-*O*-methoxides of quercetin, myricetin, fisetin, and quercetin 3-*O*-glucoside, respectively (Darsandhari et al. 2018). Microbial and plant source *O*-methyltransferases are tabulated in Table 5.2.

5.3.3 Hydroxylation

Hydroxylation is an important post modification for the diversification of plant secondary metabolites. They are biosynthesized through phenylpropanoid metabolic pathway where flavonols, in particular quercetin, myricetin, morin, and fisetin, are different hydroxylated skeleton of kaempferol. However, very limited studies have been reported producing hydroxylated derivatives of flavonols expressing hydroxylases (CYP P450 mono-oxygenase) in microbial platform. But through microbial transformation of flavonols, hydroxylated derivatives were detected and characterized from the culture media in preparative scale. Hosny et al. (2001) reported the hydroxylation of fisetin and quercetin through the biotransformation via *S. griseus*. Those hydroxylated products were subsequently *O*-methylated into geraldol and 3, 7, 3'-trihydroxy-4'-methoxyflavone in case of fisetin and isorhamnetin and dillenetin, 3, 5, 7-trihydroxy-3'-4'-dimethoxyflavone, in case of quercetin.

	O-Methyltransferase	Products catalyzed by	
S. No.	(organism source)	O-methyltransferases	References
Microl	bial O-methyltransferase		
1	SpOMT2884 (Streptomyces peucetius)	O-Methylation on quercetin, rutin,	Koirala et al. (2014) and Chiang et al. (2015)
2	SaOMT5 (Streptomyces avermitilis)	O-Methylation of quercetin	Yoon et al. (2010)
3	ScOMT1 (Streptomyces coelicolor A3(2))	<i>O</i> -Methylated products were isorhamnetin, tamarixetin, fisetin methoxide, gossypetin	Yoon et al. (2005)
4	SaOMT-2 Streptomyces avermitilis	<i>O</i> -Methylation of kaempferol and quercetin	Kim et al. (2006c)
5	SpnK (Saccharopolyspora spinosa)	4'- <i>O</i> -Methoxy quercetin 3- <i>O</i> -glucoside	Parajuli et al. (2018)
Plant (O-methyltransferase		
1	SOMT-2 Glycine max	O-Methylated quercetin	Kim et al. (2005a)
2	ROMT-9 and SOMT-2 <i>Rice</i> and <i>Glycine max</i>	O-Methylated quercetin	Kim et al. (2005b)
3	POMT-7 Poplar, <i>Populus</i> deltoides	O-Methylated kaempferol, quercetin	Kim et al. (2006b)
4	SIOMT3 Tomato	O-Methylated quercetin, rhamnetin	Lee et al. (2017)
5	OsNOMT Rice	<i>O</i> -Methylated kaempferol, quercetin, isorhamnetin	Lee et al. (2017)
6	CdFOMT5 Citrus depressa	O-Methylated quercetin	Itoh et al. (2016)

 Table 5.2
 O-methyltransferases from microbial and plant sources used for post-modification of flavonols

Second column shows products catalyzed by particular O-methyltransferase from first column

5.3.4 Prenylation

Prenylated flavonoids are uncommon, and they are characterized by the presence of lipophilic prenyl (5-carbon) chain, dimethylallyl or geranyl chain (10-carbon), or farnesyl (15-carbon). No reports have been found to generate prenylated flavonols through microbial transformation in particular although few prenylated derivatives of flavonoids reported have been reviewed in Pandey et al. 2016b (Fig. 5.5).

5.4 Conclusion

Apart from multifaceted therapeutic applications, flavonol and its derivatives have long been explored for potential nutritional values since they are particularly abundant in daily consumable vegetables, fruits, nuts, red wine, green tea, etc. Microbial modification of flavonols has been profoundly reliant on the biotransformation of



Fig. 5.5 Engineering natural and nonnatural NDP-sugar biosynthetic pathway in *E. coli* for regiospecific modification of flavonols catalyzed by specific uridine diphosphate glycosyltransferase. Red cross indicates the blocked pathway. Single black arrow is one step reaction while double black arrow indicates two steps reaction. *glk*: hexokinase, *pgm* phosphoglucomutase, *galU* UDPglucose synthase, *ugd* dehydrogenase, *uxs* decarboxylase, *RHM1* UDP-rhamnose synthase, *tgs* TDP-D-glucose synthase

aglycon into their analogous glycosides or *O*-methoxides using post-modifying enzymes. Utilizing primary metabolites of *E. coli* including cofactors, donor substrates, or coenzymes for modification of flavonols has been cheap and simple, since they are indigenously present in bacterial cell. These natural commodities have been valued by engineering strategy to enhance the production of target compounds. A range of molecular biology tools, including metabolic engineering and synthetic biology, has been used to achieve significant bioconversion in host cells. Engineering *E. coli* either by deletion or extra copy overexpression of glycolysis pathway genes enabled the carbon flux toward target NDP-sugar/s accumulation, where glycosyltransferase expression facilitates regiospecific modification of flavonols to their natural and nonnatural glycoside analogues (Simkhada et al. 2010; Yoon et al. 2012; Parajuli et al. 2015; Pandey et al. 2016b). However, for flavonol *O*-methoxides, few engineering approaches have been reported to increase production from microbial cell factories beside protein fusion for double modification and the simple expression of *O*-methyltransferases. Thus, expression of glycosyltransferases and *O*-methyltransferases from plant and microbial sources and rewiring native pathway via diversion of carbon flux toward primary precursor were more efficient to modify and synthesize target-based flavonol derivatives rather than anonymous microbial engineering approaches have helped to program and control bacterial robustness in production.

Acknowledgments This research was supported by grant from National Research Foundation of Korea to Ramesh Prasad Pandey (Grant no. 2017R1C1B5018056).

References

- Ahmad A, Ali T, Park HY, Badshah H, Rehman SU, Kim MO (2017) Neuroprotective effect of fisetin against amyloid-beta-induced cognitive/synaptic dysfunction, neuroinflammation, and neurodegeneration in adult mice. Mol Neurobiol 54:2269–2285. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12035-016-9795-4
- Borsari C, Luciani R, Pozzi C, Poehner I, Henrich S, Trande M, al e (2016) Profiling of flavonoid derivatives for the development of anti-trypanosomatidic drugs. J Med Chem 59:7598–7616. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.6b00698
- Buchter C, Ackermann D, Honnen S, Amold N, Havermann S, Koch K, Watjen W (2015) Methylated derivatives of myricetin enhance life span in Caenorhabditis elegans dependent on the transcription factor DAF-16. Food Funct 6:3383–3392. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5fo00463b
- Cassani J, Dorantes-Barron AM, Novales LM, Real GA, Estrada_reyes R (2014) Anti-depressantlike effect of kaempferitrin isolated from Justicia spicigera Schltdl (Acanthaceae) in two behavior models in mice: evidence for the involvement of the serotonergic system. Molecules 19:21442–21462. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules191221442
- Chiang CM, Ding HY, Tsai YT, Chang TS (2015) Production of two novel methoxy-isoflavones from biotransformation of 8-hydroxydaidzein by recombinant *Escherichia coli* expressing O-methyltransferase SpOMT2884 from Streptomyces peucetius. Int J Mol Sci 16:27816– 27823. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms161126070
- Choi HJ, Kim JH, Lee CH, Ahn YJ, Song JH, Baek SH, Kwon DH (2009) Antiviral activity of quercetin 7-O-rhamnoside against porcine epidemic diarrhea virus. Antivir Res 81:77–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2008.10.002
- Currais A, Prior M, Dargusch R, Armando A, Ehren J, Schubert D, Quehenberger O, Maher P (2014) Modulation of p25 and inflammatory pathways by fisetin maintains cognitive function in Alzheimer's disease transgenic mice. Aging Cell 13:379–390. https://doi.org/10.1111/ acel.12185

- Da Silva D, Casanova LM, Marcondes MC, Espindola-Netto JM, Paixão LP, De Melo GO, Zancan P, Sola-Penna M, Costa SS (2014) Antidiabetic activity of *Sedum dendroideum*: metabolic enzymes as putative targets for the bioactive flavonoid kaempferitrin. IUBMB Life 66:361–370. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.1270
- Darsandhari S, Dhakal D, Shrestha B, Parajuli P, Seo JH, Kim TS, Sohng JK (2018) Characterization of regioselective flavonoid O-methyltransferase from the Streptomyces Sp. KCTC 0041BP. Enzym Microb Technol 113:29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2018.02.007
- De Bruyn F, Van Brempt M, Maertens J, Van Bellegem W, Duchi D, De Mey M (2015) Metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* into a versatile glycosylation platform: production of bio-active quercetin glycosides. Microb Cell Factories 14:138. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12934-015-0326-1
- Dos Santos AE, Kuster RM, Yamamoto KA, Salles TS, Campos R, de Meneses MD, Soares MR, Ferreira D (2014) Quercetin and quercetin 3-O-glycosides from bauhinia longifolia (Bong.) steud. Show anti-mayaro virus activity. Parasit Vectors 7:130. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-7-130
- Gaudry A, Bos S, Viranaicken W, Roche M, Krejbich-Trotot P, Gadea G, Despres P, EI-Kalamouni C (2018) The flavonoid isoquercitrin precludes initiation of Zika virus infection in human cells. Int J Mol Sci pii:E1093. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19041093
- Gong EJ, Park HR, Kim ME, Piao S, Lee E, Jo DG, Chung HY, Ha NC, Mattson MP, Lee J (2011) Morin attenuates tau hyperphosphorylation by inhibiting GSK3β. Neurobiol Dis 44:223–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2011.07.005
- Gopi K, Anbarasu K, Renu K, Jayanthi S, Vishwanath BS, Jayaraman G (2016) Quercetin 3-O-rhamnoside from Euphorbia hirta protects against snake Venom induced toxicity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1860:1528–1540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.03.031
- Han SH, Kim BG, Yoon JA, Chong Y, Ahn JH (2014) Synthesis of flavonoid O-pentosides by *Escherichia coli* through engineering of nucleotide sugar pathways and glycosyltransferase. Appl Environ Microbiol 80:2754–2762. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03797-13
- Hosny M, Dhar K, Rosazza JP (2001) Hydroxylations and methylations of quercetin, fisetin, and catechin by Streptomyces griseus. J Nat Prod 64:462–465. https://doi.org/10.1021/np000457m
- Itoh N, Iwata C, Toda H (2016) Molecular cloning and characterization of a flavonoid O-methyltransferase with broad substrate specificity and regioselectivity from *Citrus depressa*. BMC Plant Biol 16:180. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-016-0870-9
- Jin H, Xu Z, Cui K, Zhang T, Lu W, Huang J (2014) Dietary flavonoids fisetin and myricetin: dual inhibitors of Plasmodium falciparum falcipain-2 and plasmepsin II. Fitoterapia 94:55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fitote.2014.01.017
- Jnawali NH, Lee E, Jeong KW, Shin A, Heo YS, Kim Y (2014) Anti-inflammatory activity of rhamnetin and a model of its binding to C-jun NH2-terminal kinase 1 and p38 MAPK. J Nat Prod 77:258–263. https://doi.org/10.1021/np400803n
- Jorge AP, Horst H, de Sousa E, Pizzolatti MG, Silva FR (2004) Insulinomimetic effects of kaempferitrin on glycaemia and on 14C-glucose uptake in rat soleus muscle. Chem Biol Interact 149:89–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2004.07.001
- Jose J, Dhanva AT, Haridas KR, Sumeshkumar TM, Javaraman S, Variyar EJ, Sudhakaran S (2016) Structural characterization of a novel derivative of myricetin from mimosa pudica as an antiproliferative agent for the treatment of cancer. Biomed Pharmacother 84:1067–1077. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2016.10.020
- Jung HY, Lee D, Ryu HG, Choi BH, Go Y, Lee N, Son HG, Jeon J, Kim SH, Yoon JH, Sm p, Lee SV, Lee IK, Choi KY, Ryu SH, Nohara K, Yoo SH, Chen Z, Kim KT (2017) Myricetin improves endurance capacity and mitochondria I density by activating SIRT1 and PGC-1α. Sci Rep 7:6237. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-05303-2
- Kaneko M, Hwang EI, Ohnishi Y, Horinouchi S (2003) Heterologous production of flavanones in *Escherichia coli*: potential for combinatorial biosynthesis of flavonoids in bacteria. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 30:456–461. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-003-0061-1

- Kim DH, Kim BG, Lee Y, Ryu JY, Lim Y, Hur HG, Ahn JH (2005a) Regiospecific methylation of naringenin to ponciretin by soybean O-methyltransferase expressed in *Escherichia coli*. J Biotechnol 119:155–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.04.004
- Kim BG, Shin KH, Lee Y, Hur HG, Lim Y, Ahn JH (2005b) Multiple regiospecific methylations of a flavonoid by plant O-methyltransferases expressed in *E. coli*. Biotechnol Lett 27:1861–1864. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-005-3893-0
- Kim JH, Shin KH, Ko JH, Ahn JH (2006a) Glycosylation of flavonols by *Escherichia coli* expressing glucosyltransferase from rice (*Oryza sativa*). J Biosci Bioeng 102:135–137. https://doi. org/10.1263/jbb.102.135
- Kim BG, Kim H, Hur HG, Lim Y, Ahn JH (2006b) Regioselectivity of 7-O-methyltransferase of poplar to flavones. J Biotechnol 126:241–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2006.04.019
- Kim BG, Jung BR, Lee Y, Hur HG, Lim Y, Ahn JH (2006c) Regiospecific flavonoid 7-O-methylation with *Streptomyces avermitilis* O-methyltransferase expressed in *Escherichia coli*. J Agric Food Chem 54:823–828. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0522715
- Kim BG, Lee YJ, Lee S, Lim Y, Cheong Y, Ahn JH (2008) Altered regioselectivity of a poplar O-methyltransferase, POMT-7. J Biotechnol 138:107–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jbiotec.2008.08.007
- Kim BG, Sung SH, Jung NR, Chong Y, Ahn JH (2010) Biological synthesis of isorhamnetin 3-O-glucoside using engineered glucosyltransferase. J Mol Catal B Enzym 63:194–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcatb.2010.01.012
- Kim S, Choi KJ, Cho SJ, Yun SM, Jeon JP, Koh YH, Song J, Johnson GV, Jo C (2016) Fisetin stimulates autophagic degradation of phosphorylated tau via the activation of TFEB and Nrf2 transcription factors. Sci Rep 6:24933. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24933
- Koirala N, Pandey RP, Parajuli P, Jung HJ, Sohng JK (2014) Methylation and subsequent glycosylation of 7,8-dihdroxyflavone. J Biotechnol 184:128–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jbiotec.2014.05.005
- Ku SK, Kim TH, Lee S, Kim SM, Bae JS (2013) Antithrombotic and profibrinolytic activities of isorhamnetin 3-O-galactoside and hyperoside. Food Chem Toxicol 53:197–204. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fct.2012.11.040
- Lee S, Sy S, Lee Y, Park Y, Kim BG, Ahn JH, Chong Y, Lee YH, Lim Y (2011) Rhamnetin production based on the rational design of the poplar O-methyltransferase enzyme and its biological activities. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 21:3866–3870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2011.05.043
- Lee SY, So YJ, Shin MS, Cho JY, Lee J (2014) Antibacterial effects of afzelin isolated from *Cornus macrophylla* on Pseudomonas aeruginosa, a leading cause of illness in immunocompromised individuals. Molecules 19:3173–3180. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules19033173
- Lee J, Choi JW, Sohng JK, Rp P, Park YI (2016) The immunostimulating activity of quercetin 3-O-xyloside in murine macrophages via activation of the ASK1/MAPK/NF-kB signaling pathway. Int Immunopharmacol 31:88–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2015.12.008
- Lee D, Park HL, Lee SW, Bhoo SH, Cho MH (2017) Biotechnological production of dimethoxyflavonoids using a fusion flavonoid O-methyltransferase possessing both 3'- and 7-O-methyltransferase activities. J Nat Prod 80:1467–1474. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. jnatprod.6b01164
- Lemmens KJ, Vrolijk MF, Bouwman FG, Van der Vijgh WJ, Bast A, Haenen GR (2014) The minor structural difference between the antioxidants quercetin and 4'-O-methylquercetin has a major impact on their thiol toxicity. Int J Mol Sci 15:7475–7484. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms15057475
- Li W, Hao J, Zhang L, Cheng Z, Deng X, Shu G (2017) Astragalin reduces hexokinase 2 through increasing MiR-125b to inhibit the proliferation of hepatocellular carcinoma cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Agric Food Chem 65:5961–5972. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b02120
- Lim EK, Ashford DA, Hou B, Jackson RG, Bowles DJ (2004) *Arabidopsis* glycosyltransferases as biocatalysts in fermentation for regioselective synthesis of diverse quercetin glucosides. Biotechnol Bioeng 87:623–631. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20154

- Ma XQ, Han T, Zhang X, Wu JZ, Rahman K, Quin LP, Zheng CJ (2015) Kaempferitrin prevents bone lost in ovariectomized rats. Phytomedicine 22:1159–1162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. phymed.2015.09.003
- Maher P, Akishi T, Abe K (2006) Flavonoid fisetin promotes ERK-dependent long-term potentiation and enhances memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A103:16568–16573. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0607822103
- Malla S, Koffas MA, Kazlauskas RJ, Kim BG (2012) Production of 7-O-methyl aromadendrin, a medicinally valuable flavonoid, in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:684–694. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.06274-11
- Marnon B, Sankar S, Lankalapalli RS, Anto JR (2015) Kaempferide, the most active among the four flavonoids isolated and characterized from *Chromolaena odorata*, induces apoptosis in cervical cancer cells while being pharmacologically safe. RSC Adv 5:100912–100922. https:// doi.org/10.1039/C5RA19199H
- Miyazaki Y, Ichimuta A, Sato S, Fujii T, Oishi S, Sakai H, Takeshima H (2018) The natural flavonoid myricetin inhibits gastric H⁺, K⁺-ATPase. Eur J Pharmacol 820:217–221. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.12.042
- Moalin M, Van Strijdonck GP, Bast A, Haenen GR (2012) Competition between ascorbate and glutathione for the oxidized form of methylated quercetin metabolites and analogues: tamarixetin, 4'-methylquercetin, has the lowest thiol reactivity. J Agric Food Chem 60:9292–9297. https:// doi.org/10.1021/jf302068v
- Mondal S, Jana J, Sengupta P, Jana S, Chatterjee S (2016) Myricetin arrests human telomeric G- quadruplex structure: a new mechanistic approach as an anticancer agent. Mol BioSyst 12:2506–2518. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6mb00218h
- Nath LR, Gorantla JN, Joseph SM, Antony J, Thankachan S, Menon DB, Sankar S, Lankalapalli RS, Anto RJ (2015) Kaempferide, the most active among the four flavonoids isolated and characterized from *Chromolaena odorata*, induces apoptosis in cervical cancer cells while being pharmacologically safe. RSC Adv 5. 100912-100922 https://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA19199H
- Pandey RP, Malla S, Simkhada D, Kim BG, Sohng JK (2013) Production of 3-O-xylosyl quercetin in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97:1889–1901. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00253-012-4438-9
- Pandey RP, Parajuli P, Chu LL, Darsandhari S, Sohng JK (2015) Biosynthesis of amino deoxysugar-conjugated flavonol glycosides by engineered *Escherichia coli*. Biochem Eng J 101:191– 199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2015.05.017
- Pandey RP, Parajuli P, Koffas MAG, Sohng JK (2016a) Microbial production of natural and nonnatural flavonoids: pathway engineering, directed evolution and systems/synthetic biology. Biotechnol Adv 34:634–662. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2016.02.012
- Pandey RP, Parajuli P, Chu Luan L, Kim SY, Sohng JK (2016b) Biosynthesis of novel fisetin glycoside from engineered *Escherichia coli*. J Ind Eng Chem 43:13–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12934-015-0326-1
- Parajuli P, Pandey RP, Trang NT, Chaudhary AK, Sohng JK (2015) Synthetic sugar cassettes for the efficient production of flavonol glycosides in *Escherichia coli*. Microb Cell Factories 914:76. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-015-0261-1
- Parajuli P, Pandey RP, Sohng JK (2018) Regiospecific biosynthesis of tamarixetin derivatives in *Escherichia coli*. Biochem Eng J 133:113–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2018.02.004
- Park JY, Kim SI, Lee HJ, Kim SS, Kwon YS, Chun W (2016) Isorhamnetin 3-O-glucuronide suppresses JNK and p38 activation and increases heme-oxygenase-1 in lipopolysaccharide challenged RAW264.7 cells. Drug Dev Res 77:143–151. https://doi.org/10.1002/ddr.21301
- Pasetto S, Pardi V, Murata RM (2014) Anti-HIV-1 activity of flavonoid myricetin on HIV-1 infection in a dualchamber in vitro model. PLoS One 9:e115323. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0115323
- Pei J, Dong P, Wu T, Zhao L, Fang X, Cao F, Tang F, Yue Y (2016) Metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* for astragalin biosynthesis. J Agric Food Chem 64:7966–7972. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.jafc.6b03447

- Philchenkov AA, Zavelevych MP (2015) Rhamnazin inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of human jurkat leukemia cells *in vitro*. Ukr Biochem J 87:122–128. https://doi.org/10.15407/ ubj87.06.122
- Phillips PA, Sangwan V, Borja-cacho D, Dudeja V, Vickers SM, Saluja A (2011) Myricetin induces pancreatic cancer cell death via the induction of apoptosis and inhibition of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling pathway. Cancer Lett 308:181–188. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.canlet.2011.05.002
- Plaza M, Pozzo T, Liu J, Ara KZG, Turner C, Karlsson EN (2014) Substituent effects on in vitro antioxidizing properties, stability, and solubility in flavonoids. J Agric Food Chem 62:3321– 3333. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf405570u
- Qiu X, Kroeker A, He S, Kozak R, Audet J, Mbikay M, Chretien M (2016) Prophylactic efficacy of quercetin 3-O-β-D-glucoside against Ebola virus infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 60:5182–5188. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00307-16
- Qu D, Han J, Ren H, Yang W, Zhang X, Zheng W, Wang D (2016) Cardio protective effects of astragalin against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in isolated rat heart. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2016:8194690. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/8194690
- Ramalho SD, de Sousa LR, Burger MC, Lima MI, da Silva MF, Fernandes JB, Vieira PC (2015) Evaluation of flavonols and derivatives as human cathepsin B inhibitor. Nat Prod Res 29:2212– 2214. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.2014.1002404
- Saito K, Yonekura-Sakakibara K, Nakabayashi R, Higashi Y, Yamazaki M, Tohge T, Fernje AR (2013) The flavonoid biosynthetic pathway in Arabidopsis: structural and genetic diversity. Plant Physiol Biochem 72:21–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2013.02.001
- Shin SW, Jung E, Kim S, Kim JH, Kim EG, Lee J, Park D (2013) Antagonizing effects and mechanisms of afzelin against UVB-induced cell damage. PLoS One 8:e61971. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061971
- Simkhada D, Lee HC, Sohng JK (2010) Genetic engineering approach for the production of rhamnosyl and allosyl flavonoids from *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Bioeng 107:154–162. https:// doi.org/10.1002/bit.22782
- Song JH, Shim JK, Choi HJ (2011) Quercetin 7-rhamnoside reduces porcine epidemic diarrhea virus replication via independent pathway of viral induced reactive oxygen species. Virol J 8:460. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-8-460
- Stahlhut SG, Siedler S, Malla S, Harrison SJ, Maury J, Neves AR, Forster J (2015) Assembly of a novel biosynthetic pathway for production of the plant flavonoid fisetin in *Escherichia coli*. Metab Eng 31:84–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2015.07.002
- Thuan NH, Rp P, Thuy TT, Park JW, Sohng JK (2013) Improvement of region-specific production of myricetin-3-O-α-L-rhamnoside in engineered *Escherichia coli*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 171:1956–1967. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-013-0459-9
- Xiao R, Xiang AL, Pang HB, Liu KQ (2017) Hyperoside protects against hypoxia/reoxygenation induced injury in cardiomyocytes by suppressing the BniP3 expression. Gene 629:86–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2017.07.063
- Xue W, Song BA, Zhao HJ, Qi XB, Huang YJ, Liu XH (2015) Novel myricetin derivatives; design, synthesis and anticancer activity. Eur J Med Chem 97:155–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejmech.2015.04.063
- Yadav DK, Bhartkar YP, Hazra A, Pal U, Berma S, Jana S, Singh UP, Maiti NC, Mondal NB, Swarnakar S (2017) Tamarixetin 3-O-β-D-glucopyranoside from *Azadirachta indica* leaves: Gastroprotective role through inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity in mice. J Nat Prod 80:1347–1353. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jnatprod.6b00957
- Yoon Y, Yi YS, Lee Y, Kim S, Kim BG, Ahn JH, Lim Y (2005) Characterization of O-methyltransferase ScOMT1 cloned from *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3 (2). Biochim Biophys Acta 1730:85–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbaexp.2005.06.005
- Yoon Y, Park Y, Lee Y, Yi YS, Park JC, Ahn JH, Lim Y (2010) Characterization of an O-methyltransferase from *Streptomyces avermitilis* MA-4680. J Microbiol Biotechnol 20:1359–1366

- Yoon JA, Kim BG, Lee WJ, Lim Y, Chong Y, Ahn JH (2012) Production of a novel quercetin glycoside through metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:4256– 4262. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00275-12
- Yu Y, Cai W, Pei CG, Shao Y (2015) Rhamnazin, a novel inhibitor of VEGFR2 signaling with potent antiangiogenic activity and antitumor efficacy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 458:913–919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.02.059
- Zhang X, Liu CJ (2015) Multifaceted regulations of gateway enzyme phenylalanine ammonialyase in the biosynthesis of phenylpropanoids. Mol Plant 8:17–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molp.2014.11.001
- Zhang N, Ying MD, Wu YP, Zhou ZH, Ye ZM, Li H, Lin DS (2014) Hyperoside, a flavonoid compound, inhibits proliferation and stimulates osteogenic differentiation of human osteosarcoma cells. PLoS One 9:e98973. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098973
- Zhang W, Lu X, Wang W, Ding Z, Fu Y, Zhou X, Zhang N, Cao Y (2017) Inhibitory effects of emodin, thymol, and astragalin on Leptospira interrogans-induced inflammatory response in the uterine and endometrium epithelial cells of mice. Inflammation 40:666–675. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10753-017-0513-9

Chapter 6 Downstream Processing for Biopharmaceuticals Recovery



Anu Mehta

Contents

6.1	Introduction	164
6.2	Outline Scheme of Biopharmaceuticals Production	167
6.3	Focus on Downstream Processing	170
	6.3.1 Initial Recovery: Process and Technologies.	170
	6.3.2 Purification: Process and Technologies	176
	6.3.3 Polishing: Process and Technologies.	177
6.4	Current Issues in Downstream Processing of Biopharmaceuticals	180
6.5	Alternatives and Advancements Made to Address the Issues	180
	6.5.1 Aqueous Two-Phase Extraction (ATPE)	181
	6.5.2 Nano-magnetic Separation of Antibodies.	182
6.6	Challenges and Future Trends	183
6.7	Conclusion	183
Refe	rences	184

Abstract The invention of genetic engineering tools has given birth to a new type of pharmaceuticals known as biopharmaceuticals. These are the drug molecules that have therapeutic effects and are synthesised in biological cell systems. Drug like recombinant insulin is a prominent prototype example of biopharmaceutical which is commonly available in the market at cheap prices for diabetic patients, globally. The production of these therapeutic molecules differs from chemically synthesised low molecular weight drugs. Upstream and downstream processes altogether comprise the production process of biopharmaceuticals. The downstream processing costs 70% of the total production cost of a particular biopharmaceutical, largely contributed by expensive chromatographic techniques such as affinity, hydrophobic interaction, ion exchange and size exclusion. Although chromatography is a reliable and conventional approach to carry out single step purification fold. This makes the process tedious, and problems like diffusional spreading and resolution are also

A. Mehta (🖂)

D. Arora et al. (eds.), *Pharmaceuticals from Microbes*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 26, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8_6

Department of Biochemistry, Kurukshetra University, Kurukshetra, Haryana, India e-mail: dranumehta.9@gmail.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

observed with chromatography procedures. The concern is important as we aim to bring various biopharmaceuticals into market that can treat innumerable diseases at a cheap price.

The current chapter emphasises the process and technology related to the upstream process and the three chronological steps – initial recovery, purification and polishing – involved in downstream processing of biopharmaceuticals. The chapter encompasses the hurdles encountered in the downstream processing in particular with chromatography process that makes high-quality production of biopharmaceuticals an expensive affair thus making it difficult to reach the public. New technologies designed to offer faster and cheaper purification such as aqueous two-phase extraction system, and nano-magnetic-based antibodies separation system have been discussed further. Moreover, we have reviewed and emphasised the requirement of using combination of physical, mathematical, biological and computational approaches, which can help to design efficient production and purification systems for the ample, cheap and continuous market supply of this new category of drugs.

6.1 Introduction

Biopharmaceuticals are pharmaceutical products which are obtained by biotechnological processes. The term 'biopharmaceutical' was used for the first time in the 1980s to address and describe those therapeutic proteins which are produced by genetic engineering and/or hybridoma technology (Gary 2000, 2003). Most pharmaceutical drugs are chemically synthesised low molecular weight (LMW) molecules, whereas biopharmaceuticals are high molecular weight (HMW) molecules which include glycoproteins (sugar-attached polymers of L-amino acids) and nucleic acids (polymers of nucleotides), in which the former category predominates the share (Jozala et al. 2016). These biopharmaceuticals possess three-dimensional (secondary, tertiary, quaternary) structures which are absent in LMW pharmaceutical drug molecules (Crommelin et al. 2003). The three-dimensional structure of molecules determines their biological activity; a small error in it can make that molecule lose its functional capability. Moreover the glyco-conjugated proteins cannot be chemically synthesised and hence requires the need of using biological cell machinery in combination with genetic engineering, for their production.

The advent of genetic engineering facilitated the way for the production of a protein say of known sequence and hybridoma technology paved the way for its large-scale production. The cells in vitro are cultured and genetically modified for the production of these therapeutic molecules. It includes the use of bacterial cells and filamentous fungi to different eukaryotic cell systems, e.g. yeast (*Pichia pastoris*), transgenic animals and transgenic plants. Production of therapeutic proteins using transgenic plants is referred to as *molecular pharming*. Table 6.1 list some of the commercially available biopharmaceuticals showing different cell systems used for their production.

Drug development is a lengthy procedure, and to launch a novel drug in the market costs approx. 15 years of extensive in vitro and in vivo research. In the last

	Route of	Commercial				
Biopharmaceutical	administration	name	Clinical use			
Biopharmaceuticals pro	duced using bacteria	cell expression sy	estem			
Insulin (fast acting)	Subcutaneous	Lispro (Humalog)	Diabetes			
Glucagon	Parenteral	Glucagon	Hypoglycaemia			
Parathyroid hormone	Subcutaneous	Preotact	Osteoporosis			
Somatotrophin	Subcutaneous	Humatrope	Growth hormone deficiency			
Somatostatin	Subcutaneous, intramuscular, intravenous	Octreotide (Sandostatin)	Tumours, acromegaly, GI fistulae			
G-CSF	Subcutaneous	Neulasta	Tumour-related infections			
Anti-VEGF antibody	Intravitreal	Lucentis	Macular degeneration			
Biopharmaceuticals pro	duced using yeast cel	l expression syste	m			
HPV vaccine	Intramuscular	Gardasil	Treating infections against HPV			
Serum albumins	-	Recombumin	Manufacture of other human therapeutics			
Platelet-derived growth factor	Topical application	Regranex	Wound repair, neuropathic and diabetic ulcers			
Somatotropin	Subcutaneous	Valtropin	Growth hormone deficiency			
Biopharmaceuticals produced using plant cell expression system						
β-Glucocerebrosidase	Intravenous	Imiglucerase	Gaucher's disease			
Biopharmaceuticals produced using mammalian cell expression system						
IgG-MAB specific for TNFα	Subcutaneous	HUMIRA	Rheumatoid arthritis			
Urokinase	Intravenous	Kinlytic	Dissolves blood clots			
IgG-MAB specific for TNFα	-	Enbrel	Inflammatory diseases (rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosis spondylitis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis			
Interferon β-1a	Subcutaneous	Rebif	Multiple sclerosis			

 Table 6.1
 The table enlists some of the commercially available biopharmaceuticals using bacteria, yeast, plant and animal cell expression system

Abbreviations: *GI* gastrointestinal, *G-CSF* granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, *VGEF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *HPV* human papilloma virus, *IgG-MAB* immunoglobulin G monoclonal antibody, *TNF* α tumour necrosis factor α

#The data for the table shown is procured from manufacturers' pages

5 years, 73 biopharmaceuticals have got approval for use in humans ("Biopharmaceutical Products in the US and European Markets" 2002–present), and recently in 2015, amongst top 10 drugs with sales of USD 59 billion, 6 were recombinant protein biopharmaceuticals ("Top drugs by sales revenue in 2015: Who sold the biggest blockbuster drugs?" 2016). In 2004, US biopharmaceuticals had 60% share in global pharmaceutical market (Parmar 2006). India has always been a hot spot of these US- and Europe-based companies to establish their markets. A web database BioPharma details the information that 1126 US and European companies established across the globe are involved in the biopharmaceuticals' production. However, India's biopharmaceuticals demand is met by its own established

companies which are approximately 30 in number (Varma 2009). Amongst them, Biocon Ltd. has been Asia's premier biopharmaceutical company. Many of its biopharmaceutical products are commercially available in the market, e.g. INSUGEN (rh-insulin) and other insulin analogues (https://www.biocon.com/biocon_aboutus. asp).

Cost-effective large-scale production of biopharmaceuticals is an important deciding factor for their commercial launch in the health-based market. The manufactured biopharmaceuticals must be economical to benefit masses over the globe or at least a nation. Over the past three decades, biopharmaceutical industry has undergone a rapid growth from both medical and economical viewpoints. Cost-utility analyses (CUA) of biopharmaceuticals ease the decision to launch them in the market. Studies have shown that CUA of biopharmaceuticals is comparable to that of classic pharmaceutical drugs; thus they also provide value for the money invested. However, their effectiveness is reported comparatively lesser in cancer and neurological diseases relative to those which work against infectious diseases (Wilson and Neumann 2012). This makes us to conclude that the cost-effectiveness of these classes of drugs varies depending upon their effectiveness upon the kind of pathophysiological conditions that they target.

It is worth mentioning that genetic engineering-based production of a biopharmaceutical by different pharmaceutical companies is derived from the similar gene yet they differ a little in their physical characteristics. This is because of the differences in the posttranslational modifications and variations in the manufacturing protocols. To differentiate between them, different terminology is used. The pioneering version of the biopharmaceutical of a kind is termed as *reference medicine*, and the following versions manufactured by other companies are termed as *biosimilars* (Jozala et al. 2016). The mode of administration of biopharmaceuticals in a patient, initially, was conventional, e.g. oral, dermatological, etc. However, to retain the biological activity of biopharmaceuticals during drug delivery, different approaches such as microsphere-based controlled release approach, etc. have been used (Mitragotri et al. 2014). Such engineered biopharmaceuticals with enhanced stability and more efficient drug delivery system are referred to as *biobetters/biosuperiors* (Mitragotri et al. 2014; Beck 2011; Strohl 2015). Thus, biosimilars are considered generic versions of biopharmaceuticals.

The production of biopharmaceuticals is a multistep process. The procedure initiates from the development of the protocol for in vitro production of pharmaceuticals using living cells to study the efficacy in clinical studies and then to scale up the economic production by maintaining the product stability with the same clinical efficacy. Using cells as reactor, variations due to scaling up bring environment variations that a cell experiences. Thus the production kinetics and manufactured product characteristics also show a change with the process of scaling up, and hence large-scale production of biopharmaceuticals of a constant good quality is in itself a hard task to accomplish. Understanding and managing the biomanufacturing are complex; however, aiming the scalability in the early development and tailoring the generic process with keeping things as simple as possible are the key ways that help the scaling up – rapid and a low-risk process (Fish and Williams 2007).

6.2 Outline Scheme of Biopharmaceuticals Production

Biopharmaceutical production is broadly divided into two major processes: *upstream and downstream*, each including various steps. Upstream processes aim to transform the substrate into desired metabolic products, whereas downstream processes aim to purify the desired metabolic product with good yield (Gronemeyer et al. 2014). The upstream process includes series of steps:

- 1. Identification of altered protein expression responsible for the cause of a pathophysiological condition/disease.
- 2. Identification, characterisation and isolation of the gene responsible for the same protein expression in healthy organism.
- 3. Selection of suitable and efficient host cell type to carry out genetic engineering.
- 4. Identification and selection of transformed cell(s)/line.
- 5. Scale up the transformed cells with process monitoring and parameter optimizations to achieve maximal biopharmaceutical production.

One of the major steps in the upstream process that must be most sincerely carried out is the selection of a cell line. Commercially, cloning and subcloning of 'n' chosen cell types/lines starts from the master cell bank (MCB). The clones are selected which have robust growth profiles and cell stability (phenotypic and genotypic) ("Considerations for Successful Upstream Process Development" 2012). Expression of human insulin by genetic engineering of *E. coli* cells is an elementary and one of the best examples till date to understand the upstream processing. However, Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells, baby hamster kidney (BHK) cells, mouse myeloma (NS0) and hybridoma (SP2-0) are the most common expression system for the production of monoclonal antibodies and cytokines (Jayapal et al. 2007). It's been recorded that in 2010, 70% of recombinant proteins for therapeutic purpose are being expression using CHO cell lines (Li et al. 2010).

There are many parameters for the selection of transformed cell(s)/cell line(s), but amongst them the two major criteria are titre and posttranslational processing profiles of the biopharmaceutical produced (Gronemeyer et al. 2014). These two parameters ensure the quantitative and qualitative assessment of the product in question. *Titre* is defined as the amount of biomolecule produced and released in extracellular aqueous solution compared to the total volume of bioreactor used in the upstream process. The titre and hence productivity of a transformed cell line are assessed in a large-scale bioreactor system, whereas reproducible glycosylation profiles in particular determines the quality of biopharmaceutical (Durocher and Butler 2009). The ability of a cell line to show reproducible glycosylation patterns or other posttranslational modifications depends upon the kind of cell/cell line used and physical and chemical conditions provided for its growth and cultivation (Hossler et al. 2009; Zhu 2012). These physical and chemical conditions are addressed using variable composition of the cell culture media. The culture medium acts a buffer system for the growth of in vitro cell culture systems; it also acts as a

portal to supplement the nutrients to the growing cells. All cell culture media serves these two functions; however, optimal medium must be selected for the best functioning of the cells under consideration and also to ensure that the media constituents do not act as stumbling block in the further downstream processes ("Considerations for Successful Upstream Process Development" 2012).

The aim of carrying out downstream processing remains the same whether the biomolecule of interest is produced by the transformed cells intra-/extracellularly; however the steps to carry out the procedure albeit show differences. In case of extracellular production of target biomolecule, the culture medium is concentrated, and then purification is carried out. But in case the target biomolecule is produced intracellularly, it becomes important to harvest and lyse the cells, followed by debris removal. Then the biomolecule of interest is purified from the cell homogenate by the similar procedures, and mostly intracellular synthesised biomolecules are available and stored as inclusion bodies. Since here, in specific reference to proteins, aggregation causes change in tertiary and quaternary structures; an additional step of refolding is required to make the molecule of interest for commercial therapeutic use. Thus the downstream process includes following series of steps:

- 1. Extraction/isolation: Initial recovery of the product from the bioreactor.
- 2. *Purification*: Procure purified product by the removal of contaminants from the recovered product.
- 3. *Polishing*: Removing the contaminants, unwanted forms of biomolecule of interest which is formed due to its misfolding during previous steps of the downstream processing (Jozala et al. 2016) and formulation.

The downstream processing can be carried out either in batch or continuous mode. The more the number of steps involved, it will add to the cost of production of the biomolecule in terms of time and money. It has been noticed that purification efficiency does not improve with continuous downstream processing; rather the process becomes more complex. This disadvantage is outweighed by gain in high yield in continuous operating units (Jungbauer 2013). So, almost equivalent number of operation units work irrespective of continuous or batch mode. However, when the product has less stability, less number of operation units is required in continuous mode (Warikoo et al. 2012). In general, a minimum of three operation units for the above-mentioned three steps are found in any downstream processing unit.

The *yield* of biopharmaceutical obtained is the final parameter used to assess the efficiency of the downstream processes carried out. It is calculated as ratio of the mass of final purified biomolecule and mass of the biomolecule taken at the start of downstream process. Often 99% or more purity is required along with good yield. Different forms of chromatography are traditionally carried out for this purpose. It is necessary to mention that all the steps mentioned above needed to be carried out at a good pace and include research for the development of technologies which can speed up these steps. With the advancement of technology, nowadays, new methods of process development have been incorporated to ease the control and speed up the process. This includes platform technologies, quality by design and design of experiment – experimental optimisations based on high-throughput screening methods,

simulation-based operation units, etc. (Bhambure et al. 2011; del Val et al. 2010; Shukla and Thömmes 2010). It is important to have a robust and reliable scale-up and purification system before release of any biopharmaceutical in the consumer market (Jozala et al. 2016). New approaches including the combination of mechanistic models with artificial neural networks (ANNs) are also in progress. These novel approaches are expected to provide yield with a minimum purity of 99.9% (Pirrung et al. 2017). Figure 6.1 displays the steps of upstream and downstream processing units involved in production of biopharmaceuticals.



Fig. 6.1 Illustration of steps involved in upstream and downstream processing of biopharmaceuticals. The upstream process includes series of steps that aim to transform the substrate into desired metabolic products, whereas downstream processes aim to purify the desired metabolic product with good yield

6.3 Focus on Downstream Processing

6.3.1 Initial Recovery: Process and Technologies

As mentioned earlier, initial recovery refers to the procedures by which broth clarification is carried out, so that the product in consideration can be extracted from extracellular medium or from the separated cells by their lysis. This involves the use of methods like centrifugation, filtration, sedimentation and flotation. With time, the biopharmaceutical industry over the globe has shifted from batch to continuous mode of operation in downstream processing. Here, we will highlight the technological insights of currently adopted continuous mode of operations used in downstream processing.

(a) **Continuous centrifuges:** The initial step of downstream processing, i.e. product recovery, aims to recover (a) the product from the extracellular medium, if the synthesised product is released extracellularly, or (b) the biomass which is followed by clarification of cell homogenates, washing and recovering of the inclusion bodies and harvesting precipitated protein or biomolecule of interest, if the product is stored intracellularly. These are usually achieved with the help of centrifugation. The centrifuges operating in pseudo-continuous manner so that the suspension fed and clarified liquid are removed in continuous fashion are known as continuous centrifuges (Jungbauer 2013; Langer 2011). There are various types of centrifuge configurations used: hybrid centrifuge rotor (Ivory et al. 1995), continuous tubular bowl centrifuge (Lander et al. 2005), combined centrifugation and cell culture (Brouns et al. 1990), tube centrifuge (Jungbauer 2013; Rathore et al. 2015), chamber centrifuge (Jungbauer 2013; Rathore et al. 2015) and disc stack centrifuge (Jungbauer 2013; Rathore et al. 2015). Amongst these, only disc stack centrifuge can be operated in a pseudo-continuous manner (Erikson 1984). The centrifuge has a vertical rotor with numerous conical discs attached radially and all along the rotor length. These discs provide increase in the sedimentation area (Fig. 6.2). This type of centrifuge is further available in two designs: split bowl and disc nozzle (Jungbauer 2013). Split bowl design is used when the feed has high solid content, for example, in case of yeast fermentation biomass content is very high, whereas for low solid content, feed disc nozzle design is used. Different capacities of disc continuous centrifuges are deployed depending on small-scale, pilot-scale or large-scale production. The smallest commercially continuous disc centrifuge must be fed at 11/min, which is a too high for a laboratory-scale experiment. But, for initial studies and procurement of biopharmaceutical, it is important to carry out the experimental studies at laboratory scale. For this purpose, small-scale decanters are used which are fed at 30 ml/min (Jungbauer 2013). These centrifuges with different capacities cannot be interchanged for use because the separation efficiency differs in each case which can affect downstream yield of the purified product of interest.



(b) **Continuous filtration**: Filtration is another way to separate the solid-liquid components of the culture established in the upstream process. Thus, by filtration, cells can be harvested, by-products can be removed and culture medium containing the expressed biomolecules of interest can be concentrated. This is achieved by using different pore-sized filters (Cheryan 1986). There are broadly three types of filtration: (a) microfiltration (used for cell harvesting by retaining suspended particles in the broth and allowing water, salts and macromolecules in the filtrate), (b) ultrafiltration (used for concentrating biopharmaceutical product) and (c) nanofiltration (used for the removal of viruses). For microfiltration, filters of pore size ranging between 0.1 and 10 μ m are used, whereas filters with pore size of 0.001 μ m (1 nm) carry out nanoscale level filtration. Much better version of filtration complemented with electrophoretic technique known as electrofiltration is also used which reduces cost and time of operation (Gözke et al. 2012; Wellhoefer et al. 2013).

Continuous/cascade filtration refers to the filtration process where one filtration unit is fed into next consecutive filtration unit which varies in size from each other (Siew et al. 2013). There are major two ways to carry out continuous filtration: dead end/normal flow and tangential flow (Rathore et al. 2015). Deadend filtration is not efficient, as it involves the passage of solution from a single filter upon which with time collection of particulate matter occurs gradually, which leads to the formation of a filter cake. The cake provides increased resistance to the flow of matter across filter and reduces the efficiency of filtration process. However, this filter cake is removed via reverse flushing to keep the process going on (Bailey and Ollis 1986). This system of filtration is applicable for separation of inclusion bodies (Wellhoefer et al. 2013). Tangential flow filtration is more commonly used as it has higher efficiency in comparison to the former one mentioned. This is achieved by allowing the sample to run parallel to the filter (Fig. 6.3); the filtrate is recycled numerous times, and hence


Fig. 6.3 Diagram showing the difference in the functioning of (a) dead-end filtration and (b) tangential flow filtration. In dead-end filtration, feed stream runs perpendicular to the plane of the filters, whereas in tangential flow filtration, the feed stream runs parallel to the filters

large volumes are concentrated to smaller volumes. This is achieved using any of the two different kinds of designs: single-pass tangential flow filtration (SPTFF) and alternating tangential flow filtration (ATF) (Alford et al. 2008; Bonham-Carter and Shevitz 2011).

(c) Cell lysis: The cell lysis is an additional step in case the biopharmaceutical is produced inside the cell as inclusion bodies. Many recombinant proteins have been found to be aggregated as inclusion bodies, e.g. interferon-β, interleukin-2, protein C, proinsulin, etc. A list of a few of the well-known biopharmaceuticals expressed and stored as inclusion bodies is mentioned in Table 6.2.

Before proceeding to cell lysis, it is important to confirm the presence of inclusion bodies by microscopic visualisation. Phase-contrast microscopy and electron microscopy are used for this purpose. In phase-contrast microscope, inclusion bodies appear as highly refractile bodies, whereas in electron

Biomolecule expressed	Recovered after cell lysis and centrifugation in:	References
Human growth hormone	Supernatant	Courtney et al. (1984)
Insulin A chain	Pellet	Goeddel et al. (1979a, b)
Insulin B chain	Pellet	Szoka et al. (1986)
α_1 -Antitrypsin	Supernatant	Winkler et al. (1985)
Urokinase	Pellet	Bennett et al. (1984)
Calcitonin	Pellet	Pennica et al. (1985)
Human TNF	Supernatant	Itakura et al. (1977)
Somatostatin	Pellet	Dunnill and Lilly (1974)

 Table 6.2 List of some commercially available biopharmaceuticals which are expressed as inclusion bodies

Abbreviation: TNF tumour necrosis factor



Fig. 6.4 Cell disruption to extract intracellular synthesised target biomolecule includes primarily physical, chemical and enzymatic methods

microscope, they appear as free amorphous aggregates in cytosol or in contact with a membrane which can be located distinctly (Schoemaker et al. 1985; Schoner et al. 1985). Once presence of inclusion bodies is confirmed, then sample can be preceded for lysis.

Cell disruption can be achieved by physical, chemical or enzymatic methods alone or in combination with each other. Figure 6.4 shows different types of cell lysis methods.

(1) **Physical methods:** This includes application of physical forces for cell lysis. There are several ways to achieve it: bead mill (which uses glass beads for grinding), heat shock, high-pressure homogenisation, impingement, osmotic shock and ultrasonication. **Bead Mills** involve the use of glass beads which are placed in a jacketed highspeed reaction vessel. The reaction vessel in its centre has a rotating shaft. Agitators fitted with shaft provide the kinetic energy to beads present inside. The cells to be lysed are placed in the reaction vessel, and as a result, the force experienced by cells via glass beads results in cell rupture. The reaction vessel is jacketed to keep the vessel at an optimum temperature as temperature is increased while the process operates.

There are different types of designs available for reaction vessels; however the basic principle of operation remains the same. The size of glass beads used depends upon the type of cells to be lysed. Glass beads with diameter <0.5 mm are used for bacterial cells, whereas those with diameter >0.5 mm are used for yeast cells (Chisti and Moo-Young 1986).

Heat Shock based cell lysis is generally used in large-scale production systems. Certain transformed Gram-negative bacteria release intracellular expressed biomolecules, when heated up to 50 °C; similarly from *E. coli*, these can be released by heating them to 90 °C for 10 min. Better results are seen when short-term heat shocks followed by prolonged low temperatures are given to the bacterial cells (Middelberg 1995).

High-pressure Homogenisation is based to carry out cell lysis by forcing them to pass through a narrow orifice which is under high pressure. This instrument contains two components: a piston pump and a valve. The piston pump is in the form of a triplex, and the valve has a slit of ~100 mm which generates a pressure of ~1500 bar. After high-pressure application, when the cells experience sudden release of pressure at the valve, it causes their lysis. Modern homogenisers work in continuous mode (Saboya et al. 2003).

Impingement refers to a mode of cell lysis by making them to strike on a stationary surface at high velocity. The instrument used to carry out the process is known as micro-fluidiser. This method brings 90% lysis efficiency for *E. coli* cells (Shao et al. 2015).

Osmotic Shock is another way for carrying out cell lysis. The sample is placed in a hypertonic or hypotonic medium which can lead to cell shrinkage or swelling and ultimately bursting, respectively. However, this method is not commonly used because of its low efficiency. Also high amount of salt usage leads to further complications in downstream processing of the target biomolecule.

Ultrasonication involves the use of ultrasonic waves for cell disruption, but this method is employed for lab-scale experiments only.

(2) **Chemical methods:** It involves the use of alkalis, organic solvents or detergents. The use of alkali in intracellular product recovery is applicable if

the expressed molecule of interest is alkali stable. For example, recombinant growth hormone is recovered from transformed *E. coli* cells by treating it with NaOH (pH 11). Similarly various organic solvents are used for the same purpose, e.g. toluene; alcohols such as methanol, ethanol, butanol; and DMSO. These organic solvents have the capacity to extract phospholipids from the cell membrane, hence destabilising the integrity of the membrane causing cell lysis. Ionic detergent such as cetyl trimethyl ammonium bromide (CTAB) and sodium lauryl sulphate and non-ionic detergents such as Tween 20 and Triton X-100 are also used for lysing the cells. They act by denaturing membrane proteins and ease their solubilisation and extraction from the membrane (Harrison 2011). However, in ionic detergent-based cell lysis, proteins recovered show change in their ability to undergo salt precipitation; thus before proceeding to the next step, recovered protein can be ultrafiltrated or subjected to ion-exchange chromatography.

- (3) Enzymatic methods: Different set of enzymes are used which can disintegrate the cell membrane and/or cell wall. Most commonly used enzymes are lyso-zyme, glucanase, mannose and proteases. The kind of enzyme used depends upon the type of cell to be lysed. In case of prokaryotic bacterial cells, the cell wall composition differs. Lysozyme acts on β-(1→4) glycosidic linkages present between N-acetyl muramic acid (NAM) and N-acetyl glucosamine (NAG) of peptidoglycan (Crapisi et al. 1993). Peptidoglycan layer is easily accessible in case of Gram-positive bacteria; thus lysozyme is more effective on Grampositive cells in comparison to Gram-negative cells in carrying out the lysis. Anionic sugar residues comprising lipopolysaccharide of Gram-positive bacterial cell wall are stabilised by cations like calcium and magnesium. EDTA chelates with these cations and destabilises the cell wall integrity. Thus, lysozyme is used in general in combination with EDTA (Dean and Ward 1992). Glucanases are used in combination with proteases for lysis of yeast cells (Scott and Schekman 1980).
- (d) Precipitation and crystallisation: Once the biomolecule of interest is available in the medium (with/without cell lysis), the next step is to capture that target molecule. Precipitation and crystallisation are the methods that serve this purpose. Selection of the batch and continuous modes for precipitation/crystallisation depends upon the kind of biomolecule to be recovered. For example, blood plasma proteins are separated by carrying out precipitation/crystallisation offers advantages over batch mode in terms of consistency and reproducibility; production of precipitates with optimal size, strength and density; minimising supersaturation and avoiding particle break-up. However, literature study shows that despite the above-mentioned advantages, batch mode is practically used in the field (Watt 1970).

6.3.2 Purification: Process and Technologies

Chromatography is the most widely used technique for the purification of the extracted recombinant protein or other target biomolecule. It works on the principle of differential partitioning of the molecule of interest between two phases, which is a function of the type of interactions that exist between the molecule of interest and the solvent in which it preferentially partitions. The target molecule to be purified from a mixture is placed in suitable mobile phase and allowed to interact with a solid stationary phase. The stationary phase is chosen and provided in the column on the basis of affinity interactions of molecule of interest with it. These interactions are then destabilised with the help of eluent such that the target molecule which is the most tightly bound molecule will be released at the end of the run of column and least bound which are preferably unwanted molecules will be released from the column at the earliest. Elution can be carried out in an isocratic or continuous/discontinuous gradient manner.

On the basis of the types of interactions existing between target molecule and stationary phase, there are different types of chromatography: affinity, hydrophobic interaction, ion exchange and size exclusion (Saraswat et al. 2013). Protein A affinity chromatography in specific is used for purification of MABs (Liu et al. 2010; Shukla and Hinckley 2008). Different kinds of ligands are used in affinity chromatography, e.g. polyhistidine-tagged resin and protein L (Saraswat et al. 2013). The method provides high flow rate and capacity in addition with high specificity for the IgG antibodies. The method also provides high degree of purity (>95%) by removal of host cell proteins (HCPs), viruses, DNA and media components (Liu et al. 2010; Gagnon 2012; Lain et al. 2009). But, problems are faced using this method in MABs purification because of leaching of protein A/L/the tags, which causes non-specific binding of HCPs and DNA, thus decreasing the degree of purification obtained (Ghose et al. 2006; Tarrant et al. 2012; Lowe 2001). For MABs having a basic isoelectric point, cation-exchange chromatography can work as a better alternative method for their purification as compared to protein A affinity chromatography (Liu et al. 2010; Lain et al. 2009; Chon and Zarbis-Papastoitsis 2011). Humira (anti-TNFa MAB) and Synagis (MAB targeting RSV F protein) are examples of commercially available MABs purified using cation-exchange chromatography (Chon and Zarbis-Papastoitsis 2011). The cost of purification of MABs using cationexchange chromatography is almost 1/5 compared to protein A chromatography (Lain et al. 2009; Chon and Zarbis-Papastoitsis 2011). However, other chromatography types are used in next downstream process, i.e. polishing, which will be discussed later.

Carrying out the process of chromatography is also an important factor that decides the % purity of the target molecule. Traditional methods include batch mode operation and packed column operation; recently chromatography carried out in continuous modes is in use. In traditional operation methods, the column capacity is not completely utilised which limits its efficiency at preparative scale (Gueorguieva et al. 2011). The feed solution is continuously applied at the top, and fractions are

separated at the bottom of the column in case of continuous system. This system is suited for multicomponent fractionation. The continuous mode of operation helps to overcome the limitations encountered in batch mode of operation. It can further be operated in different modes – annular, countercurrent, concurrent and carrousel. A continuous chromatography method where the chromatography bed is packed into a rotating annulus is annular continuous chromatography (Jungbauer 2013). The method came into existence in the early 1990s (Bloomingburg et al. 1991). It has been used for purification of recombinant blood clotting factor IX by removal of impurity vitronectin (Iberer et al. 2002), virus vaccines (Ozdural et al. 2007) and recombinant antibodies from cell culture supernatant (Giovannini and Freitag 2001). In countercurrent loading, at least three columns are required; the first column is loaded to saturation, and the breakthrough is loaded onto the second column. The saturated column is washed and eluted as in a batch operation (Jungbauer 2013). Multi-column countercurrent chromatography is useful for resolving various protein variants and gives high yield and purity of the target product (Aumann and Morbidelli 2007). This method is used for the purification of commercially available recombinant streptokinase (Martinez Cristancho et al. 2013) and single-chain Ab fragments (Mahajan et al. 2012) and various MABs (Gueorguieva et al. 2011; Mahajan et al. 2012).

Recently efforts have been done to develop alternative and an easy way of carrying out chromatography. Membrane chromatography is one of the alternative formats which combines the advantage of membrane filtration with liquid chromatography. This is known to be a cost-effective strategy to purify large volume of feed streams (Rathore et al. 2018). Further attempts have been made to increase the binding capacity of membrane using hydrogels and nanofibre-based matrices. These types of materials offer high specific area and higher ligand density which help in efficient purification of biopharmaceuticals (Liu et al. 2017).

6.3.3 Polishing: Process and Technologies

The final step in downstream processing includes final removal of specific impurities, misfolded forms of biomolecule of interest and charge variants, concentrating the product and final formulation (Kramberger et al. 2015). Again like the previous step, chromatography-based methods are predominantly used in this, e.g. sizeexclusion chromatography and hydrophobic interaction chromatography; however other methods like ultrafiltration are also used. In addition, process like crystallisation is also used in certain cases like in the final purification of small protein insulin. So here below are described a few of the most commonly used methods for polishing:

(a) Hydrophobic interaction chromatography (HIC): HIC is the most commonly used polishing method for MABs as aggregates are easily retained on it (Ghose et al. 2009). This is carried out with the help of kosmotropic salts, e.g. $(NH_4)_2SO_4$, KH_2PO_4 and $Na_3C_6H_5O_7$, which interact with water molecules to reduce solvation of protein molecules in water. This further causes exposure of hydrophobic patches on the proteins to promote their binding (Liu et al. 2010). Such misfolded or aggregated proteins are eluted from the HIC column by using organic mobile phases. However, large amount of salt usage in it has two major implications: (a) the sample after purification has to be repurified using ultrafiltration to remove excess of salts which can affect the target protein stability and (b) high salt usage has corrosive effects on stainless steel tanks which can further cause economy issues related to the process (Chen et al. 2008; Gagnon 2006). Thus, advances have been made to carry out polishing using HIC in no-salt conditions to get rid of the problems faced in the former case (Gagnon 2012; Arakawa et al. 2007; Tsumoto et al. 2007; Kato et al. 2004).

- (b) Simulating moving bed (SMB) chromatography: This method is effective for the separation of binary mixtures, which rarely exist in the product mixtures obtained from a biotechnological process. So, they are used in modified version, where the procedure is repeated to separate a kind of impurity in one cycle of operation (Mun et al. 2003). There are certain cases where a biomolecule or target molecule exists in different enantiomers; however only a particular conformation is known to be biologically important. This method is used to separate the biologically relevant enantiomers from the feed/pool (Rajendran et al. 2009).
- (c) Crystallisation: The procedure is used for final purification and formulation of the biological molecule of therapeutic importance. The technique was used recently to obtain purified single-chain antibody using aqueous two-phase system (Huettmann et al. 2014). The method brings high purification fold as molecules folded and arranged in a regular lattice structure are selected from the misfolded aggregates of the target biomolecule (Zang et al. 2011). Commercially available biopharmaceutical recombinant protein insulin is produced and purified using crystallisation procedures. Just like other techniques, this method can also be carried out in batch or continuous mode; however, like always the latter mode of operation provides better control of crystal morphological characteristics and enhanced quality (Kwon et al. 2014).
- (d) Single-pass and high-performance tangential flow filtration (SPTFF and HPTFF): As mentioned earlier about the tangential flow filtration, it is preferred over dead-end mode. The conventional tangential flow filtration has limited use for the separation of solutes from the produce that differs in their size by a factor of ~ 10-fold. However, the tangential flow filtration applications have broad scope in the polishing process as well. Here, it is used for final purification step that involves the separation of virus from target protein or buffer-protein or misfolded protein-protein separations (van Reis et al. 1997). Comparative studies between conventional and SPTFF have shown that the latter one gives higher reproducible results for protein concentration with 98.9% product recovery. SPTFF is applicable for final step purification of IgG molecules (Casey et al. 2011). HPTFF has further superior features, as it provides high-resolution protein separation. It involves the use of size difference and charge difference as

well (Zydney and van Reis 2001). The optimal conditions for HPTFF working are pH that is close to pI of the lower molecular weight protein and low salt concentrations (~10 mM ionic strength). These conditions exclude the proteins which have extra charged residues that lead to misfolding (Zydney and van Reis 2001). HPTFF also has application in separation of monomers from oligomers (Lebreton et al. 2008), singly pegylated protein from highly pegylated species of the same protein (Ruanjaikaen and Zydney 2011) and MABs from mammalian HCPs (van Reis and Zydney 2007).

- (e) Continuous refolding: In case, the target protein is synthesised by the transformed cells as inclusion bodies, the procured protein must be refolded. This is because inclusion bodies are recovered after treating with chaotropic agents and detergents, which cause protein denaturation. The in vitro protein folding is a slow and costly process (Eiberle and Jungbauer 2010; Jungbauer and Kaar 2007). One of the ways is to carry out refolding using refolding buffer. The buffer dilutes the concentration of chaotropes and detergents associated with the recovered protein in a single step, which allows intramolecular interaction and prevents intermolecular aggregation, promoting the refolding. The method is simple and has been used for decades at industrial scale preferably (Jungbauer and Kaar 2007). Another method is expanded bed chromatography which has been used for refolding of α -lactalbumin (Machold et al. 2005). In this case, the chromatography bed/stationary phase is expanded using upward flow of the equilibration buffer. The crude mixture is fed into the expanded bed in upward motion, where the target molecules are captured as in case of conventional chromatography. The elution buffer is also allowed to run in the upward direction for the release of the target molecules (Kennedy 2005).
- (f) Cascade diafiltration: The final polishing and formulation process is important as in this step complete removal of salts is done to make them compatible for the biological use. For this, diafiltration is used which reduces the salt concentration in the recovered protein by a factor of 10⁴ after 9.2 diavolumes, such that one million-fold salt reduction would require ~14 diavolumes (van Reis and Zydney 2007). Diafiltration carried out in continuous mode is performed by using a cascade of membrane set-ups which are arranged in countercurrent manner. This is called as cascade diafiltration. In this, the feed is allowed to enter continuously up to the assembled final membrane set-up, in a way that the retentate from each set-up stage is recycled to the previous stage of the cascade (Peeva et al. 2014). The following mathematical equation defines the fractional removal of a small impurity in cascade diafiltration:

$$f = (1 - \beta) / 1 - \beta^{N+1}$$

where *f* is the fraction removed and β is the ratio of diafiltration buffer flow rate to the feed flow rate.

In the simplest case when the system is inclusive of 3 set-ups, $\beta = 10$, thus achieved *f* value is 9×10^{-4} ; this can be increased using higher number of setups in the system (Zydney 2015).

6.4 Current Issues in Downstream Processing of Biopharmaceuticals

Advances in the field of molecular biology and biotechnology have contributed a lot to improve the upstream processes like host cell engineering, cell line improvement, optimisation of media formulations, enhanced bioreactor designing for better production of target molecules and improved controlled conditions for in vitro largescale culture of cells (Hodge 2005). Research advances in genetic engineering have been made to control posttranslational modifications, e.g. glycosylation of glycoproteins. Sialic acid content in recombinant glycoproteins can be increased in the target proteins by overexpression of sialyltransferase (Lin et al. 2015) and downregulation of sialidase expression using siRNA technology (Ngantung et al. 2006). In certain cases, fut8 gene knockout strategy has been used to produce defucosylated antibodies (Yamane-Ohnuki et al. 2004). A recent advancement has been made in the manufacture of genetically engineered T cells carrying T cell receptors or chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) in T cell-based cancer immunotherapy. It involves the use of single-use Cellbag bioreactor, bearing capacity up to 25 L in which cells can expand to $>10^7$ cells/ml (Wang and Rivière 2016). These efforts, in recent years, have improved upstream processes undoubtedly by increasing overall production of MABs from few mg/L to now reaching about 27 g/L (http://www.dsm.com/en_US/ html/dpp/news_items/16_06_08_perc6.htm).

However, it is noteworthy to mention that very few efforts have been done to improve the downstream processing. This has resulted in increased cost of production due to the use of costly traditional downstream processes. It has been seen that downstream processing accounts for 80% of the total manufacturing cost of a biopharmaceutical (Frost and Sullivan 2004; Roque et al. 2004). Thus, high cost of downstream processes is one of the major issues associated with biopharmaceutical production. Another issue associated with downstream processing of biopharmaceutical is the never-ending requirement of quality product, for which we need to make novel advancements that can help to achieve it easily and again in a cost-effective manner.

6.5 Alternatives and Advancements Made to Address the Issues

Chromatography is the most conventional and widely used method for purification of proteins at large scale with high resolution in single-step protocol. In certain cases, two or three chromatography systems are run in series that brings higher purification fold. For example, platform approach is used for purification of MABs in which first chromatography column is used to capture the target protein from the feed, and the latter two are involved in polishing of the product where DNA, leached protein A, LMW clipped species, HMW aggregates and HCPs are removed (Shukla et al. 2007). However, chromatography-based purification offers disadvantages such as high cost of operation, has limited capacity and offers diffusional spreading that may affect the resolution of the process. To address the issues mentioned, efforts have been made to move from traditional, costlier methods of operation to advanced technologies which can cut the cost of downstream processing. Some of the promising alternatives that have been brought into use are mentioned here below:

6.5.1 Aqueous Two-Phase Extraction (ATPE)

This is a kind of liquid-liquid extraction method developed by Albertsson (1970) and is not novel in origin; rather the idea of its application as a replacement for chromatography is novel. However, the designing and implementation of ATPE system process at a large scale are limited because of the poor understanding of the molecular mechanisms operating for the solute partitioning. Various factors determine the differential partitioning of the target molecule and contaminating molecules in aqueous two-phase system, for example, physico-chemical properties, e.g. charge, size and hydrophobicity, and system composition. Thus the driving forces responsible for the differential partitioning of the molecules are van der Waals forces, electrostatic interactions, hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic interactions and steric effects (Huddleston et al. 1991). And, it is possible to manipulate the operating forces by changing -pH, phase components and ionic strength of the phase or adding a ligand in it, with the aim to target the biomolecule of interest and get it separated from the contaminating population. Therefore, in order to use this technology at industrial scale, it is important to understand and predict the partitioning behaviour of the target molecule and the contaminants as well, which is a tedious task in itself, thus limiting its use. In addition, the procedure involves the requirement of large amount of pure water, which can pose another limitation to the access of the method. However, practically speaking, for the large biopharmaceutical companies, the estimated cost of pure water can be as low as US\$ 0.2/L and thus can be easily overcome (Zhou and Tressel 2006). Although both phases used are water based, the system displays high viscosity of the coexisting phases which lowers the recovery speed of target biomolecule and usage of polymers like dextran, further making the technique costly (Ferreira et al. 2016). In lieu of the problems mentioned, recent attempts have been made on the protocol modification from polymer/ polymer to polymer/salt and salt/salt combinations, to reduce the cost (Azevedo et al. 2007). These modifications: (a) use cheaper salts and hence reduce costs and (b) show lower viscosity contrary to conventional systems and hence provide faster separation rates.

6.5.2 Nano-magnetic Separation of Antibodies

Cheap and easily synthesised magnetic nanoparticles can be used at industrial scale by coating with different polymeric substances that enhance their stability in colloidal solutions, morphology and functionality as well. These nano-magnetic particles can be used in combination with ATP extraction system which enhances the speedy recovery of target molecule (by a factor of 10 w.r.t. ATP extraction system) from the feed (Azevedo and Aires-Barros 2011; Wikstrom et al. 1987; Larsson 1994). After washing out the contaminants, the target molecule can be eluted and formulated for biological delivery. The method is advantageous over classical chromatography-based separation and purification method, as it is simple to carry out, does not require expensive liquid chromatography systems and hence is economical. Moreover, it can be integrated with cell disintegration steps for procuring intracellular proteins and hence decreases the processing time to a greater extent (Schuster et al. 2000). The method enhances the recovery of the peptides in intact form which get otherwise broken in traditional chromatography systems (Hofmann et al. 2002). A list of commercially available peptides and proteins of therapeutic importance purified by this method is enlisted in Table 6.3. In the near future, we expect the increased usage of this technology at laboratories and industries for biopharmaceutical downstream processing.

Table 6.3	List of	some	commercially	available	biopharmaceuticals	purified	by	non-magnetic
particle-ba	sed sepai	ration	method					

Biopharmaceutical	Source	Magnetic carrier	References
β-Galactosidase	E. coli homogenate	Silanised magnetite	Dunnill and Lilly (1974)
Lysozyme	Hen egg white	Magnetic chitin	Safarik and Safarikova (1993)
Caspase	Human cells	Magnetic agarose	Himeji et al. (2002)
Albumin	Human plasma	Magnetic poly(2- hydroxyethyl methacrylate) beads	Odabasi and Denizli (2004)
MABs	Mouse hybridoma culture broth	Magnetite particles	Shinkai et al. (1992)
Thioredoxin (histidine tagged)	E. coli	Magnetic agarose	Schafer et al. (2002)
Uricase (histidine tagged)	Bacillus sp.	Ion-chelating magnetic agarose beads	Nishiya et al. (2002)
Aldolase (histidine tagged)	E. coli homogenate	Magnetic core and nickel-silica composite matrix	Frenzel et al. (2003)

6.6 Challenges and Future Trends

Although the advancements have been done as mentioned above in the downstream processing of biopharmaceuticals, yet the cost of production and the need of continuous ample supply of the biopharmaceutical in the market are still big challenges to be resolved. The developed conventional platform technologies and methods are used at industrial scale and are still not completely replaced by new methods as it would require skilled labour to troubleshoot the problems faced in the procedure, which is not easily available and hence for them is a risk-taking challenge. However research and development of the concerned firms is working to get advanced ways to improve the downstream processing of biopharmaceuticals. The upcoming future trends are in silico-based methods: algorithmic (super structure optimisation, model-based hybrid approach) and non-algorithmic (heuristic approach based, experimental and platform approach) methods. For this, different databases need to establish, for the designing of programmes that can help the purification and polishing process with ease. Also, hybrid process development approaches are in pipeline that include combination of high-throughput experimentation and mathematical models (Hanke and Ottens 2014). These methods are expected to offer greater sensitivity to minute changes in the downstream processes, and hence a better control strategy could be devised that would lead to better recovery of the product in the process and can cut down the cost.

6.7 Conclusion

The therapeutic benefits offered by biopharmaceuticals have allured the pharmaceutical company to increase the ways and strategies for their cost-effective production. Major costs are involved in their downstream processing which offers a potential area to carry out further research and development. Combinatorial sciences can offer a lucrative solution to the problem; however till then conventional chromatography for purification will hold promise for quality production of these biopharmaceuticals.

Acknowledgements The author is highly thankful to the editor and reviewers for suggesting valuable suggestions.

References

- Albertsson PA (1970) Partition of cell particles and macromolecules in polymer two-phase system. Adv Protein Chem 24:309–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-3233(08)60244-2
- Alford JR, Kendrick BS, Carpenter JF, Randolph TW (2008) High concentration formulations of recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: II. aggregation kinetics. J Pharm Sci 97(8):3005–3021. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.21205
- Arakawa T, Tsumoto K, Nagase K, Ejima D (2007) The effects of arginine on protein binding and elution in hydrophobic interaction and ion-exchange chromatography. Protein Expr Purif 54(1):110–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pep.2007.02.010
- Aumann L, Morbidelli M (2007) A continuous multicolumn countercurrent solvent gradient purification (MCSGP) process. Biotechnol Bioeng 98(5):1043–1055. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bit.21527
- Azevedo AM, Aires-Barros MR (2011) New platforms for downstream processing of biopharmaceuticals. 1st Portuguese Meeting in Bioengineering, February 2011 Portuguese chapter of IEEE EMBS Instituto Superior Técnico, Technical University of Lisbon
- Azevedo AM, Rosa PA, Ferreira IF, Aires-Barros MR (2007) Optimisation of aqueous two-phase extraction of human antibodies. J Biotechnol 132(2):209–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jniotec.2007.04.002
- Bailey JE, Ollis DF (1986) Biochemical engineering fundamentals, 2nd edn. Tata McGraw-Hill Education, Noida
- Beck A (2011) Biosimilar, biobetter and next generation therapeutic antibodies. MAbs 3(2):107– 110. https://doi.org/10.4161/mabs.3.2.14785
- Bennett AD, Rhind SK, Lowe PA, Hentschel CCG (1984) Eur Pat Appl 0131363
- Bhambure R, Kumar K, Rathore AS (2011) High-throughput process development for biopharmaceutical drug substances. Trends Biotechnol 29(3):127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibtech.2010.12.001
- Biopharma International Editors (2012) Considerations for successful upstream process development. BioPharm Int 25(7)
- BIOPHARMA: Biopharmaceutical Products in the U.S. and European Markets (2002) This is a list of new full FDA approvals for biopharmaceutical products. Available from: http://www.biopharma.com/approvals.html
- Bloomingburg GF, Bauer JS, Carta G, Byers CH (1991) Continuous separation of proteins by annular chromatography. Ind Eng Chem Res 30(5):1061–1010. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie00053a031
- Bonham-Carter J, Shevitz J (2011) A brief history of perfusion bio manufacturing. BioProcess Int. 9(9):28–30
- Brouns TM, Elliott ML, Van Wie BJ (1990) U.S. Patent No. 4,939,087. U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, Washington, DC
- Buchacher A, Iberer G (2006) Purification of intravenous immunoglobulin G from human plasma – aspects of yield and virus safety. Biotechnol J 1(2):148–163. https://doi.org/10.1002/ biot.200500037
- Casey C, Gallos T, Alekseev Y, Ayturk E, Pearl S (2011) Protein concentration with single-pass tangential flow filtration (SPTFF). J Membr Sci 384(1-2):82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. memsci.2011.09.004
- Chen J, Tetrault J, Ley A (2008) Comparison of standard and new generation hydrophobic interaction chromatography resins in the monoclonal antibody purification process. J Chromatogr A 1177(2):272–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2007.07.083
- Cheryan M (1986) Ultrafiltration handbook. Technomic, Lancaster
- Chisti Y, Moo-Young M (1986) Disruption of microbial cells for intracellular products. Enzym Microb Technol 8:194–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/0141-0229(86)90087-6
- Chon JH, Zarbis-Papastoitsis G (2011) Advances in the production and downstream processing of antibodies. New Biotechnol 28(5):458–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2011.03.015

- Courtney M, Buchwalder A, Tessier LH, Jaye M, Benavente A, Ballard A, Kohli V, Lathe R, Tolstoshev P, Lecocq JP (1984) High-level production of biologically active human alpha 1-antitrypsin in Escherichia coli. 1984. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 81(3):669–663. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.81.3.669
- Crapisi A, Lante A, Pasini G, Spettoli P (1993) Enhanced microbial cell lysis by the use of lysozyme immobilised on different carriers. Process Biochem 28(1):17–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/0032-9592(94)80031-6
- Crommelin DJ, Storm G, Verrijk R, de Leede L, Jiskoot W, Hennink WE (2003) Shifting paradigms: biopharmaceuticals versus low molecular weight drugs. Int J Pharm 266(1-2):3–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(03)00376-4
- Dean CR, Ward OP (1992) The use of EDTA or polymyxin with lysozyme for the recovery of intracellular products from *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Tech 6(2):133–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02438819
- del Val IJ, Kontoravdi C, Nagy JM (2010) Towards the implementation of quality by design to the production of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies with desired glycosylation patterns. Biotechnol Prog 26(6):1505–1527. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.470
- Dunnill P, Lilly MD (1974) Purification of enzymes using magnetic bioaffinity materials. Biotechnol Bioeng 16:987–990. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260160710
- Durocher Y, Butler M (2009) Expression systems for therapeutic glycoprotein production. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20(6):700–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2009.10.008
- Eiberle MK, Jungbauer A (2010) Technical refolding of proteins: do we have freedom to operate? Biotechnol J 5(6):547–559. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201000001
- Erikson RA (1984) Disk stack centrifuges in biotechnology. In: American Institute of Chemical Engineers, National Meeting, American Institute of Chemical Engineers, p 9
- Ferreira AM, Faustino VFM, Mondal D, Coutinho JAP, Freire MG (2016) Improving the extraction and purification of immunoglobulin G by the use of ionic liquids as adjuvants in aqueous biphasic systems. J Biotechnol 236:166–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2016.08.015
- Fish B, Williams R (2007) Avoiding pitfalls in scaling up biopharmaceutical production. Pharm Technol Eur 19(10):29. doi: not available
- Frenzel A, Bergemann C, Kohl G, Reinard T (2003) Novel purification system for 6xHis-tagged proteins by magnetic affinity separation. J Chromatogr A 793:325–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1570-0232(03)00332-5
- Frost, Sullivan (2004) Strategic analysis of downstream processing. In: Biopharmaceutical production
- Gagnon P (2006) Polishing methods for monoclonal IgG purification. In: Shukla AA, Etzel MR, Gadam S (eds) Process scale bioseparations for the biopharmaceutical industry. Taylor & Francis, New York, pp 491–505
- Gagnon P (2012) Technology trends in antibody purification. J Chromatogr A 1221:57–70. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2011.10.034
- Gary W (2000) Biopharmaceutical benchmarks. Nat Biotechnol 18:832–833. https://doi. org/10.1038/nbt.3040
- Gary W (2003) Biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical biotechnology. In: Biopharmaceuticals: biochemistry and biotechnology, 2nd edn. Wiley, Chichester
- Ghose S, Hubbard B, Cramer SM (2006) Evaluation and comparison of alternatives to Protein A chromatography: mimetic and hydrophobic charge induction chromatographic stationary phases. J Chromatogr A 1122(1-2):144–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2006.04.083
- Ghose S, Jin M, Liu J, Hickey J (2009) Integrated polishing steps for monoclonal antibody purification. In: Gottschalk U (ed) Process scale purification of antibodies. Wiley, New York, pp 145–141
- Giovannini R, Freitag R (2001) Isolation of a recombinant antibody from cell culture supernatant: continuous annular versus batch and expanded-bed chromatography. Biotechnol Bioeng 73(6):522–529. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.1087

- Goeddel DV, Heyneker HL, Hozumi T, Arentzon R, Itakura K, Yansura DG, Ross MJ, Miozzari G, Crea R, Seeburg P (1979a) Direct expression in Escherichia coli of a DNA sequence coding for human growth hormone. Nature 281(5732):544–548. https://doi.org/10.1038/281544a0
- Goeddel DV, Kleid DG, Bolivar F, Heyneker HL, Yansura DG, Crea R, Hirose T, Kraszewski A, Itakura K, Riggs AD (1979b) Expression in Escherichia coli of chemically synthesized genes for human insulin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 76(1):106–110. doi: not available
- Gözke G, Kirschhöfer F, Heissler S, Trutnau M, Brenner-Weiss G, Ondruschka J, Obst U, Posten C (2012) Filtration kinetics of chitosan separation by electrofiltration. Biotechnol J 7(2):262– 274. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201000466
- Gronemeyer P, Ditz R, Strube J (2014) Trends in upstream and downstream process development for antibody manufacturing. Bioengineering 1(4):188–212. https://doi.org/10.3390/bioengineering1040188
- Gueorguieva L, Palani S, Rinas U, Jayaraman G, Seidel-Morgenstern A (2011) Recombinant protein purification using gradient assisted simulated moving bed hydrophobic interaction chromatography. Part II: process design and experimental validation. J Chromatogr A 1218(37):6402–6411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2011.07.008
- Hanke AT, Ottens M (2014) Purifying biopharmaceuticals: knowledge-based chromatographic process development. Trends Biotechnol 32(4):210–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibtech.2014.02.001
- Harrison STL (2011) Cell disruption. In: Comprehensive biotechnology, 2nd edn. Elsevier, Oxford, pp 619–639
- Himeji D, Horiuchi T, Tsukamoto H, Hayashi K, Watanabe T, Harada M (2002) Characterization of caspase-8L: a novel isoform of caspase- 8 that behaves as an inhibitor of the caspase cascade. Blood 99:4070–4078. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V99.11.4070
- Hodge G (2005) Media development for mammalian cell culture. Biopharm Int 18:54
- Hofmann I, Schnolzer M, Kaufmann I, Franke WW (2002) Symplekin, a constitutive protein of karyo- and cytoplasmic particles involved in mRNA biogenesis in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. Mol Biol Cell 13(5):1665–1676. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.01-12-0567
- Hossler P, Khattak SF, Li ZJ (2009) Optimal and consistent protein glycosylation in mammalian cell culture. Glycobiology 19(9):936–949. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/cwp079
- Huddleston J, Veide A, Köhler K, Flanagan J, Enfors SO, Lyddiatt A (1991) The molecular basis of partitioning in aqueous two-phase systems. Trends Biotechnol 9(11):381–388. https://doi. org/10.1016/0167-7799(91)90130-A
- Huettmann H, Berkemeyer M, Buchinger W, Jungbauer A (2014) Preparative crystallization of a single chain antibody using an aqueous two-phase system. Biotechnol Bioeng 111(11):2192– 2199. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.25287
- Iberer G, Schwinn H, Josic D, Jungbauer A, Buchacher A (2002) Continuous purification of a clotting factor IX concentrate and continuous regeneration by preparative annular chromatography. J Chromatogr 972(1):115–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(02)01074-9
- Itakura K, Hiroso T, Crea R, Riggs AD, Heyneker HL, Bolivar F, Boyer HW (1977) Expression in Escherichia coli of a chemically synthesized gene for the hormone somatostatin. Science 198(4321):1056–1063. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.412251
- Ivory CF, Gilmartin M, Gobie WA, McDonald CA, Zollars RL (1995) A hybrid centrifuge rotor for continuous bioprocessing. Biotechnol Prog 11(1):21–32. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp00031a003
- Jayapal KP, Wlaschin KF, Hu WS, Yap MGS (2007) Recombinant protein therapeutics from CHO cells 20 years and counting. Chem Eng Prog 103(10):40–47. doi: not available
- Jozala AF, Geraldes DC, Tundisi LL, Feitosa VA, Breyer CA, Cardoso SL, Mazzola PG, Oliveira-Nascimento L, Rangel-Yagui CO, Magalhães PO, Oliveira MA, Pessoa A Jr (2016) Biopharmaceuticals from microorganisms: from production to purification. Braz J Microbiol 47(1):51–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjm.2016.10.007
- Jungbauer A (2013) Continuous downstream processing of biopharmaceuticals. Trends Biotechnol 31(8):479–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2013.05.011

- Jungbauer A, Kaar W (2007) Current status of technical protein refolding. J Biotechnol 128(3): 587–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2006.12.004
- Kato Y, Nakamura K, Kitamura T, Hasegawa M, Sasaki H (2004) Hydrophobic interaction chromatography at low salt concentration for the capture of monoclonal antibodies. J Chromatogr A 1036(1):45–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2004.02.009
- Kennedy RM (2005) Expanded-bed adsorption chromatography. Curr Protoc Protein Sci Jun; Chapter 8: Unit 8:8. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471140864.ps0808s40
- Kramberger P, Urbas L, Štrancar A (2015) Downstream processing and chromatography based analytical methods for production of vaccines, gene therapy vectors, and bacteriophages. Hum Vaccin Immunother 11(4):1010–1021. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2015.1009817
- Kwon JS-II, Nayhouse M, Christofides PD, Orkoulas G (2014) Modeling and control of crystal shape in continuous protein crystallization. Chem Eng Sci 107:47–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ces.2013.12.005
- Lain B, Cacciuttolo MA, Zarbis-Papastoitsis G (2009) Development of a high-capacity Mab capture step based on cation-exchange chromatography. BioProcess Int 7(5):26–34
- Lander R, Daniels C, Meacle F (2005) Efficient, scalable clarification of diverse bioprocess streams. Bioprocess Int 11:32–40
- Langer ES (2011) Trends in perfusion bioreactors: will perfusion be the next revolution in bioprocessing? BioProcess Int. 9(10):18–22
- Larsson PO (1994) Magnetically enhanced phase separation. Methods Enzymol 228:112–117. doi: not available
- Lebreton B, Brown A, van Reis R (2008) Application of high-performance tangential flow filtration (HPTFF) to the purification of a human pharmaceutical antibody fragment expressed in Escherichia coli. Biotechnol Bioeng 100(5):964–974. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.21842
- Li F, Vijayasankaran N, Shen AY, Kiss R, Amanullah A (2010) Cell culture processes for monoclonal antibody production. MAbs 2(5):466–479. https://doi.org/10.4161/mabs.2.5.12720
- Lin N, Mascarenhas J, Sealover NR, George HJ, Brooks J, Kayser KJ, Gau B, Yasa I, Azadi P, Archer-Hartmann S (2015) Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) host cell engineering to increase sialylation of recombinant therapeutic proteins by modulating sialyltransferase expression. Biotechnol Prog 31(2):334–346. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.2038
- Liu HF, Ma J, Winter C, Bayer R (2010) Recovery and purification process development for monoclonal antibody production. MAbs 2(5):480–499. https://doi.org/10.4161/mabs.2.5.12645
- Liu Z, Wickramasinghe SR, Qian X (2017) Membrane chromatography for protein purifications from ligand design to functionalization. Sep Sci Technol 52:299–319. https://doi.org/10.1080 /01496395.2016.1223133
- Lowe CR (2001) Combinatorial approaches to affinity chromatography. Curr Opin Chem Biol 5(3):248–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1367-5931(00)00199-X
- Machold C, Schlegl R, Buchinger W, Jungbauer A (2005) Continuous matrix assisted refolding of a-lactalbumin by ion exchange chromatography with recycling of aggregates combined with ultradiafiltration. J Chromatogr A 1080(1):29–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chroma.2005.03.018
- Mahajan E, George A, Wolk B (2012) Improving affinity chromatography resin efficiency using semi-continuous chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1227:154–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chroma.2011.12.106
- Martinez Cristancho CA, David F, Franco-Lara E, Seidel-Morgenstern A (2013) Discontinuous and continuous purification of single-chain antibody fragments using immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography. J Biotechnol 163(2):233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2012.08.022
- Middelberg A (1995) Process-scale disruption of microorganisms. Biotechnol Adv 13(3):491–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/0734-9750(95)02007-P
- Mitragotri S, Burke PA, Langer R (2014) Overcoming the challenges in administering biopharmaceuticals: formulation and delivery strategies. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13(9):655–652. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrd4363

- Mun S, Yi X, Kim JH, Wang NHL (2003) Optimal design of a size-exclusion tandem simulated moving bed for insulin purification. Ind Eng Chem Res 42(9):1977–1993. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie020680+
- Ngantung FA, Miller PG, Brushett FR, Tang GL, Wang DI (2006) RNA interference of sialidase improves glycoprotein sialic acid content consistency. Biotechnol Bioeng 95(1):106–119. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20997
- Nishiya Y, Hibi T, Oda JL (2002) A purification method of the diagnostic enzyme *Bacillus* uricase using magnetic beads and nonspecific protease. Protein Expr Purif 25:426–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1046-5928(02)00022-0
- Odabasi M, Denizli A (2004) Cibacron Blue F3GA-attached magnetic poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) beads for human serum albumin adsorption. Polym Int 53:332–338. https://doi.org/10.1002/pi.1305
- Ozdural AR et al (2007) A novel technology for virus vaccine purification: modeling and operation of continuous annular chromatography unit. In: AIChE annual meeting: 2007 Spring meeting and 3rd global congress on process safety. American Institute of Chemical Engineers, p 18
- Parmar HC (2006) Biopharmaceuticals market overview In: Pharmatech.com. Pharmaceutical Technology Europe 18(3). https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/industry/healthcare/biotech/ india-launches-flagship-program-to-boost-biopharma-production/articleshow/59390777.cms
- Peeva L, da Silva Burgal J, Valtcheva I, Livingston AG (2014) Continuous purification of active pharmaceutical ingredients using multistage organic solvent nanofiltration membrane cascade. Chem Eng Sci 116:183–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ces.2014.04.022
- Pennica D, Hayflick JS, Bringman TS, Palladina MA, Goeddel DV (1985) Cloning and expression in *Escherichia coli* of the cDNA for murine tumor necrosis factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 82:6060–6064. doi:not available
- Pirrung SM, van der Wielen LAM, van Beckhoven RFWC, van de Sandt EJAX, Eppink MHM, Ottens M (2017) Optimization of biopharmaceutical downstream processes supported by mechanistic models and artificial neural networks. Biotechnol Prog 33(3):696–707. https://doi. org/10.1002/btpr.2435
- Rajendran A, Paredes G, Mazzotti M (2009) Simulated moving bed chromatography for the separation of enantiomers. J Chromatog A 1216(4):709–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chroma.2008.10.075
- Rathore AS, Agarwal H, Sharma AK, Pathak M, Muthukumar S (2015) Continuous processing for production of biopharmaceuticals. Prep Biochem Biotechnol 45(8):836–849. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/10826068.2014.985834
- Rathore AS, Kumar D, Kateja N (2018) Recent developments in chromatographic purification of biopharmaceuticals. Biotechnol Lett 40(6):1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-018-2552-1
- Roque AC, Lowe CR, Taipa MA (2004) Antibodies and genetically engineered related molecules: production and purification. Biotechnol Prog 20(3):639–654. https://doi.org/10.1021/ bp030070k
- Ruanjaikaen K, Zydney AL (2011) Purification of singly-pegylated α-lactalbumin using charged ultrafiltration membranes. Biotechnol Bioeng 108:822–829. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.22991
- Saboya LV, Maillard MB, Lortal S (2003) Efficient mechanical disruption of Lactobacillus helveticus, Lactococcus lactis and Propionibacterium freudenreichii by a new high-pressure homogenizer and recovery of intracellular aminotransferase activity. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 30(1):1–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-002-0011-3
- Safarik I, Safarikova M (1993) Batch isolation of hen egg white lysozyme with magnetic chitin. J Biochem Biophys Methods 27:327–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-022X(93)90013-E
- Saraswat M, Musante L, Ravidá A, Shortt B, Byrne B, Holthofer H (2013) Preparative purification of recombinant proteins: current status and future trends. Biomed Res Int 2013:312709. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2013/312709
- Schafer F, Romer U, Emmerlich M, Blumer J, Lubenow H, Steinert K (2002) Automated highthroughput purification of 6xHis-tagged proteins. J Biomol Tech 13:131–142. doi:not available

- Schoemaker JM, Brasnett AH, Marston FA (1985) Examination of calf prochymosin accumulation in Escherichia coli: disulphide linkages are a structural component of prochymosin-containing inclusion bodies. EMBO J 4(3):775–780. doi:not available
- Schoner RG, Ellis LF, Schoner BE (1985) Isolation and purification of protein granules from *Escherichia coli* cells overproducing bovine growth hormone. Bio Technol 3:151–154. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nbt0285-151
- Schuster M, Wasserbauer E, Ortner C, Graumann K, Jungbauer A, Hammerschmid F, Werner G (2000) Short cut of protein purification by integration of cell-disrupture and affinity extraction. Bioseparation 9(2):59–67. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:100813591
- Scott JH, Schekman R (1980) Lyticase: endoglucanase and protease activities that act together in yeast cell lysis. J Bacteriol 142(2):414–423. doi:not available
- Shao S, Gross V, Yan W, Guo T, Lazarev A, Abersold R (2015) Hands-free sample homogenisation and protein extraction from small tissue biopsy samples using pressure cycling technology and PCT micropestle (poster). In: US HUPO 2015 Conference, Tempe, AZ. http://www.pressurebiosciences.com/documents?task=document.viewdoc&id=64
- Shinkai M, Kamihira M, Honda H, Kobayashi T (1992) Rapid purification of monoclonal antibody with functional magnetite particles. Kag Kog Ronbunshu 18:256–259. https://doi.org/10.1252/ kakoronbunshu.18.256
- Shukla AA, Hinckley P (2008) Host cell protein clearance during protein A chromatography: Development of an improved column wash step. Biotechnol Prog 24(5):1115–1121. https:// doi.org/10.1002/btpr.50
- Shukla AA, Thömmes J (2010) Recent advances in large-scale production of monoclonal antibodies and related proteins. Trends Biotechnol 28(5):253–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibtech.2010.02.001
- Shukla AA, Hubbard B, Tressel T, Guhan S, Low D (2007) Downstream processing of monoclonal antibodies – application of platform approaches. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci 848(1):28–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/jchromb.2006.09.026
- Siew WE, Livingston AG, Ates C, Merschaert A (2013) Continuous solute fractionation with membrane cascades – a high productivity alternative to diafiltration. Sep Purif Technol 102:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2012.09.017
- Strohl WR (2015) Fusion proteins for half-life extension of biologics as a strategy to make biobetters. BioDrugs 29(4):215–239. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40259-015-0133-6
- Szoka PR, Schreiber AB, Chan H, Murthy J (1986) A general method for retrieving the components of a genetically engineered fusion protein. DNA 5(1):11–20. https://doi.org/10.1089/ dna.1986.5.11
- Tarrant RD, Velez-Suberbie ML, Tait AS, Smales CM, Bracewell DG (2012) Host cell protein adsorption characteristics during protein A chromatography. Biotechnol Prog 28(4):1037– 1044. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.1581
- Top drugs by sales revenue in 2015: Who sold the biggest blockbuster drugs? (2016) The PharmaCompass Newsletter. http://www.pharmacompass.com/radiocompass-blog/ top-drugs-by-sales-revenue-in-2015-whosold-thebiggest-blockbuster-drugs
- Tsumoto K, Ejima D, Nagase K, Arakawa T (2007) Arginine improves protein elution in hydrophobic interaction chromatography. The cases of human interleukin-6 and activin-A. J Chromatogr A 1154(1–2):81–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2007.02.061
- van Reis R, Zydney A (2007) Bioprocess membrane technology. J Membr Sci 297:16–50. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2007.02.045
- vanReisR,GadamS,FrautschyLN,OrlandoS,GoodrichEM,SaksenaS,KuriyelR,SimpsonCM,Pearl S, Zydney AL (1997) High performance tangential flow filtration. Biotechnol Bioeng 56(1):71–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290(19971005)56:1<71::AID-BIT8>3.0.CO;2-S
- Varma SK (2009) An overview of biopharmaceutical industry in India. Pharmabiz Chronicle Specials. http://saffron.pharmabiz.com/article/detnews.asp?articleid=53092§ionid=50
- Wang X, Rivière I (2016) Clinical manufacturing of CAR T cells: foundation of a promising therapy. Mol Ther Oncolyt 3:16015. https://doi.org/10.1038/mto.2016.15

- Warikoo V, Godawat R, Brower K, Jain S, Cummings D, Simons E, Johnson T, Walther J, Yu M, Wright B, McLarty J, Karey KP, Hwang C, Zhou W, Riske F, Konstantinov K (2012) Integrated continuous production of recombinant therapeutic proteins. Biotechnol Bioeng 109(12):3018– 3029. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.24584
- Watt JG (1970) Automatically controlled continuous recovery of plasma protein fractions for clinical use. A preliminary report. Vox Sang 18(1):42–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1970. tb01428x
- Wellhoefer M, Sprinzl W, Hahn R, Jungbauer A (2013) Continuous processing of recombinant proteins: integration of inclusion body solubilization and refolding using simulated moving bed size exclusion chromatography with buffer recycling. J Chromatogr A 1319:107–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2013.10.039
- Wikstrom P, Flygare S, Grondalen A, Larsson PO (1987) Magnetic aqueous two-phase separation: a new technique to increase rate of phase-separation, using dextran-ferrofluid or larger iron oxide particles. Anal Biochem 1(2):331–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(87)90173-4s
- Wilson AW, Neumann PJ (2012) The cost-effectiveness of biopharmaceuticals: a look at the evidence. MAbs 4(2):281–288. https://doi.org/10.4161/mabs.4.2.18812
- Winkler ME, Blaber M, Bennett GL, Holmes W, Vehar GA (1985) Purification and characterization of recombinant urokinase from *Escherichia coli*. Bio Technol 3:990–1000. https://doi. org/10.1038/nbt1185-990
- Yamane-Ohnuki N, Kinoshita S, Inoue-Urakubo M, Kusunoki M, Iida S, Nakano R, Wakitani M, Niwa R, Sakurada M, Uchida K, Shitara K, Satoh M (2004) Establishment of FUT8 knockout Chinese Hamster Ovary cells: An ideal host cell line for producing completely defucosylated antibodies with enhanced antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity. Biotechnol Bioeng 87(5):614–622. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20151
- Zang Y, Kammerer B, Eisenkolb M, Lohr K, Kiefer H (2011) Towards protein crystallization as a process step in downstream processing of therapeutic antibodies: screening and optimization at microbatch scale. PLoS One 6(9):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025282
- Zhou JX, Tressel T (2006) Basic concepts in Q membrane chromatography for large-scale antibody production. Biotechnol Prog 22(2):341–349. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp050425v
- Zhu J (2012) Mammalian cell protein expression for biopharmaceutical production. Biotechnol Adv 30(5):1158–1170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.022
- Zydney AL (2015) Continuous downstream processing for high value biological products: a review. Biotechnol Bioeng 113(3):465–475. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.25695
- Zydney AL, van Reis R (2001) High performance tangential flow filtration. In: Wang WK (ed) Membrane separations in biotechnology, 2nd edn. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 277–298

Chapter 7 Engineering *Streptomyces peucetius* for Doxorubicin and Daunorubicin Biosynthesis



Biplav Shrestha, Anaya Raj Pokhrel, Sumangala Darsandhari, Prakash Parajuli, Jae Kyung Sohng, and Ramesh Prasad Pandey

Contents

7.1	Introduction 1			
	7.1.1	Objective	194	
	7.1.2	Mode of Action of Doxorubicin	195	
7.2	Biosy	nthesis of Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin	196	
	7.2.1	Biosynthesis of ε-Rhodomycinone	197	
	7.2.2	Biosynthesis of Thymidine Diphosphate-L-Daunosamine	197	
	7.2.3	Glycosylation and Post-modifications	199	
	7.2.4	Regulation of Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin Biosynthesis	199	
7.3	Pathw	ay Engineering and Production of Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin	200	
	7.3.1	Engineering of Thymidine Diphosphate-L-Daunosamine Biosynthesis		
		Pathway Genes	201	
	7.3.2	Engineering of the Polyketide Synthase Genes	201	
	7.3.3	Engineering of the Regulatory Genes.	202	
7.4	Conclu	usion	204	
Refe	rences.		206	

B. Shrestha · A. R. Pokhrel · S. Darsandhari · P. Parajuli Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

J. K. Sohng $(\boxtimes) \cdot R$. P. Pandey (\boxtimes)

Department of Life Science and Biochemical Engineering, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea

Department of Pharmaceutical Engineering and Biotechnology, Sun Moon University, Asan-si, Chungnam, Republic of Korea e-mail: sohng@sunmoon.ac.kr; pandey@sunmoon.ac.kr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Arora et al. (eds.), *Pharmaceuticals from Microbes*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 26, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8_7

Abstract Doxorubicin and daunorubicin are notable members of the type II polyketide synthase family and clinically important cancer chemotherapeutic agents and are produced by a mutant strain *S. peucetius* ATCC 27952. They belong to the anthracycline-type antitumor drugs. Doxorubicin remains one of the most widely used antitumor drugs for the treatment of various cancers because of its broad spectrum of activity. As a result, numerous works have been carried to unravel the biosynthetic pathway and the underlying regulatory mechanisms to gain insight into the mechanisms of the genes involved. Consenquently, there is a need to develop an overproducing strain at the industrial scale, to produce doxorubicin as an anticancer drug. Therefore a significant amount of progress has been made in unraveling the bottlenecks in the pathway, manipulating the biosynthesis, improving production, and generating novel derivatives by engineering *S. peucetius* strain.

Here we review in depth, various pathway engineering approaches and strategies that have been applied during these courses of time, since the discovery of these compounds, for the efficient production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin. The major pathway engineering approaches discussed in this chapter are divided into three parts: the first part includes the engineering of the thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine biosynthesis pathway genes which is important for the enhanced production of the glycone which in turn is used for the glycosylation reaction. Similarly the second part includes the engineering of the polyketide genes responsible for the production of the aglycone moiety that undergoes several modifications to generate the important compounds doxorubicin and daunorubicin. Lastly, we discuss the engineering of the several regulatory genes involved either directly or indirectly in regulation and control of the production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin.

7.1 Introduction

Streptomyces belonging to the group of actinomycetes are filamentous grampositive bacteria that undergo morphological and physiological differences to produce a wide range of secondary natural products. The soil-dwelling Streptomyces are the key producers of numerous molecules including antibiotics, antivirals, anticancer, and other bioactive molecules, owing to their secondary metabolism. These products may include useful therapeutic agents, such as antibiotics, antifungals, and antitumor, and thus a better understanding of the biosynthetic pathway and the regulatory mechanism of genes at the molecular level would provide useful insights into the fundamental issue of secondary metabolism in *Streptomyces* spp., ultimately helping to engineer strains for overproduction of these useful metabolites (Hao and Hutchinson 2006). Polyketide secondary metabolites in microbes are mainly produced via various polyketide synthases (type I, type II, type III) and non-ribosomal polyketide synthases (NRPKS) enzymes. Among these, type II polyketide synthases consist of a significant and chemically diverse group of bacterial secondary metabolites, such as tetracyclines and actinorhodin produced by S. coelicolor; rhodomycinone, doxorubicin, and daunorubicin produced by S. peucetius; jadomycin A



Fig. 7.1 Structures of different type II polyketides synthases (PKSs) produced by various actinomycetes including *S. peucetius* major products e-rhodomycinone, daunorubicin, and doxorubicin

produced by *S. venezuelae*; pradimicins produced by *Actinomadura* sp.; charteusin produced by *S. lysosuperificus*; chromomycin produced by *Actinomyces aburaviensis var. verrucosus*; and many more (Fig. 7.1).

Doxorubicin and daunorubicin are notable members of the type II polyketide synthase family, and clinically important cancer chemotherapeutic agents. These molecules are produced by *Streptomyces peucetius* ATCC 27952 which is a mutant strain of *S. peucetius* 29050 (Arcamone et al. 1969). Daunorubicin was discovered in 1962, when it was first isolated from *Streptomyces caeroleorubidus* in France; however, it was also isolated from *S. peucetius* in Italy and the Soviet Union with different names (Aubel-Sadron and Londos-Gagliardi 1984), such as rubidomycin, daunomycin, and rubomycin. Daunorubicin is reported to be produced from a number of organisms; however, doxorubicin was exclusively produced by *S. peucetius subsp. caesius* (Grein 1987). Doxorubicin is a chemotherapy medication belonging to the anthracycline and antitumor drug family and is also known by its trade name Adriamycin. It is routinely used in the treatment of numerous human cancers, including breast, ovarian, liver, lung, bladder, gastric, and thyroid cancers, multiple myeloma, non-Hodgkin's and Hodgkin's lymphoma, Kaposi's sarcoma, neuroblastoma, soft tissue sarcoma, and pediatric cancers (Cortes-Funes and Coronado 2007;

Thorn et al. 2011). Because of its broad spectrum of activity, doxorubicin remains one of the most widely used antitumor drugs for the treatment of various cancers (Allwood et al. 2002).

The biosynthesis of both daunorubicin and doxorubicin is initiated by a type II polyketide synthase starting from one propionyl-CoA starter unit and extended by nine malonyl-CoA units, to produce a decaketide that is converted to aklanonic acid that leads to the formation of an aglycone ε -rhodomycinone (Hutchinson 1997). The aglycone of daunorubicin, ε -rhodomycinone, is a tetracyclic ring consisting of quinone-hydroquinone groups lying adjacent to each other, along with a methoxy group, a short carbonyl side chain. The sugar is attached to aglycone by a glycosidic bond and is known as L-daunosamine, which consists of 3-amino-2, 3, 6-trideoxy-L-fucosyl moiety, and is synthesized from D-glucose 1-phosphate using a variety of genes. Finally, series of post-modifications, like methylation, decarboxylation, and hydroxylation, leads to the formation of daunorubicin and ultimately doxorubicin. Doxorubicin is the C-14 hydroxylated form of its immediate precursor, daunorubicin, which terminates with a primary alcohol, whereas daunorubicin terminates with a methyl group (Fig. 7.1) (Minotti et al. 2004).

S. peucetius has a self-resistance system that helps it to overcome the toxicity of the antibiotic daunorubicin and doxorubicin inside the cell. The four genes, namely, *drrA*, *drrB*, *drrC*, and *drrD*, present in the doxorubicin biosynthetic gene cluster of *S. peucetius* mediate the self-resistance. The first two genes *drrA* and *drrB* belong to ABC transporter type I and together form an ATP-dependent efflux pump to remove daunorubicin out of the cell (Brown et al. 2017; Guilfoile and Hutchinson 1991; Kaur and Russell 1998), whereas the third gene, *drrC*, imparts resistance through excisional repair by binding to DNA at regions intercalated by daunorubicin and then removing it (Prija and Prasad 2017). DrrD is a flavin-binding protein involved in the self-resistance mechanism, and DrrD devoid mutant exhibits partial loss of self-resistance to daunorubicin (Karuppasamy et al. 2015).

7.1.1 Objective

Doxorubicin and daunorubicin have been of interest since their discovery in 1962 and their use as a potent anticancer drug in various forms of cancer. There has been significant work involving the enhanced production of these important metabolites from *S. peucetius* using various approaches. The drive to develop a recombinant strain of industrial importance for mass production of this anticancer drug has been addressed in this chapter. Using the fermentation process combined with pathway engineering strategies and engineering the regulatory genes with modifications at the molecular level have been discussed and explained in this chapter thus providing an overview of the doxorubicin and daunorubicin biosynthesis in *S. peucetius*.

7.1.2 Mode of Action of Doxorubicin

Doxorubicin is one of the most potent US Food and Drug Administration-approved anthracycline classes of anticancer agents. It exerts its antiproliferative activity on tumor cells via three proposed mechanisms: (1) DNA binding by intercalation between DNA double helix and disrupt DNA replication and transcription process, (2) disruption of topoisomerase-II-dependent DNA repair, and (3) production of free radicals ultimately damaging cell components such as cell membranes, nucleic acids, and proteins (Fig. 7.2). Collectively, these modes of actions result in DNA disruption and loss of DNA mismatch repair function that ultimately leads to cell death (Gewirtz 1999; Thorn et al. 2011). However, cardiotoxicity is the major factor limiting its medicinal use as it alters iron and calcium regulations in mitochondria (Swain et al. 2003; Carvalho et al. 2009).

Doxorubicin and most of the anthracycline class of compounds intercalate between deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) base pairs and bind with DNA associated



Fig. 7.2 Mode of action of doxorubicin (DXR) inside the cancer cell. Doxorubicin interacts with the DNA by intercalation, disruption of topoisomerase-II-dependent DNA repair, and inhibition of the replication and transcription process. Doxorubicin is oxidized to doxorubicin semiquinone which is unstable intermediate and converted back to DXR-releasing reactive oxygen species (ROS) that causes oxidative stress and induces damage to cell membrane, lipid peroxidation, and DNA damage leading to cell death

enzymes (topoisomerase II), inhibiting DNA replication and ribonucleic acid (RNA) transcription. The aglycone molecule intercalates in between DNA strands, whereas the sugar unit binds to the minor groove in the DNA by displacing water molecules and ions. The amino sugar (L-daunosamine) attached at the seventh hydroxyl position of the ring sits in the minor groove and intercalates the flanking base pairs immediately adjacent to the flanking site, which stabilizes the binding complex of doxorubicin and the DNA molecule. The amino group and hydroxyl group of the sugar facing outside the minor groove interact with the polymerase enzymes, thus inhibiting their function in DNA replication (Pigram et al. 1972; Frederick et al. 1990). Alternatively inside the cell, doxorubicin undergoes one electron reduction to form a DOX-semiquinone radical, an unstable metabolite. It is reoxidized back to doxorubicin and leads to the formation of reactive oxygen species and hydrogen peroxide. These reactive radicals cause oxidative stress to the cell that destructs multiple cell components such as cell membrane, nucleic acids, and ultimately trigger apoptotic pathways of cell death (Fig. 7.2) (Doroshow 1986; Thorn et al. 2011).

7.2 Biosynthesis of Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin

The gene cluster of *S. peucetius* has been studied extensively, because of its ability to produce doxorubicin and daunorubicin, which have broad clinical applications. S. peucetius 29050 complete genetic map was first published in 1999 by Lomovskaya et al. The S. peucetius ATCC 27952 strain was sequenced, and its genome was analyzed in 2004 (Parajuli et al. 2004). The 8.7-Mb genomic sequence analysis of S. peucetius ATCC 27952 identified a 40 kb daunorubicin and doxorubicin biosynthetic gene cluster, which is 5.3 % of the total genome consisting of 37 open reading frames (Fig. 7.3). Biosynthesis of doxorubicin is completed in three stages: (A) formation of the aglycone, ɛ-rhodomycinone through condensation of one propionylcoenzyme A and nine malonyl coenzyme A precursor units; (B) formation of activated amino sugar moiety, thymidine diphosphate (TDP)-L-daunosamine from D-glucose-1-phosphate; and finally (C) glycosylation of ε -rhodomycinone by glycosyltransferase, followed by different post-modifications like decarboxylation, methylation, and hydroxylation to produce the final compound (Hutchinson and Colombo 1999). In recent years, detail study of the daunorubicin and doxorubicin biosynthetic gene cluster that comprises catalytic enzymes, transcription factors,



Fig. 7.3 Physical and functional map of the daunorubicin and doxorubicin gene cluster. The relative sizes of the open reading frames and the direction of gene transcription are designated by pointed boxes, which are colored according to the types of functions that are indicated below

and resistance gene has improved the understanding of the biosynthesis machinery and regulatory mechanisms that control the doxorubicin biosynthesis.

7.2.1 Biosynthesis of *e*-Rhodomycinone

Doxorubicin biosynthesis starts with the formation of an important intermediate ε -rhodomycinone (Dickens et al. 1995), whose entire carbon backbone is synthesized by a type II polyketide synthase (PKS) enzyme that is encoded by the dpsABCDGEFY genes (Fig. 7.4). A 21-carbon decaketide is initially formed by serial condensation of 9 malonyl-CoA units to 1 propionyl-CoA starter unit, and this multistep reaction involves enzymes from the polyketide synthase family, like 3-oxoacyl ACP synthase (dpsA) (Meurer and Hutchinson 1995), ketosynthases (dpsB and dpsC) (Grimm et al. 1994; Bao et al. 1999), acyltransferase (dpsD), and an acyl carrier protein (dpsG) (Lomovskaya et al. 1999). The ketoreductase (dpsE) carries out reduction of the decaketide, followed by aldol condensation, and then three steps of ring cyclization catalyzed by DpsF and DpsY, to form 12-deoxyalkanoic acid (Lomovskaya et al. 1998). A keto group is introduced into this intermediate by monooxygenase (dnrG) to form alkalonic acid, which is subsequently converted to aklaviketone by alkalonic acid-S-adenosyl-L-methionine methyl ester transferase, encoded by a homodimeric protein *dnrC* (Madduri and Hutchinson 1995). Further, alkalonic acid methyl ester cyclase, encoded by *dnrD*, carries out the cyclation reaction. Finally, the 7-oxo moiety of aklaviketone is reduced to a hydroxyl group, to form *\varepsilon*-rhodomycinone in two sequential steps executed by the enzymes aklaviketone reductase, encoded by dnrH, and a hydroxylase, encoded by dnrF (Filippini et al. 1995).

7.2.2 Biosynthesis of Thymidine Diphosphate-L-Daunosamine

The biosynthesis of thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine involves a seven gene cluster, namely, *dnmL*, *dnmM*, *dnmU*, *dnmT*, *dnmJ*, and *dnmV*. The biosynthesis begins from D-glucose-1-phosphate. The sequential action of two enzymes glucose-1-phosphate thymidylyl transferase and thymidine diphosphate-D-glucose 4, 6-dehydratase, encoded by *dnmL* and *dnmM*, respectively, catalyzes the first two enzymatic reactions to generate the intermediate thymidine diphosphate-4-keto-6-deoxy-D-glucose (TKDG) (Gallo et al. 1996). DnmU, an epimerase, carries out the epimerization of thymidine diphosphate-4-keto-6-deoxy-D-glucose to thymidine diphosphate-4-keto-6-deoxy-L-glucose, to which a keto group and an amino group is added at the C-3 position, followed by the enzyme hydratase and aminotransferase, which are encoded by *dnmT* and *dnmJ*, respectively. Finally, *dnmV*, a ketoreductase, reduces the C-4 ketone to a hydroxyl group, to generate thymidine diphosphate-D-daunosamine (Fig. 7.4) (Otten et al. 1997).



Fig. 7.4 Biosynthetic pathways of doxorubicin (DXR), daunorubicin (DNR), and ε-rhodomycinone from propionyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA along with biosynthetic pathway for thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine starting from D-glucose-1-phosphate. Also shown in the figure is the pathway for the glycosylation and post-modification of the final compound daunorubicin and doxorubicin into 13-dihydrodaunorubicin and baumycin-like higher glycosides

7.2.3 Glycosylation and Post-modifications

After the completion of the polyketide stage, ε -rhodomycinone is converted to rhodomycin D, a daunosamine conjugated derivative by the enzyme *DnrS*. Rhodomycin D is then converted to 13-deoxycarminomycin (Furuya and Hutchinson 1998) by the *DnrP* esterase, and this is followed by *O*-methylation by the methyltransferase encoded by *DnrK*, to produce 13-deoxydaunorubicin (Dickens et al. 1997). The latter metabolite undergoes C-13 oxidation by the cytochrome P450 enzyme in two stages, first forming an intermediate 13-dihydrodaunorubicin, and then daunorubicin. *DoxA* is responsible for both steps (Walczak et al. 1999). Daunorubicin is eventually hydroxylated by the same *DoxA* enzyme at the C-14 position, to generate doxorubicin (Fig. 7.4).

7.2.4 Regulation of Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin Biosynthesis

S. peucetius has various types of regulatory genes that control the production of daunorubicin/doxorubicin, which include transcription factors dnrO, dnrN, and dnrI, transcriptional repressor drrD/dnrW, transcriptional control by a coherent feed forward loop, self-resistance, and feedback regulation (Jiang and Hutchinson 2006). The *dnrO* is the major transcriptional regulator located adjacent to the *dnrN* gene. It encodes a protein that has a helix-turn-helix DNA binding domain close to its N-terminal region and belongs to a member of the TetR family of transcriptional regulators. The inactivation of *dnrO* leads to the complete loss of anthracycline antibiotics biosynthesis in S. peucetius. DnrO is essential for the expression of the pathway-specific dnrN transcriptional activator, and this in turn activates dnrI (Otten et al. 2000). DnrI, being the master regulator, binds to the several regions of polyketide synthases and activate the efflux regulatory genes (Madduri and Hutchinson 1995; Tang et al. 1996). In contrast, DnrO negatively regulates biosynthesis pathway genes due to self-repression phenomena (Lei and Parekh 2005). The self-repression of *dnrO* is an important event, as it is the key factor for the feedback regulation of daunorubicin biosynthesis, and this activates the transcription of *dnrN* and *dnrI*, which in turn leads to the activation of daunorubicin biosynthesis in a sequential manner (Ajithkumar and Prasad 2010). Thus, the existence of tightly regulated antibiotic biosynthesis machinery has been explained and extensively studied by making use of *dnrO*, *dnrN*, and *dnrI* transcription regulator mutants, leading to the better understanding of the doxorubicin biosynthesis in S. peucetius (Vasanthakumar et al. 2013).

7.3 Pathway Engineering and Production of Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin

The production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin from *S. peucetius* is hindered by several factors such as (1) the low availability of thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine sugar, (2) low efficiency of glycosylation reaction, (3) cytotoxicity, and (4) regulatory mechanisms. This could be overcome by generating a robust *S. peucetius* strain capable of producing practical amount of target molecules using recent biotechnological tools. Till date, several studies have been performed to enhance the production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin from this strain. The basic approaches used to enhance the production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin are summarized in Fig. 7.5.



Fig. 7.5 Overall scheme used for enhanced production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin (DNR/ DXR) from *S. peucetius*. The scheme shows the pathway engineering strategy and modification of regulatory genes; structural genes; sugar synthesis genes, overexpressing the positive regulators; and the resistance genes followed by inactivation of the post-modification genes thereby improving the yield of both daunorubicin and doxorubicin

7.3.1 Engineering of Thymidine Diphosphate-L-Daunosamine Biosynthesis Pathway Genes

The deoxysugar moieties constitute a very important role in the production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin. Thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine sugar formation and its glycosylation by the enzyme DnrS along with DnrQ are considered the rate-limiting step in the biosynthesis of doxorubicin (Dekleva et al. 1985). During daunorubicin and doxorubicin biosynthesis, there is a limited production of glycosylated intermediates because of the low glycosylation efficiency of DnrS/DnrO glycosyltransferases. Therefore, Malla et al. (2009) explored the overall effects of glycosyltransferase expression for the efficient glycosylation of ε -rhodomycinone and expression of sugar genes to increase the thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine pool. Homologous TDP-sugar biosynthesis genes from S. venezuelae ATCC 15439, desIII (glucose-1-phosphate thymidylyltransferase), and desIV (thymidine diphosphate-D-glucose 4, 6-dehydratase) were cloned and overexpressed. Additionally, *dnrS*, along with *dnrQ*, which codes for the activator protein DnrQ, were also overexpressed, and their effects were analyzed in S. peucetius ATCC 27952. Introduction of multicopies of dnrS/dnrO produced noticeable 2.8-fold enhancement over the parental strain. Furthermore, co-overexpression of *dnrS/dnrO* along with desIII/desIV increased the doxorubicin production by a 5.6-fold more than the S. peucetius parental strain.

DnrH encodes a glycosyl transferase involved in the post-modification stages of the daunorubicin and doxorubicin biosynthesis. Studies involving the *dnrH* mutant produced by inactivation of this gene led to an eightfold increase in daunorubicin production and twofold decrease in ε -rhodomycinone accumulation. Introduction of *dnmT* mutant into the *dnrH* mutant, daunorubicin production increased ninefold compared to the wild-type *S. peucetius*. Doxorubicin production was also improved approximately threefold in the *dnrH* mutant in comparison to the wild-type strain (Scotti and Hutchinson 1996). This is due to the fact that daunorubicin and doxorubicin are further modified into baumycin, like higher glycoside, by these postmodification enzymes, and thus their deletions lead to high production titers of both daunorubicin and doxorubicin. It has also been reported that the DnmT enzyme is present in limiting amounts in the *S. peucetius* (Dickens et al. 1996).

7.3.2 Engineering of the Polyketide Synthase Genes

Earlier studies carried out by Ye et al. (1994), Gerlitz et al. (1997), Bao et al. (1999), Lomovskaya et al. (1999), and Strohl et al. (1998) have shown the importance of the early polyketide synthase genes, like dpsABCDFGY, to the doxorubicin pathway, as their inactivation leads to complete or partial loss in daunorubicin and doxorubicin production. Thus there is a strong possibility that the overexpression of these genes may lead to a significant increase in the production of these anthracyclines in *S. peucetius*. Studies carried out by the disruption of the late modifying genes of the doxorubicin biosynthetic pathway, such as *dnrU*, *dnrV*, and *dnrX*, found that individual *dnrX* or *dnrU* mutants produced more doxorubicin than their parental strains, whereas the production of daunorubicin and ε -rhodomycinone decreased (Lomovskaya et al. 1998; Lomovskaya et al. 1999). Doxorubicin production increased approximately twofold in the double *dnrX* and *dnrU* mutant when compared with only *dnrX* mutant, which was an approximate sevenfold increase, when compared with the wild-type strain.

This increase in production is accredited to daunorubicin not being able to be converted to 13-dihydrodaunorubicin, and neither daunorubicin and doxorubicin being able to be further modified to acid-sensitive metabolites, due to the deletion of these modifying enzymes (Walczak et al. 1999). Additionally, when the *dnrV* and *doxA* genes were introduced and overexpressed in the above *dnrX*, *dnrU*, and *dnrH* mutants, a smaller increase in doxorubicin production was observed (Lomovskaya et al. 1999), possibly due to the fact that the oxidation rate of daunorubicin to doxorubicin is 170-fold less efficient than the conversion rate of 13-dihydrodaunorubicin to daunorubicin. Hence, the increased levels of DoxA are less likely to change the extent of doxorubicin production in *S. peucetius*.

As mentioned earlier, *S. peucetius* ATCC 27952 self-resistance system imparts resistance against the toxicity of the antibiotic daunorubicin and doxorubicin inside the cell, and helping in this endeavor are the four resistance genes *drrA*, *drrB*, *drrC*, and *drrD*. Owing to this fact, when three of these resistance genes *dnrABC* were cloned under strong *ermE** promoter into the pIBR25 expression vector, the recombinant expression strains, pDrrAB25, pDrrC25, and pDrrABC25, produced more doxorubicin than the parental strain, with a 2.2-fold increase in pDrrAB25, a 5.1-fold increase in pDrrC25, and a 2.4-fold increase in pDrrABC25. Thus, doxorubicin production is positively affected when the resistance genes are introduced in multiple copies (Malla et al. 2010a).

7.3.3 Engineering of the Regulatory Genes

Secondary metabolite production in *Streptomyces* spp. is regulated by two different classes of regulatory genes: cluster-situated regulators and global regulators or pleiotropic regulatory genes. Most of these cluster-situated regulators control the biosynthesis of a particular antibiotic and are also known as pathway-specific regulators. On the other hand, the global regulatory genes may not always be present in biosynthetic gene cluster but regulate morphological and physiological differentiation and secondary metabolite biosynthesis in *Streptomyces* (Umeyama et al. 2002). The study of these regulatory genes provides a theoretical basis for antibiotic biosynthesis in *Streptomyces* and also helps to increase the yield of antibiotics by the use of pathway engineering and manipulation of these regulatory genes at molecular level.



Fig. 7.6 Schematic representation of genes involved in regulation of daunorubicin and doxorubicin (DNR/DXR) production in *S. peucetius*. Global regulatory genes like *asfR* and *Metk1*-sp and pathway-specific regulatory genes like *dnrO*, *dnrI*, and *dnrN* act as positive regulatory genes and thus have positive effect in daunorubicin and doxorubicin production, whereas the pleiotropic downregulatory genes such as *iclR*, *wblA*, *ndgR*, and *doxR* decrease the daunorubicin and doxorubicin production and hence the negative regulatory genes. Overexpression or inhibition of the regulatory genes has a profound effect in the production of the final compound doxorubicin

Similarly in *S. peucetius*, as discussed earlier, DnrI, DnrN, and DnrO act as transcriptional regulator and control production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin (Fig. 7.6). The DnrO is the major transcription regulator, and its inactivation leads to complete loss of antibiotic production. In *S. peucetius*, DnrI is required for the transcription of biosynthetic and resistance genes of the daunorubicin and doxorubicin gene cluster and thus controls the expression of almost all of the biosynthetic and resistance genes (Madduri and Hutchinson 1995), while DnrN controls the expression of DnrI (Otten et al. 1995). Consequently, the introduction of positively acting regulatory genes like DnrI and DnrN has profound effects on the production of antibiotics like daunorubicin. In *S. peucetius*, the production of daunorubicin was increased 2.5-fold, whereas the ε -rhodomycinone yield was raised to nearly 10-fold (Otten et al. 1995; Stutzman-Engwall et al. 1992).

Introduction of regulatory genes such as *dnrN*, *dnrI*, *afsR*, and *metK1*-sp under strong *ermE** promoter increased doxorubicin production by 1.2-fold in recombinant strains NI (with *dnrN*-*dnrI*), 1.4-fold in NIS (with *dnrN*-*dnrI*-*metK1*-sp), and 4.3-fold in NIR (with *dnrN*-*dnrI*-*afsR*) (Malla et al. 2010b). AfsR is a global regulator which constitutes the AfsK-AfsR system. The expression of *afsR* from both *S. peucetius* ATCC 27952 and *S. venezuelae* in *S. peucetius* enhanced production of doxorubicin by fourfold and eightfold, respectively (Parajuli et al. 2005). Furthermore the overexpression of this pleiotropic activator *afsR* enhanced other antibiotics such as actinorhodin in *S. lividans*, clavulanic acid in *S. clavuligerus*, and streptomycin in *S. griseus* (Maharjan et al. 2009).

S. peucetius does not contain a functional copy of bldA-tRNA. Although *bldA* is non-essential for the survival of the *Streptomyces* species, it plays an important role in secondary metabolism. When the regulatory gene *dnrO* codon was thoroughly examined, a TTA codon was found which is hardly encoded by bldA-tRNA. Multiple engineered strains of *S. peucetius* were generated by heterologously expressing *bldA* and *dnrO* individually and a combination of both *bldA* and *dnrO*. Overexpression of these pathway-specific negative regulators enhanced the production of daunorubicin 1.25-fold, as compared to the parental strain (Pokhrel et al. 2016). Likewise these genes, engineering of genes, like dephosphocoenzyme A (*coaE*), which catalyzes the last step in the biosynthesis of the cofactor coenzyme A, has been shown to have positive increase in doxorubicin production. When these two genes *coaA* and *coaE* were overexpressed independently in the doxorubicin-producing wild-type strain, there was 1.4- and 1.5-fold increase in doxorubicin production, respectively. Both genes in combination exhibited 2.1-fold enhancement in doxorubicin production (Lee et al. 2014).

Besides overexpressing positive regulators to enhance production titer, as mentioned above, there are a few negative regulators present in *S. peucetius*, whose overexpression or inactivation may have a negative or positive effect on daunorubicin and doxorubicin production (Fig. 7.6). One such negative regulator is *wblA*, which controls antibiotic production and morphological differentiation in actinomyces, and when this *wblA* regulator from *S. coelicolor* was introduced into the doxorubicin-overproducing strain, it led to significant decrease in the production of doxorubicin (Kang et al. 2007).

The *dox R* regulator belonging to the *IclR* type family of transcription regulator was found in the genome of *S. peucetius*, and when overexpressed in *S. peucetius* strain, it strongly repressed the production of antibiotics. Furthermore, it exerted an adverse consequence on the regulatory system of doxorubicin, wherein the binding of DoxR inhibited the *dnrI* expression, leading to the blockade of doxorubicin production (Chaudhary et al. 2014). Another regulatory gene *ndgR* which is a regulator for nitrogen source-dependent growth and antibiotic production, similar to an *IclR*-like regulator from *S. coelicolor*, can bind to the promoters in the doxorubicin biosynthetic gene cluster in *S. peucetius* (Yang et al. 2009), and its inactivation in *S. coelicolor* leads to increased actinorhodin production. Thus, the deletion of the *doxR* and the *ndgR* regulatory genes may also have a positive effect on daunorubicin and doxorubicin production.

7.4 Conclusion

Because of low production yield of doxorubicin and high market demand, engineering of *S. peucetius* strain is a beneficial goal. Until the late 1990s, the annual production of doxorubicin was over 225 kg, and it was the most widely used anticancer drug. Moreover, doxorubicin is also considered as lead molecule to generate other value-added derivatives by enzymatic and chemical modifications with improved pharmacological properties for clinical cancer treatment (Arcamone et al. 1997; Allwood et al. 2002). Although doxorubicin can be produced semi-synthetically from its precursor daunorubicin, the process is tiresome, and the yield is quite low. Thus, sustainable fermentation technology combined with pathway engineering approaches is currently needed to enhance the production of these drugs (Hutchinson and Colombo 1999; Malla et al. 2010c).

In summary, we conclude that by identification of the key steps in *S. peucetius* that hinder daunorubicin and doxorubicin production, like the low availability of thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine sugar and the low efficiency of glycosylation, cytotoxicity, and the regulatory mechanisms, daunorubicin and doxorubicin production can be raised significantly in the wild-type strain of *S. peucetius* by genetic engineering. This would involve overexpression of the genes regulating doxorubicin production and also the genes in the biosynthetic pathway, along with the deletion of negative regulators and inhibiting the post-modification steps of daunorubicin-and doxorubicin-producing strains can be generated by overexpression of the genes in the sugar pathway of thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine, a very

Gene overexpression/	Effect in production	References
dnrI + dnrN overexpression	2.5-fold increase in daunorubicin	Otten et al. (1995) and Stutzman-Engwall et al. (1992)
dnrH inactivation	Eightfold increase in daunorubicin and threefold increase in doxorubicin	Scotti and Hutchinson (1996)
dnmT + dnrH inactivation	Ninefold increase in daunorubicin	Scotti and Hutchinson (1996)
dnrS/dnrQ overexpression	2.8-fold increase in doxorubicin	Malla et al. (2009)
<i>dnrS/dnrQ</i> + <i>desIII/desIV</i> overexpression	5.6-fold increase in doxorubicin	Malla et al. (2009)
dnrX + dnrU inactivation	Sevenfold increase in doxorubicin	Lomovskaya et al. (1998) and Lomovskaya et al. (1999)
drab overexpression	2.2-fold increase in doxorubicin	Malla et al. (2010a)
drrC overexpression	5.1-fold increase in doxorubicin	Malla et al. (2010a)
drab Coverexpression	2.4-fold increase in doxorubicin	Malla et al. (2010a)
dnrN-dnrI overexpression	1.2-fold increase in doxorubicin	Malla et al. (2010b)
<i>dnrN-dnrI-metK1</i> -sp overexpression	1.4-fold increase in doxorubicin	Malla et al. (2010b)
dnrN-dnrI-afsR overexpression	4.3-fold increase in doxorubicin	Malla et al. (2010b)
afsR overexpression	Fourfold increase in doxorubicin	Parajuli et al. (2005)
bldA-dnrO overexpression	1.25-fold increase in doxorubicin	Pokhrel et al. (2016)
coaA overexpression	1.4-fold increase in doxorubicin	Lee et al. (2014)
coaE overexpression	1.5-fold increase in doxorubicin	Lee et al. (2014)

 Table 7.1 Increase in daunorubicin and doxorubicin production by the engineering of the PKS pathway, sugar pathway, and regulatory pathway genes in *S. peucetius*

important step in the production of daunorubicin and doxorubicin, along with the engineering of the polyketide synthase genes. Engineering of wild-type strain using combined effect of regulatory genes and other biosynthesis genes along with self-resistance and cofactors limiting genes using state-of-the-art systems/synthetic biology and metabolic engineering tools could certainly generate a high-doxorubicin-producing strain for commercial production of these valuable anticancer drugs.

Acknowledgments This research was supported by a grant from the National Research Foundation of Korea to Ramesh Prasad Pandey (Grant No: 2017R1C1B5018056).

References

- Ajithkumar V, Prasad R (2010) Modulation of dnrN expression by intracellular levels of DnrO and daunorubicin in Streptomyces peucetius. FEMS Microbiol Lett 306(2):160–167. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.01948.x
- Allwood J, Stanley A, Wright P (2002) Doxorubicin. In: The cytotoxics handbook. Radcliffe Publishing, Oxford, pp 322–329
- Arcamone F, Cassinelli G, Fantini G, Grein A, Orezzi P, Pol C, Spalla C (1969) Adriamycin, 14-hydroxydaimomycin, a new antitumor antibiotic from *S. Peucetius var. caesius*. Biotechnol Bioeng 11(6):1101–1110. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260110607
- Arcamone F, Animati F, Capranico G, Lombardi P, Pratesi G, Manzini S, Supino R, Zunino F (1997) New developments in antitumor anthracyclines. Pharmacol Ther 76(1-3):117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-7258(97)00096-X
- Aubel-Sadron G, Londos-Gagliardi D (1984) Daunorubicin and doxorubicin, anthracycline antibiotics, a physiochemical and biological review. Biochimie 66(5):333–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9084(84)90018-X
- Bao W, Sheldon PJ, Wendt-Pienkowski E, Hutchinson CR (1999) The Streptomyces peucetius dpsC gene determines the choice of starter unit in biosynthesis of the daunorubicin polyketide. J Bacteriol 181(15):4690–4695
- Brown K, Li W, Kaur P (2017) Role of aromatic and negatively-charged residues of DrrB in multisubstrate specificity conferred by the DrrAB system of Streptomyces peucetius. Biochemistry 56(13):1921–1931. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.6b01155
- Carvalho C, Santos RX, Cardoso S, Correia S, Oliveira PJ, Santos MS, Moreira PI (2009) Doxorubicin: the good, the bad and the ugly effect. Curr Med Chem 16(25):3267–3285. https:// doi.org/10.2174/092986709788803312
- Chaudhary AK, Singh B, Maharjan S, Jha AK, Kim BG, Sohng JK (2014) Switching antibiotics production on and off in actinomycetes by an IclR family transcriptional regulator from Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 27952. J Microbiol Biotechnol 24(8):1065–1072. https://doi. org/10.4014/jmb.1403.03026
- Cortes-Funes H, Coronado C (2007) Role of anthracyclines in the era of targeted therapy. Cardiovasc Toxicol 7(2):56–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12012-007-0015-3
- Dekleva ML, Titus JA, Strohl WR (1985) Nutrient effects on anthracycline production by Streptomyces peucetius in a defined medium. Can J Microbiol 31(3):287–294. https://doi.org/10.1139/m85-053
- Dickens ML, Ye J, Strohl WR (1995) Analysis of clustered genes encoding both early and late steps in daunomycin biosynthesis by Streptomyces sp. strain C5. J Bacteriol 177(3):536–543. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.3.536-543.1995

- Dickens ML, Ye J, Strohl WR (1996) Cloning, sequencing and analysis of aklaviketone reductase from Streptomyces sp. strain C5. J Bacteriol 178(11):3384–3388. https://doi.org/10.1128/ jb.178.11.3384-3388.1996
- Dickens ML, Priestley ND, Strohl WR (1997) In vivo and in vitro bioconversion of e-rhodomycinone glycoside to doxorubicin: functions of DauP, DauK and DoxA. J Bacteriol 179(8):2641–2650. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.8.2641-2650.1997
- Doroshow JH (1986) Role of hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radical formation in the killing of Ehrlich tumor cells by anticancer quinones. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83(12):4514–4518. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.83.12.4514
- Filippini S, Solinas MM, Breme U, Schluter MB, Gabellini D, Biamonti G, Colombo AL, Garofano L (1995) Streptomyces peucetius daunorubicin biosynthesis gene, dnrF: sequence and heterologous expression. Microbiology 141(4):1007–1016. https://doi. org/10.1099/13500872-141-4-1007
- Frederick CA, Williams LD, Ughetto G, Van der Marel GA, Van Boom JH, Rich A, Wang AH (1990) Structural comparison of anticancer drug-DNA complexes: adriamycin and daunomycin. Biochemistry 29(10):2538–2549. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00462a016
- Furuya K, Hutchinson CR (1998) The DrrC protein of Streptomyces peucetius, a UvrA-like protein, is a DNA-binding protein whose gene is induced by daunorubicin. FEMS Microbiol Lett 168(2):243–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1998.tb13280.x
- Gallo MA, Ward JM, Hutchinson CR (1996) The dnrM gene in Streptomyces peucetius contains a naturally-occurring frameshift mutation that is suppressed by another locus outside of the daunorubicin-production gene cluster. Microbiology 142(2):269–275. https://doi. org/10.1099/13500872-142-2-269
- Gerlitz M, Meurer G, Wendt-Pienkowski E, Madduri K, Hutchinson CR (1997) Effect of the daunorubicin dpsH gene on the choice of starter unit and cyclization pattern reveals that type II polyketide synthase can be unfaithful yet intriguing. J Am Chem Soc 119(31):7392–7393. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja970946h
- Gewirtz DA (1999) A critical evaluation of the mechanisms of action proposed for the antitumor effects of the anthracycline antibiotics adriamycin and daunorubicin. Biochem Pharmacol 57(7):727–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-2952(98)00307-4
- Grein A (1987) Antitumor anthracyclines produced by Streptomyces peucetius. Adv Appl Microbiol 32:203–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2164(08)70081-9
- Grimm A, Madduri K, Ali A, Hutchinson CR (1994) Characterization of the Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 29050 genes encoding doxorubicin polyketide synthase. Gene 151(1):1–10. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2164(08)70081-9
- Guilfoile PG, Hutchinson CR (1991) A bacterial analog of the mdr gene of mammalian tumor cells is present in Streptomyces peucetius, the producer of daunorubicin and doxorubicin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88(19):8553–8557. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.19.8553
- Hao J, Hutchinson CR (2006) Feedback regulation of doxorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius. Res Microbiol 157(7):666–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2006.02.004
- Hutchinson CR (1997) Biosynthetic studies of daunorubicin and tetracenomycin C. Chem Rev 97:2525–2535. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr960022x
- Hutchinson CR, Colombo AL (1999) Genetic engineering of doxorubicin production in Streptomyces peucetius: a review. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 23(1):647–652. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.jim.2900673
- Jiang H, Hutchinson CR (2006) Feedback regulation of doxorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius. Res Microbiol 157(7):666–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2006.02.004
- Kang SH, Huang J, Lee HN, Hur YA, Cohen SN, Kim ES (2007) Interspecies DNA microarray analysis identifies WblA as a pleiotropic down-regulator of antibiotic biosynthesis in Streptomyces. J Bacteriol 189(11):4315–4319. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01789-06
- Karuppasamy K, Srinivasan P, Ashokkumar B, Tiwari R, Kanagarajadurai K, Prasad R (2015) Partial loss of self-resistance to daunorubicin in drrD mutant of Streptomyces peucetius. Biochem Eng J 102:98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2015.02.017
- Kaur P, Russell J (1998) Biochemical coupling between the DrrA and DrrB proteins of the doxorubicin efflux pump of Streptomyces peucetius. J Biol Chem 273(28):17933–17939. https:// doi.org/10.1128/JB.01789-06
- Lee NR, Rimal H, Lee JH, Oh TJ (2014) Characterization of dephosphocoenzyme A kinase from Streptomyces peucetius ATCC27952, and its application for doxorubicin overproduction. J Microbiol Biotechnol 24(9):1238–1244. https://doi.org/10.4014/jmb.1404.04053
- Lei H, Parekh SR (2005) Development of improved strains and optimization of fermentation process. In: Barredo JL (ed) Microbial process and products. Humana Press, New York, pp 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1385/1592598471
- Lomovskaya N, Doi-Katayama Y, Filippini S, Nastro C, Fonstein L, Gallo M, Colombo AL, Hutchinson CR (1998) The Streptomyces peucetius dpsY anddnrX Genes govern early and late steps of daunorubicin and doxorubicin biosynthesis. J Bacteriol 180(9):2379–2386
- Lomovskaya N, Otten SL, Doi-Katayama Y, Fonstein L, Liu XC, Takatsu T, Inventi-Solari A, Filippini S, Torti F, Colombo AL, Hutchinson CR (1999) Doxorubicin overproduction in Streptomyces peucetius: cloning and characterization of the dnrU ketoreductase and dnrV genes and the doxA cytochrome P-450 hydroxylase gene. J Bacteriol 181(1):305–318
- Madduri K, Hutchinson CR (1995) Functional and transcriptional analysis of the dnrR1 locus, which controls daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius. J Bacteriol 177(5):1208– 1215. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.5.1208-1215.1995
- Maharjan S, Oh TJ, Lee HC, Sohng JK (2009) Identification and functional characterization of an afsR homolog regulatory gene from Streptomyces venezuelae ATCC 15439. J Microbiol Biotechnol 19(2):121–127. https://doi.org/10.4014/jmb.0803.223
- Malla S, Niraula NP, Liou K, Sohng JK (2009) Enhancement of doxorubicin production by expression of structural sugar biosynthesis and glycosyltransferase genes in Streptomyces peucetius. J Biosci Bioeng 108(2):92–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2009.03.002
- Malla S, Niraula NP, Liou K, Sohng JK (2010a) Self-resistance mechanism in Streptomyces peucetius: overexpression of drrA, drrB and drrC for doxorubicin enhancement. Microbiol Res 165(4):259–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2009.04.002
- Malla S, Niraula NP, Liou K, Sohng JK (2010b) Improvement in doxorubicin productivity by overexpression of regulatory genes in Streptomyces peucetius. Res Microbiol 161(2):109–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2009.12.003
- Malla S, Niraula NP, Singh B, Liou K, Sohng JK (2010c) Limitations in doxorubicin production from Streptomyces peucetius. Microbiol Res 165(5):427–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. micres.2009.11.006
- Meurer G, Hutchinson CR (1995) Functional analysis of putative beta-ketoacyl: acyl carrier protein synthase and acyltransferase active site motifs in a type II polyketide synthase of Streptomyces glaucescens. J Bacteriol 177(2):477–481. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.2.477-481.1995
- Minotti G, Menna P, Salvatorelli E, Cairo G, Gianni L (2004) Anthracyclines: molecular advances and pharmacologic developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. Pharmacol Rev 56(2):185–229. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.56.2.6
- Otten SL, Ferguson J, Hutchinson CR (1995) Regulation of daunorubicin production in Streptomyces peucetius by the dnrR₂ locus. J Bacteriol 177(5):1216–1224. https://doi. org/10.1128/jb.177.5.1216-1224.1995
- Otten SL, Gallo MA, Madduri K, Liu X, Hutchinson CR (1997) Cloning and characterization of the Streptomyces peucetius dnmZUV genes encoding three enzymes required for biosynthesis of the daunorubicin precursor thymidine diphospho-L-daunosamine. J Bacteriol 179(13):4446– 4450. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.13.4446-4450.1997
- Otten SL, Olano C, Hutchinson CR (2000) The dnrO gene encodes a DNA-binding protein that regulates daunorubicin production in Streptomyces peucetius by controlling expression of the dnrN pseudo response regulator gene. Microbiology 146(6):1457–1468. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-146-6-1457
- Parajuli N, Basnet DB, Lee HC, Sohng JK, Liou K (2004) Genome analyses of Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 27952 for the identification and comparison of cytochrome P450 complement

with other Streptomyces. Arch Biochem Biophys 425(2):233-241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. abb.2004.03.011

- Parajuli N, Viet HT, Ishida K, Tong HT, Lee HC, Liou K, Sohng JK (2005) Identification and characterization of the afsR homologue regulatory gene from Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 27952. Res Microbiol 156(5-6):707–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2005.03.005
- Pigram WJ, Fuller W, Hamilton LD (1972) Stereochemistry of intercalation: interaction of daunomycin with DNA. Nature 235(53):17–19. https://doi.org/10.1038/newbio235017a0
- Pokhrel AR, Chaudhary AK, Nguyen HT, Dhakal D, Le TT, Shrestha A, Liou K, Sohng JK (2016) Overexpression of a pathway specific negative regulator enhances production of daunorubicin in bldA deficient Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 27952. Microbiol Res 192:96–102. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.micres.2016.06.009
- Prija F, Prasad P (2017) DrrC protein of Streptomyces peucetius removes daunorubicin from intercalated dnrI promoter. Microbiol Res 202:30–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2017.05.002
- Scotti C, Hutchinson CR (1996) Enhanced antibiotic production by manipulation of the Streptomyces peucetius dnrH and dnmT genes involved in doxorubicin (adriamycin) biosynthesis. J Bacteriol 178(24):7316–7321. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.24.7316-7321.1996
- Strohl WR, Rajgarhia VB, Priesley ND (1998) Streptomyces sp. strain C5 mutant disrupted in daunorubicin-specific polyketide synthase genes, dpsC and dpsD, produce novel anthracyclines suggesting promiscuous starter unit selection. In: Proceedings of the international interdisciplinary conference on polyketides. II-Chemistry, biochemistry and molecular genetics. University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom
- Stutzman-Engwall KJ, Otten SL, Hutchinson CR (1992) Regulation of secondary metabolism in Streptomyces spp. and overproduction of daunorubicin in Streptomyces peucetius. J Bacteriol 74(1):144–154. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.174.1.144-154.1992
- Swain SM, Whaley FS, Ewer MS (2003) Congestive heart failure in patients treated with doxorubicin: a retrospective analysis of three trials. Cancer 97(11):2869–2879. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.11407
- Tang L, Grimm A, Zhang YX, Hutchinson CR (1996) Purification and characterization of the DnrI DNA-binding protein, a transcriptional activator for daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius. Mol Microbiol 22(5):801–813. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1996.01528.x
- Thorn CF, Oshiro C, Marsh S, Hernandez-Boussard T, McLeod H, Klein TE, Altman RB (2011) Doxorubicin pathways: pharmacodynamics and adverse effects. Pharmacogenet Genomics 21(7):440–446. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC.0b013e32833ffb56
- Umeyama T, Lee PC, Horinouchi S (2002) Protein serine/threonine kinases in signal transduction for secondary metabolism and morphogenesis in Streptomyces. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 59(4-5):419–425. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-002-1045-1
- Vasanthakumar A, Kattusamy K, Prasad R (2013) Regulation of daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius-feed forward and feedback transcriptional control. J Basic Microbiol 53(8):636–644. https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.201200302
- Walczak RJ, Dickens ML, Priestley ND, Strohl WR (1999) Purification, properties, and characterization of recombinant Streptomyces sp. strain C5 DoxA, a cytochrome P-450 catalyzing multiple steps in doxorubicin biosynthesis. J Bacteriol 181(1):298–304
- Yang YH, Song E, Kim EJ, Lee K, Kim WS, Park SS, Hahn JS, Kim BG (2009) NdgR, an IclRlike regulator involved in amino-acid-dependent growth, quorum sensing, and antibiotic production in Streptomyces coelicolor. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 82(3):501–511. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00253-008-1802-x
- Ye J, Dickens ML, Plater R, Li Y, Lawrence J, Strohl WR (1994) Isolation and sequence analysis of polyketide synthase genes from the daunomycin-producing Streptomyces sp. strain C5. J Bacteriol 176(20):6270–6280. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.176.20.6270-6280.1994

Index

A

Anthracycline, 11, 103, 116, 193, 195, 199, 201 Antibiotics, v, 3, 16, 20–27, 41, 46, 76–78, 86, 87, 90, 92, 101, 103, 192, 194, 199, 202-204 Anticancer drug, 17, 53, 78, 79, 82, 103, 105, 109, 110, 112, 121, 194 Antiglycemic, 130–132 Anti-inflammatory, 3, 5–8, 124, 125, 130, 145, 146, 148 Antilipidemic, 132 Antimicrobial, 19, 22-24, 45, 78, 86, 87, 101, 124, 125 Antioxidant, 124-126, 129, 145, 146, 148 Antitumor, 13, 14, 53, 106, 109, 114, 117-119, 121, 122, 129, 146, 192, 193 Antitumoral, 3, 9, 11–20

B

Bacterial vaccine, 40, 47–52 Bioactive delivery system, 76–92 Biodegradable polymer, 13, 19, 76, 83, 87, 92, 104, 132 Biopharmaceuticals, v, 165 Biosimilars, 166 Biosynthetic pathways, 147, 150, 155, 192, 198, 202, 205 Biotechnology, 164, 180 Biotransformation, v, 2, 147, 150–154, 156 Bone diseases, 135

С

Cardiovascular protective, 9–11 Chromatography, 125, 168, 175–183 Conjugates, 87, 101, 103–110, 112, 114–116, 120, 121, 124, 125, 128, 131, 134–136

D

- Daunorubicin, 5, 13, 192–206
- DNA vaccines, v, 40–61, 85
- Downstream process, v, 171
- Doxorubicin (DOX), vi, 4, 13–14, 79, 82, 103, 113, 192–206 Drug delivery carriers, 28, 83
- Drug delivery systems, v, 3, 6, 8, 13, 82, 83, 103, 107, 114, 119, 133–136, 166

Е

Escherichia coli, 24, 27, 41, 43, 44, 47, 49, 54, 55, 58, 60, 85, 86, 147, 150–153, 155, 167, 174, 175, 182

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 D. Arora et al. (eds.), *Pharmaceuticals from Microbes*, Environmental Chemistry for a Sustainable World 26, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8

F

Films, 24–26, 100, 103, 123, 126, 127, 129, 130, 133, 136 Flavonoids, v, 124, 145, 147, 149, 154 Flavonols, 144–156

G

Genetic engineering, 44, 164, 166, 167, 180, 205 Glycosyltransferases, 147, 149, 150, 152, 155, 156, 196, 201

H

Heart diseases, 10, 131–134 Hydrogels, 8, 18, 19, 23, 24, 101, 102, 125, 134, 136, 177

I

Immunosuppressant, 5–8 Immunotherapy, v, 40–61, 82, 180 Infectious diseases, 40, 77, 84, 91, 166

L

Liposomes, 4, 5, 14, 20, 24, 103, 106, 125

М

Methyltransferase, 145, 147, 150, 152–154, 156, 199 Micelles, 4, 7, 13, 15, 16, 18, 20–22, 108–112, 116, 122, 124, 125, 129, 130, 136 Microbes, v, 3, 42–44, 46, 47, 49, 52, 76–92, 152, 192 Microbial engineering, 156 Micro-particles, 4, 19, 23, 27, 28, 78–80, 84, 86, 90–92, 128, 135, 136 Molecular pharming, 164 Monoclonal antibodies, 165, 167 Mucosal vaccine delivery, 40–61

Ν

Nanoparticles, 4, 78, 103, 182

P

Pathway engineering, 194, 200-205 Pharmaceutical formulations, 8, 120, 122, 136 Polishing, v, 168, 176-179, 181, 183 Poly(lactic acid) (PLA), 3, 6, 8, 16, 22, 76-79, 81, 84-86 Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), 3, 5, 6, 8–10, 13, 15, 18, 19, 21-23, 25, 27, 76-79, 84-87, 107, 118, 119 Polyketide synthases (PKS), 192-194, 197, 199, 201, 202, 206 Polyphenols, 124, 125 Probiotic, 27-28 Pullulan, 107 Purification, v, 128, 168, 169, 176-178, 180-183

Q

Quercetin 3-O-glucoside, 150, 152, 153

\mathbf{S}

Scaffold, 22, 84, 86, 92, 134, 144 Streptomyces peucetius, vi, 13, 103, 153, 154, 192–206

Т

Therapeutic targets, 14, 110, 146

V

Vaccines, v, 40–56, 77, 83, 85–91, 165, 177 Vibrio cholerae, 41, 43, 44, 46, 50, 60